Molecular mechanism of the regulation of *urokinase (uPA*) gene expression and its function in breast cancer

Yongjing Guo

Division of Experimental Medicine, Department of Medicine McGill University Montreal, Canada

March 28, 2002

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy © Yongjing Guo, 2002



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-78696-X

Canadä

Abstract

Urinary plasminogen activator (uPA), a member of the serine protease family, is implicated in the progression of various cancers including breast cancer due to its ability to provoke malignant cell invasion. uPA production is reported to be much higher in late stage, estrogen receptor (ER) negative breast cancer patients than those with benign hyperplasia. Since all existing evidence points to a role for uPA in breast cancer progression, exploring the mechanisms regulating its gene expression will be of immense value. Two human breast cancer cell lines were selected for this study. MDA-MB-231 represents late stage breast cancer. This cell line has high uPA expression and is highly invasive. In contrast, the MCF-7 cell line represents early stage breast cancer and fails to express detectable levels of uPA mRNA. I have demonstrated by methylation specific PCR (MSP) that the differential expression of the uPA gene in MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells closely correlates with the amount of methylated cytosines present within the uPA promoter in these cells. The observation that the DNA methylation status of the uPA promoter directly affects the expression of the uPA gene was then confirmed using an in vitro luciferase reporter assay. Results suggest that the accessibility of the transcription factor Ets-1 is limited by DNA methylation. I further reported increased demethylase (DMase) activity with decreased maintenance activity of methyltransferases (DNMTs), which together favor the generation of a hypomethylated uPA promoter in these highly invasive MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells. Given the pivotal role of uPA in breast cancer progression, I then disrupted the function of uPA and studied its effects on cancer progression. The effects of an 8-mer synthetic peptide (Å6) derived from the nonreceptor-binding region of uPA were investigated. This peptide inhibits cancer cell invasion of both human (MDA-MB-231) and rat breast cancer cells (Mat B-III) using an *in vitro* cell invasion assay. The migration ability of human dermal microvascular endothelial cells (HDMVCs) was also impaired by this peptide in a dose dependent manner. When injected into mice with metastatic breast cancer, Å6 alone suppressed both tumor growth and metastasis significantly. This effect is even more pronounced when combined with tamoxifen (TAM). The inhibitory effects were attributed to the induction of tumor cell death and the inhibition of tumour angiogenesis.

Résumé

L'activateur urinaire du plasminogène (uPA) est un membre de la famille des sérines protéases qui peut provoquer l'envahissement des cellules malignes et qui joue un rôle dans l'évolution de divers cancers dont le cancer du sein. La production d'uPA semble être plus élevée chez les femmes atteintes d'un cancer à récepteurs d'estrogènes (ER) positifs que chez celles qui présentent une hyperplasie bénigne. Comme toutes les données recueillies à ce jour indiquent que l'uPA intervient dans l'évolution du cancer du sein, il sera fort utile d'examiner les mécanismes régissant l'expression du gène de cette enzyme. Aux fins de cette étude, nous avons sélectionné deux souches de cellules cancéreuses: la souche MDA-MB-231, qui représente un stade évolué du cancer du sein, affiche une forte expression du gène de l'uPA et est très envahissante, et la souche MCF-7, qui représente un stade peu évolué du cancer du sein et dont la production d'ARNm de l'uPA est négligeable. Grâce à la réaction en chaîne de la polymérase spécifique de la méthylation, nous avons démontré l'existence d'une corrélation étroite entre l'expression différentielle du gène de l'uPA dans les souches MDA-MB-231 et MCF-7 et la quantité de cytosines méthylées présentes dans le promoteur du gène de l'uPA de ces cellules. Nous avons ensuite confirmé l'incidence directe de l'état de méthylation de ce promoteur sur l'expression du gène de l'uPA au moyen d'une analyse in vitro par le gène rapporteur de la luciférase. Nos résultats semblent indiquer que l'accessibilité du facteur de transcription Ets-1 est limité par la méthylation de l'ADN. Nous avons également noté une augmentation de l'activité de la déméthylase (DMase) et une diminution de l'activité d'entretien des méthyltransférases (DNMTs), phénomènes dont la combinaison favorise un état d'hypométhylation du promoteur du gène de l'uPA dans les cellules de la souche MDA-MB-231. Étant donné le rôle clé de l'uPA dans l'évolution du cancer du sein, nous avons entravé son action et étudié les conséquences de cette intervention. Il s'agissait d'examiner les effets d'un peptide synthétique octamérique (Å6) issu de la région du gène de l'uPA non destinée à la fixation de récepteurs. Au moyen d'une analyse in vitro de l'envahissement cellulaire, nous avons observé que ce peptide inhibe l'envahissement des cellules du cancer du sein tant chez l'être humain (MDA-MB-231) que chez le rat (Mat B-III). Ce peptide

entraîne également une réduction proportionnelle à la dose de la capacité de migration des cellules endothéliales microvasculaires de derme humain (HDMVCs). Chez des souris présentant un cancer du sein métastatique, l'injection de Å6 seulement atténue considérablement la croissance des tumeurs et la dissémination métastatique. Cet effet est encore plus prononcé lorsque le Å6 est combiné à un traitement par le tamoxifène (TAM). Nous avons attribué ces effets inhibiteurs à l'induction de la morts des cellules tumorales et à l'inhibition de l'angiogénèse tumorale.

Ces résultats indiquent que la méthylation de l'ADN est l'un des principaux mécanismes de régulation de la production d'uPA dans le cancer du sein. Or, la modulation de l'expression du gène de l'uPA constitue une piste intéressante dans la recherche de nouveaux moyens pour freiner l'évolution du cancer du sein. L'administration de petits peptides non toxiques comme le Å6, seuls ou dans le cadre d'une hormonothérapie, représente une stratégie thérapeutique nouvelle qui pourrait améliorer le pronostic des femmes atteintes d'un cancer du sein envahissant.

Claim of originality

Urokinase (uPA) has been recognised as one of the major contributors to cancer progression. Overexpression of uPA is closely associated with tumor invasiveness and metastasis. Many antagonists have been designed based on the functional regions of uPA, and are currently undergoing further improvement to enhance their specificity and selectivity. A better understanding of the complex process of uPA gene transcription and regulation will therefore prove to be of immense value in developing novel therapies directed against the uPA system in cancer. With these goals in mind, we selected breast cancer as our study model due to its high incidence in the world and its high rate of morbidity and mortality as well as the invasive nature of this cancer.

My original contributions to the body of knowledge include the following findings:

- 1. I demonstrated that DNA methylation, an epigenetic change of DNA without altering its genetic code, closely correlates with the expression levels of the *uPA* gene in MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cell lines that represent early and late stage human breast cancer respectively.
- 2. I mapped for the first time methylated versus unmethylated cytosines in the CpG island of the uPA promoter in these breast cancer cell lines.
- 3. I demonstrated that the demethylated uPA promoter is sensitive to the actions of transcription factors such as Ets-1 in MDA-MB-231 cells. However, the inducible effects of Ets-1 on *uPA* gene transcription are totally abolished by the methylated uPA promoter.
- 4. I demonstrated for the first time that balanced methyltransferase and demethylase activity might determine the methylation status of the uPA promoter and its expression in these human breast cancer cells.
- I generated a MDA-MB-231-GFP (green fluourescent protein) cell line for direct detection and quantitation of tumor micrometastases in a xenograph model of human breast cancer.
- 6. I demonstrated the ability of a novel peptide inhibitor Å6 derived from the non-receptor binding region of uPA to block MDA-MB-231 and Mat B-III

tumor growth and metastasis in syngeneic and xenograph models of breast cancer.

- 7. Combination therapy of Å6 with other conventional breast cancer treatment such as TAM showed additive effects in blocking tumor growth and metastasis compared to either reagent used alone due to their inhibitory effects on tumor angiognesis and the ability to induce tumor cell death.
- 8. I explored the potential mechanisms underlying the inhibitory effects of Å6 and TAM in a breast cancer model.

These studies have clearly demonstrated that uPA is a critical target for invasive cancer treatment. Transition of the uPA promoter from a methylated to demethylated status may play a pivotal role in defining the process of *uPA* gene transcription at different stages of cancer development. Addition of novel agents like Å6 that interfere with uPA/uPAR interaction to a standard hormone therapy (TAM) shows beneficial effects in our models of breast cancer where the uPA/uPAR system plays a key role in tumor progression.

Preface

This is a manuscript-based thesis. The following is reprinted from the "Guidelines for thesis preparation" of the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research, McGill University:

"..., the dissertation can consist of a collection of papers of which the student is an author or co-author. These papers must have a cohesive, unitary character making them a report of a single program of research. The structure for the manuscript-based thesis must conform to the following:

1. Candidates have the option of including, as part of the thesis, the text of one or more papers submitted, or to be submitted, for publication, or the clearly duplicated text (not the reprints) of one or more published papers. These texts must conform to the "Guidelines for Thesis Preparation" with respect to font size, line spacing and margin sizes and must be bound together as an integral part of the thesis. (Reprints of published papers can be included in the appendices at the end of the thesis.)

2. The thesis must be more than a collection of manuscripts. All components must be integrated into a cohesive unit with a logical progression from one chapter to the next. In order to ensure that the thesis has continuity, connecting texts that provide logical bridges between the different papers are mandatory.

3. The thesis must conform to all other requirements of the "Guidelines for Thesis Preparation" in addition to the manuscripts.

4. As manuscripts for publication are frequently very concise documents, where appropriate, additional material must be provided (e.g., in appendices) in sufficient detail to allow a clear and precise judgment to be made of the importance and originality of the research reported in the thesis.

5. In general, when co-authored papers are included in a thesis the candidate must have made a substantial contribution to all papers included in the thesis. In

VIII

addition, the candidate is required to make an explicit statement in the thesis as to who contributed to such work and to what extent. This statement should appear in a single section entitled "Contributions of Authors" as a preface to the thesis. The supervisor must attest to the accuracy of this statement at the doctoral oral defense. Since the task of the examiners is made more difficult in these cases, it is in the candidate's interest to clearly specify the responsibilities of all the authors of the coauthored papers.

6. When previously published copyright material is presented in a thesis, the candidate must obtain, if necessary, signed waivers from the co-authors and publishers and submit these to the Thesis Office with the final deposition."

In accordance with these guidelines, I have included the following manuscripts as part of this thesis:

1. Yongjing Guo, A. A-R Higazi, Ani Arakelian, Bruce S. Sachais, Douglas Cines Ronald H. Goldfarb, Terence R. Jones, H. Kwaan, Andrew P. Mazar and Shafaat A. Rabbani. A Peptide Derived from the Non-Receptor Binding Region of Urokinase Plasminogen Activator (uPA) Inhibits Tumor Progression and Angiogenesis and Induces Tumor Cell Death *In Vivo. FASEB J.* 14(10):1400-1410, 2000.

This paper is adopted as chapter III of the thesis and reproduced with written copyright permission from the FASEB journal. I am responsible for most of the work, including invasion and proliferation assays of Å6 treated human breast cancer cells MDA-MB-231 and rat breast cancer cells Mat B-III as well as endothelial cell migration assay of Å6-treated HDMVCs. I was also responsible for all the *in vivo* work and tumor section analysis including H&E staining, factor VIII staining and *in situ* apoptosis assay. The contribution of co-authors as follows: Dr. Andrew P. Mazar and Dr. Terence R. Jones from Ångstrom Pharmaceuticals Inc. kindly provided Å6 peptide for all experiments conducted in chapter III and chapter IV. By using Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR), Dr. Hagazi and his group tested the effects of Å6 on scuPA-suPAR interaction *in vitro*. Ani Arakelian helped to inject Å6 peptide to the first two sets of breast tumor bearing rats.

2. Yongjing Guo., Andrew P. Mazar and Shafaat A. Rabbani. An Anti-Angiogenic Urokinase Derived Peptide (Å6) Combined with Tamoxifen (TAM) Decreases Tumor Growth and Metastasis in a Syngeneic Model of Breast Cancer. Cancer Research (Accepted).

This manuscript constitutes chapter IV. I am responsible for all of the experiments described in this paper.

3. Yongjing Guo., Pouya Pakneshan., Moshe Szyf and Shafaat A. Rabbani. Regulation of DNA Methylation in Human Breast Cancer: Effect on Urokinase (uPA) Production and Tumor Invasion. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* (Pending revision).

This manuscript comprises the entire chapter II. I did all of the work described in this paper. Dr. Moshe Szyf provided the protocols for methyltransferase and demethylase activity assays and critical advice related to these studies.

All work was supervised by Dr. Shafaat A. Rabbani and carried out in his laboratory located in the Royal Victoria Hospital, McGill University in Montreal.

Х

List of publications contributing to this thesis

- 1. Yongjing Guo, A. A-R Higazi, Ani Arakelian, Bruce S. Sachais, Douglas Cines Ronald H. Goldfarb, Terence R. Jones, H. Kwaan, Andrew P. Mazar and Shafaat A. Rabbani. *A Peptide Derived from the Non-Receptor Binding Region of Urokinase Plasminogen Activator (uPA) Inhibits Tumor Progression and Angiogenesis and Induces Tumor Cell Death In Vivo. FASEB J.* 14(10): 1400-1410, 2000.
- 2. Yongjing Guo, Andrew P. Mazar and Shafaat A. Rabbani. An Anti-Angiogenic Urokinase Derived Peptide (Å6) Combined with Tamoxifen (TAM) Decreases Tumor Growth and Metastasis in a Syngeneic Model of Breast Cancer. Cancer Research (Accepted).
- 3. Yongjing Guo, Pouya Pakneshan, Moshe Szyf and Shafaat A. Rabbani. Regulation of DNA Methylation in Human Breast Cancer: Effect on Urokinase (uPA) Production and Tumor Invasion. Journal of Biological Chemistry (Pending revision).

Acknowledgments

It has been my dream to pursue medical research since I began seeing cancer patients during my residency training in China. Believing that molecular-based medicine would one day become routine and *the* cure for cancer, I came to Canada to extend my basic medical science training several years ago, with the hope that one day I could explore novel therapeutic strategies for cancer patients. I have devoted the last several years to working towards my Ph.D. degree in the Division of Experimental Medicine, Department of Medicine of McGill University. I was delighted to work on uPA, one of the key players in cancer-related mortality. Through hard work and numerous sleepless nights, I have finally come to the conclusion of this project, which is of course the beginning of a number of new projects. Without the support of my supervisor, collaborators, thesis committee members, colleagues and family members, my job would have been impossible to accomplish. I would like to take this opportunity to express my grateful appreciation to all of them.

I am most appreciative for the supervision provided to me by my thesis supervisor, Dr. Shafaat A. Rabbani. Since he first gave me the opportunity to work with him, he has constantly impressed me by his knowledge, thoughtfulness and his dedication to science. What I have learned about science during my training with him has brought me closer to fulfill my dream.

I am grateful for the suggestions and help from Dr. M. Szyf and Dr Andrew Mazar who provided tremendous help and advice with this thesis.

I would like to thank for my thesis committee members: Dr. H.P.J. Bennett, Dr. F. Congote, Dr. C. B. Srikant and Dr. P. Brodt, who have been with me through every step of my research, and express my gratitude to them for their advice for this thesis.

I'd like to express my sincere appreciation to Julie Gladu, Penny Harakidas and Ani Arakelian who have been constantly supporting me and encouraging me. I will never forget my days and nights at the Calcium Research Laboratory in the Royal Victoria Hospital, thanks to my wonderful colleagues: Pouya Pakneshan, Nickolas Shukeir, Luisa Carpio, Helena Pizzi, Frank Zhou, Lucie Canaff. Mike Macoritto, Parisa Khalili and Rosie Xing. I'd like to take this opportunity to thank them for

XII

making the time I spent in the lab so memorable. Although some of them have moved on, my memories of their support, friendship and kindness will always keep me warm. I will pray for them all. I have been lucky to work with a group of outstanding and dedicated scientists: Drs. Huang, Miao and Panda, with whom I spent hours discussing scientific topics. I will also remember all the other members of the Calcium Laboratory who over the years became part of my extended family. Together they made my experience over the past few years unforgettable.

I would like to give special thanks to two family friends and mentors, Dr. Lise Bernier and Dr. Vincent Castellucci. They have offered me generous support and valuable friendship that I sincerely appreciate.

Without the love and unconditional support both emotional and financial from my mother Xiaoling Wang and father Xiuyan Guo, my achievement today could not have been reached. I know they have waited a long time for their daughter to grow up and be successful. But they never thought of laying down the burden they were carrying. I would never have had the opportunity to study in Canada without the sacrifices my parents made for me. Since I decided to devote my future to the field of medical research, they have constantly encouraged me when I was low and reminded me that my hard work would pay off. This thesis is especially dedicated to them. I would also like to thank my grandpa Shaoyu Wang, mother-in-law, Wenshan and father-in-law, Rukun, who continue to love me.

I would like to especially thank my husband, Zhiheng. I could not have achieved this without him. Science brought us together during our study at McGill University. Ever since we met, Zhiheng has enveloped me with his unconditional love and endless support. His love, his passion and his dedication to science has inspired me to work towards my objectives, to enjoy the beauty of life and to conquer all the difficulties either in research or in my daily life. He is my lifelong partner, and he will be with me as I fulfill my dreams.

Finally, I would like to thank the Medical Research Council (MRC) for providing financial support in the form of student fellowship awards during the course of this study. This thesis is dedicated to my family.

List of abbreviations

α 2-MR:	α_2 -macroglobulin receptor
AMLD:	amiloride
AP :	activator protein
APC:	adenomatous polyposis coli
AR:	androgen receptor
ATF :	amino terminal fragment
ATF-2 :	activating transcription factor-2
5-azaCdR:	5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine
BAECs:	bovine aortic endothelial cells
BCSG1:	breast cancer specific gene 1
bp :	base pair
CCL4:	carbon tetrachloride
cDNA :	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CM:	conditioned medium
CML:	chronic myeloid leukaemia
COBRA:	combined bisulfite restriction analysis
COM:	co-operation mediator
CSF-1:	colony-stimulating factor
CSR:	cytoskeletal reorganization
C-terminal:	carboxyl-terminal
D1 (2, 3):	domain1 (2, 3)
DAG:	diacylglycerol
DEX:	dexamethasone
DFS:	disease free survival
OS:	overall survival
DMase:	demethylase
DNMT:	DNA methyltransferase enzyme (same as MTase)
DMAP1:	DNMT1 (MTase1) associated protein
E2:	17β-estradiol
EBS:	Ets binding sites

E-cad:	E-cadherin
ECM:	extracellular matrix
EFAs:	essential fatty acid
EGCG:	epigallocatechin-3-gallate
EGF:	epidermal growth factor
ER:	estrogen receptor
ERK:	extracellular signal-regulated kinase
ES:	embryonic stem
FAK:	focal adhesion kinase
FBS:	fetal bovine serum
FGF:	fibroblast growth factor
EPA:	eicosapentaenoic acid
FSDs:	free sulfhydryl donors
GFD:	growth factor domain
GFP:	green fluorescent protein
GLA:	gamma-linolenic acid
GM-CSF:	granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor
GPI:	glycophosphotidylinositol
GR:	glucocorticoid receptor
Grb-2:	growth factor receptor binding protein-2
HBECs:	human breast epithelial cells
HCC:	hepatocellular carcinoma
HDACs:	histone deacetylases
HDMVC:	human dermal microvascular endothelial cells
H&E:	hematoxylin & eiosin
HGF:	hepatocyte growth factor
hK2:	kallikrein 2
HMECs:	human mammalian epithelial cells
HMW-uPA:	high molecular weight uPA
HRG1:	heregulin-β1
HRP:	horseradish peroxidase

HUVEC:	human umbilical vein endothelial cell
HVSMC:	human vascular smooth muscle cell
ICF:	immuno-deficiency, centromere instability and facial anomalies
IGF(R):	insulin-like growth factor (receptor)
IKB:	I kappa B
JAK:	Janus kinase
JNK:	c-Jun N-terminal kinase
KD:	kringle domain
KGF:	keratinocyte growth factor
LDL(R):	low-density lipoprotein (receptor)
IL:	interleukin
LMW-uPA:	low molecular weight uPA
LPA:	lysophosphatidic acid
LPS:	lipopolysaccharide
LRP:	low-density lipoprotein-receptor related protein
MAPK:	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MBD:	CpG methyl binding domain
MBDPs:	methylated DNA binding proteins
5-mC:	5-methylcytosine
MeCP:	methyl CpG binding protein
MEK:	mitogen-activated protein kinase
MEKK:	mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
MeSABp50:	methylation-sensitive Alu binding protein
MMP:	matrix metalloprotease
MNNG:	monofunctional alkylating agent N-methyl-N-nitro-N-
	nitrosoguanidine
MSP:	methylation sensitive PCR
MT1-MMP:	membrane-type 1 MMP
NPI:	Nottingham Prognostic Index
N-terminal:	amino-terminal
O ⁶ -MGMT:	O ⁶ -guanosine methyltransferase

OA:	okadaic acid
OSM:	oncostatin M
PA:	plasminogen activator
PAI:	plasminogen activator inhibitor
PBS:	phosphate buffered saline
(r)PCI:	(recombinant) protein C inhibitor
PEA3:	polyomavirus enhancer A-binding protein-3
PGE2:	prostaglandin E2
PgR:	progesterone receptor
PI-3K :	phsphatidylinositol-3 kinase
PKC:	protein kinase C
PLC (D):	phospholipase C (D)
PMA:	phorbol myristate acetate
PCNA:	proliferating cell nuclear antigen
PSA:	prostate-specific antigen
RACK:	receptor for activated kinase C
RA(R) :	retinoic acid (receptor)
(p)RB:	retinoblastoma (protein)
RCE:	retinoblastoma control element
RT:	room temperature
RTK:	receptor tyrosine kinase
RXRs:	retinoid X receptors
SAM:	S-adenosylmethionine
ScuPA:	single chain uPA
serpin:	serine proteinase inhibitor
SF:	scatter factor
Sf9:	spodoptera frugiperda 9
SFM:	serum free medium
SPF:	S-phase fraction
STAT:	signal transducer and activator of transcription
suPAR:	soluble uPA receptor

TAM:	tamoxifen
Tat:	tyrosine aminotransferase
TdT:	terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase
TF:	transcription factor
TFA:	trifluoroacetic acid
TGF-β:	transforming growth factor-beta
TIMP:	tissue inhibitor of metalloprotease
TK:	thymidine kinase
TNF-a:	tumor necrosis factor-alpha
TNF(R):	tumor necrosis factor (receptor)
TRD:	transcription repression domain
TSA:	trichostatin A
TSP-1:	thrombospondin-1
tPA:	tissue type plasminogen activator
TPA:	12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13 acetate
TSP-1:	thrombospondin-1
UEF:	urokinase enhancer factor
uPA(R):	urinary plasminogen activator or urokinase (receptor)
uPARAP:	urinary plasminogen activator receptor associated protein
UTI:	urinary trypsin inhibitor
3'UTR:	3'-untranslated region
VEGF(R):	vascular endothelial growth factor (receptor)
VHL:	Von-Hippel Lindau
VLDLR:	very low-density lipoprotein receptor
VN:	vitronectin

Table of Contents

يمحمن

...-

AbstractII
RésuméIV
Claim of originalityVI
PrefaceVIII
List of publicationsXI
AcknowledgementsXII
List of abbreviationsXV
List of figures and tablesXXV
Chapter I General Introduction1
1.1 Urinary plasminogen activator (uPA or urokinase)2
1.1.1 <i>uPA</i> gene organization, distribution and regulation
1.1.2 The <i>uPA</i> gene structure and its regulatory elements
1.1.3 Transcriptional regulation of <i>uPA</i> gene
1.1.3.1 Ap1 (jun/fos) transcription factor
1.1.3.2 Sp1 and GC boxes
1.1.3.3 Ets family of transcription factors8
1.1.3.4 pRB/E2F transcription factor9
1.1.3.5 Rel and NF-κB transcription factors
1.1.4 uPA-mediated plasminogen activation
1.1.4.1 Activation of single chain inactive uPA
1.1.4.2 Plasminogen activation
1.1.4.2.1 Targets of plasmin
1.1.4.2.2 Angiostatin
1.2 Characterization of uPAR14
1.2.1 <i>uPAR</i> gene and its regulation
1.2.2 Different forms of uPAR
1.2.3 Other potential uPA binding proteins

1.3 S	erine proteinase inhibitors:	16
1.3.1	PAI-1	16
1.3.2	PAI-2	17
1.3.3	α_2 -Antiplasmin and α_2 -Macroglobulin	
1.3.4	Maspin	
1.4 u	PA/uPAR complex and its associated functions	
1.4.1	Interaction of uPA/uPAR with growth factors within the ECM	
1.4.2	uPAR and adhesion molecules	
1.4.2	2.1 uPAR and integrin	20
1.4.2	2.2 uPA/uPAR system and vitronectin (VN)	20
1.4.3	Downstream signaling of uPA/uPAR interaction	
1.4.4	uPA/uPAR complex-mediated functions	
1.4.4	4.1 Cell migration	22
1.4.4	4.2 Cell invasion	23
1.4.4	4.3 Chemotaxis	
1.4.4	4.4 Cell proliferation	25
1.5 R	ole of the uPA/uPAR system in cancer	
1.5.1	The uPA/uPAR system and cancer progression	
1.5.1	1.1 The uPA/uPAR system and tumor angiogenesis	27
1.5.1	1.2 The uPA/uPAR system and breast cancer progression	30
1.5.1	1.3 Other proteases involved in cancer progression	33
1.5.2	uPA and uPAR as therapeutic targets for various cancers	
1.5.2	2.1 Direct inhibitors of the uPA/uPAR system	35
1.5	5.2.1.1 Synthetic inhibitors	
1.:	5.2.1.2 Peptides	
1.:	5.2.1.3 Immunotherapy	
1.5	5.2.1.4 Potential applications for gene therapy	
1.5	5.2.1.5 Other inhibitors	
1.5.2	2.2 Indirect inhibition	38
1.5.2	2.3 Combination therapy with anti-proteolytic agents	38

1.6	Ph	hysiological and non-neoplastic pathological roles of uPA/uPA	R 39
1.	6.1	Physiological roles of uPA: indications from genetically en	gineered
		mice	
1.0	6.2	Role of uPA in pathogenesis of non-neoplastic diseases and	clinical
		implications	41
1.7	Т	ranscriptional Regulation of Genes by	DNA
	Μ	1ethylation	42
1.7	7.1	Introduction of DNA methylation	42
1.	7.2	Regulation of the methylation status in cancer	43
	1.7.2.	2.1 CpG island hypermethylation	
	1.7.2.	2.2 Genome-wide hypomethylation (or demethylation)	44
	1.7.2.	2.3 Regulation of DNA methylation by DNMTs and DMases	
	1.7.	7.2.3.1 Discovery of DNMT1 and DMase	44
	1.7.	7.2.3.2 Functions of DNMT1	45
	1	1.7.2.3.2.1 Methylation and cell cycle regulation	45
	1	1.7.2.3.2.2 Methyl CpG binding proteins and chromatin remodeling	
	1.7.	7.2.3.3 Other DNMTs	
	1.7.	7.2.3.4 DMase	
1.7	7.3	DNA methylation based clinical implications in cancer	
	1.7.3.	A.1 Methylation modification of the critical genes in breast cancer	
	1.7.3.	2.2 DNA methylation based therapies in cancer	50
1.8	Hy	pothesis for the study	51
1.9	Ob	ojective of this thesis	52
Cha	pter]	II Differential regulation of the <i>urokinase</i> (<i>uPA</i>) gene expres	ssion by
DNA	A met	thylation in human breast cancer cells	57
2.1	Pro	reface	58
2.2	Ab	bstract	

2.3	Introduction	
2.4	Materials and Methods61	
2.5	Results	
2.6	Discussion	
2.7	Acknowledgments 72	
2.8	Figures73	
Chap Urok Angio	oter III A Peptide Derived from the Non-Receptor Binding Region of inase Plasminogen Activator (uPA) Inhibits Tumor Progression and ogenesis and Induces Tumor Cell Death <i>In Vivo</i>	
3.1	Preface	
3.2	Abstract	
3.3	Introduction (urokinase, breast cancer, angiogenesis, apoptosis)	
3.4	Materials and Methods	
3.5	Results	
3.6	Discussion	
3.7	Acknowledgments	
3.8	Figures	
Chapter IV An Anti-Angiogenic Urokinase Derived Peptide (Å6) Combined		
with Tamoxifen (TAM) Decreases Tumor Growth and Metastasis in a Syngeneic Model of Breast Cancer		
4.1	Preface	

4.2	Abstract	16
4.3	Introduction 10	17
4.4	Materials and Methods10	8
4.5	Results 11	3
4.6	Discussion 11	6
4.7	Acknowledgments 11	.8
4.8	Figures & table: 11	9
Chap	ter V General discussion 12	9
Chap	ter IV References	2

List of figures and tables

Fig. 1.1.	Schematic representation of CpG dinucleotides within the 5'- flanking region of the <i>uPA</i> gene
Fig. 1.2.	Interactions of different proteases in promoting cancer growth and invasion54
Fig. 1.3.	The dynamics of DNA methylation patterns55
Fig. 2.1.	Evaluation of uPA expression, tumor cell invasion and methylation status in human breast cancer cell73
Fig. 2.2.	Analysis of the methylation status of CpG dinucleotides within the <i>uPA</i> gene promoter by methylation specific PCR74
Fig. 2.3.	Analysis of the transcriptional activity of methylated and unmethylated uPA promoter75
Fig. 2.4.	Maintenance and <i>de novo</i> methyltransferase (DNMT) enzyme activities in human breast cancer cells 76
Fig. 2.5.	Demethylase activity in human breast cancer cells77
Fig. 2.6.	Expression of <i>uPA</i> gene with TSA treatment in human breast cancer cells78
Fig. 2.7.	Schematic representation of the potential mechanisms that control <i>uPA</i> gene expression through DNA methylation during breast cancer progression
Fig. 3.1.	Inhibition of uPA/uPAR interaction by Å699
Fig. 3.2.	Effect of Å6 on breast cancer cell invasion and an endothelial cell migration100
Fig. 3.3.	Effect of Å6 on tumor growth and metastases101
Fig. 3.4.	Histological examination of Å6 treated Mat B-III tumors102
Fig. 3.5.	Immunohistochemical analysis of Å6 treated Mat B-III tumors.103
Fig. 4.1.	Structure of uPA and Å6119
Fig. 4.2.	Effect of Å6 and TAM alone or in combination on Mat B-III cell invasion

I

Fig. 4.3.	Effect of Å6 and TAM on Mat B-III cell growth121
Fig. 4.4.	Effect of Å6 and TAM on tumor volume122
Fig. 4.5.	Immunohistochemical analysis of tumors from animals treated with Å6 and TAM124
Fig. 4.6.	Histological analysis of Å6 and TAM treated Mat B-III tumors
Fig. 4.7.	Effect of Å6 and TAM on TGF-β activity 126
Fig. 4.8.	Effect of Å6 and TAM on flk-1 production127
Fig. 4.9.	Effect of Å6 and TAM on PAI-1 production128
Fig. 5.1.	Simplified model of <i>uPA</i> gene expression regulation in cancer141
Table 1.1.	Genes with altered DNA methylation patterns in human tumors
Table 4.1.	Effect of Å6 and TAM on Tumor Metastases123

Chapter I

General Introduction

1.1 Urinary plasminogen activator (uPA or urokinase)

The 55 kDa protein urokinase (uPA), which is the subject of this thesis, belongs to the serine protease family. The uPA/uPA receptor (uPAR) system includes at least four proteins: uPA, its membrane-bound glycophosphotidylinositol (GPI)anchored receptor (uPAR) and two plasminogen activator inhibitors (PAI-1 and PAI-2) [1]. Initially isolated from human urine and fetal kidney cells, uPA was first reported to convert plasminogen to plasmin during clot lysis, a characteristic that has allowed it to be used therapeutically as a thrombolytic agent [2]. A number of studies later suggested that uPA also promotes tumor growth, invasion and metastasis [3, 4]. These uPA-mediated processes are critical for cancer biology since tumor metastasis to various organs continues to be the leading cause of cancer-related morbidity and mortality, despite recent advances in early detection and controlling the growth of primary tumors (e.g. breast cancer) [5]. In addition to uPA, a member of the serine protease family, proteases that belong to the metallo-, cysteine, and aspartyl proteinase families have now been implicated in cancer-related cell invasion and metastasis [6, 7]. Among them, uPA (serine proteinase) and MMP (matrix metalloprotease) family members are responsible for most proteolysis during physiological or pathological tissue remodeling [8, 9]. The cellular origins of the proteolytic machinery may vary depending on both tumor type and the surrounding stroma.

Pre-clinical and clinical studies strongly suggest the central role of the uPA/uPAR system in breast cancer progression. uPA contributes to breast cancer progression as a result of its overexpression in cancer [10, 11]. However, the molecular mechanisms underlying the upregulation of uPA were still not defined at the beginning of this project. This has therefore restricted our ability to block uPA at the transcriptional level in invasive cancers, a potentially effective approach to inhibit the early stages of cancer progression, and has led to the development of uPA enzyme inhibitors or antibodies as therapeutic agents. Due to multiple side effects and the high toxicity of existing inhibitory agents, few have been successful in clinical trials. It was therefore extremely important to develop a new class of inhibitors that would be both highly specific and have fewer side effects. In collaboration with Ångstrom

Inc., we developed and tested a novel peptide-based uPA inhibitor Å6, which can effectively inhibit breast cancer invasion and metastasis *in vitro* and *in vivo* (see Chapter III and IV). Apart from efforts to develop new types of uPA inhibitors, a better understanding of the regulatory mechanisms underlying uPA gene expression in cancer might provide new targets for pharmacological intervention to prevent breast cancer progression. My work has revealed that overexpression of uPA in late stage breast cancer is due to DNA hypomethylation, and epigenetic changes of the uPA gene might correlate with changes in the activities of several methylation-related enzymes (see Chapter II).

During the course of my graduate studies, I focused on the role of uPA and its expression and regulation in breast cancer progression as discussed in this thesis. In this chapter, I will review the current understanding of the role of uPA in malignancy.

1.1.1 *uPA* gene organization, distribution and regulation

Immunocytochemistry and immunohistochemistry staining revealed that physiological expression of the uPA gene is a property of cells of both fibroblast-like and epithelial-like origin [12]. Under stimulated conditions, expression of uPA is associated with processes such as fibrinolysis, tissue remodeling, cell migration, inflammation [2], wound healing [13], and neoplastic transformation *in vitro* and *in vivo* [14]. In the following paragraph, I will introduce the structure and the regulation of uPA gene expression in both physiological and pathological conditions.

1.1.2 *uPA* gene structure and its regulatory elements

The *uPA* gene, located on human chromosome 10, was cloned in 1984 [15]. This gene is 6.4kb long and is organized in 11 exons interrupted by 10 intervening introns, and encodes a 2.4kb mRNA. S1 nuclease mapping and primer extension has determined the 5' end of uPA mRNA and its transcription initiation site [16]. Exon I encodes most of the 5' untranslated region and exon II encodes the signal peptide. Exon III encodes the first 9 amino acid sequence of uPA. The growth factor domain (GFD), which is homologous to the receptor binding regions of epidermal growth factor (EGF) and transforming growth factor- α (TGF- α), is mainly coded by exon IV. Exons V and VI encode a three-disulfide-bonded kringle domain (KD). Exons VII-XI encode part of the B chain of uPA, a catalytic domain of the uPA enzyme. The

residues that are essential for the catalytic activity of uPA are encoded by exons VII, VIII, XI [16].

The human uPA gene shares a high degree of homology with mouse and pig uPA genes throughout the 5'-flanking region and in its exon-intron organization [16, 17]. The 5'-flanking region of the uPA gene, containing sequence homology interrupted by repeat elements, was found to extend to -2.4kb in human, -4.6kb in pig and -6.6kb in mouse. However, only the conserved, 5' non-coding sequences that reside -2.0kb upstream of the transcriptional site and within 100 bp of the transcription start site of the uPA gene are required for maximal gene expression [17, 18]. Interestingly, densely populated CpG dinucleotides of the uPA gene are clustered within or closely around these regions, where the Alu sequences, an enhancer element (-2.0kb upstream of the transcription start site), and the uPA promoter (start from - 802) that extends to the transcribed exon I (Fig. 1.1 Panel B&C) are located. Regulation of uPA gene expression may be dependent on the cytosine methylation status of the 5' CpG island of this gene [19], and can be identified using methylation sensitive enzymes such as HpaII and HhaI (Fig. 1.1 Panel B and Fig. 2.1).

Alu repeats are recombinogenic sequences that are subjected to methylation changes in different cancer cell lines. The correlation between methylation and expression of these repeats is probably due to the presence of methylation-related Alu binding protein [20]. An Alu sequence of uPA is present -2.0kb upstream from the 5' end of the *uPA* gene, whereas a dimeric Alu unit is located about 200 nucleotides downstream from the polyadenylation site. Both Alu sequences are in the same orientation as *uPA* gene transcription [16]. Whether the Alu sequences are involved in epigenetic changes of the *uPA* gene needs to be clarified. Downstream of the Alu sequence is an enhancer element (-2350 ~ -1824, Fig. 1.1. Panel B) that comprises two alternatively repeated octameric motifs, box A ($^A/_GAAGAG ^{T}/_G^{T}/_A$) and box B (GAAGT^T/_GCT) which reside between -2133 ~ -2053. Immediately following box A and box B is another consensus sequence ($^G/_AGGGG ^{A}/_CG^G/_AA$) repeated three times, which resembles the Ap2 binding site [18]. Direct interference of the binding of sequence specific TFs such as Ap2, E2F and NF- κ B to methylated DNA has been reported [21]. Whether these Ap2 binding sites are subject to methylation

modification, and thus affect the expression of the uPA gene needs to be elucidated. Xing in our laboratory has reported that several cytosine methylation sites of the uPA promoter correlate with this gene expression [22]. Detailed information on epigenetic changes in the uPA promoter and regulation of its gene expression will be discussed in Chapter II. Further understanding of the regulation of the Alu repeats and the enhancer element of the uPA gene by DNA methylation will be explored (Fig. 1.1. Panel B). Epigenetic changes of these elements may alter the binding specificity of a number of TFs such as Ap2 to these regions (Fig. 1.1. Panel B), and thus induce aberrant expression of the uPA gene in cancer. A negative cis-acting sequence between $-1824 \sim -1572$ immediately following the enhancer region reduces the efficiency of the upstream enhancer rather than blocking downstream promoter activity.

The basic TATA box is an essential element of the uPA promoter since deletion of this part of the sequence totally abolishes the transcription capacity of the uPA gene [18]. A second silencing and enhancer region has been localized to -660 ~ -536 and -536 ~ -308 of the uPA promoter respectively. In addition to the 5' promoter, the 3' UTR (3' untranslated region) of the uPA gene contains multiple instability regulating sites for gene turnover [23]. These unique sequences have variable effects on uPA gene expression including transcriptional enhancement and tissue distribution [24].

1.1.3 Transcriptional regulation of the *uPA* gene

uPA expression is induced by various stimuli including oncogenic transformation [25], vascular injury and wound healing [26]. These induced expressions are growth and cell cycle related [27]. Growth affecting compounds, growth factors [28], hormones [29], retinoic acid and chemical stimuli (e.g. phorbol esters [30], TPA (12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate) [31], bombesin [32]) all affect *uPA* gene expression, so do the components of the extracellular matrix (ECM) such as fibronectin and vitronectin (VN) [33]. Most of these agents increase uPA expression, however, significantly decreased uPA mRNA levels and mRNA stability have been reported following treatment with dexamethasone (DEX; 10^{-7} M) [34].

In this section, the upregulation of *uPA* gene expression under various conditions is outlined. The reported stimuli (e.g. growth factors) not only increase uPA transcripts, but also facilitate the secretion of generated proteins. Growth factors such as hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) [35], insulin growth factor-1 (IGF-1) [28], EGF [36], macrophage colony-stimulating factor (CSF-1) [37], vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [38], fibroblast growth factor (FGF) [39] and keratinocyte growth factor (KGF) [40] are well documented to induce uPA-mediated cell invasiveness by upregulation of its gene expression, which is mediated by growth factor activated receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), and a series of downstream signaling pathways, including rhoA, c-src, sos, ras, raf-1, extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK), c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK), phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase (PI-3K), MEK, mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), cAMP and PKC isozymes [41-47]. In addition to RTK activity, the v-ras, v-src, v-yes, and v-ros as well as the oncogene products (e.g. p185, encoded by oncogene c-erbB-2) can directly increase cellular uPA transcripts [48, 49].

In addition, several growth factor- and growth factor receptor-associated molecules have also been shown to affect uPA gene expression. Heregulin- β 1 (HRG1), which binds human EGFR 3 and 4, promotes motility and invasiveness of multiple tumor cells including breast cancer cells partly by the upregulation of uPA and uPAR in these cells [50, 51]. Amphiregulin, a heparin-binding EGF-related peptide, induced the accumulation of uPA and PAI-1 into culture media of breast cancer cells, but failed to exert similar effects in human mammalian epithelial cells (HMECs) [51]. Some of these stimuli (e.g. bombesin, prostaglandin E2 (PGE2), G-CSF and lysophosphatidic acid (LPA) [32, 52, 53]) can also induce the secretion of uPA in various cell types [54], which may involve the p38 α MAPK signaling pathway [55].

Co-association of uPAR with fibronectin binding integrin $\alpha 5\beta 1$ is coordinated with induced expression of uPA [56], and is essential for cancer growth. This association leads to greatly increased levels of active ERK [57], and suggests a possible autocrine loop for uPA production. However, binding of VN to integrin $\alpha v\beta 3$ down-regulates the expression of uPA and uPAR and increases the levels of

their inhibitor PAI-1 in ovarian cancer cell lines [33]. These studies suggest the interactions among uPAR, VN and integrins on cancer cells may determine the invasive phenotypes of these cells by affecting the expression levels of uPA and uPAR.

These stimulus-mediated signaling pathways are ultimately transmitted to the nuclei of different cell types, which in turn induce the binding of their downstream TFs such as Ap1 (fos/Jun), Ets, E2F, Rel and Sp1 to the uPA promoter for its activation (Fig. 1.1. Panel A) [58, 59].

1.1.3.1 Ap1 (jun/fos) transcription factor

TF Ap1 is a complex of the Jun homodimer or Jun/fos heterodimer. Cells responding to cytoskeletal reorganization (CSR), tumor promoter okadaic acid (OA), growth factors (e.g. CSF-1) or middle-T antigen have induced uPA transcripts via binding of phosphorylated Ap1 to the uPA promoter [60-62]. This cascade can be initiated by activating FAK followed by src, sos, raf-1 and subsequently ras/Erk or PKC pathways [63, 64]. Several Ap1 binding sites have been identified. The polyomavirus enhancer A-binding protein-3 (PEA3, AGGAAATGAGGTCAT)/Ap1 enhancer element and an Ap1 element (GTGATTCACTTCCT) are located at -2.4 kb and -6.9 kb of the 5' flanking region of the uPA gene respectively. Activating transcription factor-2 (ATF-2) and Jun bind to these response elements, and are required for TPA, interleukin-1 (IL-1) and FGF-2-mediated uPA induction [37, 65-68]. Cooperation of PEA3/Ap1 with other elements located within the uPA promoter has been reported to result in high uPA expression [65]. Cooperation Mediator (COM) element is such an example. It is required for the synergistic action of PEA3/Ap1 and Ap1 sites, and represents general enhancer functions for proteases, cytokines and chemokines. COM-binding protein urokinase enhancer factor (UEF) may be responsible for the induction of uPA [69].

Despite the inducible effects of Ap1 on uPA expression, a Ras-fos-heat shock factor 1-dependent reduction has been reported to attenuate uPA expression [70]. Lack of JunB expression deregulates uPA gene expression and results in a defective neovascularization of the decidua during mammalian placentation [71]. These studies

provide strong evidence for the important role of Ap1 in the regulation of uPA expression under physiological and pathological conditions [43, 62, 64, 72].

1.1.3.2 Sp1 and GC boxes

Pig and mouse uPA promoters each contain one hexanucleotide GGGCGG motif (GC box), a potential binding site for the TF Sp1 that resides close to the transcription initiation site. A CpG dinucleotide sits in the middle of the GC box and might be subject to DNA methylation. Similar structures were observed in several viral (herpes simplex virus) and eukaryotic promoters (rainbow trout protamine), which suggest a potential role for Sp1 in promoter activity [73, 74]. This same sequence is repeated three times at position -63, -48 and -37 between the CAAT and TATA boxes of the human uPA promoter [16]. Binding of Sp1 to its consensus GC box motif is important but not essential for the expression of human uPA gene since deletion of the Sp1 binding site reduced but not completely abolished its transcriptional activity [18]. However, Sp1 by itself can't induce uPA production, a finding that has been confirmed in our lab (unpublished observations). Sp1 might exert its role by forming functional transcriptional machinery via direct contact with other TFs as supported by several reports. Retinoic acid (RA) induces uPA expression through direct binding of Sp1 to its receptor (RAR) and the retinoid X receptors (RXRs) [75]. A discrete CTF/NF1 binding region between -54 and -42 within the human uPA promoter comprises a sequence centered around the Sp1 binding site that is essential for the formation of cAMP induced DNA-protein complexes [76]. Synergistic effects of RA with cAMP and PKC in the induction of uPA expression have been reported, which might involve Sp1 in these complexes [76]. A recently described novel kruppel-like factor (Zf9) has greatest affinity for the middle of 3 contiguous GC boxes of the uPA promoter, but not the mutated 'GC box' motifs, and thus transcriptionally activate uPA in bovine aortic endothelial cells (BAECs). This induction of uPA results in increased bioactive fibrogenetic cytokine transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β) [77]. Whether Sp1 plays a role in Zf9-mediated inducible effects on uPA expression needs to be elucidated.

1.1.3.3 Ets family of transcription factors

Ets family members are expressed with a similar profile as various proteases including uPA in invasive cancers. All Ets family members recognize a core sequence GGAA/T within Ets binding sites (EBS) [78]. Ets-1 and Ets-2 are required for the expression of proteases such as uPA, MMP-9 [79], collagenase-1 (MMP-1) and stromelysin (MMP-3) that contribute to the invasive phenotypes of various cancers to render these tumors more aggressive [80, 81]. They have been reported to be associated with invasive glioma, astrocytic, squamous, gastric and ovarian cancers, but are rarely detectable in benign and non-invasive cancers [82-84]. A number of stimuli can induce the levels of Ets-1, Ets-2 and uPA simultaneously. Serum, FGF-2, EGF and HGF concomitantly induce the expression of Ets-1 and uPA in breast, oral squamous and non-small-cell lung cancers in which Ap1 may also play a role [39, 58, 79]. CSF-1 stimulates uPA production by activation of Ets-2 in macrophages [85]. Other Ets family members are also involved in cancer cell invasiveness. PU-1, a member of this family, increases uPA production at the post-transcriptional level [34]. In addition, high levels of paralogues of the Ets family members, Fli-1 and Elf-1, have been detected in the majority of adenocarcinomas overexpressing uPA [72].

Of these entire Ets family member, only Ets-1 has been reported to be associated with the overexpression of multiple invasiveness-related proteases [79]. Therefore, Ets-1 was selected as model molecule to study the accessibility of TF to the methylated versus unmethylated uPA promoter as reported in Chapter II. The presence of Sp1/Sp3 [86] or Ap1 [87] as cofactors of Ets family members in the regulation of the ECM genes might provide important clues for their roles in controlling uPA gene expression.

1.1.3.4 pRB/E2F transcription factor

Altered levels of pocket protein retinoblastoma (pRB)/E2F are associated with uPA gene expression. The working model of pRB/E2F has been well accepted. Generally, pRB in quiescent cells becomes dephosphorylated and binds to the transcriptional activation domain of E2F, thus actively suppressing E2F responsive genes. However, when cells are stimulated to divide, pRB is phosphorylated and is no longer associated with E2F. The dissociation of E2F leads to the activation of its

responsive genes, and cells progress into S-phase [88]. However, the effect of pRB/E2F on *uPA* gene expression was found to be opposite to what was predicted by this classical model. For the first time, E2F was reported to inhibit promoter activity and endogenous expression of uPA and uPAR in a pRB-independent manner, and may involve the Ap1 binding site regardless of the pRB control element (RCE) element of the uPA promoter [89]. Furthermore, the RCE-containing uPA promoter is activated during enforced expression of pRB [90]. These negative regulatory effects of pRB and E2F in the uPA/uPAR system are cell cycle-independent [89]. The molecular mechanism underlying this regulation has not yet been defined.

Direct interaction of the DNA methyltransferase 1 (DNMT1) with the A/B pocket region of pRB was reported [91]. As will be discussed later, DNMT1 is responsible for maintaining cytosine methylation and the histone structure of various genes (see 1.7.2.3.2). This induced effect of pRB might be due to its direct binding to DNMT1, and thus blocking the normal functions of DNMT1 on the uPA gene.

1.1.3.5 Rel and NF-kB transcription factors

The uPA promoter contains three potential Rel-like protein binding motifs: RRBE, 5'-NF-κB and 3'-NF-κB. Mutational disruption of 5'-NF-κB and 3'-NF-κB motifs resulted in approximately 40% and 20% reduction in uPA promoter activity respectively. Complete abolision of activity is observed in constructs that include mutated RRBE [92]. Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA), phorbol ester, IL-1 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) all induce *uPA* gene transcription and require the presence of NF-κB and the decay of a short-lived I kappa B (IκB) [93]. IκB is an inhibitor of NF-κB that abolishes uPA overexpression via inhibition of the constitutive activity of RelA, a member of the Rel/NF-κB family [92, 94]. Rel might regulate *uPA* gene expression by forming Rel/p65 (a NF-κB subunit) heterodimer [95]. Cell-cell and cell-matrix interaction also regulate *uPA* gene expression via Rel. For example, integrin $\alpha\nu\beta$ 3-mediated cell adhesion to VN significantly reduces the activities of Rel and downregulates uPA and uPAR and upregulates PAI-1 in ovarian cancer cells [33].
In summary, the unique gene structure of uPA and a number of TFs as mentioned earlier determine levels of uPA transcripts and subsequent protein functions under various physiological and pathological conditions.

1.1.4 uPA-mediated plasminogen activation

uPA and tissue type plasminogen activator (tPA) are two serine proteases that share high sequence homology within their catalytic domains with the conserved active site triad of His₂₀₄-Asp₂₅₅-Ser₃₅₆. Receptor binding is required for activating their common substrate plasminogen, an inactive zymogen within the ECM [17, 96]. The resulting active plasmin contributes to uPA-mediated fibrinolytic functions in tumor biology, whereas tPA, is mainly involved in fibrinolysis in circulation [2].

1.1.4.1 Activation of inactive single chain uPA (scuPA)

uPA is synthesized and secreted as a single chain inactive zymogen named scuPA or pro-uPA. ScuPA has very low or no intrinsic enzyme activity. The binding of scuPA to its receptor is of high affinity (Kd=0.05~4nM) and is cell type- and species-dependent [97, 98]. Activation of scuPA is more rapid when it is receptor bound than its free form in fluid-phase [99]. This activation is catalyzed by plasmin, and was first demonstrated by Cubellis et al [100]. Plasmin catalyzes the proteolytic cleavage of a single peptide bond between Lys₁₅₈~Ile₁₅₉ of scuPA, and generates a two-chain high molecular weight uPA (HMW-uPA or tcuPA) linked by one disulfide bond. HMW-uPA consists of an A-chain (a.a.1~158) at its N-terminal and a B-chain (a.a.159~411) at its C-terminal (Fig. 4.1) [100]. Proteases other than plasmin such as tumor associated trypsin, kallikrein, cathepsins, thermolysin, mast cell tryptase, T cell associated serine proteinase HuTSP-1 as well as prostate-specific antigen (PSA) have been shown to convert scuPA to HMW-uPA [101-105].

Further cleavage of HMW-uPA generates a 40KDa low molecular weight uPA (LMW-uPA, a.a.136~411) located at its carboxyl-terminal (C-terminal) and a 15KDa amino-terminal fragment (ATF, a.a.1~135 or a.a.1~143) at its N-terminal (Fig. 4.1). The conserved serine protease catalytic domain of LMW-uPA plays a critical role in plasminogen activation [96]. ATF is sub-divided into a GFD (growth factor domain, a.a.1~49) and a KD (kringle domain, a.a.50~131) [106]. Interestingly, two forms of ATF are present *in vivo*, which lead us to speculate that a short uPA

fragment (a.a. 136~143) may be formed following activation of HMW-uPA [96, 106-109]. This potential peptide fragment sits within the mini-peptide region (a.a. 132~158, other names are connecting peptide region or interdomain linker region) between ATF and LMW-uPA. However, its functional significance remains to be elucidated. In Chapter III and IV of this thesis, we report the role of a synthetic peptide Å6 (a.a. 136~143) in breast cancer models *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The design of this peptide was based on the sequence of this potential uPA fragment, and therefore provides the basis for further characterization of the functions of this region.

Proteases (elastase and thrombin) that cleave scuPA at different positions to yield enzymatically inactive HMW-uPA have also been reported [96]. The physiological significance of this inactive form of HMW-uPA is unknown.

1.1.4.2 Plasminogen activation

Activation of scuPA to tcuPA upon binding to uPAR leads to the activation of plasminogen and generates plasmin that subsequently breaks down the components of the ECM. uPA-catalyzed plasminogen activation plays a fundamental role not only in a variety of physiological conditions such as tissue involution [110], but also in pathological conditions such as tumor progression [111], and requires co-accumulation of plasminogen on the cell surface. The concentration of plasminogen in plasma is about 2 μ M, however, there is a large pool of extravascular plasminogen [112]. Administration of uPA to uPAR expressing cells dramatically increases the binding of plasminogen to the cell surface. Gangliosides is the site where plasminogen binds but with a low affinity (K_d = 0.3 ~ 2.8 μ M) [113]. Both tPA and uPA can proteolytically cleave a single peptide bond (Arg₅₆₁-Val₅₆₂) within plasminogen, thus activating this enzyme. The plasmin generated has 10⁴~10⁶ higher fibrinolytic activity than plasminogen.

In addition, a plasmin cleavage-independent scuPA/suPAR (soluble uPAR) complex can activate plasminogen on the cell surface of monocytes and in clot lysis assays. This complex is resistant to inactivation by PAIs [114], thus prolonging its plasminogen activating effects, effects that may initiate activation of the uPA cascade under physiological conditions.

1.1.4.2.1 Targets of plasmin

Plasmin (M_r=90KDa) consists of an N-terminal A chain containing 5 kringle domains (KD1~5) and a C-terminal B chain containing the typical serine proteinase domain responsible for its catalytic function. Membrane-bound plasmin has a much higher activity (about 50-fold) than its free form in solution. Among all the ECM substrates of this enzyme (e.g. fibronectin, laminin and proteoglycans), the most favorable peri-cellular substrate is fibrin [6]. Plasmin catalyzes the hydrolysis of the peptide bonds of its substrates on the C-terminal side of Lys and Arg residues. In addition to its fibrinolytic activities, knockout studies (uPA-/-, tPA-/-, plasminogen -/-) confirmed the important role of plasmin in the activation of zymogens of MMPs (e.g. pro-MMP-3, pro-MMP-9 and pro-MMP-13) [115], which thus result in the indirect destruction of substrates such as collagen [6]. Furthermore, plasmin can activate latent growth factors and release ECM binding growth factors [112], and will be discussed later (see 1.4.1).

1.1.4.2.2 Angiostatin

Angiostatin, a fragment with KD 1~3 or 1~4 of plasminogen or plasmin, is mostly generated by plasmin-mediated autoproteolysis. *In vivo* conversion of plasminogen to angiostatin by uPA has been demonstrated in human pancreatic cancer cells [118]. It can also be catalyzed by pancreatic elastase, free sulfhydryl donors (FSDs) (N-acetyl-L-cysteine, D-penicillamine, captopril, L-cysteine), reduced glutathione and a variety of MMPs such as MMP-7 (matrilysin) and MMP-9 (gelatinase B) [116, 117]. Angiostatin is known as an angiogenesis inhibitor and has been shown to suppress Lewis lung carcinoma growth *in vivo* [119]. Therefore, angiostatin may play a critical role in uPA-mediated tumor angiogenesis *in vivo*.

In summary, activation of uPA is catalyzed by a number of enzymes (e.g. plasmin). It is solely dependent on the binding of uPA to its cell surface receptor (uPAR), thus initiating uPA-mediated plasminogen activation and the subsequent proteolytic cascade.

1.2 Characterization of uPAR

1.2.1 the *uPAR* gene and its regulation

The presence of uPAR (CD87) was first demonstrated by Vassalli et al about 16 years ago [120]. He observed that uPA was often associated with monocytes and monocyte-like cell surfaces. uPA has since been found to bind to many cells of neoplastic origin via uPAR. The *uPAR* gene is highly conserved between human and mice. Genomic uPAR is 21.23kb long and encodes a 1.4kb mRNA, and is organized into 7 exons interrupted by 6 introns [121]. The uPAR promoter was defined as a 188-bp fragment between bases -141 and +47 relative to the transcription start site. It lacks both TATA and CAAT boxes, but contains relatively GC-rich sequences that specifically bind Sp1 class members [122]. Binding of TFs (Sp1, NF- κ B, Ap1 and Ap2) to the uPAR promoter activates its basal transcription and is seen especially in cancer cells as compared to benign cells [3, 123].

uPAR is normally present on the surface of circulating blood leukocytes, endothelial cells, vascular smooth muscle cells, fibroblasts, bone marrow cells and a variety of neoplastic cells, but is absent on quiescent cells [124]. Increased expression of uPAR strongly correlates with cell migration and invasive potential via a uPAmediated, proteolytic-dependent or -independent cascade. Differential expression of the *uPAR* gene has been implicated in several physiological and pathological processes at transcriptional, translational and post-translational levels, as seen during angiogenesis, monocyte migration, trophoblast implantation, wound healing, cancer invasion and cancer metastasis [3, 125]. A number of tumor promoting factors are involved, including tumor promotion factors (PMA), growth factors (EGF and NGF), cytokines (TGF- β 1), atherogenic lipoproteins as well as hypoxia [126, 127]. uPA itself also induces uPAR production independent of its receptor binding, which represents a novel pathway contributing to stromal remodeling in wound healing or neoplasia [128].

1.2.2 Different forms of uPAR

uPAR was purified from detergent extracts of PMA-stimulated human U937 monocyte-like cells. This purified receptor is a single-chain 313 a.a. glycoprotein and has a molecular weight of 55 to 60 KDa [129, 130]. uPAR belongs to the family of

GPI moiety anchored proteins [131]. Three forms of uPAR have been identified so far, GPI-anchored uPAR, suPAR and truncated uPAR.

GPI-anchored uPAR has three homologous, independently folded domains termed Domain 1, 2 and 3 (D1, D2 and D3). D1, at its N-terminal, is involved in uPA binding. The other two domains bind to VN, an integrin ligand located in the ECM. In addition, uPAR binds integrin directly, and this binding is distinguishable from its uPA and VN binding sites. The linker region connecting D1 and D2 is a proteinasesensitive domain that has *in vivo* chemotactic activity, and can bind an unknown surface adapter [132].

In addition to the membrane bound, GPI-anchored uPAR, an anchorless variant named suPAR has been identified in conditioned medium (CM) from different types of cells [133] and in body fluids from cancer patients [134]. It may arise from differential splicing and lipolysis (e.g. phospholipase C (PLC) cleavage of the GPI anchored-uPAR) [135-137].

N-terminal truncated uPAR, containing D2 and D3 only, has been identified *in vivo* [134]. This truncated form might arise through catalysis of uPAR by uPA at Arg_{83} -Ala₈₄ and Arg_{89} -Ser₉₀ between D1 and D2, and in turn abolishes the binding of uPA to its receptor [138, 139]. The functional significance of this catalytic event is unknown, and might be involved in the uPAR turnover or degradation.

1.2.3 Other potential uPA binding proteins

uPA also weakly binds to C4.4A, a molecule with a low degree of homology to uPAR. C4.4A encodes a 1.6 kb mRNA and codes for a 352 a.a. GPI-anchored molecule, whose molecular weight varies in different cells (94~98 kDa) depending on the extent of N- and O-glycosylation. Under physiological conditions, C4.4A is expressed only in the gravid uterus and epithelial tissue in the upper gastrointestinal tract. C4.4A adheres to laminin and allows normally non-invasive cells to penetrate the matrix and metastasize. This process can be completely prevented by addition of C4.4A antibody. Therefore, C4.4A may display functional activities similar to uPAR [140].

In summary, interactions between uPA and its associated receptors or binding proteins lead to a wide variety of functions relating to cell motility, invasion and proliferation. However, the uPA/GPI-anchored uPAR complex is internalized and quickly degraded once its inhibitor PAI-1 is bound. In the following section, the role of several inhibitors of the uPA/uPAR system, especially PAI-1, will be introduced.

1.3 Serine proteinase inhibitors:

PAIs (PAI-1 and PAI-2), maspin, α_2 -antiplasmin and α_2 -macroglobulin are the classical members of the serpin (serine proteinase inhibitor) superfamily. Both PAI-1 and PAI-2 inhibit the proteolytic activities of uPA and tPA especially when they are in fluid phase [141]. A newly defined serpin, maspin, shows similar inhibitory effects as compared to PAIs [142]. α_2 -antiplasmin and α_2 -macroglobulin are mostly involved in inhibiting plasmin instead of uPA [113, 143].

1.3.1 PAI-1

PAI-1 (M_r =50KDa), the main inhibitor of plasminogen activators (uPA and tPA) in plasma and in the peritoneum indirectly impairs plasmin formation. It binds and inhibits the activity of both free and receptor-bound tcuPA at the same rate [144]. However, binding of scuPA to its receptor is relatively resistant to PAI-1 [145].

PAI-1 inhibition shortens the half-life of uPA by inducing its internalization and degradation via binding of uPAR to endocytosis receptors of the low-density lipoprotein receptor (LDLR) family including α_2 -macroglobulin receptor ($\alpha 2$ -MR) / LDLR related protein (LRP) [146], gp330/megalin, or very low-density lipoprotein receptor (VLDLR) [147, 148]. Once the quaternary uPAR-uPA-<u>PAI-1</u>-LRP complex is internalized, uPA-PAI-1 is degraded in the lysosome. Free uPAR is recycled back to the cell surface for a second round of adhesion and chemotaxis where it binds to newly released uPA [149]. Decreasing levels of LRP using antisense technology promotes uPA accumulation in the medium of an astrocytic tumor cell line [150]. A uPAR-associated protein (uPARAP/endo180) has recently been identified and acts as an internalisation receptor that might play a similar role in mediating local turnover of the uPA/uPAR complex [151].

Various factors including some members of the serpin superfamily have been reported to affect the expression levels and inhibitory enzymatic activities of PAI-1. TGF- β [152], thrombospondin-1 (TSP-1) [153], oestradiol, progestin [154] and

hypoxia [155] increase PAI-1 antigen levels and activities in a time- and concentration-dependent manner. In addition, serp-1, a secreted myxoma virus glycoprotein serpin, binds and inhibits plasminogen activators and increases PAI-1 transcripts and activity to block angiogenesis [156]. Orthopoxvirus serpin SPI-3 has similar inhibitory constants for plasmin, uPA, and tPA as compared to serp-1 [157]. Furthermore, a newly identified 60 KDa regulatory protein binds to the 3'-untranslated region of PAI-1 mRNA, and appears to be involved in the post-transcriptional regulation of *PAI-1* gene expression by human lung carcinoma cells *in vitro* [158].

Inactivation of PAI-1 by human kallikrein 2 (hK2) has been demonstrated. HK2 is a serine protease predominantly expressed in the prostate that has 80% homology to PSA. Apart from its inhibitory effects on PAI-1, it can also activate pro-PSA, pro-hK2 and scuPA [159].

1.3.2 PAI-2

Secreted PAI-2 (M_r =50KDa) is a less efficient inhibitor of uPA compared to PAI-1, but displayed similar inhibitory characteristics as PAI-1 [141]. It is known to bind and inhibit tPA as well [160]. The distribution of PAI-2 is less well defined, but is normally not found in plasma.

1.3.3 α_2 -Antiplasmin and α_2 -Macroglobulin

 α_2 -antiplasmin is the primary physiological inhibitor of plasmin and ensures its short half-life in tissues and blood. Plasmin generated by receptor-bound uPA is completely protected from α_2 -antiplasmin while it is cell surface bound. However, this binding is of low affinity and its dissociation from the cell surface results in rapid inhibition [113].

 α_2 -macroglobulin is another major plasma protease inhibitor of the fibrinolytic system. It not only inhibits fibrin bound plasmin, but also regulates growth of many cell types and gene expression in these cells by binding and neutralizing TGF- β [143].

1.3.4 Maspin

Maspin is a novel member of the serpin family with potential to suppress tumor invasion and metastasis in breast and prostate cancer. Maspin blocks tumor invasion, at least in part, by inhibiting cell motility. Although maspin does not inhibit tPA and uPA in cell-free solutions, purified recombinant maspin (rmaspin) can inhibit cell surface bound uPA at a Ki value comparable to PAIs [142].

1.4 uPA/uPAR complex and its associated functions

The uPA/uPAR complex is required for tumor cell invasion and metastasis as determined using *in vitro* basement membrane invasion assays and *in vivo* tumor progression models [161]. Binding to uPAR also protects uPA from plasminmediated cleavage between the GFD and KD and subsequent degradation [162]. Both scuPA and tcuPA bind to uPAR [98, 163]. However, receptor bound scuPA has an activity about 250 fold less than that of tcuPA [164]. Residues 12~30 within the GFD of uPA are required for receptor binding. Specifically, residues 13~19 provide the proper conformation to the adjacent binding region, whereas residues 20~30 confer receptor-binding specificity [163]. All three domains of uPAR are required for uPA binding, whereas D1 and D3 are more directly involved [165]. Two sub-regions (residues $2\sim10$ and $47\sim53$) within D1 are critical for uPA binding [166]. Using chemical modification and photo-affinity labeling of human uPA and uPAR, the residues of uPAR that are in close contact with uPA (Arg₅₃, Tyr₅₇ and Leu₆₆ in D1 and His₂₅₁ in D3) have been identified. Furthermore, Tyr₂₄ in GFD of uPA and Tyr₅₇₇ in the D1 of uPAR are intimately engaged in the receptor-ligand interaction [167].

uPA bound uPAR normally accumulates at the leading edge of cell movement [168], and this binding complex often leads to degradation of adhesion receptors and their ECM ligands via plasmin-mediated proteolysis. The uPA/plasminogen system is now appreciated to be far more complex than originally believed. Proteolytic-independent functions related to uPAR have been identified. These include uPAR-mediated endocytosis of members of the LDLR family (see 1.3.1), interaction of uPAR with cell surface molecules such as PAI-1 and VN (see 1.3.1 and 1.4.2.2), and uPA/uPAR-mediated signal transduction (see 1.4.3). Furthermore, the uPA/uPAR complex often accumulates at the cell-substratum and focal contacts of various cell types especially with fibroblastic origin, where it can interact with clustered integrins

or actin filaments of other cells to promote adhesion and migration of these cells (see 1.4.4) [6].

1.4.1 Interaction of uPA/uPAR with growth factors within the ECM

The ECM imposes important regulation on cell shape, migration, growth and differentiation through the interaction between its multiple components and cell surface. uPA/uPAR interaction is a tightly regulated process, and is influenced by a number of growth factors and proteases within the ECM in a plasminogen-dependent or -independent manner. As mentioned earlier (see 1.1.4.2.1), plasminogen activation directly regulates stroma remodeling via plasmin and plasmin-activated MMPs, which results in the release of angiogenesis associated growth factors such as FGF-2, VEGF and TGF- β from the cells or the surrounding matrix [169]. Plasmin can also convert the inactive single chain macrophage-stimulating protein and HGF/scatter factor (SF) to their active forms with tyrosine kinase activities. Plasminogenindependent processing of these growth factors has been demonstrated as well. uPA itself can process HGF [170] and upregulates the expression of the VEGF receptor KDR/flk-1 [171]. These direct or indirect increased levels and activities of VEGF, HGF and FGF-2 by uPA further induce the expression of both uPA and uPAR in endothelial cells. Moreover, generated uPA can activate TGF- β via plasmin, which in turn limits uPA synthesis and its activity, and opposes the activation of FGF-2 [172].

1.4.2 uPAR and adhesion molecules

Following the observation some 20 years ago that various tumor cells have different patterns of cell adhesion [173], cell adhesion has been a major focus in cell biology research. Cell adhesion is regulated through interaction with the surrounding stroma and matrix remodeling that ultimately leads to cell movement. The uPA/uPAR system interferes with co-localized adhesion molecules and matrix deposits to facilitate cell migration. Among these molecules, members of the integrin family and VN are major players. uPAR interacts with integrin and VN to accumulate and stabilize these molecules at its expression site, thus uPAR itself can act as an adhesion molecule [174].

1.4.2.1 uPAR and integrin

uPAR mediates cell adhesion by interacting with integrin and extracellular substrata in a cell type-specific manner. It selectively colocalizes with different integrin subunits such as $\beta 1$, $\beta 2$, $\beta 3$, $\alpha 3$, $\alpha 5$, $\alpha 6$ and αV based on the specific substrata on which the cells are cultured [175, 176, 178, 179]. For example, uPAR and integrin associate in normal, resting human leukocytes but dissociate after cell polarization and migration [177]. These findings indicate that uPAR confers the specific binding affinity of integrin to adhesion molecules on adjacent cells and different components of substrata in the ECM (e.g. VN), and the interaction may be essential for cell adhesion and migration. Cell context including dynamic reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton as well as the adhesion and remodeling of the ECM all play critical roles in these processes.

1.4.2.2 uPA/uPAR system and vitronectin (VN)

VN (M_r =78KDa), known as a ligand for integrin, is present in many forms in blood plasma and ECM. An RGD (Arg-Gly-Asp, a.a.45~47) sequence of VN has direct contact with several forms of integrin such as $\alpha V\beta 1$, $\alpha V\beta 3$, $\alpha V\beta 5$, $\alpha IIb\beta 3$, and $\alpha 8\beta 1$ [180, 181]. Cells overexpressing uPAR adhere to and spread on VN in an RGD-independent manner. This is due to the direct and favorable binding of uPAR to VN rather than integrin in malignant tumors [182]. The association of VN to uPAR localises the uPA/uPAR-complex to cell surfaces that are in direct contact with the ECM, where it accumulates the plasminogen activator activity required for cell adhesion, migration and tissue remodelling. Direct contact of uPAR and VN is abolished by inter-domain cleavage of uPAR, which is reversible following the addition of exogenous suPAR [178], suggesting that all three domains of uPAR are required for binding to VN. Phosphorylation of serine residues (a.a. 138/303) of scuPA inhibits uPAR-dependent adhesion of myelomonocytic cells to VN [187], thus establish the critical role of these residues in uPAR-mediated cell adhesion on VN. Antibodies or antisense oligonucleotides targeting to uPAR reduced uPAR-mediated adhesion of monocytes to VN [188]. Under certain circumstances, scuPA, uPA, ATF and the uPA-PAI-1 complex all stimulate the association of uPAR and VN in a dosedependent manner to promote cell-substratum adhesion [183-185], while the addition of PAI-1 blocks these stimulatory effects [186].

The predominant inhibitory form of PAI-1 in plasma is the complex formed by high affinity binding to VN. PAI-1 directly interacts with an N-terminal somatomedin-like domain that lies close to the integrin as well as the uPAR-binding site of VN [191]. It thus competes for the binding of VN to integrin or uPAR in addition to its serpin activity, and prevents VN-mediated cell adhesion and migration [191, 192]. Complex formation also protects VN from uPA-mediated degradation on the cell surface in a time- and concentration-dependent manner [189]. Since VN is the site where PAI-1 attaches to the ECM, other protein substrates surrounding VN can thus be protected from degradation [190].

In summary, interactions between members of the uPA/uPAR system and other cell surface molecules mostly take place at the leading edge of cell movement where uPAR recruits and localizes a number of associated ligand and binding proteins to promote cell adhesion and migration.

1.4.3 Downstream signaling of uPA/uPAR interaction

Binding of uPA (or ATF) to cell surface uPAR activates intracellular signal transduction pathways that are involved in cell adhesion, chemotaxis, migration, invasion and mitogenic responses [193]. Proteolytic cleavage of the linker peptide located between D1 and D2 of uPAR induces a similar signaling cascade in human monocytic THP-1 cells [132]. Therefore, uPA/uPAR interaction or endogenous proteinase cleavage of uPAR may cause a conformational change of uPAR to expose an identical epitope, and thus initiating the signal transduction cascade [194]. Most of these signalings are mediated by GPI-anchored uPAR. However, suPAR that is not cell-surface bound can also play a role. SuPAR is mostly observed in cancer, the interaction of suPAR monomer with scuPA detected in an *in vitro* system suggests a novel mechanism to explain uPA-mediated signal transduction in cancer [195].

uPAR is often observed to be co-immunoprecipitated and /or co-localized with signal transmitters including hck, lck, fgr, fyn, lyn, Jak1 and tyk2 [26, 197-199]. This is due to its accumulation with caveolins (cholesterol binding scaffolding protein), integrins and signal transmitters in caveolae, the invaginations of lipid rafts

with a high content of cholesterol and glycosphingolipids [196]. Tyrosine phosphorylation of hck, focal adhesion kinase (FAK), Erk, MAPK, paxillin, p130^{cas} facilitates the binding of TFs such as Stat1 to its downstream targeted DNA [203. 204]. Some examples of how the signals are transmitted following binding of uPA to its receptor are given here. Binding of uPA to uPAR mediates human vascular smooth muscle cell (HVSMC) migration by activating uPAR-associated tyk2 and PI-3K pathways, which eventually activates TFs Stat1 (signal transducer and activator of transcription 1), Stat2, and Stat4 [200, 201]. Binding of ATF/uPA to its receptor in MCF-7 cells activates Erk-1 and Erk-2 and results in increased cellular motility [202]. Early response oncogenes *c-myc*, *c-Jun* and *c-fos* can be induced following the binding of ATF to uPAR in human osteoblast derived osteosarcoma cells that are specifically involved in the mitogenic responses [205]. In addition to tyrosine kinase receptors, G protein-coupled receptors can be activated by uPAR-mediated signaling pathways [206]. The activation of a G protein-coupled receptor, reportedly following uPAR activation, involves molecules such as protein kinase C γ (PKC γ) [207], cAMP [107] and diacylglycerol (DAG) [208] However, the relative order of the signal transduction pathway has not been clarified, and the cell type specifically involved in each pathway has yet to be identified.

Taken together, uPA and uPAR are multifunctional proteins that influence a great variety of signal transduction pathways and ultimately contribute to cell adhesion, chemotaxis, cell migration, cell invasion, gene expression as well as cell proliferation. These uPA- and uPAR-mediated actions act in concert with integrins, VN, G proteins, or with yet unidentified co-receptors or adapter molecules.

1.4.4 The uPA/uPAR complex-mediated functions

1.4.4.1 Cell migration

One of the major effects of uPA/uPAR interaction is cell migration, a process of locomotion of cells over an ECM substratum [6, 178]. Cell migration is a continuous process that is accomplished simultaneously by moving forward the leading cell edge and releasing the trailing cell edge, which requires both proteolyticdependent and -independent activities of uPA. The uPA-mediated, plasminindependent process is promoted by stimulating uPAR/VN binding [178], initiating

signal transduction pathways at the leading edge of cell movement [202] and regulating integrin-binding activity [178] at both the leading and trailing edges of cells. uPA/plasmin-mediated degradation of the ECM proteins and adhesion receptors release the trailing cell edge [6]. Cell migration on VN can be disrupted by suPAR or antibodies against uPA or $\alpha\nu\beta5$ integrin in a human pancreatic carcinoma cell line [209], which indicates the functional coordination of VN and uPA/uPAR with integrin to promote cell migration.

PAI-1 inhibited integrin-dependent migration of rabbit vascular smooth muscle cells, human epithelial cells, and bovine aortic endothelial cells [191, 210, 211]. However, some studies reported stimulatory rather than inhibitory effects of PAI-1 on integrin-dependent migration of human melanoma cells and bovine aortic smooth muscle cells [210, 212]. The net effects of PAI-1 depend on the relative importance of integrin-VN interactions at the leading and trailing edge of each cell line. Endocytosis of uPA/uPAR/PAI-1 complexes via receptors of the LDLR family might facilitate this polarized endocytic cycle [213]. For example, PAI-1 inhibits cell migration via plasmin-mediated degradation of adhesion molecules and inhibition of integrin and VN binding [211]. Angiostatin, an autoproteolytic fragment of plasminogen or plasmin, has an anti-migratory effect on endothelial cells, and thus provides negative feedback on plasmin-dependent cell migration [214]. uPA may stimulate cell migration by counteracting the effects of PAI-1.

Therefore, a model of uPA-stimulated cell migration can be proposed. Once scuPA is converted to its active form at the ventral surface of the cells, proteolytic mechanisms are localized at the trailing edge of the cells, while non-proteolytic mechanisms are dominant at the leading edge to provoke cell movement. Most importantly, the net effects of uPA (both active and inactive forms)/PAI-1 would be solely dependent on: 1) the level and location of uPAR, 2) how uPAR interacts with other cell surface molecules (such as integrins and endocytosis receptors), 3) interaction of uPAR with the components of the ECM [215-217].

1.4.4.2 Cell invasion

Cell invasion includes not only cell locomotion, but also the active penetration of cells through the ECM facilitated by the plasmin-mediated degradation of its constituents. Both uPA and uPAR are key mediators of extracellular proteolysis. They participate in ECM remodeling, activate cells and enable them to migrate and invade through multiple tissue layers. Therefore, the uPA/uPAR system is considered a rate-limiting factor in cell invasion [6].

The role of PAI-1 in cell invasion is extremely complicated. PAI-1, an inhibitor of uPA, suppresses uPA/uPAR-mediated cell invasion in certain cell types, but promotes cell invasiveness in others [218]. The relative amount of PAI-1 and other cell components such as integrins, endocytosis receptors, and the composition of the ECM may be important in determining its fate as either a stimulator or an inhibitor of cell invasion. At high concentrations, PAI-1 protects the ECM against plasmin-mediated proteolysis, and invasion is inhibited. However, at low concentrations, protection of ECM proteins for traction dominates [219], which may also generate excessive plasminogen activation by facilitating the turnover of uPAR. Unlike PAI-1, PAI-2 is consistently found to inhibit uPA-mediated cell invasion [6].

1.4.4.3 Chemotaxis

Chemotaxis is a process whereby cells sense and move along a concentration gradient of soluble molecules. Binding of these soluble molecules to their cell surface receptors activates intracellular signaling pathways and remodels the cytoskeleton through the activation or inhibition of various actin-binding proteins. Direct or indirect exposure of the chemotactic epitope of uPAR transforms it into a cell-surface chemokine that is able to act on the same, or neighboring cells, which in turn initiates signaling cascades for cell movement [132, 187, 194]. The chemotactic epitope of uPAR resides in the linker region between D1 and D2. A linear peptide corresponding to residues within this linker region has chemotactic potency in the 0.1pM range. Cleavage of the suPAR fragment between D1 and D2 by chymotrypsin also results in chemotactic activity [138]. Binding of uPA, its ATF fragment or scuPA to uPAR induces chemotactic effects in various cell lines including activated blood leukocytes, endothelial cells, macrophages, fibroblasts, vascular smooth muscle and cancer cells [99, 187, 194, 215]. uPA-induced chemotaxis or proteolytic cleavage of uPAR requires the transient activation of uPAR associated p56/p58^{hck} tyrosine kinase in monocytic cells [132].

1.4.4.4 Cell proliferation

uPA-mediated cell proliferation has been reported in many primary cell culture systems derived from human smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells, epithelial cells, keratinocytes and T lymphocytes and damaged tissues via binding to its receptor [220-224]. The mitogenic effects of uPA on cancer cells have also been observed including breast, prostate, renal, hepatocellular, ovarian, head and neck carcinoma cells, epidermal tumor cells and melanoma cells [193, 225-227]. These effects are cell cycle related and might correlate with the expression of proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) in tumor cells [228]. A unique signaling complex that contains uPAR and multiple tyrosine kinase receptor-associated signals such as MAPK, JNK and casein kinase 2 and subsequent downstream signals including Stat1, Stat2, Stat4, fos, myc and Jun are responsible for the mitogenic effects of uPA [26, 203-205, 229]. uPA indirectly stimulates cell proliferation and intimal thickening of vessels via increasing DNA synthesis or activation of plasmin mobilized growth factors (e.g. FGF-2) within the ECM [221, 230].

ATF is required for the binding of uPA to its receptor. ATF alone stimulates osteoblast-derived osteosarcoma [231] and ovarian carcinoma [232] cell growth in culture. However, autocrine ATF may act as an antagonist of uPA-uPAR interaction and thus efficiently inhibit invasion and metastasis without altering the proliferation rate of lung cancer cells [233]. ATF binding to uPAR was recently found to suppress the release of viral particles from HIV-1 infected cell lines without affecting host cell proliferation [234]. Therefore, the effects of ATF on cell proliferation may be a function of the cell system tested.

Although the mitogenic effects of uPA have been well documented *in vitro*, its *in vivo* functions are less clear. PAI-1 and PAI-2 have been reported to inhibit tumor cell proliferation, possibly as a direct result of their inhibitory effects on the release and action of uPA or ATF [223, 226, 232].

1.5 Role of the uPA/uPAR system in cancer

Carcinogen exposure, UV irradiation and other stimuli (described in section 1.5.1) play major roles in accelerating cancer progression. They increase the

production and accumulation of uPA, uPAR and PAI-1 to promote cell invasion, migration, proliferation and selective adhesion, and strongly correlate with a malignant tumor cell phenotype during the multi-step processes of metastasis [235, 236].

1.5.1 The uPA/uPAR system and cancer progression

Upregulation of uPA/uPAR/PAIs in progressive stages of invasive cancers such as breast [10], prostate [237], lung [158], ovarian [232], endometrial [238], head and neck [239], gastric [48], pancreatic [240], colorectal [241] and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) [242] has been demonstrated, and is consistent with their roles in determining invasive potential and aggressiveness of the cancer cells expressing them. The importance of stromal in addition to tumor cells in cancer progression is directly supported by the observation of delayed primary tumor growth and decreased metastases formation in uPA^{-/-} mice that lack of stromal cell derived uPA as compared to wild type mice [8].

Oncogenic, environmental or chemical stimuli may render the transformed cells tumorigenic and metastatic *in vivo*. They activate Ras-Erk, PKC-Erk, PKA-cAMP, Rac-JNK, PLD-PKC, MKK-MAPK1/2 or p38 MAPKs-JNK/SAPK in a constitutive fashion, which leads to increased mitogenesis in these cells and elevated uPA and uPAR levels in tumor samples [46, 55, 243-250]. Therefore, levels of these internal signals resolve the dominant invasive phenotype in transformed cells [25]. uPA production can be further manipulated by increasing copy numbers of the *uPA* gene, thus mimicking the amplification as observed in hormone-refractory prostate carcinomas [251]. Several mutations have been revealed in the *uPA*, *uPAR* and *PAI-1* genes. However, the polymorphisms observed in these genes are similar in cancer patients and their normal counterparts, suggesting that these mutations play a minor role in uPA/uPAR system-mediated cancer development [252].

Members of the uPA/uPAR system are hallmarks of metastasis as suggested by many studies [253]. Metastatic cells represent 1~2% of the total primary tumor cell population, which not only escape from the primary tumor but also possess the correct phenotype to adhere and proliferate at a secondary site. Disemination of tumor cells does not necessarily lead to metastatic disease. In order to metastasize, tumor cells attach to and interact with components of the basement membrane and the ECM, perform local proteolysis, degrade the ECM, intravasate, survive and migrate within the vessels, extravasate, then grow. During the early steps of this process, cells expressing uPA/uPAR are mostly involved in invasion and intravasation. However, at the late stages, these cells are primarily involved in extravasation and colonization. Invasion of cancer cells to the extravascular fibrin deposit is required for spreading, and provides a matrix for further angiogenesis and desmoplasia (see 1.5.1.1) [254, 255]. uPA-catalyzed plasmin generation is an important rate-limiting factor for cancer metastasis in different animal models. uPA^{-/-} mice developed less local invasion of cancer cells and reduced progression of highly metastatic cancer [256].

Expression of members of the uPA/uPAR system is usually significantly higher in primary tumors compared to their normal counterparts and correlates with a shorter disease-free interval and lower overall survival rate [257]. Therefore, they are also proposed to be prognostic factors in various cancers [258]. However, the levels of these proteins may vary in a specified tumor type in each individual patient [6, 259]. In one study of breast cancer patients, the only parameters as suggested by multivariate Cox analysis that independently predicted survival were total PAI-1 level, lymph node status and hormone receptor status for recurrence-free survival and overall survival [260]. Other studies suggested that the flow cytometric S-phase fraction (SPF), a reference for cell-kinetic analysis, thymidine kinase (TK) and uPA are the better independent markers for distant recurrences than the Nottingham Prognostic Index (NPI), tumor size and histologic grade [261, 262]. In addition, high levels of suPAR in body fluids and blood plasma were correlated with poor patient prognosis [263]. Moreover, uPAR and VEGF might contribute synergistically to the liver metastasis of colorectal cancer [264]. Therefore, expression profiles of multiple factors such as uPA/uPAR system members and their related molecules may provide extremely important prognostic information for clinic diagnosis.

1.5.1.1 The uPA/uPAR system and tumor angiogenesis

The uPA/uPAR system plays an essential role in tumor biology not only in neoplastic transformation, cancer cell proliferation, migration and invasion, but also in cancer cell-mediated tissue remodeling including angiogenesis and probably

desmoplasia [4, 265, 266]. These processes contribute to tumor growth, invasion and metastasis at different stages of tumor development. Angiogenesis is a tightly regulated process that occurs mainly during reproduction, development, wound healing and cancer, and is known as neovascularization. It provides nutrients for tumor cell survival and assists hematogenous disemination and metastasis in cancer [267]. Desmoplasia involves the stimulation of fibroblast and myofibroblast cell proliferation and ECM protein synthesis once the basement membrane is broken down by proteases [268, 269]. Ever since Dr. Folkman predicted a link between tumor angiogenesis and metastasis in 1974, many anti-cancer approaches that target the process of angiogenesis have been tested by inhibiting key factors involved, such as VEGF, FGF-2, PDGF, EGF, TGF-\(\beta\) and MMPs [169, 171, 172, 270, 271]. Studies using in vitro and in vivo angiogenesis models strongly suggest a role for the uPA/uPAR system in angiogenesis, thus providing a novel anti-angiogenic target [272-274]. A uPA directed-proteolytic cascade in tissue and vascular remodeling usually goes through two stages during the multiple processes in angiogenesis: 1) degradation of ECM in conjunction with desmoplasia, 2) activation of TGF- β as well as the release of matrix-bound growth factors such as FGF-2 and HGF [275]. The accumulated activated growth factors or cytokines will in turn stimulate uPA production by tumor and stromal cells that contribute to the chemotactic and mitogenic responses of these cells through both a plasmin-dependent (proteolysis) and -independent mechanism (uPAR-mediated signaling pathway) [236, 271].

Immunohistochemical staining provides key information on the distribution of uPA and uPAR, which are often observed on tumor-associated endothelial cells and stromal cells (e.g. macrophages) that contribute to tumor angiogenesis in addition to tumor cells themselves [276-279]. A positive correlation of uPA with microvessel density, vascular invasion, proliferation rate and macrophage content in breast cancer strongly suggests a role for uPA in tumor-related angiogenesis [276]. The direct action of uPA on vascular cells has been reported. Increased levels of uPA enhance the invasive capacity of endothelial and smooth muscle cells, as well as the proliferation rate of smooth muscle cells [280, 281]. Binding of uPA to cell surface uPAR on endothelial cells stimulates several pathways that lead to endothelial cell

differentiation and capillary tube formation on Matrigel by both the catalyticdependent and -independent pathways [284]. uPAR is relevant to the vasculature of many types of tumors of which melanoma is a good example. Antagonists of uPAR inhibit primary growth and angiogenesis of B16 murine melanoma in syngeneic mice [283]. Interestingly, the detection of uPAR only on tumor-associated vessels but not on pre-existing vessels in normal tissue suggests that uPAR represents a marker of tumor-specific angiogenesis. uPAR is also involved in non-neoplastic pathological angiogenesis, e.g. diabetic retinopathy [282].

The specific inhibitor PAI-1 is well known to block uPA-mediated proteolysis. Paradoxically, uPA coordinated expression of PAI-1 plays critical roles in tumor invasion and angiogenesis. Absence of PAI-1 prevents cancer cell invasion and vascularization in PAI-1 deficient mice transplanted with malignant keratinocytes. however. tumor-associated angiogenesis was restored with administration of PAI-1 [285]. This unresolved mechanism might be due to the inhibitory effects of PAI-1 on uPA-mediated proteolysis to prevent the destruction of newly formed vessels and ECM proteins. As a result, excessive fibrin deposition and tumor desmoplasia recruit and localise circulating tumor cells. Integrins, expressed by endothelial cells, bind to surrounding ECM proteins including VN or fibronectin, and thus promote the motility of these cells in the process of angiogenesis. PAI-1 promotes endothelial cell migration by interfering with VN and integrin binding, and towards fibronectin-rich tumor tissues [286, 287]. During these processes, plasminogen, the substrate of uPA, does not seem to be an essential mediator for angiogenesis, since plasminogen^{-/-} mice inoculated with Lewis lung carcinoma have similar levels of neovascularization as compared to control animals [288].

Hypoxia suppresses vascular perfusion and increases macrophage infiltration, and is a well-known factor initiating angiogenesis within tumors. It induces angiogenesis by increasing the antigen content of tumor-associated uPA, uPAR, growth factors (VEGF, FGF-2 and PDGF), MMPs and endothelin-1 related vasoconstriction in cancer. It also decreases integrin- and uPAR-mediated cell adhesion to substratum [183, 292-295]. In addition, hypoxia alters the metabolic balance by recruiting macrophages to tumor sites and inducing the release of

angiogenic molecules from these cells [296], which can also be detected in nonneoplastic inflammatory conditions. Inflammatory cytokine oncostatin M (OSM) is produced by activated macrophages and T-lymphocytes, and modulates different phases of angiogenesis through both increased levels and stability of uPA and uPAR mRNA [236]. Macrophages also release significant amounts of PAI-1 under conditions of low oxygen tension that is related to angiogenesis, and play important roles in ischemia-induced thrombosis by suppressing vascular fibrinolysis [155].

Endostatin, an endogenous inhibitor of tumor angiogenesis and an inducer of tumor apoptosis, down-regulates the uPA/uPAR system, dissociates focal adhesion and reorganizes cytoskeleton structure in endothelial cells [289]. Several studies also suggest a potential role for the uPA/uPAR system in apoptosis although the mechanisms are unresolved. The binding of TNF- α to its receptor, TNFR, induces c-myc-dependent apoptosis and anoikis in an ovarian cancer cell line. This pro-apoptotic effect is partly achieved through the interference with interactions between cells and basment membranes via uPA [290]. Administration of uPA to mice suffering from fas-mediated massive hepatocyte apoptosis reverses this phenomenon and facilitates hepatic regeneration through stimulation of HGF maturation [291]. Taken together, the uPA/uPAR system-associated tumor angiogenesis is critical for cancer biology. In the following section, I will briefly introduce the role of the uPA/uPAR system involved in breast cancer progression.

1.5.1.2 The uPA/uPAR system and breast cancer progression

Breast cancer is an epithelial-derived malignancy. Breast cancer becomes life threatening when the malignant cells diseminate to distant sites via invasion and angiogenesis. The identification of patients at high risk of relapse is currently one of the most important issues in breast cancer research. Histologic grade, NPI, ER or progesterone receptor (PgR) status, EGFR, HER-2/neu contents and tumor size have previously been shown to be important prognostic indicators for distant recurrences of breast cancer [5]. Most recently, studies have suggested that high levels of expressed uPA, uPAR or PAI-1 significantly predicted shorter survival and early relapse in breast cancer and other malignancies. One study shows that the expression of uPA, uPAR, and PAI-1 in fibroblasts rather than tumor cells has a key impact on

the clinical behavior of breast cancer [10], suggesting stromal proteases are critical for interactions between tumor cells and the surrounding stroma. The new information may provide additional parameters in multivariate analysis [277, 297]. Intriguingly, the finding of diseminated cancer cells with high expression levels of uPA and uPAR in the plasma or bone marrow of breast cancer patients suggests a feasible screening protocol for the follow-up monitoring of these patients [298, 299]. Although overexpression of suPAR effectively eliminates uPA and impairs proteolysis, growth and the metastatic potential of breast carcinoma cells *in vivo* [300], high levels of suPAR in body fluids and blood plasma were correlated with poor patient prognosis [263]. The mechanisms are poorly understood and need to be elucidated.

Among the myriad growth factors that alter uPA expression and activity, TGF- β plays a controversial role in breast cancer remodeling. It inhibits cell proliferation and uPA activity in normal human breast epithelial cells (HBECs), however, TGF- β released from breast cancer cells up-regulates uPA and PAI-1 antigen at both transcriptional and translational levels in tumor-associated macrophages, and only a modest increase was observed in macrophages in the surrounding normal tissue. This may be due to differences in the density of the TGF- β receptor on different types of cells [271, 301]. In a potential positive feedback loop, uPA-activated TGF- β within the ECM can further increase the expression and activity of uPA, and markedly enhance the invasive capacity of human breast cancer cell lines [302]. However, the involvement of growth factors or cytokines that up-regulate uPA production in coordination with TGF- β , and the presence of other TGF- β induced proteolytic enzymes could not be excluded [4, 28, 303]. Exceptions were seen in osteosarcoma and uveal melanoma cells in which TGF- β decreased basal uPA secretion and its enzyme activity [304, 305].

Epidemiological evidence strongly supports the theory that endogenous steroid hormones such as estrogen play crucial roles in breast cancer etiology and progression. 17 β -estradiol (E2) and some estrogen receptor antagonists with similar agonistic profiles as E2 are associated with increased *uPA* gene expression in ER positive breast cancer cells [306, 307]. Similar effects following steroid hormone

treatment are seen in androgen treated androgen receptor (AR) positive prostate cancer cells [308]. However, androgen and estrogen decrease uPA production in hormone receptor transfected human breast and prostate cancer cells *in vitro* and *in vivo* [237, 309], which suggests that hormonal regulation of uPA expression is associated with the stage of cancer rather than having a direct impact on its expression. In addition, cells expressing high levels of uPA and other members of the uPA family are resistant to hormonal therapies. Therefore, the levels of the uPA/uPAR system members might be useful in predicting the overall response of metastatic disease to hormonal therapies [310].

A highly useful treatment for most breast cancer patients with ER positive tumors is hormonal therapy, which blocks breast cancer cell growth by directly interfering with the binding of estrogen to its receptor. TAM is the most prescribed drug for the treatment of ER positive breast cancers and has demonstrated efficacy in the chemoprevention of breast cancer in women at high-risk [311]. ER-independent mechanisms of TAM are likely due to its ability to alter the secretion of a number of growth factors by endothelial cells thus affecting subsequent growth factor-mediated signaling pathways [311, 312]. Similar observations are shown in the combination therapy of TAM with a uPA antagonist in a syngeneic breast cancer model as described in Chapter IV. Resistance to hormonal treatment is an invariable outcome in patients with ER positive breast cancer after extended treatment. Many mechanisms have been proposed and include the identification of point mutations in the hormone-binding domain of the ER [313] and alterations in ER mRNA splicing leading to constitutively active forms of the receptor [314]. Crosstalk between ER and growth factor tyrosine kinase receptors or G-protein-coupled receptors favors the agonistic effects of TAM [315-318] by either phosphorylating ER [316], or affecting the levels of ER co-activators and co-repressors [319]. TAM metabolites have been found to contain estrogenic activity [312]. Since the uPA/uPAR system plays a key role in patients with advanced breast cancers that contain a mixed population of ER positive and negative breast cancer cells, the use of anti-proteolytic agents in addition to TAM may favor the disease outcome (also demonstrated in Chapter IV) [11].

1.5.1.3 Other proteases involved in cancer progression

Cancer invasion and metastasis is a process requiring a coordinated series of anti-adhesive, migratory, and pericellular proteolytic events and involves a number of protease families. A large and expanding literature has emerged over the last decade describing different types of tumor-associated proteases, their inhibitors and receptors involved in tumor invasion and metastasis. Four classes of proteases have been reported: 1) Matrix metalloproteases (MMPs), e.g. collagenases, gelatinases and stromelysins. 2) Cysteine proteases; e.g. Cathepsins B and L. 3) Aspartyl protease; e.g. Cathepsin D. 4) Serine proteases; e.g. uPA, tPA and plasmin [7].

Proteases form a complex network that contributes to the malignant phenotype of different solid tumors (Fig. 1.2). Members of the uPA/uPAR system and MMPs are both required for the processes of tumor growth, invasion, angiogenesis and metastasis in a number of cancers [320]. MMPs, a family of zinc-dependent endopeptidases, are secreted as inactive pro-MMPs. The active MMPs degrade the basement membrane and interstitial stroma and are frequently overexpressed in malignant tumors [321]. Among the MMPs, MMP-2 (gelatinase A) and MMP-9 (gelatinase B) are well studied in cancer biology. These two MMPs along with uPA and plasminogen are all associated with the cell surface. Activation and degradation of pro-MMP-2 and pro-MMP-9 occur in a dose- and time-dependent manner in the presence of physiological concentrations of plasminogen and uPA. In the absence of tissue inhibitors of MMPs (TIMPs), plasmin in the soluble phase or generated from plasminogen by uPA catalysis can directly activate pro-MMP-9 (as confirmed in our lab, unpublished observations) [322]. uPA activates pro-MMP-2 indirectly via membrane-type-1 MMP (MT1-MMP) [323] (Fig. 1.2). Thus, the uPA-plasmin system may represent a physiological or possibly a pathological mechanism for the control of gelatinase activities [324]. In addition, growth factors can concomitantly induce the expression of uPA and MMP-9, thus contributing to their roles as promoters of cell invasion [79].

In addition, lysosomal proteinase cathepsins were identified as important prognostic factors in breast cancer as well as other malignancies [325]. It has been suggested that both the proforms and active forms of Cathepsin B and D participate in

tumour invasion and metastasis [326, 327]. Local acidification or proteolytic cleavage catalyzed by other proteinases such as elastase mediates pro-Cathepsin processing [328]. Among all these lysosomal cysteine proteases, Cathepsin B is mostly associated with the metastatic phenotype of tumor cells. It is primarily secreted from tumor epithelial cells and surrounding endothelial cells. Increased levels and activity of this protease and its plasma membrane association confer the invasiveness of the cells expressing it [329]. A series of inhibitors of Cathepsin B such as cystatin C as well as stefin A are present in the cytoplasm and extracellular millieu, but are present in lower amounts in breast cancer tissues [330, 331]. Furthermore, Cathepsin B can activate scuPA and thus initiate an extracellular proteolytic cascade through uPA/uPAR/plasminogen \rightarrow plasmin \rightarrow MMPs cascade as shown in Fig. 1.2 [332]. Of all the lysosome proteinases, the most abundant one is aspartic proteinase Cathepsin D. Although Cathepsin D is characterised as a protease, it contributes to tumor progression by increasing the number of tumor cells rather than its proteolytic activity [333]. Cathepsin D is an estrogen-regulated protease. Overexpression of Cathepsin D appears primarily in tumor cells but not in its surrounding stromal cells, which might be dependent on the estrogen response element located within its promoter region [334]. Cathepsin D has also been reported to prevent tumor growth and angiogenesis via its ability to generate angiostatin [335]. Cathepsins B and D therefore play different roles during cancer progression and provide significant, statistically independent prognostic information for DFS and OS in a number of cancers including breast cancer [325-327, 329].

In summary, high levels of serine proteases (uPA) with Cathepsins or MMPs are better prognostic markers in cancer as compared to the examination of individual proteases [336-338]. The increased levels of proteases and their inhibitors ultimately deregulate the functions and behaviours of tumors to favour their growth and metastasis, and may reflect the emergence of the drug resistant phenotype during cancer treatment [339].

1.5.2 uPA and uPAR as therapeutic targets for various cancers

Given our understanding of the central role of the uPA/uPAR system in tumor growth, invasion, angiogenesis and metastasis, the design of new strategies to inhibit one or all of these processes is now feasible.

1.5.2.1 Direct inhibitors of the uPA/uPAR system

1.5.2.1.1 Synthetic inhibitors

In tumor cells, uPA and uPAR expression may be constitutively activated as a result of oncogenic transformation [247]. The design of most classical inhibitors of uPA was based on the catalytic domain of uPA and was intended to block its enzyme activities and thus tumor cell growth and invasion. P-aminobenzamidine (a low molecular weight uPA inhibitor) and amiloride were among the first to be recognized and used [340]. The diuretic drug amiloride (AMLD) suppresses uPA gene expression and enzyme activity in a number of in vitro and in vivo cancer models [341, 342]. The prostate cancer cell line PC-3, which overexpresses uPA, was more sensitive to amiloride treatment than mock transfected cells with low uPA expression [251]. B-428 and B-623 are derivatives of amiloride with higher efficacy. Similar to amiloride, they inhibit tumor cell-associated uPA secretion and enzyme activity, and thus block uPA-mediated degradation of the ECM in vitro [343]. However, both compounds have minor effects on angiogenesis and spontaneous metastasis in experimental animal models in vivo [344]. This suggests that domains other than the catalytic region of uPA are required for angiogenesis-mediated functions, and these may serve as novel targets for putative inhibitors.

1.5.2.1.2 Peptides

uPA and tPA share high sequence homology in their catalytic domains. Therefore, inhibitors directed against the catalytic domain of one enzyme might also affect the other [345]. Several peptides designed to inhibit the binding of uPA to its receptor result in enhanced binding of uPAR to VN and decreased tumor growth *in vivo* [346, 347]. An inhibitor of uPA-uPAR interaction was shown to inhibit FGF-2 and VEGF stimulated endothelial cell tube formation in a fibrin matrix [283, 348]. Moreover, as discussed in chapter III, a synthetic peptide Å6 was designed based on the non-receptor binding region of uPA. It inhibits tumor and endothelial cell migration, invasion and vasoconstriction *in vitro*, and blocks tumor growth, angiogenesis and metastasis *in vivo* [272, 273].

1.5.2.1.3 Immunotherapy

Antibody-based techniques seem promising in treating cancers especially breast cancer and lymphoma [349]. Several approaches using uPA, uPAR, and even PAI-1 antibodies had remarkable outcomes. uPA antibody has been tested in both non-neoplastic and cancer models, and has been shown to block fusion and differentiation of myoblast cells *in vitro* [65]. uPA derived from prostate tumors has mitogenic effects on prostate cancer cells and osteoblasts, and increases cell invasiveness [231, 350, 351]. Antibodies against uPA reverse these effects by suppressing the proliferation and differentiation of prostate osteoblast cells [350]. uPAR monoclonal antibodies completely inhibited FGF-2 and TNF- α mediated tubular formation in a fibrin matrix [352]. The antibody to uPAR that blocks tumor growth *in vivo* has also been demonstrated in our laboratory (submitted to Cancer Research). PAI-1 antibody has been shown to suppress pulmonary metastases of human fibrosarcoma by inhibiting tumor cell lodgment in vessels *in vivo* [353]. A genetically engineered uPA-IgG fusion protein (uPA-IgG) antagonizes uPAR and inhibits the initiation of primary tumors and micrometastasis [354, 355].

1.5.2.1.4 Potential applications for gene therapy

Gene therapies using adenovirus-conjugated or antisense oligodeoxynucleotides-based technologies have been designed to specifically target the biosynthesis or activities of uPA and uPAR [3, 356-359]. ATF, the non-catalytic region of uPA, interferes with uPA-uPAR interaction and blocks uPA enzyme activity [233]. This discovery not only defines ATF as an inhibitor of the uPA/uPAR system, but also provides a potential targeting site of the uPA/uPAR system. AdmATF is a recombinant adenovirus encoding a secreted ATF of murine uPA. The administration of AdmATF dramatically reduced primary tumor volume and subsequent metastasis [358]. Adenovirus-mediated antisense uPAR gene transfer or antisense uPAR mRNA reduces tumor cell spread in vitro and in vivo [3, 356]. Inhibition of colon cancer metastasis by both 5'- and 3'-end antisense uPAR was observed in a nude mouse model [360]. Administration of antisense oligos of TF NF-KB-RelA suppresses

synthesis of uPA in ovarian cancer cells [359]. Antisense oligos that limited the availability of uPAR also showed promising inhibitory effects on endothelial cell proliferation, migration and invasion by blocking uPAR-mediated signaling pathways [357].

1.5.2.1.5 Other inhibitors

Urinary trypsin inhibitor (UTI), a urinary trypsin inhibitor and a negative modulator of invasive ovarian tumor cells, efficiently inhibits soluble and tumor cellassociated plasmin activity and subsequently inhibits tumor cell invasion and metastasis by down-regulation of uPA through a PKC and MEK/ERK/c-Jundependent pathway [41]. A method to conjugate the UTI domain II (HI-8) to the receptor-binding ATF of uPA has been developed in order to reduce cell-associated proteolytic activity located close to the uPAR-expressing tumor cell surface. This strategy may effectively inhibit tumor cell invasion and metastasis [361]. Tumor cell selective cytotoxins such as uPA-targeted mutated anthrax toxin-protective antigen, activated selectively on the surface of uPAR-expressing tumor cells in the presence of scuPA and plasminogen, killed uPAR-expressing tumor cells [362] and may provide new therapeutic agents for cancer treatment.

Others have studied the potential inhibitory effects of various herbal products. PSK, a protein-bound polysaccharide, is widely used in Japan as an immunopotentiating biological response modifier for cancer patients. PSK significantly decreases the invasiveness of pancreatic and gastric cancer cells by inhibiting uPA, TGF- β 1, MMP-2, and MMP-9 at both mRNA and protein levels [363]. Epigallocatechin-3-gallate (EGCG), the essential component of crude green tea extract, also has inhibitory effects on tumor cell invasiveness [364]. Dietary fiber may protect against invasive colon cancer as well since short chain fatty acids such as butyrate inhibit human colon cancer cell invasion by reducing uPA activity and stimulating TIMP-1 and TIMP-2 activities [365]. Sodium butyrate inhibited both normal and breast cancer cell proliferation and uPA activity [301]. Certain essential fatty acids (EFAs), such as gamma-linolenic acid (GLA) and eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), inhibit uPA activity and may affect the invasion and metastasis of cancer cells [366]. Using a computer-derived molecular model of uPA, inhibitors have been designed and synthesized. Although not yet characterized in an *in vivo* model, they may provide the basis for the future development of new drugs. N-(1-adamantyl)-N'- (4-guanidinobenzyl) urea is a highly selective non-peptidic uPA inhibitor. The x-ray crystal structure of the uPA B-chain complexed with this inhibitor has been revealed [367].

1.5.2.2 Indirect inhibition

Multiple malignancy-related changes are involved in the complex interactions of tumor cells and the surrounding stroma (endothelial cells, stromal fibroblast, inflammatory macrophages and T cells) via altered signaling networks, and thus in favor of the growth and motility of cancer cells [368]. The development of specific inhibitors of signaling mediators is now a focus of new therapeutic regimes in cancer treatment. The PKC pathway is involved in the TNF-mediated induction of uPA expression and secretion as well as subsequent matrix remodeling, the formation of tube-like structures in neovascularization, wound healing, and leukocyte extravasation [369, 370]. Bryostatin-1, an inhibitor that specifically blocks TPAinduced uPA expression through suppressing the PKC pathway is currently in early clinical trials [246]. Other members of the complex network of receptor tyrosine kinase-mediated plasmin activation, cell motility and invasion can serve as important targets [244]. Thus, inhibitors or antagonists of the uPA/uPAR system provide important therapeutic potential for cancers. The anti-proteolytic antagonists may serve as useful adjuvant agents in combination with existing cancer chemotherapy.

1.5.2.3 Combination therapy with anti-proteolytic agents

For decades, early detection of cancer remains the major factor that determines DFS. Research is still focusing on combining existing cancer treatments such as hormonal therapy or radiotherapy with second and third generation chemotherapeutic agents (cytotoxic agents). Systemic treatment of breast cancer by adjuvant therapy is largely based on the diagnosis of auxiliary metastases, and the successful treatment of advanced metastatic solid tumors has remained an elusive goal.

Traditional combination therapy for breast cancer consists of chemotherapy. cytoreductive therapy and radiotherapy. Several studies have suggested that certain cytotoxic agents can improve the response of breast tumors to the treatment of antiestrogen agent TAM [372]. Such agents include cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil. A study conducted earlier in our laboratory has demonstrated the beneficial effects of the combination of hormonal and anti-proteolytic therapies in breast cancer, suggesting the use of proteinase inhibitors of uPA and MMPs may improve disease outcomes [371]. TAM in combination with B428, a chemical inhibitor of uPA enzyme activity, showed additive effects in blocking the proliferative and invasive capacity of rat breast cancer cells in vitro and in vivo [11]. These effects are a result of the partial suppression of *uPAR* gene transcription. Measurement of uPA levels in primary breast tumors may also be useful in predicting the overall response of metastatic disease to TAM therapy [373]. Other studies have shown that small multifunctional inhibitors represent promising agents for the combination therapy of solid tumors. Novel types of double-headed inhibitors directed to different tumor-associated proteolytic systems were generated for cysteine lysosomal protease inhibition (cystatins) and both inhibit the activity of Cathepsins and interfere with uPA/uPAR interaction [374].

1.6 Physiological and non-neoplastic pathological roles of uPA/uPAR

1.6.1 Physiological roles of uPA: indications from genetically engineered mice

uPA may play a role in early human embryo implantation and development. Its levels are highest at the follicular phase, and are lowest at the ovulatory phase. uPA production is detected in human pre-implantation embryos that might assist trophoblast cells invade the endometrium [375]. Endometrial stromal cells increase the secretion of uPA during decidualization, a tissue remodelling process during embryo implantation. PGE2 can regulate the levels of uPA by increasing and/or stabilizing its transcripts in these cells [54]. In addition, uPA activity can be detected in mouse embryos as early as day 6 of pregnancy, and is present through the blastocyst stage [376].

Insight into the physiological functions of the uPA/uPAR system has mostly come from studies of genetically engineered mice. In mice, disrupting the genes for uPA, tPA [377], plasminogen [378], uPAR [379], PAI-I [380] and VN [381] results in animals with a short life span and multiple tissue dysfunctions. This may be a result of functional overlap, or because this system has been restricted to certain processes such as invasion and migration in inflammation under physiological conditions. The animals eventually develop to adulthood and are fertile, suggesting that the uPA/uPAR system, though not essential to life, is necessary for normal development.

Mice lacking uPA (uPA^{-/-}) have a clear immunodeficient phenotype with increased susceptibility to bacterial infection (*Cryptococcus neoformans* and *staphylococcal botryomycosis, pleuritis*) due to a lack of T cells and macrophage recruitment, as well as effacement of lymphoid follicles [224, 382]. Similar phenomena are seen in plasminogen^{-/-} and uPAR^{-/-} mice, which have difficulty in recruiting inflammatory cell populations (such as leukocytes, neutrophils and eosinophils) to the inflammatory sites [175, 383]. Moreover, uPA^{-/-}, tPA^{-/-} and plasminogen^{-/-} mice developed disseminated intra- and extravascular fibrin deposition [378]. uPA^{-/-}, tPA^{-/-} and uPAR^{-/-}/tPA^{-/-} mice have less abnormal fibrin deposition as compared to plasminogen^{-/-} and uPA^{-/-}/tPA^{-/-} mice, which implies that uPA may substitute for tPA in both fibrinolysis and its proteolytic functions. It also suggests that uPAR is not necessarily involved in uPA-mediated fibrinolysis [377, 384]. Fibrinogen^{-/-} mice , having depleted the substrate of uPA do not show any fibrin deposition even in uPA^{-/-}, tPA^{-/-} and uPAR^{-/-}/tPA^{-/-} mice [385]. PAI-1^{-/-} mice display a mild hyperfibrinolytic state and are resistant to thrombosis [380].

Dysregulated proteolysis in mice overexpressing uPA may have developmental consequences such as enamel defects [386] and impaired learning capacity due to neural disorder [387]. Therefore, the use of multi-organ or tissue designated engineering of uPA or its related proteins may shed light on the physiological roles of uPA in various organs and the underlying mechanisms involved in its regulation.

In vitro studies have also revealed many aspects of uPA's role in tissue-related physiological functions. Differential expression of uPA has been shown in

myogenesis. uPA is induced in myoblast proliferation but is repressed in myoblast differentiation. A number of growth factors and cytokines may contribute to the overexpression of uPA and increased proteolytic activity required during myoblast migration and fusion, as well as in muscle regeneration [388].

1.6.2 Role of uPA in pathogenesis of non-neoplastic diseases and clinical implications

Elevated plasminogen activation may play a crucial role in the pathogenesis of diseases that involve inflammatory, smooth muscle and endothelial cell replication, accumulation and migration [389]. Several pathological processes involving the uPA-uPAR complex include skin ulcers [390], venous leg ulceration [391], aneurysm [392], human muscular dystrophy [393] and chronic hypoxia-related right heart failure [394].

Elevated levels of uPA contribute to wound repair and healing [395], assist reorganization of the liver lobule after liver injury [396], facilitate cellular infiltration into multiple sclerotic lesions and middle cerebral artery occlusion [397], and hastening recovery by regenerating peripheral nerves [398]. On the other hand, thrombolytic serpins, including serp-1 and PAI-1, are central regulatory agents in vascular wound-healing responses by providing a balance of uPA [156]. Administration of uPA as a thrombolytic agent is standard in patients who have uPA deficiency-related diseases such as portal vein thrombosis [399]. Gene therapy by local infection of adenovirus-mediated, cell surface-directed plasmin inhibitor ATF.BPTI, provides a novel approach for its specific delivery and targeting [400]. Combination therapy of uPA with other agents may have a significant advantage in treating certain diseases. For example, uPA is capable of enhancing the neuroprotection effects of citicoline in treating focal ischemia [401].

In summary, the physiological and pathological role of uPA has been well established. Overexpression of uPA usually contributes to cancer cell invasiveness that ultimately leads to cancer metastasis. However, the mechanisms of this upregulation in cancer are still poorly understood. As introduced in section 1.1.2., the 5'-CpG island of the human uPA gene begins in its non-transcribed 5'-flanking region, and extends to the second intron, in which a high G+C content and a high frequency of CpG dinucleotides relative to the bulk genome were observed [19]. An earlier study has shown uPA expression is consistent with the methylation status of several methylation sensitive enzyme recognition sites within the uPA promoter [22]. In Chapter II of this thesis, we report that the differential expression of uPA in early and late stage breast cancer is determined by the cytosine DNA methylation of its promoter. In the next section, I will briefly review how DNA methylation regulates gene expression in cancer.

1.7 Transcriptional Regulation of Genes by DNA Methylation

1.7.1 Introduction of DNA methylation

DNA methylation is one of the many processes that can influence gene expression without altering the genetic code. Both adenine and cytosine can be methylated during DNA replication and rearrangement, however, only cytosine methylation occurs in humans [402]. As first reported in 1948, about 3~5% of the cytosine residues in mammalian genomic DNA are present as 5-methylcytosine (5mC) [403]. The methylation patterns of genes are inheritable. Differential methylation patterns of tissue specific genes are seen in mammals during embryonic development and cancers [22, 404]. A high density of 5-mC residing at the promoter, enhancer, or some particular sequence can dramatically suppress gene transcription [405, 406]. Diverse regions of the human genome have been shown to have cancer-associated methylation alterations as determined by CpG methylation-sensitive restriction endonuclease (e.g., HpaII and HhaI) digestion, followed by Southern blot hybridization [22] (Fig. 1.1. Panel B&C and Fig. 2.1) as well as combined bisulfite restriction analysis (COBRA) [407]. Methylation sensitive PCR (MSP) [408] provides more detailed information and can differentiate methylated cytosines from unmethylated ones.

Cytosine DNA methylation occurs on either hemimethylated (maintenance methylation) or symmetrically unmethylated (*de novo* methylation) CpG dinucleotides (hereafter referred to CpG, where p denotes the phosphate group) (Fig. 1.3). *De novo* methylation is an active process that establishes new methylation patterns of genes during gametogenesis, early post-implantation development and

cancer development. Following DNA replication, maintenance methylation converts hemimethylated DNA to its complete methylated form. Both initiation and maintenance of DNA methylation are catalyzed by a family of enzymes called DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs), which can transfer a methyl group from the methyl donor S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) to the 5 position of the pyrimidine ring of cytosines [409]. While DNMTs promote DNA methylation, another activity conferred by demethylase (DMase) can actively remove the methyl group from the cytosines to restore unmethylated residues required for expression. Although DNA hypomethylation is proposed to be mainly mediated by DMase, the absence of methylation maintenance activity during DNA replication can not be excluded [410-413]. An overview of the working model of DNA methylation is shown in Fig. 1.3.

1.7.2 Regulation of the methylation status in cancer

Lapeyre and Becker's pioneer work demonstrated a link between altered methylated cytosine levels and cancer in 1979 [414]. Derangement in DNA methylation plays roles in the alterations in normal DNA methylation pathways or the activation of DNA demethylation. With technical advances, more and more genes that are critical to cancer biology are shown to have methylation-dependent expression. One such example is uPA, the main theme of this thesis [22].

DNA methylation has both a direct and indirect impact on human carcinogenesis. First, methylation of tumor suppressor genes is of major importance in inactivating these genes in cancer. Second, genome-wide hypomethylation of DNA is detected in various cancers. Third, methylation of cytosines markedly increases the possibility of C to T mutation at some hot spots in both germ line and somatic cells. Fourth, altered expression and activity of DNMTs and DMases have been documented during cancer progression.

1.7.2.1 CpG island hypermethylation

Hypermethylation of genes can suppress their expression in a number of cells. In many cases, they are tumor suppressor genes involved in cancer [415]. *Calcitonin* was the first demonstrated hypermethylated gene that was tumor-associated [416, 417]. Increased methylation of *calcitonin* may be related to the expansion of abnormal blast cell populations in chronic myeloid leukaemia (CML) [418]. Similar findings were observed in other familial cancer related genes or potential tumor suppressor genes such as $p16^{INK4a}$, E-cadherin (E-cad), Von-Hippel Lindau (VHL), O⁶-methyl guanosine methyltransferase (O⁶-MGMT), TIMP-3 and $p15^{INK4a}$ [419-422]. Given these reports, a pattern of DNA hypermethylation during cancer formation is emerging. Densely methylated cytosines in the genes that suppress tumorigenesis and progression can suppress their expression, thus favoring the development of cancer. However, genome-wide DNA hypomethylation is more characteristics of the epigenetic changes seen in cancer [423].

1.7.2.2 Genome-wide hypomethylation (or demethylation)

Genome-wide hypomethylation in cancer was first reported in the early 1980's [424]. In primary human tumors, hypomethylation of a number of tumorpromoting genes (e.g. proto-oncogenes and uPA) [22, 425] and some retro-elements (e.g. intracisternal A particles) closely correlate with their high expression levels [426]. CpG islands appear to be protected from dense methylation in these genes, even though flanking regions are heavily methylated. Hypomethylation of these genes is probably due to: 1) methionine auxotrophy, which reduces the levels the methyl group donor, SAM 2) insufficient DNA methylation machinery to maintain the levels of methylated cytosines after DNA replication [427]. 3) An oncogenic stimulus such as Ras may induce aberrant expression and activities of DNA DNMTs and DMases that favor the methylation changes of various genes in tumors [428, 429].

1.7.2.3 Regulation of DNA methylation by DNMTs and DMases

1.7.2.3.1 Discovery of DNMT1 and DMase

Two types of methylation related enzymes, DNMTs (e.g. DNMT1, DNMT2 and a series of DNMT3) [430-432] and DMases have been cloned and identified [410]. The 190 kDa DNMT1 is a maintenance methylase, and has 5~30 fold higher affinity for hemi-methylated DNA as compared to un-methylated DNA [433]. Sequence analysis revealed that this enzyme shares high inter-species homology in human, mice, chickens and sea urchins [434-437]. Ramchandani and co-workers later cloned a CpG methyl-binding domain 2b (MBD2b) that confers demethylase activity, which is the only identified mammalian DMase to date [438, 439].

1.7.2.3.2 Functions of DNMT1

Approximately 80% of cytosines are methylated in CpG sites, and are maintained in a cell- or tissue-specific manner by maintenance DNMT1 despite cell replication. The C-terminal domain of DNMT1 is similar to the catalytic domain of bacterial methylases. The N-terminus contains multiple domains and provides functions that are specialized to eukaryotes, such as nuclei translocation and co-ordination of replication and methylation during S-phase, and are probably required for the maintenance activity of this enzyme [409]. Following semi-conservative replication, two hemimethylated daughter strands derived from the methylated parental DNA are formed. DNMT1 has a marked preference for this hemimethylated DNA [434, 440]. DNMT1 then catalyzes the addition of methyl groups to the newly incorporated unmethylated cytosine in the CpG sites of the daughter strands. Although known as a maintenance methylase, DNMT1 also retains low levels of *de novo* enzyme activity, and catalyzes *de novo* methylation in embryonic stem (ES) cells during gametogenesis and early embryonic development. Overexpression of DNMT1 induces hypermethylation of selected promoters in fibroblast cells [441].

DNMT1 is of great importance in various physiological and pathological processes. ES cells that contain mutated DNMT1 grow normally with severely demethylated genomes, but undergo cell-autonomous apoptosis when induced to differentiate [442]. Overexpression of DNMT1 can transform fibroblast NIH 3T3 cells [443] via Ras-fos signaling pathway [444, 445]. In addition, increased DNMT1 levels have been detected in multiple neoplastic cell types and are cell cycle-dependent [446]. These are probably due to the interactions of DNMT1 with a number of related proteins (p21, p23, annexin V, pRB, MBD3, DMAP1 and histone deacetylases (HDACs)) [449]. However, functional significance of these interactions is still unclear.

1.7.2.3.2.1 Methylation and cell cycle regulation

DNMT1 contains a cysteine rich region at the N-terminus that is capable of binding zinc, and targets the replication foci of DNA in S-phase nuclei, where it is involved in maintenance methylation and histone modification. DNMT1 is expressed constitutively in proliferating cells with higher levels observed in fast growing tumors, however, significant down-regulation of DNMT1 was observed during cell arrest [447]. DNMT1 interacts with proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) and interferes with the binding of PCNA to p21 (WAF1). This dissociation of PCNA from p21 initiates DNA replication and cell cycle progression [448]. Interestingly, expression profiles of uPA is identical to the DNMT1, and is cell cycle-dependent [89]. P16^{INK4a} and pRB are classical cell cycle regulators that are controlled by the Cyclin D-pRB pathway. A genetic change or hypermethylation of the promoters of these genes completely abrogates the suppression effect of these genes in tumors [421]. Malfunctions of these cell cycle-related proteins confer the malignant phenotypes of variant tumors.

1.7.2.3.2.2 Methyl CpG binding proteins and chromatin remodeling

DNA is assembled into nucleosomes that contain differentially modified histones. Hypomethylated promoters are generally enriched in hyperacetylated histones and lack histone H1, and correlate with active chromatin structures accessible to TFs [450]. Hypermethylated promoters become enriched in deacetylated core histones by recruiting histone deacetylation machinery [451], and are packed into condensed chromatin structures to prevent the loading of TFs [452]. HDACs (HDAC1 and HDAC2) catalyse these histone modifications through association with DNMT1, and thus directly mediates transcriptional repression of chromatin during DNA replication in an inheritable manner [453, 454]. Recent reports have suggested Methyl-CpG binding proteins (MeCPs) and methylated DNA binding proteins (MBDPs) are also involved in the chromatin remodelling machinery in addition to HDACs [455, 456]. These proteins recognize methylated DNA via a related amino acid motif within CpG methyl binding domain (MBD) [457].

MeCPs (MeCP1 and MeCP2) recognize the symmetrical CpG dinucleotides by a MBD that makes contact with the major groove of the double helix, and function through a transcription repression domain (TRD) that interacts with several other regulatory proteins [458]. MeCPs mediate gene inactivation via the recruitment of MBDPs and their associated HDACs to methylated DNA, and favours local deacetylation of core histone tails [456]. MeCP2 is the best-characterized methyl-CpG binding protein so far. It recruits a co-repressor complex containing the
transcriptional repressor Sin3A and HDAC activity to methylated DNA [459, 460], which can explain why MeCP2 co-localizes with non-randomly distributed 5-mC at pericentromeric satellite DNA on chromosomes 1.9.16 and the long arm of the Y chromosome [461, 462].

MBDPs bind directly to methylated DNA, and sterically block the access of other TFs. A family of MBD-containing proteins was cloned and includes MBD1, MBD2, MBD3 and MBD4. Co-localization of MBD2 and MBD3 with DNMT1 is observed in the late S-phase of cells, which indicates the involvement of a large complex of DNMT1 in the regulation of gene methylation/demethylation and histone modification during DNA replication. Although MBD3 was the only MBDP that does not bind methylated DNA [457], heterodimers of MBD2 and MBD3 were reported to have high affinity for hemimethylated DNA [463]. These observations suggest that the MBD2 and MBD3 complex may be required specifically during the process of DNA demethylation, since a truncated form of MBD2 contains a demethylase activity in vitro [456]. An increasing body of evidence links defects in chromatin remodelling machinery to cancer. The resulting co-suppression of tumor suppressor genes by methylation and deacetylation may be due to blocked access of the regulatory factors to DNA. Although the functional significance of these protein-DNA interactions is still unknown, several interesting scenarios have been proposed. MeCPs or MBDPs recruit the deacetylase complexes with DNMTs (or possibly DMase) to the preexisting methylated DNA, and maintain the epigenetic profiles of chromatin. During cancer development, the binding specificity of these proteins is altered, thus in association with a deacetylase complex, they bind to parasitic elements and different compartments of methylated DNA. In addition, other functional proteins in association with DNMT1 have been identified. An example is DMAP1, which represses transcription of replicate forks as well as copies the methylation patterns of the parental strands. A selective co-localisation of HDACs, DNMT1 and DMAP1 during late S phase may be critical for the maintenance of the epigenetic changes of genomes [454].

Trichostatin A (TSA), a specific inhibitor of cellular HDAC activity, has been shown to reactivate a number of methylated genes. TSA can be used to analyse the

47

correlation between hypermethylated uPA promoter and its chromatin structure as described in Chapter II. In certain cases, its effects are more dramatic following the treatment of a methylated gene with a low dose of demethylation agent, 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-azaCdR) [464].

1.7.2.3.3 Other DNMTs

Mice with the homozygous deletion of DNMT1 were embryonic lethal [442]. However, low levels of DNA methylation persist during the passaging of the cultured cells derived from these mice embryos [465, 466], suggesting the existence of other DNMTs. Several DNMTs or proteins with conserved DNMT motifs have been identified, including DNMT2, the DNMT3 family (DNMT3A, DNMT3B and DNMT3L) and double stranded RNA (dsRNA) adenosine deaminase [430, 431, 467, 468].

Disruption of DNMT2 had no obvious effect on global genomic methylation patterns in ES cells or newly integrated retroviral DNA [469, 470]. The biological role of DNMT2, DNMT3L and dsRNA adenosine deaminase in DNA methylation remains to be examined. A significant capacity for *de novo* DNMT enzyme activity is associated with DNMT3a and DNMT3b after embryonic implantation. These enzymes initiate *de novo* methylation of a number of genes, but with much lower activities as compared to DNMT1 [471-473]. DNMT3s also act as maintenance enzymes with an equal preference for either hemimethylated or unmethylated substrates, and may compensate for the maintenance activity of DNMT1 in certain situations [474, 475].

1.7.2.3.4 DMase

Demethylation and transcriptional activation of genes or viral elements were seen in 5-azaCdR treated cells or DNA DNMT knockout embryos [22, 476, 477]. No distinct demethylation process has been identified so far, and may involve a passive or an active mechanism. Passive global demethylation might be associated with the loss of maintenance activity in ES cells through the inhibition of DNMT1, and be replication-dependent [476]. Active removal of the methyl group from full- or hemimethylated CpGs independent of DNA synthesis has been observed [411, 478]. 5-mC N-glycosylase contains both essential protein and RNA components, and cleaves an N-glycoside bond to release the 5-mC base from the deoxyribose group. This might be the basis of demethylation in pre-implanted chicken embryos, with hemimethylated CpGs as its preferential templates [438, 439]. A potential mammalian DMase, MBD2b, can cleave the methyl moiety directly without altering the phosphodiester backbone, and is responsible for demethylation *in vitro*. Whether this enzyme has *in vivo* functions needs to be clarified. Forced expression of v-Ha-ras in mouse embryonic P19 cells results in genome-wide demethylation that accompanies increased DNA demethylation activity, suggesting that the oncogene *ras* is a potential upstream controller of DNA DMase [428]. In addition, ras also upregulates the expression and enzyme activity of DNMT1 in an adrenocortical tumor cell line [429]. Thus, oncogene initiated cellular transformation may create a methylation balance disorder in a number of genes that provokes tumor progression.

1.7.3 DNA methylation based clinical implications in cancer

1.7.3.1 Methylation modification of the critical genes in breast cancer

Altered methylation status determines the loss or gain of expression of a variety of critical genes in breast cancer, including cell cycle related proteins (p16K^{INK4a}), steroid hormone receptors (ER and PR), tumor susceptibility (BRCA1), carcinogen detoxification (GSTP1), cell adhesion (E-cad), proteases (uPA) and their inhibitors (TIMP-3) as shown in Table 1.1 [479-483].

The best example of these breast cancer related genes is ER (Table 1.1, left column), which is methylated in ~50% of unselected primary breast cancers and most ER negative breast cancer cells (e.g. MDA-MB-231). 5-azaCdR and TSA treatment results in a dramatic demethylation and hyperacetylation of this gene and thus restores partial functions of the ER in these cells [481, 484]. Several reports have suggested the induced expression and activity of DNMT1 can directly generate a methylated ER via *de novo* methylation. However, more complex changes may occur to allow these ER negative cells to escape normal cell cycle-dependent controls via DNMT1-mediated dissociation of p21 from PCNA [485]. Interestingly, hypermethylation of the *BRCA1* gene is only found in breast and ovarian cancer [482], which suggests the essential role of sex steroid hormones such as estrogen in the regulation of this gene in cancer.

Overexpression of a number of tumor promoting factors (e.g. breast cancer specific gene 1 (BCSG1) and uPA) in breast cancer have been demonstrated (Table 1.1, right column) [22, 486]. Demethylation of the cis-regulatory elements of these factors alters the binding specificity of a number of transcription activators and repressors, and thus induces the aberrant expression of these genes in breast carcinomas.

1.7.3.2 DNA methylation based therapies in cancer

How global demethylation occurs during carcinogenesis and tumor development remains to be elucidated, especially in view of the high DNA DNMTs levels in tumors [479]. The non-random distribution of CpG island methylation indicates that the selective targeting of some but not all CpG sites by DNMTs and DMase is possible [415].

Many tumor suppressor genes and tumor-related genes are hypermethylated and inactivated in cancer. Methylation changes in a specific gene can be detected in different tumor types [487] or are unique to a specific tumor type [488] at the early stage of tumor progression. They are sometimes even detectable in the pre-malignant stage. Therefore, altered methylation patterns or multiple loci of a gene could serve as a promising biomarker for early tumor detection, monitoring prognosis or establishing a prevention strategy based on cancer risk status [412, 421, 487]. MSP is designed to selectively amplify either methylated or unmethylated DNA sequences using discriminating primers, and is one of the most sensitive and relatively convenient biochemical assays for detecting aberrant methylation of a gene derived from different sources, even paraffin embedded tissues.

Because the role of DNA methylation in cancer progression is not yet fully understood, methylation-based cancer therapies are currently unavailable. Understanding the epigenetic changes occurring in DNA can lead to new approaches to cancer therapy, which might improve cancer treatment outcomes. Present research is still focusing on the use of possible therapeutic regimes to reactivate methylated tumor suppressor genes. HDAC inhibitor (FR091228), antisense DNMT oligos or DNMT inhibitors (e.g. 5-azaCdR) have anti-transformation and anti-tumor effects [22, 445, 489]. 5-azaCdR inhibits DNMTs by forming covalent adducts with DNMTs

50

that ultimately lead to the damage of DNA [490]. Due to its high cytotoxicity, 5azaCdR has only been routinely administrated in acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplasia to induce cellular differentiation rather than demethylation in clinical trials [491, 492]. Therefore, agents with therapeutic properties but with lower toxicity have to be explored. In general, using inhibitors of HDACs such as phenylbutyrate [493] together with a demethylation agent (5-azaCdR or FR091228) may induce the expression of suppressed genes by DNA methylation in cancer. Meanwhile, reduced doses may decrease the toxicity of each chemical. Secondly, researchers should develop small molecules or peptide inhibitors of DNMT as well as DMase to block their expression and/or activities without incorporating into DNA, thus avoiding cytotoxicity. Third, the use of oncogene antagonists to prevent or even reverse the high expression levels and activities of DNMT and DMase, thus preventing a number of disorders related to oncogenic transformation and aberrant DNA methylation [428, 429].

uPA is inducible by a number of oncogenes that are known to play key roles in cellular transformation as well as tumor-related malfunctions [48]. These same oncogenes, such as ras, have also been reported to control the expression and enzyme activities of DNMT and DMase, and thus may affect the methylation status of their targeted genes e.g. uPA in cancer. Having established the epigenetic changes and the transcriptional regulation of the uPA gene during cancer progression, inhibitory approaches including blocking oncogenic signals such as ras and methylation related enzymes (DNMTs and DMases) will become promising therapeutic strategies in invasive cancers.

1.8 Hypothesis for the study

Having determined the critical role of uPA during cancer progression, the strategies aimed at this protease either at the gene expression levels or the functional levels could be useful for cancer diagnosis and treatment. Although several uPA gene polymorphisms have been reported, they however, do not result in the overexpression of uPA gene. By far, no deletion or translocation of this gene has been observed in cancer, suggesting the likelihood of epigenetic changes. CpG dinucleotides are the

predominant sites for DNA methylation modification. Since uPA contains multiple CpG dinucleotides at its promoter region and extends to the exon 1, indicating that DNA methylation may regulate uPA production at the transcriptional or posttranscriptional stages. However, there is no effective approach available at this moment to interfere this regulation even though if this hypothesis was solid, and leads to the targeting of uPA at the protein level still the major focus. Classical uPA antagonists were mostly synthesized based on its catalytic region to further block its proteolytic activities. In addition, a number of reports also have suggested the critical roles of the connecting peptide region in the uPA associated tumor biology, we then synthesized a number of peptides based on the connecting peptide region of uPA, and tested them in the *in vitro* and *in vivo* model to check whether they have beneficial effects for invasive breast cancer models. Detailed proposal will be included in the preface of each chapter.

1.9 Objective of this thesis

The objectives of this thesis are to investigate the molecular mechanisms underlying the differential regulation of uPA gene expression during breast cancer progression, and to study the reversal of breast cancer using a novel peptide inhibitor of uPA. We focus on the following specific goals:

- Using an *in vitro* breast cancer progression model, we will investigate the mechanisms that determine the overexpression of uPA in late stage breast cancer. Information from this study will further our understanding of the mechanisms that regulate aberrant uPA expression in cancer. Upstream modulators that control uPA expression, once identified, may be potential targets for blocking uPA action.
- 2. To investigate the effects of the peptide Å6 derived from the non-receptorbinding domain of uPA on breast cancer progression.
- 3. To investigate the possible synergistic effects of Å6 and tamoxifen on breast cancer progression, and to explore the molecular mechanisms underlying this suppression.



)

Fig. 1.1. Schematic representation of the 5'-flanking region of the uPA gene.

Panel A. Potential transcription factor binding sites within the 5'-flanking region of the uPA gene. **Panel B.** Alu repeats, enhancer elements and a negative regulatory region of the uPA gene are located approximately -2.0kb upstream of its transcription initiation site (\rightarrow) as shown in the top panel. X indicates the uPA promoter start site. Using TESS (Transcription Element Search System) analysis, several transcription factor (e.g. Ets-1) binding sites containing CpG dinucleotides are identified and indicated. Methylation sensitive enzyme [HpaII (ovals) and HhaI (square)] recognition sites are outlined. **Panel C.** Locations of CpG dinucleotides are shown as " \mid ".



Fig. 1.2. Interactions of different proteases in promoting cancer growth and invasion.

A simplified overview of proteases and their extensive networks of interaction is provided in this figure. Proteases such as uPA (burgundy dots), MMPs and Cathepsins are secreted as inactive pro-forms. Tumor, stromal and tumor-associated endothelial cells with increased and activated proteases are actively involved in cancer metastasis via the degradation of the ECM (X). An important feature of protease systems in cancer is that activation of one protease may affect the activities of others as indicated by the red arrows. This in turn promotes the malignancy of these tumor cells. Cathepsin B is one of the key players in promoting tumor metastasis following its activation by elastase and tPA. uPA is activated by proteases such as biologically active Cathepsin B and plasmin following binding to its receptor, which then activates an extracellular proteolytic cascade by converting plasminogen to biologically active plasmin. Plasmin is critical for the degradation of the ECM and can subsequently activate a number of pro-MMPs (e.g. pro-MMP-1, 3, 9 and 11). Indirect activation of pro-MMP-2 by uPA is through the catalyzing of MT1-MMP. Furthermore, endogenous inhibitors of these proteases (e.g. TIMP-1,2, Cystatin C & E, Stefin A& B, PAI-1 and α_2 -antiplasmin, shown inside the blue oval circle) can block proteolytic activities as marked by the yellow lines (e.g. PAI-1 for the uPA family, α 2-antiplasmin for plasmin, TIMPs for MMPs and cystatins as well as stefins for the Cathepsin family).



hemimethylated DNA

$$\begin{array}{c} 5' \underline{C^m G} \\ G C \end{array} 3'$$

Fig. 1.3. The dynamics of DNA methylation patterns.

DNA methylation patterns are generated via dynamic processes of methylation and demethylation. DNMTs catalyze cytosine methylation (C^m) within both unmethylated and hemimethylated DNA by transferring methyl groups from the methyl donor SAM to unmethylated cytosines. The reverse reactions are catalyzed by DMase by actively remove the methyl groups from C^m , resulting in the release of a volatile methyl residue (methanol).

Gene activated by hypomethylation	Gene silenced by hypermethylation
BCSG1 uPA pS2 Ras Fos Myc Xmrk IGF-2 Growth hormone Thyroid hormone Thyroid hormone Gonadatropin γ-globin γ-crystallin a-chorionic Ornithine decarboxylase MAGE-1 LIM-HOX PTH-rP	WT1 GSTP1 ER PR BRCA-1 E-cadherin RAR-β 14-3-3s TIMP-3 APC p16 ^{INK4A} p15 ^{INK4A} p15 ^{INK4A} TSP-1 p53 p73 ARF/INK4A VHL pRB O ⁶ -MGMT AR
	hMLH2

Table 1.1 Genes with altered DNA methylation patterns in human tumors

Genes in bold: breast cancer related genes with altered methylation patterns

Table 1.1. Genes with altered DNA methylation patterns in human tumors.

Altered methylation status of a variety of genes determines the up- or downregulation of their expressions in tumors. Genes activated by DNA hypomethylation are listed in the left column, whereas inactivated genes due to DNA hypermethylation are listed in the right column. Genes in bold are known to be associated with breast cancers.

Chapter II

Differential regulation of the *urokinase* (*uPA*) gene expression by DNA methylation in human breast cancer cells.

ι

2.1 Preface

uPA plays an important role in promoting breast cancer progression [4, 10, 96, 274]. However, the molecular mechanisms underlying its upregulation in late stage breast cancer are not fully understood. Multiple CpG dinucleotides in the uPA promoter suggest that its transcription may be regulated by the methylation status of these cytosines. This hypothesis was supported by reports from Xing and co-workers in our laboratory, which for the first time, showed evidence for the role of DNA methylation in the regulation of uPA expression [22]. However, detailed information hasn't been provided. In addition, a direct regulation model has not been established. The aim of this study is therefore to investigate this regulation.

In this chapter, I determined the methylation status of the uPA promoter in cells derived from two breast cancer cell lines, MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231, representing early and late stage breast cancer respectively. The growth of MCF-7 cells is under the control of estrogen. These cells are barely invasive and express undetectable levels of uPA mRNA [22]. MDA-MB-231 cells represent ER-independent late stage breast cancer. They express high levels of uPA mRNA and are highly invasive [22]. As discussed in this chapter, CpG dinucleotides are heavily methylated in MCF-7 cells, whereas in MDA-MB-231 cells, hypomethylation was noted. Using methylation specific PCR and sequencing, the methylation status of individual cytosines in the uPA promoter was determined. Interestingly, epigenetic changes of the uPA promoter due to DNA methylation may affect its transcription and the accessibility of transcription factors (TFs) that are essential for its expression, e.g. Ets-1. In this study, the role of two novel regulators of DNA methylation, DNMTs and DMase, were explored.

This work advances our understanding of the differential expression of uPA in breast cancers since: 1) it determines the methylation status of the individual cytosines within CpG in the uPA promoter during breast cancer progression; 2) provides the first direct evidence that the regulation of uPA can be altered by DNA methylation status; 3) discusses the potential roles of DNMT and DMase in this regulation. This chapter has been written as a manuscript entitled "Differential regulation of the *urokinase* (uPA) gene expression by DNA methylation in human breast cancer cells.", which is in pending revision in *Journal of Biological Chemistry*.

2.2 Abstract

Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator is a member of the serine protease family, and can break down various components of the extracellular matrix to promote invasion, growth and metastasis of several malignancies including breast cancer. In the current study we examined the role that the DNA methylation machinery might be playing in regulating differential uPA gene expression in breast cancer cell lines. uPA mRNA is expressed in the highly invasive, hormone insensitive human breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-231, but not in hormone responsive cell line MCF-7. We show using methylation sensitive PCR that 90% of CpG dinucleotides in the uPA promoter are methylated in MCF-7 cells, whereas fully demethylated CpGs were detected in MDA-MB-231 cells. uPA promoter activity, which is directly regulated by the Ets-1 transcription factor, is inhibited by methylation as determined by uPA promoter-luciferase reporter assays. We then test whether the state of expression and methylation of the uPA promoter correlates with the global level of DNA methyltransferase and demethylase activities in the respective cell lines. We show that maintenance DNA methyltransferase activity is significantly higher in MCF-7 cells than in MDA-MB-231 cells, whereas demethylase activity is higher in MDA-MB-231. We suggest that the combination of increased DNA methyltransferase activity with reduced demethylase activity contributes to the methylation and silencing of uPA expression in MCF-7 cells. The converse is true in MDA-MB-231 cells, which represents a late stage highly invasive breast cancer. The histone deacetylase inhibitor, Trichostatin A induces the expression of the uPA gene in MDA-MB-231 cells but not in MCF-7 cells. This supports the hypothesis that DNA methylation is the dominant mechanism involved in the silencing of uPA gene expression. Taken together, these results provide insight into the mechanism regulating the transcription of the uPA gene in the complex multi-step process of breast cancer progression.

2.3 Introduction

The breakdown of the extracellular matrix (ECM) involves a variety of growth factors and proteases, and is an important step in the process of tumor invasion and metastasis [4, 494]. Urokinase type plasminogen activator (uPA) and its cell surface glycophosphotidyl inositol (GPI)-linked receptor (uPAR) play important roles in several malignancies. uPA produced by tumor cells and the surrounding stroma is intimately involved in tumor cell invasion, migration and proliferation. The uPAR localizes the proteolytic effects of uPA within the tumor cell environment. Additionally, uPA enhances neovascularization of tumors thus further contributing to the process of tumor progression [4]. Numerous data demonstrate the causal role of uPA in tumor growth and metastasis. First, expression of uPA or uPAR was shown to enhance tumor growth and metastasis [8, 299]. Second, increased uPA gene expression in various malignancies including breast cancer is closely related with disease stage [4, 320]. Third, inoculation of human breast cancer cells in mice lacking the uPA gene results in tumors of significantly smaller volume than tumors implanted in wild type mice [8]. Fourth, we have previously demonstrated that a peptide derived from the non-receptor binding domain of uPA (Å6) decreases breast cancer invasion, growth and metastasis due to its pro-apoptotic and anti-angiogenic effects [495]. Fifth, the active site inhibitor of uPA (B-428) alone or in combination with the antiestrogen tamoxifen blocks the growth and metastasis of prostate and breast cancers [11, 344]. Sixth, antibodies directed against uPA or uPAR are able to decrease tumor growth [65, 354, 355].

DNA methylation marks inactive genes and can suppress gene expression either directly by interfering with the binding of transcription factors, or by attracting methylated DNA binding factors that recruit histone deacetylases and precipitate an inactive chromatin structure [454, 496]. Aberrant DNA methylation patterns are commonly observed in cancer [424]. Neoplastic cells have the ability to simultaneously harbor widespread hypomethylation and regional hypermethylation that contribute to tumor progression [424, 496]. Whereas hypermethylation and silencing of tumor suppressor genes has attracted much attention recently, the molecular mechanisms underlying hypomethylation of tumor progression factors such

60

as RAS, MYC, HOX11 and XMRK that are upregulated during cancer development are poorly described [412, 474, 496], suggesting hypomethylation might also play an important role in regulating gene expression during tumorigenesis similar to that of hypermethylation [425, 426, 497, 498].

In the current study, we tested the hypothesis that the expression of uPA, a well-defined marker of highly invasive tumor cells and activated at the late stages of breast cancer, can be regulated via the changes in the methylation status of its promoter region. As a follow-up to our previous studies where we demonstrated that the uPA gene is transcriptionally suppressed by DNA methylation [22], we have now focused on the examination of the role of DNA demethylation and DNA methylating enzymes such as DNA methyltransferase (DNMT) and demethylase (DMase) in regulating uPA expression during breast cancer progression.

2.4 Materials and Methods

Cells and cell culture

All cell lines were obtained from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Rockville, MD, USA). The human breast adenocarcinoma cell line MDA-MB-231 was maintained in L-15 medium (Gibco BRL, Life Technology, Burlington, ON, Canada) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 2 mM L-glutamine, 100 units/ml of penicillin-streptomycin sulphate and 0.2% gentamycin. The human breast cancer cell line MCF-7 was maintained in culture in MEM medium (Gibco BRL) supplemented with 10% FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine, 25 mM 4-(2-hydroxyethy)-1piperazineethanesulfonic acid, 26 mM sodium bicarbonate, 100 units/ml of penicillinstreptomycin sulphate (Gibco BRL), 0.2% gentamycin (Sigma Chemicals, St. Louis, MO, USA) and 0.01 mg/ml bovine insulin. Cells were incubated at 37°C in 5% CO₂.

Northern Blot analysis

MCF-7 cells were treated with or without 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine (5-azaCdR) (Sigma Chemicals, St. Louis, MO, USA) at a concentration of 50ng/ml for 3 days and were cultured in the absence of the drug for additional 24 hrs. MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells were treated with Trichostatin A (TSA) (Sigma Chemicals) at a concentration of 100ng/ml for 2 days. RNA from these cells was isolated using the

TRIZOL method following the manufacturer's instructions (Gibco BRL, Burlington, ON, Canada), and was fractionated on a 1.5% agarose gel in MOPS buffer and transferred onto nylon filters (Nytran, Amersham, Oakville, ON, Canada). The filters were hybridized with a ³²P-labelled human uPA cDNA at 65°C for 24hrs, which were then stripped of the probe and re-hybridized with an 18S rRNA probe to normalize for the amount of RNA loaded in each lane. Autoradiography of the filters was carried out at -80°C using XAR film (Eastern Kodak Co., Rochester, NY, USA). The intensity of hybridization to uPA mRNA and 18S rRNA was quantified by densitometric scanning. The normalized uPA mRNA expression was determined by dividing the intensity of the uPA mRNA signal by the intensity of the 18s signal per each lane.

Boyden chamber matrigel invasion assay

The invasive capacity of MDA-MB-231, MCF-7 and MCF-7 cells treated with 50ng/ml 5-azaCdR was determined utilizing two compartment Boyden chamber Matrigel invasion assay as previously described (Transwell, Costar, USA) [11, 495]. The 8 μ m pore polycarbonate filters at the bottom of the upper chambers were coated with basement membrane Matrigel (50 μ g/filter). 5 x 10⁴ cells treated with or without 5-azaCdR in 0.1 ml of medium were added to the upper chamber, and placed on top of a lower chamber pre-filled with 0.8 ml of serum-free medium supplemented with 25 μ g/ml fibronectin (Sigma, Oakville, ON, Canada), and then incubated at 37°C for 24 hrs. After the incubation, medium was removed, and the polycarbonate filters with invaded cells were fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde, 0.5% glutaraldehyde (Sigma) in 0.1M phosphate buffer, pH 7.4 at room temperature for 30 min, and were stained with 1.5% Toluidine blue, which were then removed and mounted onto glass slides. Number of cell invaded was examined under a light microscope. Ten fields under 400 X magnification were randomly selected and the mean cell number was calculated.

Southern Blot Analysis

Cellular genomic DNA was isolated using DNAZOL (Gibco BRL) for analyzing the methylation status of the CpG island of the uPA promoter by methylation-sensitive restriction enzyme digestion and Southern blotting. Briefly, 10 μ g of genomic DNA was extracted from MDA-MB-231, MCF-7 and MCF-7 treated with 50ng/ml 5-azaCdR as recommended by the manufacturer. Extracted DNA was first digested with EcoRI or Hind III and was further digested with Pst I, Pst I/HpaII or PstI/HhaI (8 units/µg of total DNA) respectively for 18h at 37°C. The digests were fractionated on a 0.8% agarose gel and transferred to a nylon membrane (Nytran, Amersham) by capillary blotting. The filters were hybridized with a ³²P-labelled 778 bp long SmaI-AvrII fragment of the uPA promoter derived from the uPA-Cat construct (gift from Dr. F. Blasi, Milan, Italy) at 42°C for 24hrs. They were then successively washed in 1X SSC (150mM NaCl, 50 mM sodium citrate, pH 7.0), 1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) once for 15 min at room temperature, 0.5 X SSC, 0.58% SDS once for 15 min, 0.1 X SSC, 0.1% SDS twice for 15 min at room temperature, and at last once for 30 min at 55°C. Autoradiography of the filters was carried out at -80°C using XAR film (Eastern Kodak Co.).

Methylation specific PCR

Genomic DNA (20 µg) from MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells was digested with restriction enzyme DraI, and denatured in 0.3 M NaOH for 20 min at 37°C in a volume of 100 µl. The purified genomic DNA (2 µg) was treated with sodium bisulfite (2.2M Na₂S₂O₅ and 1mM hydroquinone (pH 5.0) at 55°C for 14 hrs, which was then purified using a Qiagen PCR purification column, followed by an additional denaturation in 0.3 M NaOH for 20 min at 37°C, and neutralization with 3M ammonium acetate (pH 7.0). After ethanol purification, an aliquot of treated DNA was amplified with modified primers (5'-outer: (-532) ~TATAGAGGGAGTTTTT ATAGG~(-512); 3'-outer: (+287)~ATAACCAAACTCCCCAACTA~(+306); 5'inner: (-421)~ TTTATAGTTTTATTTAGTTG ~(-402); 3'-inner: (+35)~ ACAAAAA CAAATAAACCCTA~(+54)) for 35 cycles at the amplification condition that consists of 1-min denaturation at 95°C, 45s-annealing at 56°C (outer primers)/or 58°C (inner primers) followed by 1-min extension at 72°C. A 10-min extension step at 72°C was added at the end of the PCR cycles. All reactions were carried out in 100 µl total reaction buffer containing 1X PCR buffer, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 0.25 mM dNTP, 20 pmol primers, and 2.5 units Taq DNA polymerase (MBI, Flamborough, ON, Canada) with GeneAmp PCR system 9600 (Perkin Elmer Inc., Shelton, Connecticut). The PCR products were run on a 1.2% agarose gel, and was extracted and purified

from the gel. They were then subcloned into Topo-PCR TA cloning vectors according to the manufacturer's instruction (Clonetics) for sequencing (S&T Biolab, Montreal, QC, Canada).

Luciferase Reporter Assay

The uPA promoter region $(-745 \sim +30)$ was cut from uPA-Cat reporter vector (gift from Dr. F Blasi, Milan, Italy) at AvrII and SmaI sites, and then inserted into a luciferase reporter vector pGL-3 basic (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) digested with NheI and SmaI to generate uPA-luc plasmid. Unmethylated uPA promoter construct obtained by treating uPA-luc plasmid with the methyl donor Swas adenosylmethionine (SAM) and in the absence of methyltransferases. The uPA-luc plasmid was methylated at different CpG sites in vitro with bacterial CpG methyltransferases (mSssI, mHpaII and mHhaI) and using the methyl donor as recommended by the manufacturer (New England Biolabs, Mississauga, ON, Canada). Complete methylation was confirmed by resistance to HpaII and HhaI restriction enzymes. PGL-3 basic was used as a negative control. The different treated plasmids were transiently transfected into MDA-MB-231 cells using Lipofectamine as a carrier according to the manufacturer's protocol (Gibco BRL, Burlington, ON, Canada). pEVRF0 or pEVRF-Ets-1 were gifts form Dr Graves B.J at University of Utah School of Medicine, Salt Lake City, UT, USA. PSV-β-gal (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) containing the β -galactosidase gene under the control of the constitutively active SV40 promoter and enhancer was co-transfected with the different plasmids in each transfection experiment at a concentration of 0.5 µg/sample to normalize for transfection efficiency. 48 hrs after transfection, cells were scraped in 1X reporter lysis buffer (Promega) followed by 14,000rpm centrifugation. Luciferase activities in the supernatants were then analyzed by mixing 45 μ l cell lysate, 5 μ l luciferase assay reagent (30 mM ATP, 150 mM KH₂PO₄, 300 mM MgCl₂) and 100 µl of substrate luciferin (250 μ M) for 20s in a luminometer (Monolight 2010). For β -galactosidase activity, 50 μ l lysates were mixed with 200 μ l of β -galactosidase assay buffer (24 μ M Na₂HPO₄, 16 μM NaH₂PO₄, 4 μM KCl, 400 nM MgCl₂, 20 μM β-mercaptoethanal and 0.3 mg ONPG per sample) in a 96 well plate and incubated overnight at 37°C. The reaction was stopped by adding 0.5 ml of 1 M Na₂CO₂ and the absorbance was

measured at 420 nm in a V_{max} plate reader (Molecular Devices). Activity was determined by comparison to a standard curve. Luciferase reporter activity in relative luminescence units was normalized to β -galactosidase activity as described [499].

DNA methyltransferase activity assay

A total nuclear extract was obtained by lysing cells in 500 μ l of buffer A (10 mM Tris pH 8.0, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 5 mM KCl, 0.5 mM DTT, 0.5 mM PMSF, 0.5% NP40) followed by centrifugation at 2000 rpm for 10 min. The precipitated nuclear pellets were resuspended gently in 30 µl buffer B (20 mM Tris pH 8.0, 1.5 mM MgCl₂, 25% glycerol, 0.5 mM DTT, 0.4 mM NaCl, 0.2 mM EDTA, 0.5 mM PMSF) and centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 30 min. 5 µg of the nuclear extract obtained were incubated with the methyl donor ³H-SAM (S-adenosyl-L-[methyl-³H] methionine) and hemimethylated double stranded oligos (poly (mdC-dG; dC-dG), Sheldon biotechnology center, Montreal, QC, Canada) to measure maintenance methylase activity, or unmethylated double stranded oligos (poly (dI-dC: dI-dC), Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Inc., Baie d'Urfé, Québec, Canada) to measure de novo methylase activity. After incubating for 3 hrs at 37°C, the level of incorporation of methyl groups into DNA was determined by 10%TCA precipitation and filtration through GF/C filters (Whatman Ltd, Maidston, England), followed by liquid scintillation counting. Reaction mixtures containing only substrate oligos but no nuclear extract were used as negative controls. Total radioactivity retained by GF/C filters from reaction mixtures of respective cell lines in the absence of substrate oligos but with nuclear extract was subtracted to exclude DNA-independent methylation activities in the extracts. Results are expressed as the mean disintegration/min of ³H- CH_3 incorporated into substrate oligonucleotides per microgram of nuclear protein \pm SD of triplicate cell extracts. Each nuclear extract was assayed in triplicate.

DNA demethylase activity assay

Total nuclear extracts (6 mg) obtained from MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells were loaded onto DEAE-Sephadex A 50 columns. Following elution with a continuously increasing gradient salt buffer (from 0.2N-5N NaCl), eluted fractions (500 μ l X 10) from the total nuclear extract were collected. A 20 μ l sample of each eluted fraction was incubated with ³H-methyl-DNA substrate in an open microfuge placed in a sealed scintillation vial containing 2 ml of scintillation cocktail for two nights at 37°C. Demethylation of DNA results in release of the methyl moiety as a volatile methyl residue (methanol) that is trapped in the scintillation cocktail. To determine the level of released methyl groups, the vials were counted in a scintillation counter. Results are expressed as the mean disintegration per minute per sample \pm SD per the peak fraction of each of the cell extracts, which were assayed in triplicate.

2.5 Results

Evaluation of uPA mRNA expression and its effect on tumor cell invasion

To test the hypothesis that uPA might play a role in breast cancer cell invasion, we first examined the expression of uPA mRNA in the estrogen receptor (ER) positive, hormone sensitive human breast cancer cell line MCF-7, and in highly invasive ER negative hormone insensitive MDA-MB-231 cells using Northern blot analysis. As seen in Fig. 2.1A, uPA mRNA is only detected in MDA-MB-231 cells. In order to examine the effect of uPA on the invasive capacity of these cells, we carried out a modified Boyden chamber Matrigel invasion assay. These studies show that MDA-MB-231 cells expressing high levels of uPA are able to invade through Matrigel whereas MCF-7 cells that do not express uPA are unable to invade (Fig. 2.1B). These results are consistent with previous studies by us and others showing that uPA expression is directly related to the tumor cell's invasive capacity [500].

Analysis of *uPA* gene methylation in breast cancer

We then determined whether this switch in expression of uPA is epigenetically controlled. The change in uPA gene methylation status was examined as a potential molecular mechanism regulating the differential expression of uPA in tumor cells representing early (MCF-7) and late (MDA-MB-231) stage human breast cancer. Genomic DNA was isolated from these cell lines and digested first with the methylation insensitive endonuclease Pst1 (Fig. 1C, lane a) and then with the methylation sensitive (HpaII, HhaI) endonucleases (Fig. 1C, lanes b & c). These samples were subjected to a Southern blot analysis and hybridized with a probe recognizing the uPA promoter region. Since this region of the gene bears multiple CCGG and CGCG sites, it can be extensively cleaved by HpaII and HhaI restriction enzymes when it is unmethylated, as is the case with DNA prepared from MDA-MB-231 cells expressing abundant amounts of uPA (Fig. 2.1C, b1 & c1). In contrast, in MCF-7 cells, both HpaII and HhaI failed to cleave this region resulting in an identical pattern to the one observed after Pst1 digestion alone (Fig. 2.1C, b2 & c2). In order to further confirm that this differential digestion with HpaII and HhaI is due to DNA methylation, MCF-7 cells were treated with the DNA methylation inhibitor 5-azaCdR and subjected to a similar Southern blot analysis. The pattern of cleavage of the uPA promoter was identical to the one observed in MDA-MB-231 cells (Fig. 2.1C, b3 & c3). A Matrigel invasion assay showed that following 5-azaCdR treatment of MCF-7 cells, there was an increase in the number of tumor cells invading through Matrigel (Fig. 2.1B). This increase in tumor cell invasive capacity following demethylation correlated with induction of uPA mRNA (unpublished observations).

Methylation status of CpG dinucleotides within the uPA promoter region as determined by methylation sensitive PCR

Complete characterization of methylation status of the uPA promoter region in MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells was carried out by methylation specific PCR (MSP). For these studies we selected PCR primers that could amplify a 558 bp DNA fragment of the promoter and part of exon 1 within the uPA gene that are rich in CpG dinucleotides (Fig. 2.2A), and can serve as sites for methylation modification. The analysis of this region was also carried out by TESS (Transcription Element Search System) DNA analysis program showing the presence of several important DNA transcription factor binding sites in this region, which may play a significant role in regulating uPA expression (Fig. 2.2A). MSP analysis of DNA from MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells revealed that greater than 90% cytosines of CpG dinecleotides are methylated in MCF-7 cells which do not express uPA. In contrast, in uPA expressing MDA-MB-231 cells, the uPA promoter was overall unmethylated (Fig. 2.2B). These results are in agreement with methylation of the uPA gene in MCF-7 cells resulting in silencing of uPA gene expression.

Analysis of the impact of methylation on *uPA* gene promoter activity in breast cancer cells

Following our establishment of a correlation between promoter methylation and uPA gene transcription, we examined the effect of changes in promoter methylation on gene transcription. For these studies, the uPA promoter reporter construct (-745 \sim + 30 bp) uPA-luc was methylated by either mHpaII, mHhaI or mSssI methyltransferases or mock treated *in vitro*, and was transiently transfected into the human breast cancer cells MDA-MB-231. Luciferase reporter activity was determined 48 hrs after transfection. As a control we used a promoter-less luciferase construct pGL-3 basic. The mock treated unmethylated uPA-luc plasmid exhibited at least 6 fold higher luciferase activity as compared to cells transfected with the promoter-less control plasmid as expected. Methylation of the different plasmids with different methyltransferases reduced the promoter activity significantly (Fig. 2.3A).

Transcription factor Ets-1 activates uPA promoter and induces its gene expression. As shown in Fig. 2.3B, Ets-1 binding site coincides with methylation sites and is therefore a candidate to be affected by DNA methylation. We then determined whether the inducible effect of Ets-1 could be blocked by methylation. Methylated or unmethylated uPA-luc was co-transfected with either pEVRF0 (empty vector for pEVRF-Ets-1, lane 3) or pEVRF-Ets-1 (lane 4) encoding Ets-1 as shown in Fig. 2.3B. Although pEVRF-Ets-1 activates unmethylated uPA-luc more than 5 fold, it fails to stimulate the transcription activity of all methylated uPA-luc plamides (Fig. 2.3B). This marked suppression is consistent with methylation regulating the uPA promoter. Although there are several methylated cytosines in regions surrounding Sp1 binding sequences, transfection of Sp1 plasmid failed to cause any significant change in the uPA-mediated luciferase activity, as was observed following Ets-1 plasmid transfection (unpublished observations).

Maintenance and *de novo* methyltransferase (DNMT) enzyme activities in human breast cancer cells

We then examined whether differences in the state of methylation of the uPA promoter between MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells reflect a global change in the DNA methylation machinery. We first examined the levels of *de novo* and maintenance DNA DNMT activities in nuclear extracts prepared from the two cell lines by quantitation of the total amount of ³H-methyl group that has been catalyzed

68

by nuclear extracts prepared from these cells onto either hemimethylated (maintenance DNMT activity) or unmethylated DNA substrates (*de novo* DNMT activity). As shown in Fig. 2.4A, the overall maintenance DNA DNMT activity observed was 3 fold higher in MCF-7 cells (lane 5) which bear a methylated uPA promoter as compared with MDA-MB-231 cells which bear an unmethylated uPA promoter (lane 3). In contrast, as shown in Fig. 2.4B, endogenous *de novo* DNMT activity was found to be significantly higher in MDA-MB-231 cells (lane 3) as compared to MCF-7 cells (lane 5). Thus, the maintenance but not the *de novo* DNMT activity correlates with the state of methylation of the uPA gene.

Determination of demethylase activity in human breast cancer cells

We then determined whether there are differences in global DNA DMase activity in MCF-7 cells in comparison with MDA-MB-231 cells. It has been previously suggested that tumor cells bear high levels of DMase activity that might be responsible in part for the hypomethylation observed in these cells. Active removal of the ³H-CH₃ moiety from methylated cytosines in *in vitro* methylated DNA has been previously shown to result in a release of a volatile residue that was identified as methanol. Using a volatile assay we quantitated DMase activity in these breast cancer cells. DMase activity was 3~4 fold higher in MDA-MB-231 cells, in which the uPA promoter is hypomethylated as compared to MCF-7 cells where the promoter is methylated (Fig. 2.5). Thus, global DMase activity correlates with the state of methylation of the uPA promoter in breast cancer cells.

TSA treatment increases uPA expression in MDA-MB-231 but not in MCF-7 cells

Gene silencing is frequently associated with DNA methylation and histone deacetylation, whereas gene expression is associated with DNA demethylation and histone acetylation. Together, these two regulatory mechanisms play a critical role in the regulation of gene transcription during tissue development, tumor transformation and tumor progression. It has been shown that DNMT1, and several methyl-CpG binding proteins such as MeCP2, MBD2, and MBD3 are associated with histone deacetylases that are intimately involved in gene silencing [456, 461, 501]. These observations have provided key links between DNA methylation (demethylation) and

69

histone deacetylation (acetylation). TSA is a chemical deacetylase inhibitor that is well described to induce DNA acetylation resulting in gene activation. In order to examine the role of histone acetylation in uPA gene transcription, MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells were treated with TSA for 2 days followed by determination of uPA mRNA expression by Northern blot analysis. These studies showed that uPA mRNA was markedly increased following treatment of MDA-MB-231 cells with TSA. In contrast, MCF-7 cells treated with TSA failed to exhibit any significant change in uPA mRNA expression. uPA mRNA continued to be undetectable in these breast cancer cells which are merely invasive and show hypermethylation of the uPA promoter (Fig. 2.6). These results demonstrate that DNA methylation and not histone deacetylation is the dominant mechanism suppressing uPA expression in MCF-7 cells.

2.6 Discussion

uPA is now believed to play an important role in several cancers where increased uPA production is associated with late stages of cancer [4, 6]. It is therefore important to understand the mechanisms responsible for regulation of uPA expression during tumor progression. In this paper, we tested the hypothesis that DNA methylation is involved in the differential regulation of uPA during tumor progression. We used two breast cancer lines in this study. MCF-7 is a low invasive cell line, and represents early stage human breast cancer. Animals inoculated with MDA-MB-231, a hormone insensitive cell line, develop large tumors that can metastasize to several sites in vivo [495]. Thus the highly invasive MDA-MB-231 cell line represents late stage breast cancer. uPA expression correlates with tumor cell invasion and provides a link between uPA expression and tumor stage [297, 320]. Using this model we examined whether the methylation state of the uPA gene plays a role in regulating the differential expression this gene through tumor progression. Our data shows that the methylation status of the uPA promoter correlates with its state of expression as demonstrated by methylation sensitive endonuclease Southern blot analysis and sodium bisulfate mapping. DNA methylation plays a causal role in controlling the uPA expression since the DNMT inhibitor 5-azaCdR induces the

expression of uPA in MCF-7 cells and increases their invasive capacity. Further support for the causal role of DNA methylation in regulating uPA gene expression is drawn from experiments showing that *in vitro* methylation inhibits uPA promoter activity and its transactivation by the transcription factor Ets-1. Ets-1 is required for the expression of uPA in a number of tissues [79, 80, 82] and interacts with sequences that close to CpG dinucleotide as shown in Fig. 2.2. Methylation might inhibit uPA promoter activity by either inhibiting the interaction of Ets-1 with methylated CpGs in its recognition sequence or by recruiting methylated DNA binding proteins that precipitate an inactive chromatin structure [21, 454, 502]. Further experiments are required to determine the exact mechanism involved.

Aberrations in the DNA methylation machinery are well documented in cancer that exhibits global hypomethylation and regional hypermethylation. It has been previously suggested that induction of both DNMT and DMase activities might play a role in the complex changes in DNA methylation observed in cancer cells [474]. However, most of the attention in the field has been however directed to the hypermethylation of tumor suppressor genes in cancer cells and its potential role in tumorigenesis [479]. A large number of studies have demonstrated that inhibition of DNMT reverses tumor growth and antisense DNMT1 inhibitors are currently in clinical trials [445, 503, 504]. Our data suggests however that the involvement of methylation in tumorigenesis is more complex and that hypomethylation of certain genes might play a critical role in tumor progression as well. Therefore, activities that are responsible for demethylating genes required for tumor invasion might be important anticancer targets.

Our data is consistent with a model in which DNMT and DMase activities are differentially expressed, and play distinct roles at different stages of tumor progression (Fig. 2.7). Early stage cancer cells such as MCF-7 show higher maintenance DNMT activity that is possibly required for maintaining the transformed state and involved in the silencing of tumor suppressor genes. However, later in tumor progression, increased DMase activity is vital to induce the expression of genes that are silenced by DNA methylation but are critical for tumor invasion such as uPA. In accordance with this hypothesis we show that in later stage MDA-MB-231 cells,

71

maintenance DNMT activity is reduced whereas DMase activity is increased. It has previously been shown that ectopic expression of the ras oncogene can lead to increased DMase activity and an active DMase was recently purified from human lung carcinoma cells. It is not clear yet which is the specific DMase induced in MCF-7 cells, and further experiments are required to characterize this DMase. Nevertheless our results demonstrate that DNA methylation activities do undergo distinct changes during tumor progression and might play different roles at specific stages.

2.7 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Grant MT-12609. YG is a recipient of a studentship award from CIHR. The authors would like to thank Dr. Andrew Slack and Hui Ping from the Department of Pharmacology of McGill University for providing the protocols of DNA methyltransferase and demethylase activity assays.



B

B: HpaII

2.8 Figures

Fig. 2.1. Evaluation of uPA expression, tumor cell invasion and methylation status in human breast cancer cells.

20 μ g of total RNA was isolated from human breast cancer cells MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 and electrophoresed on 1.1% agarose formaldehyde gel and blotted to nylon membrane. All blots were probed with a ³²P labeled human uPA and 18S cDNA, as described in "Materials and Methods" (panel A). The invasive capacity of MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells and MCF-7 cells treated with 5-azaCdR was assessed by Boyden chamber invasion assay (panel B). Southern blot analysis of MDA-MB-231, MCF-7 and MCF-7 cells treated with 5-azaCdR is shown in panel C. 10 μ g of genomic DNA isolated from these cells were digested with non-methylation sensitive enzyme Pst1 (lanes a1, b1, and c1) or with methylation sensitive enzymes HpaII (lanes a2, b2, and c2) and HhaI (lanes a3, b3, and c3). DNA digests were resolved on 0.8% agarose gel and all blots were probed with a 778 bp human uPA promoter fragment (panel C). Results are representative of at least 3 different experiments. Data of invasion assay (panel B) is expressed as mean ± SD of values from three independent experiments. Significant difference in the number of invading from control is represented by asterisk (P<0.05).



Fig. 2.2. Analysis of the methylation status of CpG dinucleotides within the *uPA* gene promoter by methylation specific PCR.

In Panel A, the transcription start site (\rightarrow) and clusters of CpG dinucleotides (**†**) in the promoter region and exon 1 (open box) of uPA gene are indicated (Panel A). Using TESS (Transcription Element Search System), the presence of consensus sequences for the binding of various transcription factors such as Ets-1 and Sp1, and DNA sequence corresponding to MSP primers are shown.

In panel B, asterisks mark all potential sites subjected to DNA methylation within -401 to +34 of the uPA gene. Total cellular genomic DNA was extracted from MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells, followed by MSP as described in "Materials and Methods". Unmethylated cytosines of CpG dinucleotides were converted to T following MSP analysis, and were observed mostly in MDA-MB-231 cells. However, methylated cytosine remained as a C, and was indicated as C^m in MCF-7 cells.

Results represent MSP and DNA sequence analysis of three different experiments.







A:

Fig. 2.3. Analysis of the transcriptional activity of methylated and unmethylated uPA promoter.

Methylation of uPA-luc at different sites was generated *in vitro* by incubating this promoter constructs with bacterial CpG methylase (mHpaII, mHhaI and mSssI) and the methyl-donor SAM. The pGL-3 basic vector was used as controls. The mock treated unmethylated uPA-luc was also used. These purified methylated or unmethylated uPA promoter reporter constructs and pGL-3 basic were transiently transfected into MDA-MB-231 cells (Panel A). Same methylase treated or untreated constructs were also transiently cotransfected with pEVRF0 or pEVRF-Ets-1 into MDA-MB-231 cells. Luciferase activities were then analyzed in cell lysates 48 hrs after transfection as described "Materials and Methods" (Panel B). Results are expressed as mean \pm SD of values from three different experiments and tested by analysis of variance. Significant differences in induction of transcription activity of the uPA promoter was determined by quantitating luciferase activity as compared to the pGL-3 basic control vector and are represented by asterisks (P<0.05).


Α

B

Fig. 2.4. Maintenance and *de novo* methyltransferase (DNMT) enzyme activities in human breast cancer cells.

Total nuclear extracts (5 µg) obtained from MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 breast cancer cells were incubated with the methyl donor ³H-SAM and substrate [hemimethylated oligos poly(mdC-dG; dC-dG) or unmethylated oligos poly(dI-dC; dI-dC)]. After incubating for 3 hrs at 37°C, the mixtures were passed through GF/C filters and precipitated with TCA. Total counts of mean disintegration/min of ³H-CH₃ incorporation retained from the GF/C filters represent the level of maintenance activity (Panel A) or *de novo* (Panel B) methylase activity of DNMT in these breast cancer cell lines, as marked by (+) signs respectively (lanes 3, and 5 in Panel A/B). CTL represents the reaction mixture containing only substrate oligos but no nuclear extract. Total radioactivity retained by GF/C filters from reaction mixtures of respective cell lines in the absence of substrate oligos are shown by (-) signs (lanes 2 and 4 in panel A/B). Results are expressed as the mean disintegration/min of ³H-CH₃ incorporated into substrate oligonucleotide per microgram of nuclear protein \pm SD of triplicate cell extracts, each of which was assayed in triplicate.





Fig. 2.5. Demethylase activity in human breast cancer cells.

Total nuclear extracts (6 mg) obtained from MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells were loaded onto DEAE-Sephadex A 50 columns. Following elution with a continuously increasing gradient salt buffer, eluted fractions (500 μ l x 10) from the total nuclear extract were collected. A 20 μ l sample of each eluted fraction was incubated with ³H-methyl-DNA substrate overnight at 37°C. Amount of generated volatized ³H-CH₃OH was counted for each cell line. Results are expressed as the mean disintegration per min per sample \pm SD of cell extracts, each of which was assayed in triplicate.





Fig. 2.6. Expression of *uPA* gene with TSA treatment in human breast cancer cells.

Total cellular RNA was extracted from MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells treated with or without 100 ng/ml TSA for 4 days. 15 μ g of total cellular RNA from each cell line was analyzed by Northern blot analysis to monitor the level of uPA mRNA expression. All blots were probed with ³²P-labeled uPA or 18S cDNA, which were then scanned by laser densimetric scanning. Changes in uPA mRNA expression as determined by plotting the ratio of uPA/18S mRNA are shown. Results represent ± SD of 4 different experiments. Significant difference from control is represented by asterisks (P<0.05).



Fig. 2.7. Schematic representation of the potential mechanisms that control *uPA* gene expression through DNA methylation during breast cancer progression.

During early stage breast cancer, uPA expression is undetectable, and the uPA promoter is hypermethylated and maintained in this hypermethylated form after DNA replication. A high level of maintenance DNA DNMT activity catalyzes hypermethylation. During cancer progression, hypermethylation of the uPA promoter is switched to hypomethylation due to increased DMase activity in coordination with gradually decreased maintenance DNA DNMT activity. This is achieved either directly (via demethylation) or indirectly (via hemi-methylation) during DNA replication. Overexpression of various tumor progression factors in coordination with the suppression of tumor suppressor genes are able to break the endogenous balance of DNMTs and DMases to promote hypomethylation of the uPA gene at late stage breast cancer progression.

Chapter III

A Peptide Derived from the Non-Receptor Binding Region of Urokinase Plasminogen Activator (uPA) Inhibits Tumor Progression and Angiogenesis and Induces Tumor Cell Death *In Vivo*.

3.1 Preface

Patients with highly invasive breast cancer have a higher incidence of morbidity and mortality. Numerous studies have suggested that the overexpression of uPA plays a key role in the progression of this malignancy [4, 10, 274]. In the previous chapter, I explored the role of altered DNA methylation in the upregulation of uPA in late stage breast cancer cells (Chapter II), which is critical for cancer cell invasion and metastasis. Given this correlation, we studied whether blocking uPA can prevent breast cancer progression. In this chapter, I investigate the inhibitory effects of a uPA-derived peptide, Å6, on breast cancer progression *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Amino acids 136~158 of uPA were designated as a "connecting peptide" that connects ATF and the catalytic domain of uPA [96, 108, 109]. An 8 amino acid fragment (KPSSPPEE) corresponding to residues 136~143 of uPA resides within this region. Interestingly, this region might be generated physically by scuPA activation as discussed in the Introduction (section 1.1.4.1). Ser138 was shown to be essential for the chemotactic effects of scuPA [187]. No evidence has been presented to date suggesting this region may be involved in any protein-protein interaction. In this chapter, I report the development of a synthetic peptide (Å6) corresponding to a.a. 136~143 of uPA, as well as the effects of this peptide on the biological activities of uPA. The 8-mer Å6 peptide was assayed for its ability to block the invasion of breast cancer cells in an *in vitro* invasion assay. The presence of Å6 can also inhibit the migration of endothelial cells, a cellular behavior that is essential for angiogenesis. When injected into rodents carrying breast cancers, Å6 successfully suppresses the growth of the primary tumor as well as tumor metastases, achieved via the induction of tumor cell death and the inhibition of tumor angiogenesis. Although still elusive, data presented in this chapter suggest that this region might be engaged in proteinprotein interaction between uPA and potential binding proteins other than uPAR.

3.2 Abstract

Urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) plays an important role in the progression of several malignancies including breast cancer. We have identified a non-competitive antagonist of uPA-uPAR interaction derived from a non-receptor binding region of uPA (amino acids 136-143). This 8-mer capped peptide (Å6) inhibited breast cancer cell invasion and endothelial cell migration in a dosedependent manner in vitro without altering cell-doubling time. Intraperitoneal administration of Å6 resulted in a significant inhibition of tumor growth and suppressed the development of lymph node metastases in several models of breast cancer cell growth and metastasis. Large areas of tumor necrosis and extensive positive TUNEL staining by were observed upon histological and immunohistochemical analysis of experimental tumor sections derived from Å6treated animals. Å6 treatment also resulted in a decrease in factor VIII-positive tumor microvessel hot-spots. These results identify a new epitope in uPA that is involved in uPA-uPAR interaction and indicate that an antagonist based on this epitope is able to inhibit tumor progression by modulating the tumor microenvironment in the absence of direct cytotoxic effects in vivo.

3.3 Introduction (urokinase, breast cancer, angiogenesis, apoptosis)

The urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) system has been implicated in the progression, metastasis and angiogenesis of numerous solid tumors [6, 112, 215, 505]. Expression of the components of the uPA system and its specific cell-surface receptor (uPAR) often increases with disease progression and is correlated with poor prognosis and outcome in patients [259, 506]. The expression of uPA and uPAR is not restricted to tumor cells alone since other tumor-associated cells, such as angiogenic endothelial cells, macrophages and fibroblasts have been demonstrated to express one or both components of this system [507-509]. Moreover, the pattern of expression and the cells responsible for this expression may differ depending on the type and stage. Expression of uPA and uPAR is associated with tumor

progression and is often localized to the leading, invasive edge of a tumor [217, 510].

The uPA system has pleiotropic functions in tumor progression whereby several pathways may be temporally activated when uPA binds to uPAR. Various intracellular signalling pathways are initiated when uPA binds to uPAR including the up-regulation of oncogene expression, stimulation of cell adhesion, regulation of chemotaxis, and activation of the MAP kinase pathway [187, 202, 203, 205, 511]. However, the mechanism of signalling via uPAR, a glycolipid-anchored receptor that lacks a transmembrane signalling domain, and the identity of the adapter molecule(s) hypothesised to couple ligand binding to intracellular signalling remain elusive. Receptor binding also results in the activation of scuPA, the single chain zymogen form of uPA, and initiates an extracellular proteolytic cascade that leads to the downstream activation of plasminogen and matrix metalloproteases [324, 512]. These enzymes remodel extracellular matrix (ECM) and the basal lamina associated with endothelial cells, and also release or activate various growth factors sequestered within the ECM such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF-2) and transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) [169, 513, 514]. The net result of this proteolytic flux combined with uPA-dependent intracellular signalling is acceleration of tumor cell invasion and tumor-associated angiogenesis.

The primary interaction of uPA with uPAR is mediated through the growth factor domain, amino acids (a.a.) 1-48 of uPA. However, we have identified a second site in uPA that interacts with uPAR. This region, termed the connecting peptide, is comprised of a.a. 136-143. Here we present data that a small capped peptide derived from this region, Ac-KPSSPPEE-Am (Å6), inhibits the interaction of uPA with uPAR in a non-competitive manner. Administration of this peptide to animals bearing experimental breast cancer tumors results in inhibition of tumor growth and metastasis in the absence of direct cytotoxic or anti-proliferative effects.

3.4 Materials and Methods

Peptide synthesis.

Å6 was synthesized by standard solid phase methodology using p-methylbenzhydrylamine resin and L-amino acids protected with the *t*-butyloxycarbonyl (BOC) group. Removal of the BOC group was with 50% trifluoroacetic acid (TFA) in dichloromethane. Coupling was achieved with 1-hydroxybenzotriazole and dicyclohexylcarbodiimide. Side-chain protection was 2-chlorobenzyloxycarbonyl for lysine, benzyl for serine, and cyclohexyl for glutamic acid. The N-terminal lysine was capped by treatment with acetic anhydride. Deprotection and detachment of the completed peptide from the resin was accomplished by treatment with anhydrous hydrofluoric acid in the presence of anisole. HPLC on a Waters C18 preparative column using a 0-40% linear gradient of 1.0% aqueous triethylamine phosphate into CH₃CN gave fractions containing pure material that were reapplied to the column. The column was washed with 3 column volumes of 1.0 % aqueous acetic acid and then eluted with a 0-50% linear gradient of 1.0 % aqueous acetic acid into CH₃CN. Lyophilization afforded the >99% pure product as colorless, hygroscopic crystals easily soluble in water to >500 mM. Å7 (Ac-KPSSPPE-Am), Å8 (Ac-PSSPPEE-Am), Å10 (Ac-KPSSPPEELK-Am) and Å14 (Ac-KPSSPPEEL-Am) were prepared using similar methodology. For Å9 (NH₂-KPSSPPEELK-COOH) and Å13 (NH₂-KPSSPPEE-COOH) the first amino acid was attached to the solid phase carrier through an ester linkage and the N-terminal capping step was omitted.

Determination of Å6 dose for in vivo studies.

Single administrations of Å6 up to 1500 mg·kg⁻¹ did not demonstrate any evidence of toxicity. An LC/MS assay was developed to detect Å6 in plasma. Pharmacokinetic experiments demonstrated a short plasma half-life for Å6 (0.2 hr) in mice. We initially attempted to achieve a plasma level at steady-state (C_{ss}) that was at least equivalent to the *in vitro* IC₅₀ for tumor cell invasion (5~10 μ M). This objective was accomplished by delivering Å6 via continuous infusion using osmotic minipumps at a dose of 75 mg·kg⁻¹·day⁻¹. We then compared administration of this dose by continuous infusion or by twice daily (*bid*) injections. Both protocols yielded identical anti-tumor results indicating that the pharmacokinetics did not correlate with the anti-tumor activity of Å6 and that a steady-state plasma level of Å6 was not required for anti-tumor activity. For simplicity, the IP protocol was used for all subsequent studies.

Vehicle (phosphate-buffered saline, or PBS) was used as the control for *in vivo* studies since it is relevant to the therapeutic setting. Although scrambled peptides are useful for establishing specificity *in vitro*, they are completely different chemical entities and most likely have different behavior *in vivo*. Thus they were not considered as controls for the animal studies.

Cells and cell culture.

The rat mammary adenocarcinoma cell line Mat B-III was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Rockville, MD). Cells were maintained in culture *in vitro* in McCoy's 5A modified medium (Gibco BRL, Burlington, ON, Canada) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 25 mM 4-(2-hydroxyethy)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid, 26 mM sodium bicarbonate, 100 units/ml of penicillin-streptomycin sulphate (Gibco BRL) and 0.2% gentamycin (Sigma, St. Louis, MO).

Human breast adenocarcinoma cell line MDA-MB-231 was obtained from ATCC and maintained in L-15 medium (Gibco BRL) supplemented with 10% FBS and 100 units/ml of penicillin-streptomycin sulphate and 0.2% gentamycin. MDA-MB-231-GFP (green fluorescent protein) cells were generated by transfecting the expression vector, which contained the codon optimized human GFP-S65T gene (Clontech Laboratories, Inc., Palo Alto, CA) using lipofectin reagent (Gibco BRL). Cells with stably integrated plasmids were selected for neomycin resistant gene with geneticin (G418) (Gibco BRL).

Surface Plasmon Resonance.

Binding kinetics of suPAR in the presence and absence of Å6 was measured using a BIA 3000 optical Biosensor (Biacore, AB, Sweden) [515]. This method detects binding interactions in real time by measuring changes in the refractive index (RI) at a biospecific surface, and enables association and dissociation rate constants to be calculated. For these studies, recombinant scuPA (a kind gift of Dr. Jack Henkin, Abbott Laboratories) and recombinant soluble urokinase receptor (suPAR) were

coupled to a B1-research grade sensor chip flow cell (Biacore, AB, Sweden) via standard amine coupling procedures [283] using N-hydroxysuccinimide/N-ethyl-N-[3-(dimethylamino)propyl]carbodiimine hydro- chloride (Pierce, Rockford, IL) at a level of 1000RU each. Sensor surfaces were coated with ligands (10 µg/ml) in 10 mM NaOAc buffer, pH 5.0. Following immobilization, unreacted groups were blocked with 1M ethanolamine, pH 8.5. Binding buffer was phosphate buffered saline (PBS), pH 7.4, 0.005% TWEEN-20. Binding of suPAR (± Å6) was measured at 25°C at a flow rate of 100 µl/min for 1 minute, with 2 minutes of dissociation examined. The bulk shift due to changes in RI was measured using the suPAR surface, and was subtracted from the binding signal at each condition to correct for non-specific signals. Surfaces were regenerated with 2 X 30s pulses of 1M NaCl, pH 3.3, followed by an injection of binding buffer for 1 min to remove this high salt solution. All injections were performed in a random fashion using the RANDOM command in the automated method. Binding of suPAR was performed at 100 nM, 33.3 nM, 11.1 nM, 3.7 nM and 1.24 nM, in the absence or presence of 60 μ M, 20 μ M, 6.6 μ M, 2.2 μ M, 0.74 μ M or 0.24 μ M Å6. Data were fit using a 1:1 Langmuir reaction mechanism using BIA evaluation 3.0 software (Biacore, AB, Sweden). Dissociation and association rates were calculated separately to examine the effect of Å6 on the affinity of suPAR to scuPA. Clot lysis assay was performed as described previously [114].

Boyden chamber matrigel invasion assay.

The effect of Å6 on treated Mat B-III and MDA-MB-231-GFP cells was determined by two compartment Boyden chambers (Transwell, Costar, USA) and basement membrane Matrigel invasion assay as previously described [500]. The 8 μ M pore polycarbonate filters were coated with basement membrane Matrigel (50 μ g/filter). Matrigel was then reconstructed by adding 0.1 ml serum-free culture medium to the upper chamber and incubated for 90 min. After removal of medium, cells (5 x 10⁴) in 0.1 ml of medium with or without Å6 were added to the upper chamber and placed in a lower chamber pre-filled with 0.8 ml of serum-free medium supplemented with 25 μ g/ml fibronectin (Sigma, Oakville, ON, Canada) and

incubated at 37°C for 24 hrs. At the end of incubation, medium was removed, filters were fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde, 0.5% glutaraldehyde (Sigma) in 0.1 M phosphated buffer, pH 7.4 at room temperature for 30 min. After washing with PBS, all filters were stained with 1.5% toluidine blue and filters were mounted onto glass slides. Cells were examined under a light microscope. Ten fields under 400 X magnification were randomly selected and the mean cell number was calculated.

Endothelial cell migration assay.

Transwell (Costar, 8.0 μ M pore size) were coated with type I collagen (50 μ g/ml) by adding 200 μ l of the collagen solution per transwell, then incubating overnight at 37°C. The transwells were then assembled in a 24-well plate and bFGF (1 ng/ml) was added to the bottom chamber in a total volume of 0.8 ml M199 containing 2% FBS. Human dermal microvascular endothelial cells (HDMVC) were detached from monolayer culture using Verseen, centrifuged and reconstituted in M199 containing 2% FBS (1 x 10⁶ cells/ml). 0.2 ml of this cell suspension was added to the upper chamber of each Transwell. Inhibitors to be tested were added to both the upper and lower chambers, and the migration was allowed to proceed for 5 hrs under 5% CO₂ in a humidified atmosphere at 37°C. The transwells were then removed from the plate and the upper chamber wiped clean with a cotton swab. Giemsa stain was used to fix and stain the cells and the numbers of cells that had migrated to the bottom aspect of the membrane were counted. Data is presented as the average number of migrated cells per 10 fields.

Animal protocols.

Inbred female Fischer 344 rats weighing 200-220g were obtained from Charles River Inc. (St. Constant, QC, Canada). Before inoculation, Mat B-III tumor cells grown in serum-containing medium were washed with Hank's balanced buffer and trypsinized for 5 mins. Cells were then collected in Hank's balanced buffer and centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 mins. Cell pellets (1×10^6 cells) were resuspended in 0.2 ml saline and injected using one ml insulin syringes into the mammary fat pad of rats anesthetized with ethanol/Somnotal (MTC Pharmaceuticals, Cambridge, ON, Canada). Control and experimental animals were injected intraperitoneally (i.p) with PBS and Å6 (75 mg·kg⁻¹·day⁻¹) respectively twice a day for 16 days. All animals were numbered, kept separately and were examined for the development of tumors daily for up to 17 days. The tumor mass of control and experimental animals was measured in two dimensions by callipers and the tumor volume was calculated. Control and experimental animals were sacrificed at the end of this study (day 17) and were examined and scored for the development of macroscopic tumor metastases in various tissues. Primary tumor tissues were also removed from control and experimental animals for histologic examination.

For xenograft studies, twenty-four 5-week-old BALB/c (nu/nu) female mice were obtained from Charles River Inc. Prior to inoculation, MDA-MB-231-GFP cells grown in serum containing culture medium were washed with Hank's balanced buffer and centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 mins. Cell pellets (5 x 10⁵ cells/mice) were resuspended in 100 µl of Matrigel (Becton Dickinson Labware, Mississauga, ON, Canada) and saline mixture (20% Matrigel) and injected into the mammary fat pads of the mice. All animals were numbered and kept separately in a temperaturecontrolled room on a 12h/12h light/dark schedule with food and water ad libitum. Tumors were allowed to grow to the size of $15 \sim 25 \text{ mm}^3$ prior to drug administration. At this time animals were randomized into two groups. Å6 (75 mg·kg⁻¹·day⁻¹) and sterile PBS were injected i.p twice a day into the 2 groups of mice, respectively. The tumor mass was measured in two dimensions with callipers twice a week. At the end of xenograft study, the mice were sacrificed and their lungs, liver, spleen and other organs were removed. These fresh tissues from control and experimental mice were sliced at approximately 1 mm thickness and observed directly under a fluorescence microscope. Numbers of tumor cells from ten random sites were counted per field of examination and photographed.

Histology and Immunohistochemistry.

Primary tumors were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde overnight, dehydrated and embedded in paraffin (Fisher Scientific, Montreal, QC, Canada) the next day. Tumor sections (4 μ m) were deparaffinized then rehydrated and stained with hematoxylin/eiosin (H&E). For TUNEL assay paraffin embedded tissue sections were

soaked in Toluene to deparaffinize, then rehydrated in graded alcohol series (100% to 70%). For enzyme predigestion of formalin-fixed tissue, the sections were incubated for 30 min at room temperature (RT) in 15 µg/ml of proteinase K/10 mM Tris/HCl. The primary antibody, terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT) (Boehringer Mannheim, QC, Canada) diluted in TUNEL reaction mixture was added to the slides and incubated at 37°C for 60 min. After rinsing with PBS, the sections were coated with 50 μ l of secondary antibody conjugated with converter-POD (horseradish peroxidase) at 37°C for 30 min. For factor VIII staining enzyme predigestion of formalin-fixed tumors was done by incubation at 37°C in 0.1 g pronase type 14/100 ml PBS followed by washing in 10 mM PBS (pH 7.6). Anti-human endothelial cell antibody against factor VIII (DAKO Diagnostica Inc., Mississauga, ON) was used as primary antibody diluted in serum/PBS (1:60). Tumor sections were incubated for 60 min at room temperature followed by further incubation for 30 min with biotinylated anti-mouse link antibody (Zymed Laboratories Inc., CA). Sections were rinsed with PBS followed by coating with streptavidin conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (HRP) for 10 min. The substrate DAB was then incubated for 10 min at room temperature (Sigma, ON, Canada). Finally, the sections were counter-stained with hematoxylin and mounted. All histologic examinations were carried out by light and fluorescence microscopy using a Nikon microscope equipped with a Xenon lamp power supply and a GFP filter set (Chromotechnology Corp., Brattlevoro, VT). For quantitation of TUNEL positive cells three sections from each tumor were analyzed using NIH image version 1.61 and expressed as integrated density per field of examination. In control and Å6 treated tumors, microvessels were counted and expressed as angiogenesis density representing the mean of at least three areas with high vascularization in three different sections from each tumor. All slides were interpretated by two independent investigators [516].

Statistical analysis.

Results are expressed as the mean \pm SD of at least triplicate determinations and statistical comparisons are based on Student's *t* test or analysis of variance. A probability value of <0.05 was considered to be significant.

3.5 Results

Å6 inhibits scuPA-suPAR interaction.

Binding of suPAR (soluble uPAR) to immobilized scuPA (single-chain uPA) was examined using a BIA 3000 optical biosensor in the absence or presence of Å6. Å6 inhibited the binding of 100 nM suPAR to scuPA in a dose-dependent manner at concentrations of Å6 as low as 0.25 μ M (Fig. 3.1A). Similar results were observed at 33.3 nM and 11.1 nM suPAR (data not shown). The specificity of this inhibition was demonstrated by the lack of effect of Å29, an analog of Å6 in which the first serine is replaced by a glutamic acid (data not shown). This amino acid substitution was chosen because it mimics a phosphorylated serine at this position. Franco et al [517] have described that high molecular weight uPA (HMW-uPA) can be phosphorylated at this serine and that phosphorylated uPA is unable to mediate monocyte chemotaxis or adhesion, in contrast to unmodified uPA [515]. Association and dissociation rate constants were calculated for suPAR binding to scuPA in the absence and presence of Å6 at the three highest concentrations of suPAR. The k_d and the k_a were calculated separately for each of 21 conditions and the data was fitted to a 1:1 Langmuir model. Langmuir isotherms in the absence and presence of Å6 were not parallel, suggesting that Å6 did not inhibit the suPAR-scuPA interaction in a competitive manner (data not shown). The K_d of suPAR was 1 nM and 1.7 nM in the absence and presence of Å6, respectively, whereas the R_{max} decreased in a dose-dependent manner (Fig. 3.1B, 100 nM suPAR). The maximal inhibition observed was 50%, indicating that a new steady state was established in the presence of Å6. Increasing concentrations of Å6 did not significantly alter the K_d of suPAR for scuPA and therefore, it was not necessary to carry out a Schild regression as it was evident that the inhibition was not competitive. Overall, the kinetic and equilibrium binding constants were not altered by Å6 $[k_d = (1.0 \times 10^{-3} \pm 1.1 \times 10^{-4}) \text{ s}^{-1}, k_a = (7.5 \times 10^5 \pm 7.0 \times 10^4) \text{ M}^{-1} \text{s}^{-1}, \text{ and the } K_d = (1.0 \times 10^{-3} \pm 1.1 \times 10^{-4}) \text{ s}^{-1}, k_a = (1.0 \times 10^{-5} \pm 1.0 \times 10^{-5}) \text{ m}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ $(1.3 \times 10^{-9} \pm 2.9 \times 10^{-10})$ M]. In contrast, 10 nM soluble scuPA was able to completely inhibit the binding of equimolar concentrations of suPAR. Soluble scuPA (10 nM) decreased the apparent affinity of suPAR to immobilized scuPA (100 nM suPAR, K_d = 2.6×10^{-9} M, 33.3 nM suPAR, $K_d = 2.6 \times 10^{-7}$ M), as would be expected for a

competitive inhibitor. These data are consistent with Å6 inhibiting the suPAR-scuPA interaction in a non-competitive, allosteric manner.

Additional evidence for the allosteric inhibition of the scuPA-suPAR interaction by Å6 was derived from the finding that Å6 inhibits plasminogen activation by the scuPA-suPAR complex in a clot lysis assay [295]. The plasminogen activating activity of this complex has been hypothesised to result from a conformational change in the complex that leads to the formation of an active site in the absence of conversion to two-chain uPA (tcuPA) [295]. Å6 did not inhibit clot lysis initiated by tcuPA (data not shown). However, Å6 almost completely abrogated clot lysis mediated by the scuPA-suPAR complex, whereas the control peptide Å29 had no such effect (Fig. 3.1C).

Å6 inhibits breast cancer cell invasion and endothelial cell migration in vitro.

Tumor cell invasion and endothelial cell migration during angiogenesis are key events that contribute to tumor progression. The uPA-uPAR system has been demonstrated to play a major role in both processes. Since Å6 inhibited the interaction of suPAR with scuPA, we assessed its ability to inhibit cell invasion and migration in vitro. Peptides of different length based on the connecting peptide region of uPA (a.a. 136-158) were prepared and tested for their ability to inhibit MDA-MB-231 tumor cell invasion in vitro. Of all the peptides tested, only Å6 was able to inhibit tumor cell invasion in this assay (Fig. 3.2A). Uncapped versions of Å6 also had no activity indicating that Å6 represented the minimal active epitope of the connecting peptide, at least from the standpoint of invasion (Fig. 3.2A). The dose dependence of Å6 inhibition of rat and human breast cancer cell invasion was evaluated in a Boyden chamber invasion assay. Å6 decreased the number of rat and human breast cancer cells invading through Matrigel with an IC₅₀ between 5~25 μ M for both cell lines tested (Fig. 3.2B and 3.2C). Invasion was not inhibited further at Å6 concentrations greater than 50 μ M. In contrast to molecules that inhibit the binding of the GFD (a.a. 1~48) of uPA to uPAR [283], the ability of Å6 to inhibit invasion did not appear to be species specific. Finally, Å6 also inhibited the migration of human dermal microvascular endothelial cells (HDMVC) on Type I collagen (Fig. 3.2D). The IC_{50}

for endothelial cell migration (25~50 μ M) was slightly higher than that observed in the tumor cell invasion assay.

Å6 blocks rat breast cancer growth and metastasis in vivo.

Since the uPA-uPAR system contributes to the invasion and motility of multiple cell types associated with tumor progression (e.g. tumor cells, endothelial cells), we hypothesized that the inhibition of the uPA-uPAR interaction using Å6 would have significant anti-tumor effects in vivo. We expected that a capped peptide would be less susceptible to exoprotease degradation in the plasma (although this was not specifically tested) and would therefore have a half-life sufficient to provide efficacy in vivo. Rat Mat B-III breast cancer cells (1×10^6 cells) were inoculated into the mammary fat pads of female Fischer rats. Å6 treatment (75 mg·kg⁻¹·day⁻¹) was initiated on the same day as the inoculation and continued for 16 days. Tumor volumes were determined daily and compared to the control group, which received vehicle alone. Infusion of Å6 resulted in a marked decrease (55%) in tumor volume throughout the course of this study (Fig. 3.3A). Control and Å6-treated animals were killed on day 17 and evaluated for the presence of macroscopic tumor metastases. Control animals, receiving vehicle alone, developed macroscopic tumor metastases to lungs, retroperitoneal and auxillary lymph nodes. In contrast, all Å6-treated animals exhibited significantly fewer or no macroscopic tumor metastases at these sites (Fig. 3.3B).

Å6 blocks human breast cancer growth and metastasis in vivo.

We then examined the anti-tumor effects of Å6 in a xenograft model of human breast cancer. To facilitate the detection of metastatic tumor cells, we first transfected human breast cancer cells (MDA-MB-231) with the cDNA for green fluorescent protein (MDA-MB-231-GFP). MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-231-GFP cells exhibited no significant difference in their invasive capacity in a Matrigel invasion assay (data not shown). For *in vivo* studies, MDA-MB-231-GFP cells (5 x 10^5) were co-inoculated into the mammary fat pads of female BALB/c (*nu/nu*) mice with Matrigel. Tumors were allowed to grow until palpable (15~25 mm³, ~ 4 weeks after inoculation) at which time Å6 administration was initiated. Animals received Å6

(75 mg·kg⁻¹·day⁻¹) or vehicle alone for 6 wk and tumor volumes were determined at weekly intervals. Administration was discontinued after 6 wk and the animals killed and evaluated at the end of week 7. Å6 administration resulted in a significant (~90%) decrease in the primary tumor volume (Fig. 3.3C), which was clearly evident upon visual inspection of killed animals (Fig. 3.3D). Necropsy examination revealed that control animals receiving vehicle alone routinely developed a large number of macroscopic tumor metastases in the lungs and auxillary lymph nodes. In contrast, Å6 treatment resulted in significantly fewer and smaller metastases to lymph nodes and a trend to decreased macroscopic metastases to lungs (Fig. 3.3E). We also evaluated the number of microscopic tumor foci present in other organs (liver, lungs, and spleen). Microscopic dissemination was observed only in these organs and the number of metastatic tumor cells was significantly lower in the liver and lungs of Å6-treated animals when compared to vehicle controls (Fig. 3.3F). No significant difference in the number of disseminated tumor cells was observed in the spleens of control and Å6 treated group of animals.

Å6 treatment leads to extensive tumor necrosis.

Necrotic cores are often observed in rapidly growing experimental tumors, and we observed this in both the syngeneic (Mat B-III) and the xenograft (MDA-MB-231-GFP) models. Although the core necrosis (~ 20% of the total tumor volume) might be expected to occur as a result of hypoxia, this is not the case at the periphery of the tumors. The periphery of primary Mat B-III control tumors appeared predominantly viable when assessed by H&E staining (Fig. 3.4A). In contrast, H&E staining of sections from Å6-treated tumors revealed large areas of haemorrhage necrosis (in this context, necrosis is used to describe tumor cell death, regardless of the mechanism or pathway involved in that process), which comprised greater than 75% of the peripheral tumor area (Fig. 3.4B). TUNEL staining of tumor sections revealed very few TUNEL-positive cells in sections obtained from control Mat B-III tumors (Fig. 3.4C). However, sections obtained from Å6-treated tumors revealed extensive positive staining by TUNEL (Fig. 3.4D). TUNEL-positive foci were significantly more numerous in Å6 treated animals and were observed in both

necrotic and non-necrotic regions suggesting that one mechanism that could be responsible for cell death was apoptosis (Fig. 3.4, bottom). Å6-treatment of tumor cells did not inhibit proliferation or directly lead to apoptosis *in vitro* (data not shown). Similar results were also observed in sections obtained from MDA-MB-231-GFP xenograft tumors (data not shown).

Å6 treatment results in decreased tumor vessel hot spots.

Based on the ability of Å6 to inhibit endothelial cell migration *in vitro*, we decided to evaluate whether Å6 had any effect on tumor vessel formation *in vivo*. We used anti-Factor VIII to stain both rat and mouse blood vessels in our respective models. Sections from Å6-treated tumors had significantly less Factor VIII-positive hot spots than sections from control Mat B-III tumors (Fig. 3.5). Similar results were observed in sections obtained from the MDA-MB-231-GFP xenograft model (data not shown).

3.6 Discussion

The urokinase plasminogen activator system has pleiotropic roles in tumor growth, angiogenesis and metastasis. Initial studies on the role of this system in tumor progression focused on the proteolytic cascades initiated by uPA, mediated by the catalytic B-chain, which resulted in matrix remodeling and allowed for the invasion of tumor cells and the migration of endothelial cells. More recently, signaling cascades mediated by the binding of uPA to uPAR via the GFD have been described although their role in tumor progression is thus far poorly understood.

In this report, we describe the activity of a peptide, Å6, derived from the connecting peptide region of uPA that is capable of inhibiting both of these cascades simultaneously through its inhibition of the uPA-uPAR interaction. Since Å6 is derived from the connecting peptide (a.a. 136-143) of uPA, it suggests that this region of uPA may represent a novel epitope involved in the uPA-uPAR interaction. Franco et al [517] have recently demonstrated that Ser 138 (corresponding to Ser 3 in the Å6 sequence) is phosphorylated in HMW uPA and that this phosphorylation abrogates the ability of phosphorylated HMW uPA to mediate monocyte chemotaxis. From a

drug development standpoint, Å6 is especially intriguing since it apparently inhibits the uPA-uPAR interaction in an allosteric manner, perhaps by altering or stabilizing a particular conformation of one or both of these proteins. Å6 does not inhibit the growth of any cell line tested thus far *in vitro* including tumor and endothelial cells. However, despite this lack of direct cytotoxic or anti-proliferative activity, Å6 treatment leads to a striking suppression of tumor growth and metastasis in several animal models using breast cancer cell lines.

Å6 inhibits the tumor growth of the MDA-MB-231 cells to a greater extent than the Mat B-III cells in vivo. Mat B-III tumors grow much faster than the MDA-MB-231 tumors in vivo and may overcome the inhibitory effects of Å6. Our data suggests that Å6 maintains tumor dormancy and a rapidly proliferating tumor such as the Mat B-III might overcome this suppressive effect much more rapidly than a more indolent tumor such as the MDA-MB-231. This seems to be an emerging paradigm for anti-angiogenic agents when they are used as monotherapy in pre-clinical models, as no single anti-angiogenic agent (including angiostatin and endostatin) is able to reduce tumor burden once tumors have reached 100 mm³ [518]. The MDA-MB-231 model may be more relevant to human disease as most human solid tumors (including breast) are not highly proliferative. We also present in vitro data on the ability of Å6 to inhibit tumor cell invasion and human endothelial cell migration and the differences observed with Å6 treatment in vivo could reflect species specificity. The high-affinity binding of uPA to uPAR (via its growth factor domain) is species specific and the affinities of the uPA for uPAR across species (for example, human uPA binding to rat uPAR) differ by at least two orders of magnitude. However Å6 may represent a secondary, weaker affinity interaction between uPA and uPAR that modulates conformation rather than direct binding and it is not known whether this interaction is species specific. In addition, our data on the effects of Å6 on the uPAuPAR interaction have only been obtained using pure proteins and have not been extended to cell systems. Therefore, the activity of Å6 against tumor cells or endothelial cells could occur via some non-uPAR-dependent mechanism as well.

Å6 is derived from the human uPA sequence and the corresponding sequence from rat and mouse are KPSSTVDQ and KPSSSVDQ. Since the KPSS is conserved in all species, it is tempting to speculate that this may represent the biologically active sequence of the peptide. We demonstrate in Figure 2A that deletion of the N-terminal lysine abolished the anti-migratory effect of Å6 indicating that the correct N-terminal amino acid is important for the activity of Å6. However, similar results were also observed when the C-terminal amino acid was removed. The C-terminal amino acid is semi-conserved (Gln in rat and mouse and Glu in human) and perhaps this is sufficient to maintain activity of the peptide. However, it is difficult to make conclusions regarding species specificity based on the data presented in this report without knowing the contribution of each amino acid to activity.

Å6 may inhibit metastasis in several interdependent ways. Inhibition of tumor growth may directly lead to decreased metastasis simply through a reduction in tumor burden. Smaller tumors may be less vascularized, affording less opportunity for hematogenous dissemination. Å6 may also directly suppress the outgrowth of disseminated tumor cells once they have seeded. Disseminated tumor foci also depend on angiogenesis to survive and proliferate. The anti-angiogenic effects of Å6, described below, could suppress the ability of small tumor foci to recruit blood vessels necessary for survival. The inhibition of metastasis by Å6 could also result from direct anti-invasive effects on the tumor cells themselves. The ability of tumor cells to invade depends on multiple cellular activities such as mobility, adhesion and cytoskeletal reorganization occurring in a temporally organized manner. Since Å6 is able to inhibit the invasion of tumor cells *in vitro*, it is possible that it interferes with one or more of these activities *in vivo* as well.

Our data also demonstrates that Å6 also has anti-angiogenic activity resulting in substantially less Factor VIII-positive hot spots in sections obtained from Å6treated animals. The effects of Å6 on vascular contractility and signaling have also recently been demonstrated by Higazi et al (see companion manuscript), suggesting another possible hypothesis to explain the activity of Å6 [273]. The inhibitory effects of Å6 on vascular contractility may impede blood flow to the tumor in addition to its

effects on angiogenesis. Tumor neovessels, which are prone to collapse and occlusion, may be especially susceptible to an agent, such as Å6, that dysregulates vascular tone. Aggressive, rapidly growing tumors contain large zones of hypoxic cells. Low oxygen tension results in the up-regulation of both vasoconstricting (e.g. endothelin-1) as well as angiogenic (VEGF, PDGF) growth factor expression by endothelial cells [295]. Hypoxia has been implicated as a catalyst for the initiation of tumor angiogenesis [519] and may mediate both new vessel formations (long term effect) as well as local vascular contractility within a tumor. The fact that Å6 antagonizes the activity of vasoconstricting agents such as phenylephrine and endothelin-1 suggests that part of its anti-tumor effects may result from a suppression of hypoxia-dependent pathways of angiogenesis in addition to the inhibition of vessel formation. Further, Å6 does not seem to affect non-stimulated vessels as no effects on vasoconstriction were observed by Higazi et al [273] in the absence of vasoconstricting stimuli. Experiments are currently underway to examine the effects of Å6 on the expression of hypoxia-related genes and the initiation of angiogenesis in tumors (angiogenic switch). This hypothesis is consistent with the data observed in tumor models in which Å6 treatment must be started before a tumor reaches a certain critical size, after which time angiogenesis has already initiated and Å6 treatment alone is no longer sufficient to inhibit tumor progression.

The inhibition of vessel formation through either an anti-angiogenic or an anti-vascular mechanism of action could also lead to increased tumor cell death through apoptosis or related mechanisms. Clinical agents (e.g. Combretastatin) that disrupt tumor blood flow have demonstrated potent anti-tumor effects leading to tumor cell death [520]. Despite extensive TUNEL staining in sections derived from Å6-treated tumors, we cannot conclude that this represents apoptosis since any process that leads to DNA fragmentation would also result in TUNEL-positive staining. Nevertheless, the fact that tumor cell death (histological examination of tissues obtained from Å6-treated animals revealed no evidence of toxicity or non-tumor necrosis) occurs in the absence of any direct cytotoxic effects points to

modulation of the tumor microenvironment by Å6 as one likely aspect of its mechanism of action.

We are currently in the process of identifying more potent analogues of Å6. These will be used to further elucidate the molecular basis of the anti-tumor effects described in this manuscript. The effect of an allosteric inhibitor such as Å6 cannot be competed away by ligand, making such a compound especially useful for inhibiting receptor-ligand interactions such as the binding of uPA to uPAR.

3.7 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by grant MT-12609 to SAR from the Medical Research Council of Canada (MRC) and by NIH R01 grant to DC. YG is a recipient of a studentship award from MRC. We thank Gabriela Canziani and Irwin Chaiken of the Cancer Center Biosensor/Interaction Analysis Core Facility at the Department of Medicine of the University of Pennsylvania for their help in data analysis using the optical biosensor technology.







В

3.8 Figures

Fig. 3.1. Inhibition of uPA/uPAR interaction by Å6.

A) Sensorgrams of 100 nM suPAR binding to immobilized scuPA in the absence (i) and presence (ii, iii, iv) of Å6. Concentrations of Å6 shown are 0.25 μ M (ii), 6.6 μ M (iii) and 60 μ M (iv). B) Plot of maximal binding from panel A, demonstrating that Å6 decreases the B_{max} in a dose-dependent manner. The clear bar denotes the absence of Å6 (CTL). C) Effect of increasing concentrations of Å6 on clot lysis in the presence of scuPA-suPAR complex (\bullet ---- \bullet), tcuPA (O----O), scuPA-suPAR+Å29 (\Box ---- \Box). Results represent the mean ± SEM of four different experiments. Significant difference from control is denoted by asterisks (P<0.05).



Fig. 3.2. Effect of Å6 on breast cancer cell invasion and an endothelial cell migration.

5 x 10⁴ human (MDA-MB-231-GFP) or rat (Mat B-III) breast cancer cells were added to the upper compartment of the Boyden chambers. Fibronectin was added to the lower chamber as a chemoattractant. MDA-MB-231-GFP cells were tested in the presence of Å6 (a) Å7 (b) Å8 (c) Å9 (d) Å10 (e) Å13 (f) Å14 (g), or vehicle alone (CTL) (A). Mat B-III and MDA-MB-231-GFP cells were also tested in the presence of different concentrations of Å6 or vehicle alone. Total number of rat (B) and human (C) breast cancer cells migrating to the lower aspect of Boyden chamber filters was counted. Number of cells invading in the presence of vehicle alone was used as control (CTL). HDMVC cells were tested in the presence of bFGF (1.0 ng/ml) or bFGF plus different concentrations of Å6. The number of cells migrating per field were counted and compared with that of bFGF (D) Results represent the mean \pm SEM of four different experiments. Significant difference in inhibition by Å6 from control is denoted by asterisks (P<0.05).



В

TISSUE	CONTROL	Å6
LUNG	5 ± 1	2 ± 1
R.P. LYMPH NODES	4 ± 2	1 ± 1
AX. LYMPH NODES	2 <u>+</u> 1	1 ± 0

С



Α



Ε

F

	TISSUE	CONTROL	Å6
Macroscopically (number of tumor foci)	LUNG	6 ± 2	3 ± 1
	AX. LYMPH NODES	5 ± 2	1 <u>+</u> 1
Microscopically (tumor cells per field)	LUNG	4.23 ± 0.18	2.09 ± 0.30
	LIVER	18.83± 0.36	3.11 ± 0.14
	SPLEEN	35.67 ± 0.82	28.30 ± 2.80

Å6





CTL







D

Fig. 3.3. Effect of Å6 on tumor growth and metastases.

Mat B-III tumor bearing female Fischer rats were injected i.p with Å6 or vehicle alone for 16 days. Tumor volume in control (CTL) and experimental (Å6) animals was determined at timed intervals (A). At day 17 post tumor inoculation, animals were sacrificed and the total number of macroscopic metastatic foci were counted (B). MDA-MB-231-GFP tumor bearing BALB/c (mu/mu) mice were injected i.p with Å6 or vehicle alone (CTL) and tumor volume determined at weekly intervals (C). Following 6 weeks of treatment, gross tumor mass was compared in control (CTL) and Å6 treated animals (D). (E) At the end of this study, control and experimental mice were sacrificed to count the number of macroscopic tumor foci (E). Fluorescent tumor cells in control and Å6 tissues were also counted under a microscope (E). A representative photomicrograph of each organ from control (CTL) and Å6 treated animals (Å6) from three such experiments is shown (F). Results represent the mean \pm SEM of 6 starting animals in each group in 4 different experiments. Significant difference from control tumor bearing animals after treatment with Å6 is denoted by asterisks (P<0.05).





Fig. 3.4. Histological examination of Å6 treated Mat B-III tumors.

Top: Control (a, c) and experimental animals (b, d) were sacrificed and their tumors were removed. All tumors were formalin-fixed and paraffin embedded. Sections (4 µm) were prepared and analyzed by H & E staining (a, b) and TUNEL assay (c, d) (100 X magnification). Bottom: TUNEL-positive cells were quantitated as described in Material and Methods. Results represent the mean ± SEM of three determinations in each tumor. Significant difference from control (CTL) is denoted by asterisks (P<0.05).


Fig. 3.5. Immunohistochemical analysis of Å6 treated Mat B-III tumors.

All primary tumors were removed, formalin fixed and paraffin embedded. Sections (4 μ m) were prepared and stained with anti-factor VIII antibody. Representative photomicrograph from control (CTL) and Å6 treated animals (Å6) is shown (100 X magnification). B) Areas of high vascularization in control and Å6 treated tumors were counted for microvessel density as described in Materials and Methods. Results represent the mean ± SEM of three determinations on each tumor. Significant difference from control (CTL) is denoted by asterisks (P<0.05).

Chapter IV

An Anti-Angiogenic Urokinase Derived Peptide (Å6) Combined with Tamoxifen (TAM) Decreases Tumor Growth and Metastasis in a Syngeneic Model of Breast Cancer

4.1 Preface

Accumulating evidence has indicated that the uPA/uPAR system is related to prognosis in primary as well as advanced breast cancer. The efficacy of the response of this cancer to hormonal therapy such as tamoxifen (TAM) in recurrent disease is reduced following treatment. In the previous chapter, I reported the development of an 8-mer peptide, Å6, derived from the non-connecting peptide region of uPA. Intraperitoneal injection of Å6 results in the suppression of primary breast tumor growth in nude mice as well as the metastases formation. These inhibitory effects have been attributed to the inhibition of tumor cell invasion, tumor angiogenesis and the induction of tumor cell apoptosis (see section 3.5). Å6 is currently under evaluation in Phase I clinical trials. Having characterized Å6 as an effective agent blocking the progression of breast cancer, I further evaluated the ability of Å6 to block breast cancer progression when used in conjunction with other chemotherapeutic agents, such as TAM.

TAM was initially developed as an agent that antagonizes the effects of estrogen via its receptor. It shares structure homology with the receptor-binding site of estrogen, but is not able to elicit the functions of ER. Because the role of ER is important in the progression of breast cancer, TAM has been shown to be effective in impairing the progression of ER-positive breast cancer [317, 521]. The major tumor inhibitory effects of TAM are elicited through the competition of ER with estrogen, TAM is not effective in late stage breast cancer that is ER-independent, meanwhile, even TAM-responsive tumors eventually develop resistance to TAM [312], and the mechanism is poorly defined. Therefore, there is a pressing need to find an effective chemotherapy regimen that is effective in blocking breast cancer progression even at its late stage.

My data presented in Chapter III showed that Å6 is effective in blocking breast cancer progression regardless of stage, suggesting that Å6 is a universal chemotherapeutic agent for breast cancer. However, its effects may be greatly enhanced if used in combination with other agents. Combination therapy has beneficial effects that may improve the outcomes and survival rate of breast cancer patients [372], and prolong the disease-free period. When used together, drug

interactions may elicit additive or synergistic effects and may allow the dosage of each individual drug to be decreased, thus further limiting the probability of side effects.

In this chapter, we explore the effects of Å6 on a rat breast cancer model in combination with TAM. As discussed in the following section, this combination exerts an additive effect in the inhibition of breast cancer progression as compared to that of either agent used alone, suggesting a potential clinical application for a combination therapy using these two agents.

The material discussed in this chapter has been written as a manuscript entitled "An Anti-Angiogenic Urokinase Derived Peptide (Å6) Combined with Tamoxifen (TAM) Decreases Tumor Growth and Metastasis in a Syngeneic Model of Breast Cancer", which has been submitted to review in *Cancer Research*.

4.2 Abstract

Expression of urokinase (uPA) and its receptor (uPAR) are associated with increased tumor cell invasion and metastasis in several malignancies including breast cancer. An 8-mer peptide derived from the non-receptor binding domain of uPA (Å6) has been shown to have anti-angiogenic and pro-apoptotic effects to block breast cancer progression in vivo. In the current study we have evaluated the effect of Å6 and the anti-estrogen tamoxifen (TAM) alone and in combination on estrogen receptor positive Mat B-III rat breast cancer cells in vitro and in vivo. Treatment of Mat B-III cells with Å6 and TAM resulted in a dose-dependent decrease in tumor cell invasion through Matrigel, these effects were more marked when Å6 and TAM were tested in combination. In addition, treatment of Mat B-III cells with Å6 or TAM resulted in a significant reduction of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (flk-1) expression and TGF- β activity, effects which were significantly higher following combined treatment with Å6 and TAM. For in vivo studies, female Fischer rats were inoculated with Mat B-III cells (1×10^6) into the mammary fat pad. These orthotopic tumors were staged to 30-40 mm³ in volume at which time treatment was initiated with Å6 (75 mg/kg/day), TAM (3 mg/kg/day) alone or in combination. Both Å6 and TAM caused a significant reduction in tumor volume, however these anti-tumor

effects were significantly greater in animals receiving both Å6 and TAM where a 75% reduction in tumor growth as compared to control animals was observed. The number of macroscopic tumor foci was significantly reduced in Å6 treated animals, while TAM failed to exhibit any anti-metastatic effects. Histological analysis of primary tumors from different groups showed decreased new blood vessel density and increased tumor cell death in Å6 and TAM treated animals and these effects were greater in experimental animals receiving Å6 and TAM in combination. Collectively, these studies demonstrate that the addition of novel anti-angiogenic/anti-metastatic agents like Å6 to hormone therapy can enhance the anti-tumor effects of hormone therapy through increased inhibition of angiogenesis and induction of tumor cell death.

4.3 Introduction

Urokinase (uPA) plays a key role in degrading extracellular matrix (ECM) and basement membrane in various cancers (such as breast and prostate cancers) and therefore promotes metastasis and angiogenesis [219, 266, 522]. uPA is secreted as a single chain zymogen (scuPA) that exhibits very low or no intrinsic enzyme activity [523]. After enzymatic cleavage by plasmin, the scuPA is converted into an active, disulfide bond-linked two-chain high molecular weight uPA (HMW-uPA). This HMW-uPA comprised of an A-chain (a.a. 1~158), and a low molecular weight uPA (LMW-uPA) (a.a. 159~411) that contains the catalytic activity for ECM degradation [524]. Two sub-domains are located within the A-chain; the growth factor domain (GFD) is the site that mediates binding of uPA to its cell surface receptor, uPAR, and a single kringle domain [163, 525]. In addition to the uPAR, uPA binds with low affinity to an unidentified membrane associated protein to trigger uPA-induced signal transduction [526]. In addition to the GFD and kringle, the A-chain contains a connecting peptide (a.a. 136~158). Phosphorylation of uPA at Ser138 within this region has been demonstrated to abolish the adhesion of chemotaxis of myelomonocytic cells [187]. An 8-mer capped peptide Å6 (a.a. 136-143), derived from this region was previously demonstrated to inhibit cell motility and contractility including endothelial cell migration and tumor cell invasion (Fig. 3.1) [495].

Breast cancer is one of the leading malignancies affecting women, and results in a high incidence of morbidity and mortality [527]. In hormone-dependent breast cancer, the steroid hormone estrogen stimulates tumor cell proliferation [521, 528]. The use of anti-estrogen agents such as tamoxifen (TAM) is thus a standard therapeutic regimen for patients with estrogen receptor (ER) positive tumors [521, 529]. In addition to steroid hormones, the expression of proteolytic enzymes, such as uPA, promotes breast cancer progression by enhancing angiogenesis and tumor cell invasion [274, 495].

A series of basic and clinical studies have demonstrated a correlation between uPA production and tumor invasiveness and disease stage in several malignancies including breast cancer [258, 259, 530]. Analysis of uPA production in a variety of human breast cancer cell lines has revealed high levels of uPA expression in highly invasive human breast cancer cells MDA-MB-231. In contrast, uPA mRNA was undetectable in low invasive MCF-7 cells. This lack of uPA expression in MCF-7 cells was due to hypermethylation of the uPA promoter region resulting in silencing of *uPA* gene transcription (see Chapter II) [22]. Previous reports by others and us have demonstrated the species specificity of uPA actions where human uPA fails to interact with rat uPAR [108, 135]. These studies underscore the significance of the uPA/uPAR interaction in an allogeneic or syngeneic system that can allow complete interaction between uPA/uPAR produced by tumor cells with host proteins produced by tumor surrounding stromal cells to fully elicit its effects on tumor angiogenesis and tumor cell death [495].

In the current study, we have used the ER positive rat breast cancer cell line Mat B-III, which produces high levels of uPA and serves as a useful model for the study of breast cancer progression. Using this syngeneic *in vivo* model of breast cancer, we have examined the ability of Å6 alone and in combination with TAM to decrease Mat B-III tumor invasion and metastasis *in vivo*, and explored the underlying mechanisms of the inhibitory effects.

4.4 Materials and Methods

Cells and cell culture

The rat mammary adenocarcinoma cell line Mat B-III was obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Rockville, MD). Cells were maintained in culture *in vitro* in McCoy's 5A modified medium (Gibco BRL, Burlington, ON, Canada) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 25 mM 4-(2-hydroxyethy)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid, 26 mM sodium bicarbonate, 100 units/ml of penicillin-streptomycin sulphate (Gibco BRL) and 0.2% gentamycin (Sigma, St. Louis, MO).

In Vitro assays

The effect of Å6 and TAM on Mat B-III cell invasion was determined by two compartment Boyden chambers (Transwell, Costar, Cambridge, MA) and basement membrane Matrigel invasion assay as previously described [11, 495]. The 8 μ m pore polycarbonate filters were coated with basement membrane Matrigel (50 μ g/filter). Matrigel was then reconstructed by adding 0.1 ml serum-free culture medium to the upper chamber and incubated for 90 min. After removal of medium, cells (5 x 10⁴) in 0.1 ml of medium with or without Å6 or TAM were added to the upper chamber and placed in a lower chamber prefilled with 0.8 ml of serum-free medium supplemented with 25 μ g/ml fibronectin (Sigma, Oakville, ON, Canada) and incubated at 37°C for 24 hr. At the end of incubation, medium was removed and filters were fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde, 0.5% glutaraldehyde (Sigma) in 0.1 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.4 at room temperature (RT) for 30 min. After washing with PBS, all filters were stained with 1.5% toluidine blue and filters were mounted onto glass slides. Cells were examined under a light microscope. Ten fields under 400x magnification were randomly selected and the mean cell number was calculated.

In the dose-response studies the effect of Å6 and TAM on Mat B-III cell proliferation was determined by measuring the reduction of Alamar blue (AB) as described by the manufacturer (Serotec, Kidlington, U.K.) with modifications. The assay is based on metabolic reduction of the AB dye into a fluorescent species, which can easily be detected after excitation of the reduced AB dye at 560 nm and subsequent emission at 580 nm. The assay was adapted to 96-well fluorescent plates with clear-bottomed wells, which allowed direct reading of the plates without sample transfer. AB reduction was measured every second day, by removal of the growth

medium and substituting it with AB-containing medium. Reduction of AB was determined at 2 hr after addition of the AB substrate, using a total volume of 300 μ l of a 1:20 diluted AB stock solution per well. Fluorescence was measured at a slit width of 5 nm for both excitation and emission using a Perkin-Elmer luminescence spectrophotometer LS 50B, equipped with a microtiter plate reader [531]. After reading the plates, the AB-containing medium was removed, the cells were rinsed twice with PBS, and fresh medium containing the test compounds was added to the plates. The proliferative activity after 4 days of treatment is presented as absorbence at 580 nm.

In order to evaluate the effect of Å6 and TAM on TGF- β activity, Mat B-III cells were seeded at a density of 2 x 10⁵ per 6-well plate. Cells were transfected 24 hr after with 5 µg of the reporter plasmid p3TP-Lux (kindly provided by Dr. J.J. Lebrun, McGill University), together with pSV- β -galactosidase Control Vector (1 µg), using Lipofectamine [532]. 15 hr later, the medium was changed to McCoy's 5A modified medium containing 4% FCS, and the cells were incubated for an additional 9 hr followed by treatment with Å6 (5.0 µM), TAM (100.0 nM) or Å6 and TAM for 48 hours. Cells were lysed, and the luciferase activity was measured and normalised to the relative β -galactosidase activity as described [532].

For Western blot analysis to determine the level of flk-1 production, Mat B-III cells treated with vehicle, Å6 (5.0 μ M), TAM (100.0 nM), or Å6 + TAM were homogenised in RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris pH 7.2, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP40, 0.5% deoxycholate, 8 μ M aprotinin, 2 mM phenylmethylsulfonlfluoride, 10 mM Leupeptin and 2 mM sodium orthovanadate). The supernatant was removed and total protein concentration was determined by Bio-rad protein assay (Bio-rad Laboratories, CA). 50 μ g of total protein from various groups of Mat B-III cells was separated by SDS-PAGE in 7.5% gels under reducing conditions. Proteins in the gel were electrophoretically transferred to nitrocellulose membranes and reacted with antibodies at a dilution of 1:50 with 0.5% skimmed milk in buffered saline (pH 7.5). All membranes were soaked in buffer containing flk-1 or peroxidase conjugated antimouse rabbit immunoglobulin for flk-1 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA). Bands were analyzed by developing with ECL Kit (Amersham). Level of flk-1

production was quantified by densitometric scanning and plotted as intensity per mm² as previously described [533].

For PAI-1 ELISA, Mat B-III cells were treated with vehicle alone, Å6 (5.0 μ M), TAM (100.0 nM), Å6 and TAM for 72 hr. Cells conditioned culture medium from control and experimental cells was collected and tested at different concentrations for PAI-1 production using a rat PAI-1 ELISA kit (American Diagnostica Inc., Greenwich, CT) according to manufacturer's instructions.

Animal Protocols

Inbred female Fischer 344 rats weighing 200-220 g were obtained from Charles River Inc. (St. Constant, QC, Canada). Before inoculation, Mat B-III tumor cells grown in serum-containing medium were washed with Hank's balanced buffer and trypsinized for 5 min. Cells were then collected in Hank's balanced buffer and centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 min. Cell pellets (1 x 10^6 cells) were resuspended in 0.2 ml saline and injected using 1 ml insulin syringes into the mammary fat pad of rats anaesthetised with ethanol/Somnotal (MTC Pharmaceuticals, Cambridge, ON, Canada). Control and experimental animals were injected intraperitoneally (i.p.) with PBS, Å6 (75 mg/kg/day), TAM (3 mg/kg/day) or Å6 and TAM in combination twice a day for 17 days. All animals were numbered, kept separate and examined for the development of tumors daily for up to 18 days. The tumor mass of control and experimental animals was measured in two dimensions by callipers and the tumor volume was calculated. Control and experimental animals were sacrificed at the end of this study (day 18) and examined and scored for the development of macroscopic tumor metastases in various tissues [11, 108, 495]. Primary tumor tissues were also removed from control and experimental animals for histologic examination.

Histology and Immunohistochemistry

Primary tumors were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde overnight, dehydrated and embedded in paraffin (Fisher Scientific, Montreal, QC, Canada) the next day. Tumor sections (4 μ m) were deparaffinized, then rehydrated and stained with hematoxylin/eiosin (H&E). For TUNEL assay, paraffin-embedded tissue sections were soaked in toluene to deparaffinize, then rehydrated in graded alcohol series (100% to 70%). For enzyme predigestion of formalin-fixed tissue, the sections were

incubated for 30 min at RT in 15 µg/ml of proteinase K/10 mM Tris/HCl. The terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT) (Boehringer Mannheim, QC, Canada) diluted in TUNEL reaction mixture, was added to the slides and incubated at 37°C for 60 min. After rinsing with PBS, the sections were coated with 50 µl of antifluorescein antibody conjugated with converter-POD (horseradish peroxidase) at 37°C for 30 min. For factor VIII staining enzyme predigestion of formalin-fixed tumors was done by incubation at 37°C in 0.1 g Pronase type 14/100 ml PBS, followed by washing in 10 mM PBS (pH 7.6). Anti-human endothelial cell antibody against factor VIII-related antigen (Von Willebrand factor) (DAKO Diagnostica Inc., Mississauga, ON, Canada) was used as primary antibody diluted in PBS (1:600). Tumor sections were incubated for 60 min at RT followed by further incubation for 30 min with biotinylated anti-rabbit link antibody (Zymed Laboratories Inc., San Francisco, CA). Sections were rinsed with PBS, followed by coating with streptavidin conjugated to horseradish peroxidase for 10 min. The substrate DAB was then incubated with factor VIII-related antigen sections for 10 min at RT (Sigma, Oakville, ON, Canada). Finally, the sections were counterstained with hematoxylin and mounted. All histologic examinations were carried out by light and fluorescence microscopy using a Nikon microscope equipped with a Xenon lamp power supply and a GFP filter set (Chromotechnology Corp., Brattlevoro, VT). For quantitation of TUNEL-positive cells, three sections from each tumor were analyzed using NIH image version 1.61 and expressed as integrated density per field of examination. In control and experimental tumors, microvessels were counted and expressed as angiogenesis density representing the mean of at least three areas with high vascularization in three different sections from each tumor. All slides were interpreted by two independent investigators [495].

Statistical Analysis

Results are expressed as the mean \pm SD of at least triplicate determinations and statistical comparisons are based on Student's *t* test or analysis of variance. A probability value of <0.05 was considered to be significant.

4.5 Results

Effect of Å6 and TAM on Mat B-III Cell Invasion and Proliferation in vitro

The effect of different concentrations of Å6 (1.0~5.0 μ M) and TAM (10.0-100.0 nM) on the invasive capacity of Mat B-III was determined using a modified two compartment Boyden chamber Matrigel invasion assay. Treatment with both Å6 and TAM caused a significant dose-dependent decrease in the number of cells invading through Matrigel as compared to vehicle treated control. Both Å6 and TAM demonstrated similar anti-invasive effects as stand alone agents (30~50%) for Å6 and 40~60% for TAM over the range of concentrations tested (Fig. 4.2A and B). An additive inhibitory effect (45~80%) was observed when cells were treated with the combination of Å6 and TAM (Fig. 4.2C).

The effect of Å6 (5.0 μ M) or TAM (100.0 nM) alone and in combination on Mat B-III cell proliferation was evaluated using the Alamar blue assay. Following four days of treatment of Mat B-III cells, Å6 had no significant effect on cell doubling time while treatment with TAM caused a small but statistically significant decrease in cell proliferation. Combination treatment with Å6 and TAM exhibited a similar effect on cell growth as observed by TAM alone (Fig. 4.3). Throughout the course of these studies, no noticeable effect on cell morphology or viability as determined by Trypan blue assay underscoring the non-cytotoxic nature of these agents (data not shown).

Effect of Å6 and TAM on Tumor Growth in vivo

Mat B-III cells were inoculated into the mammary fat pads of female Fischer rats. Tumors were staged to 30-40 mm³ at which time animals were randomized and injected daily with vehicle alone, Å6 (75 mg/kg/day), TAM (3 mg/kg/day) and the combination of Å6 and TAM for 17 days. Tumor volume was determined every other day beginning on day 16 post-tumor cell inoculation. Animals receiving either Å6 or TAM exhibited a significant decrease in the tumor growth rate of ~50%. This decrease in tumor volume was 50~60% at the end of this study on day 18 as compared to control animals. The decrease in tumor growth was significantly greater (75%) in animals receiving both Å6 and TAM (Fig. 4.4). Animal weight did not

change throughout the study (data not shown) indicating no overt toxicities and good tolerance of this regimen by the animals.

Effect of Å6 and TAM on Tumor Metastases

All control and experimental animals were euthanized on day 18 and evaluated for the presence of macroscopic tumor metastases. Control animals inoculated with Mat B-III tumor cells routinely showed the presence of macroscopic tumor metastases to the lungs, liver, auxiliary and retroperitoneal lymph nodes. A significant decrease in the number of macroscopic tumor metastases foci was seen in animals receiving Å6, while no change in tumor metastases was observed following treatment with TAM (Table 4.1). Treatment with both Å6 and TAM exhibited a decrease in tumor metastases that was similar to that observed following infusion of Å6 alone. Collectively, these results showed that while both Å6 and TAM were able to reduce the growth of primary tumor, only Å6 decreased the incidence of tumor metastases in this syngeneic *in vivo* model of breast cancer (Table 4.1).

Effect of Å6 and TAM on Tumor Angiogenesis and on Tumor Cell Death

Rapidly growing tumors are highly dependent on the formation of neovessels that fuel tumor growth. In order to evaluate the effect of Å6 and TAM on tumor neovascularization, control and experimental tumors were examined for new blood vessel formation by immunohistochemical analysis using anti-factor VIII related antigen. Sections of primary tumors from both Å6 and TAM treated animals exhibited a decrease in the number of factor VIII hot spots as compared to control tumors (Fig. 4.5). This decrease in hot spots was more pronounced in tumor sections from animals receiving both Å6 and TAM (Fig. 4.5).

In previous studies, we have routinely observed that Mat B-III tumors exhibit a significant necrotic area, which is a direct result of tumor cell death via several mechanisms. In our studies, significantly greater areas of tumor necrosis were observed in primary tumors from all experimental tumors as evaluated by H & E staining of histological sections (data not shown). In order to define the mechanism of this tumor cell death, histological sections of control and experimental tumors were evaluated for apoptotic effects of these agents by TUNEL assay. Control sections exhibited a limited number of TUNEL positive cells, the number of which was significantly greater in tumors from Å6 or TAM treated animals. These effects were found to be further increased in animals receiving Å6 and TAM in combination as determined by integrated density per field of examination of TUNEL positive cells (Fig. 4.6).

Molecular Mechanism of Å6- and TAM- Mediated Effects In Vitro and In Vivo

In order to understand the mechanisms of Å6- and TAM-mediated effects in Mat B-III invasion, growth and metastasis, we examined the ability of these agents to activate latent TGF- β , which is known to play an important role in tumor progression. For these studies, we used plasminogen activator inhibitor PAI-1 promoter luciferase construct (p3TP-Lux) as an indicator to measure the amount of generated active TGF- β in treated- or untreated-cells, which can be monitored as an increase in luciferase activity. TGF- β activity was assessed in Mat B-III cells transfected with p3TP-Lux plasmid and treated with Å6 (5.0 μ M) or TAM (100.0 nM) alone or in combination. In this assay, both Å6 and TAM reduced the activity of TGF- β as seen by the reduction in relative luciferase activity. However, this reduction in TGF- β activity was further reduced to 60% following treatment with both Å6 and TAM (Fig. 4.7).

Mat B-III cells treated with vehicle, Å6, TAM, and Å6 and TAM in combination for 48 hrs were isolated and a total protein extract was analyzed by Western blot analysis for the level of production of flk-1, a VEGF receptor. Both Å6 and TAM decreased the production of flk-1 as compared to control cells, however this decrease in flk-1 levels was found to be more pronounced in cells treated with both Å6 and TAM (Fig. 4.8).

Mat B-III cell conditioned culture medium from vehicle treated or Å6 (5.0 μ M), TAM (100.0 nM), and Å6 and TAM treated cells for 72 hr was removed and evaluated for the level of PAI-1 production by ELISA in different concentrations. These studies showed that while both Å6 and TAM were able to decrease PAI-1 production, these effects were significantly greater in Mat B-III cells treated with Å6 and TAM in combination (Fig. 4.9). The ability of Å6 and TAM to decrease PAI-1 production was time-dependent with increased reduction following 48 hr of treatment with these agents (unpublished observations).

4.6 Discussion

In this study, we explored the inhibitory effects of Å6 on experimental breast cancer progression when combined with TAM as well as the underlying mechanisms responsible for this inhibition. We and others had previously demonstrated that Å6 alone or in combination with cisplatin could significantly inhibit tumor angiogenesis leading to decreased rates of tumor growth as well as a survival benefit in a xenograft model of glioma [272, 273]. Similar effects were observed in the current study where Å6 and TAM alone each significantly inhibited tumor cell invasion *in vitro*, and angiogenesis and tumor growth *in vivo*. However, the combination of the two agents had super-additive effects, resulting in an additional ~50% decrease in microvessel density and a 2.5-fold increase in the number of TUNEL-positive foci observed in tumor sections as compared to either agent alone. Further, we observed a significant decrease in TGF- β activity using a PAI-1 promoter luciferase reporter gene construct. We then identified several other molecules whose regulation could explain the observed decreases in microvessel density and increases in microvessel density and TAM treatment through the inhibition of TGF- β activity.

The effect of TGF- β on tumor growth is bi-phasic: carcinogenesis and early tumor growth are suppressed by TGF- β whereas this growth factor apparently accelerates tumor progression in more advanced aggressive tumors [534, 535]. This is probably due to its role to suppress tumor angiogenesis and induce tumor cell apoptosis. TGF- β is known to regulate the expression of the serpin inhibitor of uPA catalytic activity, PAI-1. PAI-1 also behaves in a bi-phasic manner, in some models it has been shown to decrease tumor growth and angiogenesis whereas in other systems, PAI-1 has been shown to promote angiogenesis and tumor growth [286, 287, 536]. High PAI-1 levels in cancer patients are almost always associated with poor prognosis but this paradox may be explained by a concentration effect, whereas at physiological levels PAI-1 may inhibit angiogenesis by inhibiting uPA-dependent remodelling of basement membrane as well as adhesion of cells to VN. At higher PAI-1 concentrations, however, the inhibition of excess proteolytic activity and induction of migration towards fibronectin may act to promote angiogenesis [277, 286, 287, 537]. In this study, we have demonstrated that both TAM and Å6 inhibit the

expression of PAI-1 and that the combination of agents inhibits PAI-1 expression by ~50% in cell culture *in vitro*. We are currently investigating whether the decrease in PAI-1 expression by tumor cells treated with TAM and Å6 correlates with the inhibition of angiogenesis *in vivo*.

Recent data has also demonstrated the autocrine regulation of tumor cell invasion and signaling by VEGF in prostate and breast cancer cells [538, 539]. In this study, we observed the expression of the rodent VEGF receptor, flk-1, in Mat B-III cells (homologous to human KDR) and this expression could be attenuated by >50% in the presence of Å6 alone. This attenuation was further enhanced in the presence of TAM to about 33% of control. Recently, a correlation has been demonstrated between VEGF expression and PAI-1 expression in human colorectal tumors [540]. The expression of VEGF and PAI-1 correlated with stage, with much higher expression levels being associated with advanced disease. Finally, it has also been demonstrated that blocking PAI-1 expression inhibits the expression of VEGF in smooth muscle cell raising the possibility that a similar axis of regulation may exist in tumors [541]. The existence of a possible autocrine VEGF loop in tumor cells implies that VEGF receptors like e.g. flk-1 might also be regulated. Unfortunately, it has been difficult to evaluate flk-1 expression directly in tumor sections due to the lack of a suitable, available commercially antibody flk-1 is useful against that for immunohistochemistry, necessitating the use of alternative approaches. Experiments are currently ongoing to determine whether a PAI-1-dependent autocrine loop regulated through TGF-B signaling and leading to flk-1 expression is responsible for the invasiveness and tumorigenicity of Mat B-III cells in vitro and in vivo.

Collectively, this study demonstrates the combination of an anti-estrogen (TAM) and an anti-angiogenic and anti-invasive peptide derived from uPA (Å6) in reducing the growth rate of rat breast tumors through the inhibition of angiogenesis and invasiveness with a concomitant increase in cell death as measured by TUNEL staining. We present data for the first time describing aspects of the molecular mechanism underlying the anti-angiogenic and anti-invasive activity of Å6, which has previously been demonstrated to inhibit angiogenesis leading to the inhibition of tumor growth, and the implication of a VEGF receptor and PAI-1 as part of this

mechanism. We also present data suggesting the utility of combining an anti-estrogen with non-cytotoxic anti-angiogenic therapy as a potential therapeutic approach to suppress breast cancer progression, an approach that may improve the efficacy of current first-line therapy.

4.7 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Grant MT-12609. YG is a recipient of a studentship award from CIHR. The authors would like to thank Dr. Terence R. Jones, Angstrom Pharmaceuticals Inc., San Diego, CA for providing Å6.



-

4.8 Figures & Table:

Fig. 4.1. Structure of uPA and Å6.

Following its proteolytic processing, high molecular weight uPA (HMWuPA) is converted to an amino terminal fragment (ATF) and proteolytically active low molecular weight uPA (LMW-uPA). From the carboxy terminus of ATF, an 8mer peptide corresponding to amino acid 136-143 was selected and termed Å6 that was used throughout the course of this study.



Ω

1

B

Fig. 4.2. Effect of Å6 and TAM alone or in combination on Mat B-III cell invasion.

Mat B-III rat breast cancer cells were grown in culture as described in "Materials and Methods". The number of tumor cells migrating to the lower aspect of Boyden chamber filter following treatment with different doses of Å6 (panel A), TAM (panel B) or combination of Å6 and TAM (panel C) were counted. Comparison was made with the number of cells invading following treatment with vehicle alone (CTL). Results represent \pm SD of three different experiments. Significant difference in the number of cells invading as compared to control groups.



Fig. 4.3. Effect of Å6 and TAM on Mat B-III cell growth.

Mat B-III cells were grown in culture alone and in the presence of Å6 (5.0 μ M), TAM (100.0 nM) alone and Å6 and TAM in combination for 4 days. Cell numbers in triplicate petri dishes were quantitated daily by Alamar blue assay as described in "Materials and Methods". Total absorbence at 580 nm following 4 days of treatment with these agents is shown. Results represent ± SD of three different experiments. Significant difference in the number of cells as compared to control groups was represented by asterisks (P<0.05).



)

Time (days)

Fig. 4.4. Effect of Å6 and TAM on tumor volume.

-.

Tumor volume of animals inoculated with Mat B-III tumor cells was determined following treatment with vehicle alone (CTL), Å6, TAM and Å6 and TAM at timed intervals as described in "Materials and Methods". Results represent \pm SD of six starting animals in each group in three different experiments. Significant difference from control is shown by asterisks. (p<0.05)

	CTL	Å6	TAM	Å6 + TAM
LUNG	5 <u>+</u> 2	2 ± 1	5 ± 1	2 ± 1
LIVER	3 <u>+</u> 1	1 ± 0	3 <u>+</u> 2	1 <u>+</u> 0
AX. LYMPH NODES	4 ± 2	1 ± 1	4 ± 1	1 ± 1
R.P. LYMPH NODES	3 ± 1	1 ± 1	3 ± 1	1 ± 1

~ . }

Table 4.1.Effect of Å6 and TAM on Tumor Metastases.

Female Fischer rats were inoculated with Mat B-III breast cancer cells and treated with either vehicle (CTL), Å6 (75 mg/kg/day), TAM (3 mg/kg/day) alone, and in combination as described in "Materials and Methods". All control and experimental animals were sacrificed at day 18 post-tumor cell inoculation and evaluated for the presence of macroscopic tumor metastases. Total number of metastatic foci in various organs were counted and compared. Results represent at least four animals in each group in three different experiments.













CTL

Fig. 4.5. Immunohistochemical analysis of tumors from animals treated with Å6 and TAM.

Primary tumors from all control and experimental animals were removed, formalin fixed, and paraffin embedded. 4 μ m sections were prepared and stained with anti-factor-VIII related antibody. Representative photomicrographs from vehicle treated (CTL), Å6, TAM and Å6 and TAM in combination are shown (upper panel) (100X magnification). Areas of high vascularization in all groups were counted for microvessel density as described in "Materials and Methods" and plotted (lower panel). Results represent ± SD of three determinations in each section from all groups. Significant difference in microvessel density per field of examination from vehicle treated control (CTL) is shown by asterisks. (p<0.05)



Fig. 4.6. Histological analysis of Å6 and TAM treated Mat B-III tumors.

Animals inoculated with Mat B-III tumors and receiving vehicle alone (CTL), Å6, TAM and Å6 and TAM were sacrificed on day 18 post-tumor cell inoculation. Primary tumors from all animals were removed, formalin fixed, and paraffin embedded. 4 μ m sections of tumors were cut and subjected to TUNEL assay and quantified, as described in "Materials and Methods". Representative photomicrograph from each group is shown (400X magnification). Results represent ± SD of three different determinations in each tumor. Significant difference from control (CTL) is represented by asterisks. (p<0.05)





Fig. 4.7. Effect of Å6 and TAM on TGF- β activity.

Mat B-III cells were transfected with PAI-1-luciferase plasmid and following 20 hr of incubation cells were treated with Å6 (5.0 μ M), TAM (100.0 nM), and Å6 and TAM in combination. Induction of PAI-1 mediated relative luciferase activity was determined as described in "Materials and Methods". Results represent ± SD of three different experiments. Significant difference in luciferase expression from vehicle treated control (CTL) is represented by asterisks. (p<0.05)





J

Fig. 4.8. Effect of Å6 and TAM on flk-1 production.

Mat B-III cells were treated with vehicle alone (CTL), Å6 (5.0 μ M), TAM (100.0 nM) and Å6 and TAM for 48 hr. Level of flk-1 production was assessed by Western blot analysis as described in "Materials and Methods". Results represent \pm SD of three different experiments. Significant difference from control is represented by asterisks. (p<0.05)

ţ.


Fig. 4.9. Effect of Å6 and TAM on PAI-1 production.

Mat B-III cells were treated with Å6 (5.0 μ M), TAM (100.0 nM) and Å6 and TAM for 48 h. Cells conditioned culture medium was removed and tested for the level of PAI-1 production by ELISA as described in "Materials and Methods". Results represent ± SD of three different experiments. Significant difference in PAI-1 production as compared to vehicle treated control (CTL) Mat B-III cells is represented by asterisks. (p<0.05).

Chapter V

General discussion

ł

)

1

l

I

Breast cancer is a common disease that adversely affects the lives of many women worldwide. Breast cancer emerges through a multi-step process that results in cellular transformation and metastasis [311, 542]. The molecular mechanisms underlying carcinogenesis, its progression and the formation of metastases have been the major focus of cancer research. It is hoped that progress in these areas will lead to the development of effective treatments. Under the influence of multiple factors including environmental factors, hormonal factors such as high levels of estrogen, genetic factors, overexpression of oncogenes, the cellular transformation of normal breast epithelium is initiated. In most cases, breast cancer does not stop *in situ*. Instead, the overproduction of multiple proteases and pro-angiogenic factors facilitate cell invasion and promote cancer metastasis [311]. Given the importance of uPA in breast cancer progression, the main focus of this study was an investigation of the molecular mechanisms driving the overexpression of uPA in late stage breast cancer, and how to reverse the progression of breast cancer by disrupting the functions of uPA.

uPA is a serine protease that is synthesized as a single chain inactive zymogen. It is processed to a two chain HMW-uPA once it is uPAR bound, which can be further cleaved to an ATF that contains a receptor binding GFD and a proteolytically active LMW-uPA. Among the many proteases secreted by highly metastatic breast cancer cells, uPA plays a key role in provoking cancer cell invasion. In the early stage of breast cancer, uPA gene is expressed at a low level, but its expression is upregulated in late stage, highly metastatic breast cancer cells. This expression profile was observed in our *in vitro* breast cancer cell model. We chose two cell lines that represent an in vitro model for breast cancer progression. MCF-7 was developed from an early stage human mammary adenocarcinoma. This low invasive cell line expresses ER, and its growth is hormone-dependent. When examining total mRNA from MCF-7 cells, we failed to detect uPA transcripts (Fig. 2.1A), correlating to its low cell invasiveness using an in vitro Boyden chamber invasion assay (Fig. 2.1B). Another cell line MDA-MB-231 that expresses high levels of uPA (Fig. 2.1A) was chosen to represent late stage breast cancer, and is highly invasive (Fig. 2.1B). Although the mechanisms underlying uPA-enhanced breast

cancer cell invasion have been extensively investigated, relatively little is known about how the expression of uPA gene is upregulated in late stage breast cancer. Xing and coworkers in our laboratory were the first to report that uPA levels may be correlated with genome-wide DNA methylation status [22], suggesting a possible regulatory mechanism for uPA gene expression by DNA methylation. However, it was not known at the beginning of this project whether uPA gene expression is directly related to the methylation status of its promoter. If so, what are the upstream regulators that control the methylation status of the uPA gene during cancer progression? My Ph.D. project was intended to answer these questions, and to understand the molecular mechanisms involved. As discussed in chapter II, I mapped detailed cytosine methylation status of CpG island in the uPA promoter from both early and late stage breast cancer cell lines (Fig. 2.2). In MCF-7 cells, more than 90% of the cytosines of CpG dinucleotides within the uPA promoter are methylated. In contrast, only unmethylated cytosines are detected in MDA-MB-231 cells (Fig. 2.2). Given that the methylation pattern of the uPA promoter is negatively correlated with breast cancer invasiveness, and is consistent with genome-wide hypomethylation in cancer development, I further determined the molecular mechanisms underlying how DNA methylation alteration of the uPA promoter affects its expression.

Initially proposed in 1982, DNA methylation has been suggested as an epigenetic change that alters gene expression and was reviewed in chapter I, section 1.7 [543]. The proposed working model suggested that genomic DNA, especially the regulatory segments, confer different conformations before and after cytosine methylation. This change alters the accessibility of TFs that determine gene expression [544]. Various TFs are involved in the transcriptional regulation of uPA gene expression (as discussed in chapter I). Among them, the Ets family of TFs plays a pivotal role. Overexpression of Ets-1 has been correlated with the overproduction of uPA and metastasis of cancers with different origins including breast, lung and prostate cancers [82]. The role of the Ets family in the regulation of the uPA promoter has been characterized previously. It is generally believed that the binding of the Ets family of TFs to the promoter region of uPA promoter. As shown in Fig. 2.2,

both an Ets-1 binding site and its adjacent Sp1 binding motifs contain methylated CpG dinucleotides in MCF-7 cells but not in MDA-MB-231 cells. Methylation changes in CpG dinucleotide within the Ets-1 binding site may be the key to alter the binding ability of Ets-1 to the uPA promoter and thus affect its expression. Either direct blocking the interaction of Ets-1 with its response element, or indirect interfering with access of the TF complex of Ets-1 to its binding site may be responsible for these effects. Using in vitro methylation, DNA transfection and promoter luciferase assay, I directly demonstrated that the overexpression of Ets-1 resulted in dramatically enhanced promoter activity of uPA when it is unmethylated. However, this induction was abolished when the uPA promoter is methylated. These data provide direct evidence showing that methylation status determines the transcriptional capacity of the uPA promoter and therefore the accessibility of Ets-1. Given that Ets-1 is crucial to the expression of the uPA gene when it is unmethylated [39, 79, 80, 82], my work shows for the first time that the induction effect of TFs on the uPA gene is partially dependent on the cytosine methylation status of this gene. Both CpG dinucleotides residing within and away from the core binding sites of TFs may affect the accessibility of these factors to their binding motifs.

Although the theory of DNA methylation was first proposed more than a decade ago, only recently were two enzyme families, the DNMTs and DMases, identified [432, 438]. How these two enzyme families regulate the methylation status of DNA remains unknown. It has been suggested that DNMTs possess *de novo* methylase activity that converts cytosine within a CpG dinucleotide from an unmethylated to methylated nucleotide [474]. However, the methyl group on cytosine remains unstable and is constantly and actively removed by DNA DMase [474]. Therefore, maintenance activity of DNMTs is needed to preserve methylated DNA, especially following DNA replication [434, 440].

Several techniques have been developed to discern these different activities within cells, namely *de novo* methylase activity, maintenance activity and demethylase activity. *De novo* activity of DNMT catalyzes the transfer of methyl-group from its ³H-labeled methyl-donor SAM to its unmethylated DNA substrate, generating a methylated DNA from a previously unmethylated one. Maintenance

enzyme activity preserves the same methylation pattern of parental DNA after DNA replication. Once a methylated DNA undergoes replication, the two daughter strands of DNA will become hemimethylated, made up of one strand from parental methylated DNA, and another non-methylated newly synthesized strand. Therefore, maintenance DNMT activity plays a critical role for maintaining an inheritable methylation pattern of DNA. It is achieved by catalyzing the transfer of a methyl group from ³H-SAM to the hemimethylated daughter strand, and generates fully methylated DNA. Several methylase and demethylase enzyme activity assay systems have been designed based on these theories. Two sets of substrates were used in the methylase activity assays, hemimethylated oligos (^mdC-dG) to measure maintenance methylase activity, or unmethylated oligos (dC-dG) to measure de novo methylase activity. Following the incubation of a cell nuclear extract and a methyl donor with specific unmethylated substrates, total counts of ³H-CH₃ incorporation into substrates were quantitated, representing the level of *de novo* methylase activity. When hemimethylated substrates were chosen, the incorporation of ³H-CH₃ reflects the maintenance activity of DNMTs. DMase activity can also be measured using methylated or hemimethylated DNA, and results in the generation of unmethylated DNA and ³H-labeled volatile methyl residue methanol (³H-CH₃OH). In this assay, total cell nuclear extract was incubated with methylated DNA substrate (³H-methyl-DNA), and the amount of volatized ³H-CH₃OH reflects DMase enzyme activity within each cell line.

We observed that maintenance and *de novo* methylase activities are inversely in MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 cells (Fig. 2.4). These differences may reflect the dominance or the balance of different DNMTs in these cells. Our results showed that maintenance methylase activity is much higher in MCF-7 cells, where the uPA gene is hypermethylated (Fig. 2.4A). However, *de novo* methylase activity is significantly higher in MDA-MB-231 cells that contain the hypomethylated uPA gene (Fig. 2.4B). MDA-MB-231 cells with high *de novo* methylase activity and low maintenance activity fail to maintain the uPA gene in a hypermethylated state, suggesting that methylated DNA requires sufficient maintenance rather than *de novo* methylase activity to retain its proper methylation pattern. It has been proposed that the level of maintenance methylase activity could be a result of a balanced DMase and *de novo* methylase activity, and is dependent on the dominant activity present in the cells. Consistent with this hypothesis, DMase activity is much higher in MDA-MB-231 cells but low in MCF-7 cells (Fig. 2.5), and thus favors the demethylation status of the uPA promoter in MDA-MB-231 cells. Furthermore, a parallel increase of overall genomic hypomethylation and *de novo* enzyme activity has been reported in several tumors. Therefore, the high level of *de novo* activity in MDA-MB-231 cells is probably due to a negative feedback mechanism caused by decreased level of maintenance activity in this cell line. However, the relative orders of these feedback loops are poorly understood. In addition, the presence of the specific substrates of *de novo* and maintenance DNMTs can not be ruled out.

Most ER negative breast cancer cells such as MDA-MB-231 are also PR negative. About 40% of PR is hypermethylated in PR negative breast cancers. PR is an inducible gene of ER, and acts as an indicator for functional ER. ER mediated chromatin remodeling is necessary for 5-azaCdR induced demethylation of the PR gene, whereas 5-azaCdR by itself fails to induce the expression of PR in the absence of ER. Furthermore, ER can activate PR gene expression even it is hypermethylated [545]. These observations suggest that ER activates gene expression regardless of the methylation status of its response element, and may even initiate the demethylation of methylated genes containing the ER response element. If it is true, one must ask if estrogen confers the global genomic demethylation including the uPA gene in breast cancer progression. Recently, glucocorticoid receptor (GR), another nuclear receptor family member, has been reported to elicit local DNA demethylation of the tyrosine aminotransferase (Tat) gene at its -2.5kb enhancer region [546]. This provides a model to study the mechanisms of uPA gene demethylation, especially after longterm exposure to estrogen during breast cancer development. We hypothesize that estrogen is an early player in the carcinogenesis of breast cancer. A high level of estrogen during cancer development may cause changes in the chromatin of the uPAgene via an ER responsive element that resides -1.6kb upstream of its transcription initiation site, thus allowing access to complex demethylation machinery for its expression. An ER positive cell line such as MCF-7 can be used to characterize

whether estrogen has long-term effects on the demethylation and overexpression of the uPA gene.

Methylation is one of the epigenetic changes of DNA that is tightly related to histone deacetylation. Both methylation and histone deacetylation are associated with transcriptionally inactive chromatin compartments [501]. Inhibition of HDACs by TSA could modify chromatin structure, and has been suggested to reverse methylation-dependent transcriptional silencing [460, 461]. We showed here that blocking HDAC using TSA differentially regulated uPA expression in early stage MCF-7 and late stage MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells (Fig. 2.6). In the hypomethylated MDA-MB-231 cells with high uPA levels, TSA treatment further increased uPA expression (Fig. 2.6). However, in the hypermethylated MCF-7 cells, TSA failed to induce detectable uPA expression (Fig. 2.6), but demethylation agent such as 5-azaCdR can induce its gene expression. These results suggested that histone acetylation-induced uPA expression is hypomethylation-dependent. We argue that the demethylation of the *uPA* gene in combination with DNA acetylation results a more open structure in the uPA promoter, thus allowing easier access of TFs.

In breast cancer, overexpression of the uPA gene has also been attributed to a response to a number of growth factors, such as EGF, IGF-1, HGF and their tyrosine kinase receptors and oncogenic stimulation [28, 35, 39]. In the IGF-stimulated breast cancer cells, several intracellular signal transduction pathways have been proposed to play important roles in the up-regulation of uPA expression, including p44/42 MAP kinase, p38 stress kinase and PI-3K/PKB pathways [28]. Chemical inhibitors specifically targeting these pathways abolished growth factor or growth factor receptor induced uPA gene expression. The activation of these pathways enhances breast cancer progression and was closely associated with an invasive phenotype of these cells [28]. This evidence clearly argues for a role for these classical signaling pathways in the regulation of uPA overexpression and breast cancer metastasis. Interestingly, the activation of these pathways has been reported to increase the expression of the Ets family of TFs. For example, expression of Ets-2 has been shown to be upregulated by the activation of p44/42 MAP kinase, p38 kinase and PI3-K/PKB [85, 547], although the status of other members of this family such as Ets-1

remains unknown. Furthermore, the same signalings could be activated by a group of oncogenic stimuli that also control the levels of DNA methylation related enzymes as well as uPA overexpression as introduced in Chapter I. Using this information, a working model of how uPA is upregulated during breast cancer progression has now emerged and is depicted in Fig. 5.1 (model illustrate). The upregulation of uPA can be achieved through the binding of TFs such as Ets to the uPA promoter, which depends on two parameters: 1) availability and abundance of the TFs 2) chromatin structure of the uPA promoter, whether it favors the binding of these TFs. During breast cancer progression, it appears that the activation of p44/42 MAP kinase, p38 kinase and PI-3 K/PKB pathways, which are generally superactive in cancerous states, can coordinately fulfill these two requirements to ensure the overexpression of uPA either directly or indirectly.

The overexpression of uPA has been observed at the tumor cell front in highly invasive cancers such as breast cancer, prostate cancer and gastric cancer [10, 48, 237]. In breast cancer, elevated uPA levels is clearly associated with the invasiveness and poor prognosis of this malignancy [96]. Given this correlation, blocking uPA function appears to be an effective approach to reverse breast cancer metastasis. Many *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies have shown that targeting the uPA/uPAR system is sufficient to block cancer cell invasion and tumor metastasis [11]. Several approaches used so far, including the development of synthetic compounds, introduction of neutralizing antibodies against uPA and uPA antisense cDNA transfection [350, 358], showed the value of targeting the uPA system in cancer treatment. However, problems persist in the application of gene therapy to the treatment of cancer, and other approaches need be explored. Although effective in cell culture, the delivery of antisense uPA cDNA as a strategy to block uPA expression has not moved beyond the laboratory. Neutralizing antibodies did abolish cancer progression, but the levels of antibodies required generally exceeded the capacity to produce them. Synthetic compounds easily block uPA function in vitro and in vivo, for example, our laboratory previously tested B-428, a compound that targets the active site of uPA, and efficiently blocks cancer progression. However, solubility problems have made them unusable in patients. Efforts are now underway to develop highly selective

soluble uPA inhibitors that can be delivered effectively to cancer patients. Another promising approach is the development of synthetic peptides, which are generally soluble, have few side effects, and are amenable to large-scale synthesis.

In collaboration with Angstrom Inc., our laboratory studied the effects of the synthetic peptide drug Å6 in blocking the uPA/uPAR system. Å6 is one of the many peptides that were developed based on the connecting peptide region of uPA. Of which, Å6 possesses a unique activity to block tumor cell invasion and endothelial cell migration (Fig. 3.2). It was therefore chosen for further study. As discussed in chapter III, Å6 inhibits primary tumor growth and metastasis in two breast cancer animal models (Fig. 3.3). uPA can stimulate the proliferation of some mammalian cells in culture [163, 225, 231] through its GFD. However, when tested in cell culture, Å6 failed to affect the rate of breast cancer cell proliferation (Fig. 4.3), contrary to its inhibitory effects on the growth of primary tumors in vivo (Fig. 3.3 & Fig. 4.4). As introduced in Section 1.2&1.4, uPAR not only localizes the proteolytic functions of uPA at the leading edge of cell movement, but also acts as an adhesion molecule. The overall effects of uPAR are to increase the turnover rate of uPA as well as the enhancement of its activity. Since Å6 was designed based on the sequence of the connecting peptide region of uPA, which does not fall into the classical domain of uPA that interacts with uPAR [96, 108, 109], the ability of Å6 to block tumor cell invasion in vitro suggests the existence of other potential mechanisms (Fig. 3.2). Å6 inhibits the interaction between scuPA and suPAR in vitro (Fig. 3.1), suggesting that part of the biological activity of Å6 is mediated through the inhibition of uPA/uPAR interaction at a second, unidentified binding site. uPAR is also associated with PAI-1 and a number of adhesion molecules such as integrins and VN [174, 189]. The involvement of other molecules such as PAI-1, VN and integrins in vivo could be responsible for the inhibitory effect of Å6. However, the possibility that Å6 interferes with the interaction between uPA and other yet to be identified binding proteins cannot be excluded. As discussed in Section 1.2.3 of Chapter I, uPA has been reported to bind to the protein C4.4A, which shares low sequence homology with uPAR, although the exact interaction site is yet to be defined. Given that C4.4A is involved in cell invasion [140], the effects of Å6 on uPA/C4.4A interaction is a

promising candidate mechanism. It will be interesting to use this information to investigate potential partners that interact with the connecting peptide region of uPA. Studies on other molecules have provided useful references for this investigation. For example, PKC- ε is a member of serine-threonine kinase family of protein kinase C [548]. Johnson and co-workers reported an 8-residue peptide corresponding to the V1 domain of this kinase blocked the activation of PKC- ε [549], suggesting that the V1 domain of PKC- ε may interact with potential regulatory proteins. Using the V1 domain as bait, a protein called RACK (receptor for activated kinase C) was identified that regulates the activity of PKC- ε [550]. Our data from Å6 suggest a novel epitope in uPA with potential uPA binding proteins. Using a similar approach to that used in the identification of RACK, one might successfully identify these potential uPA-binding proteins. This study constitutes an independent project that is beyond the scope of this thesis.

Based on these data, it appears that Å6, but not other related peptides, can inhibit endothelial cell migration and tubular formation (unpublished observations), an effect corresponding to the inhibitory effects of Å6 on *in vivo* tumor metastasis and angiogenesis. This is probably achieved through the inhibition of tumor angiogenesis (Fig. 3.5 & 4.5) and the induction of tumor cell death by blocking expression of the VEGF receptor flk-1 and PAI-1 as well as the activation of TGF- β (Fig. 4.7, 4.8 & 4.9). In terms of the inhibitory effects on breast cancer cells by Å6, we observed a discrepancy between *in vitro* and *in vivo* results. Following administration of Å6 to breast tumor bearing mice, the growth of the primary tumors was dramatically inhibited. However, Å6 failed to suppress the proliferation of breast cancer cells in culture with a concentration up to 100 μ M (unpublished observations). Since Å6 inhibits tumor angiogenesis, we suggest that Å6 suppresses the growth of primary tumors partly by reducing the supply of blood and nutrients, which might further lead to DNA fragmentation (Fig. 3.4 & Fig. 4.6).

Tumorigenesis is a multi-step process that affects numerous cellular events. All tumors share some essential traits that characterize their malignant nature: 1) cell invasion and metastasis; 2) uncontrolled tumor growth due to various activated mitogenic stimuli or inhibited tumor cell apoptosis and 3) tumor angiogenesis [235, 236, 551]. These events are mutually dependent. Successful establishment of tumor angiogenesis requires a sufficient nutrient and oxygen supply to promote tumor growth [4, 265, 266]. Many drugs have been developed to target these steps in order to reverse the progression of cancer. For example, the anti-estrogen TAM was developed to antagonize the proliferative effects of estrogen on breast cancer cells, which also has anti-angiogenic effect [311]. Angiostatin and endostatin are used as anti-angiogenic agents to induce cancer regression [119, 289]. These agents are effective in blocking cancer progression at different stages. However, the clinical achievements of these drugs are less than satisfactory since they affect only one specific aspect of cancer progression. Compared to these drugs, Å6 is of particular interest since it has been observed to affect multiple aspects of breast cancer behavior *in vitro*. Following its injection into animals, Å6 inhibits the growth of primary tumor by inducing cancer cell death (Fig. 3.4 & 4.6) and blocking tumor angiogenesis (Fig. 3.5 & 4.5) and suppresses overall breast cancer metastasis regardless of the hormone receptor status of the breast tumors (Fig. 3.3 & Table 4.1).

Although early detection and improved treatment have begun to affect rates of breast cancer mortality, research must continue to focus on the treatment of this malignancy. Treatment generally requires multiple approaches, including mastectomy, radiation therapy, chemotherapy, endotherapy and the combination of these modalities [372]. TAM is an ER antagonist and its anti-breast cancer effects can be achieved through ER-dependent or -independent mechanisms. By binding to nuclear ER, TAM blocks the interaction between estrogen and ER, and therefore abrogates estrogen-induced gene transcription and estrogen-induced cell proliferation [11]. TAM has other anti-cancer effects that are ER-independent. For example, the effects of TAM include induction of antibody synthesis [552], inhibition of angiogenesis [553], induction of immune reaction [554] and a decrease in the production of many autocrine mitogens or protease receptors for cancer cells including EGF, IGF-1, TGFs and uPAR [11, 316]. Combination therapies using TAM and other chemotherapy agents have been reported to reduce the odds of recurrence and death in breast cancer patients [11, 542]. Breast cancer is generally a mixture of cells with multiple genetic backgrounds and consists of both high and low malignant

cancer cells [555]. The primary targets of TAM will be those low-grade cancer cells that generally express ER. During tumor progression, there is an increased population of tumor cells that have lost their sensitivity to TAM treatment, and have increased expression levels of uPA. The addition of Å6 will bridge this gap by targeting those malignant cells with high levels of uPA expression, regardless of their hormone receptor status. Therefore it is an ideal drug to block tumor progression, especially those tumors with a high invasive capacity.

In summary, DNA methylation plays an important role in the regulation of *uPA* gene expression. The lowed maintenance DNMT and increased DMase activities favor the demethylation status of the uPA gene, which result in the upregulation of uPA expression at late stage breast cancer. To block breast cancer progression, we developed a synthetic peptide, Å6. Its effects on breast cancer in animal models have been documented and include the inhibition of primary tumor growth, suppression of cancer metastasis, induction of tumor cell death and inhibition of cancer angiogenesis. The latter is probably due to the suppression of flk-1 and PAI-1 levels as well as the activity of TGF- β . When administered together, Å6 and TAM displayed synergistic effects on the suppression of breast cancer progression, rendering it a promising combination regimen for breast cancer therapy. The hypothesis that DNA methylation regulates uPA gene expression was tested in two cell lines representing different stages of breast cancer progression at this stage, in the future study, more cell lines should be tested to confirm the universal application of this observation. Eventually, in vivo study using either animal model or human cancer samples should be conducted to validate this hypothesis. Since all cancers share similarities although the nature of the biology and the genotype of each cancer vary, the development and biological characterization of Å6, may also be applied to other cancer types. Further studies are needed to fully understand the mechanisms underlying the actions of this peptide.

As a result of this study, I conclude that Å6, a synthetic peptide, is an ideal breast cancer chemotherapy agent. uPA promoter methylation status is a determinant for its expression during breast cancer progression and, will provide a new direction for cancer targeting.



Fig. 5.1. Simplified model of *uPA* gene expression regulation in cancer.

Expression of the uPA gene depends on two parameters as shown in this figure: 1) Availability and abundance of transcription factors (TFs) such as Ets for the uPA promoter. Various external stimuli (e.g. growth factors, cytokines, oncogenes, adhesion molecules, stress and carcinogen exposure etc.) have been reported to affect this parameter by activating multiple signaling pathways including p44/42 MAP kinase and PI3-K/PKB pathways. 2) Altered uPA gene structure due to DNA methylation and histone modification, which in turn determines the accessibility of the required transcription factors. Balanced activities between DNMTs (or MTases) and DMase might regulate these epigenetic changes in the uPA gene in cancer. Activation of certain signaling pathways or oncogenic transformation may alter the levels or activities of these methylation-related enzymes, and therefore determine uPA gene expression directly or indirectly.

Chapter IV

References

- Bdeir, K., J.C. Murciano, J. Tomaszewski, L. Koniaris, J. Martinez, D.B. Cines, V.R. Muzykantov, and A.A. Higazi, Urokinase mediates fibrinolysis in the pulmonary microvasculature. Blood, 2000. 96(5): p. 1820-6.
- 2. Wun, T.C., Plasminogen activation: biochemistry, physiology, and therapeutics. Crit Rev Biotechnol, 1988. 8(2): p. 131-48.
- Wang, Y., The role and regulation of urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor gene expression in cancer invasion and metastasis. Med Res Rev, 2001. 21(2): p. 146-70.
- 4. Rabbani, S.A., Metalloproteases and urokinase in angiogenesis and tumor progression. In Vivo, 1998. 12(1): p. 135-42.
- Meynard, P., Prognostic factors in breast cancer. Ann Chir Plast Esthet, 1992.
 37(6): p. 623-30.
- Andreasen, P.A., L. Kjoller, L. Christensen, and M.J. Duffy, The urokinase-type plasminogen activator system in cancer metastasis: a review. Int J Cancer, 1997. 72(1): p. 1-22.
- Schmitt, M., O. Wilhelm, F. Janicke, V. Magdolen, U. Reuning, H. Ohi, N. Moniwa, H. Kobayashi, U. Weidle, and H. Graeff, Urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) and its receptor (CD87): a new target in tumor invasion and metastasis. J Obstet Gynaecol, 1995. 21(2): p. 151-65.
- Frandsen, T.L., C. Holst-Hansen, B.S. Nielsen, I.J. Christensen, J.R. Nyengaard, P. Carmeliet, and N. Brunner, Direct evidence of the importance of stromal urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) in the growth of an experimental human breast cancer using a combined uPA gene-disrupted and immunodeficient xenograft model. Cancer Res, 2001. 61(2): p. 532-7.
- Bhat-Nakshatri, P., T.R. Newton, R. Goulet, Jr., and H. Nakshatri, NF-kappaB activation and interleukin 6 production in fibroblasts by estrogen receptornegative breast cancer cell-derived interleukin 1alpha. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1998. 95(12): p. 6971-6.
- 10. Dublin, E., A. Hanby, N.K. Patel, R. Liebman, and D. Barnes, Immunohistochemical expression of uPA, uPAR, and PAI-1 in breast

carcinoma. Fibroblastic expression has strong associations with tumor pathology. Am J Pathol, 2000. 157(4): p. 1219-27.

- 11. Xing, R.H., A. Mazar, J. Henkin, and S.A. Rabbani, Prevention of breast cancer growth, invasion, and metastasis by antiestrogen tamoxifen alone or in combination with urokinase inhibitor B-428. Cancer Res, 1997. 57(16): p. 3585-93.
- Larsson, L.I., L. Skriver, L.S. Nielsen, J. Grondahl-Hansen, P. Kristensen, and K. Dano, Distribution of urokinase-type plasminogen activator immunoreactivity in the mouse. J Cell Biol, 1984. 98(3): p. 894-903.
- 13. Schaefer, B.M., H.J. Stark, N.E. Fusenig, R.F. Todd, 3rd, and M.D. Kramer, Differential expression of urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA), its receptor (uPA-R), and inhibitor type-2 (PAI-2) during differentiation of keratinocytes in an organotypic coculture system. Exp Cell Res, 1995. 220(2): p. 415-23.
- Dano, K., P.A. Andreasen, J. Grondahl-Hansen, P. Kristensen, L.S. Nielsen, and L. Skriver, Plasminogen activators, tissue degradation, and cancer. Adv Cancer Res, 1985. 44: p. 139-266.
- 15. Verde, P., M.P. Stoppelli, P. Galeffi, P. Di Nocera, and F. Blasi, Identification and primary sequence of an unspliced human urokinase poly(A)+ RNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1984. 81(15): p. 4727-31.
- 16. Riccio, A., G. Grimaldi, P. Verde, G. Sebastio, S. Boast, and F. Blasi, The human urokinase-plasminogen activator gene and its promoter. Nucleic Acids Res, 1985. 13(8): p. 2759-71.
- 17. Cassady, A.I., K.J. Stacey, K.A. Nimmo, K.M. Murphy, D. von der Ahe, D. Pearson, F.M. Botteri, Y. Nagamine, and D.A. Hume, Constitutive expression of the urokinase plasminogen activator gene in murine RAW264 macrophages involves distal and 5' non-coding sequences that are conserved between mouse and pig. Nucleic Acids Res, 1991. 19(24): p. 6839-47.
- 18. Verde, P., S. Boast, A. Franze, F. Robbiati, and F. Blasi, An upstream enhancer and a negative element in the 5' flanking region of the human urokinase plasminogen activator gene. Nucleic Acids Res, 1988. 16(22): p. 10699-716.

- Gardiner-Garden, M. and M. Frommer, CpG islands in vertebrate genomes. J Mol Biol, 1987. 196(2): p. 261-82.
- 20. Cox, G.S., D.W. Gutkin, M.J. Haas, and D.E. Cosgrove, Isolation of an Alu repetitive DNA binding protein and effect of CpG methylation on binding to its recognition sequence. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1998. 1396(1): p. 67-87.
- 21. Hermann, R. and W. Doerfler, Interference with protein binding at AP2 sites by sequence-specific methylation in the late E2A promoter of adenovirus type 2 DNA. FEBS Lett, 1991. 281(1-2): p. 191-5.
- 22. Xing, R.H. and S.A. Rabbani, Transcriptional regulation of urokinase (uPA) gene expression in breast cancer cells: role of DNA methylation. Int J Cancer, 1999. 81(3): p. 443-50.
- 23. Nanbu, R., P.A. Menoud, and Y. Nagamine, Multiple instability-regulating sites in the 3' untranslated region of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator mRNA. Mol Cell Biol, 1994. 14(7): p. 4920-8.
- 24. Smicun, Y., E. Kopf, and R. Miskin, The 3'-untranslated region of the urokinase gene enhances the expression of chimeric genes in cultured cells and correlates with specific brain expression in transgenic mice. Eur J Biochem, 1998. 251(3): p. 704-15.
- 25. Janulis, M., S. Silberman, A. Ambegaokar, J.S. Gutkind, and R.M. Schultz, Role of mitogen-activated protein kinases and c-Jun/AP-1 trans- activating activity in the regulation of protease mRNAs and the malignant phenotype in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts. J Biol Chem, 1999. 274(2): p. 801-13.
- 26. Dumler, I., A. Kopmann, A. Weis, O.A. Mayboroda, K. Wagner, D.C. Gulba, and H. Haller, Urokinase activates the Jak/Stat signal transduction pathway in human vascular endothelial cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 1999. 19(2): p. 290-7.
- 27. Grimaldi, G., P. Di Fiore, E.K. Locatelli, J. Falco, and F. Blasi, Modulation of urokinase plasminogen activator gene expression during the transition from quiescent to proliferative state in normal mouse cells. Embo J, 1986. 5(5): p. 855-61.

- 28. Dunn, S.E., J.V. Torres, J.S. Oh, D.M. Cykert, and J.C. Barrett, Up-regulation of urokinase-type plasminogen activator by insulin-like growth factor-I depends upon phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase and mitogen- activated protein kinase kinase. Cancer Res, 2001. 61(4): p. 1367-74.
- 29. Rossi, P., P. Grimaldi, F. Blasi, R. Geremia, and P. Verde, Follicle-stimulating hormone and cyclic AMP induce transcription from the human urokinase promoter in primary cultures of mouse Sertoli cells. Mol Endocrinol, 1990. 4(6): p. 940-6.
- 30. Nusrat, A.R. and H.A. Chapman, Jr., An autocrine role for urokinase in phorbol ester-mediated differentiation of myeloid cell lines. J Clin Invest, 1991. 87(3): p. 1091-7.
- 31. Ibanez-Tallon, I., G. Caretti, F. Blasi, and M.P. Crippa, In vivo analysis of the state of the human uPA enhancer following stimulation by TPA. Oncogene, 1999. 18(18): p. 2836-45.
- 32. Festuccia, C., F. Guerra, S. D'Ascenzo, D. Giunciuglio, A. Albini, and M. Bologna, In vitro regulation of pericellular proteolysis in prostatic tumor cells treated with bombesin. Int J Cancer, 1998. 75(3): p. 418-31.
- 33. Hapke, S., H. Kessler, N. Arroyo de Prada, A. Benge, M. Schmitt, E. Lengyel, and U. Reuning, Integrin alpha(v)beta(3)/vitronectin interaction affects expression of the urokinase system in human ovarian cancer cells. J Biol Chem, 2001. 276(28): p. 26340-8.
- 34. Kondoh, N., T. Yamada, F. Kihara-Negishi, M. Yamamoto, and T. Oikawa, Enhanced expression of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator gene and reduced colony formation in soft agar by ectopic expression of PU.1 in HT1080 human fibrosarcoma cells. Br J Cancer, 1998. 78(6): p. 718-23.
- 35. Kermorgant, S., T. Aparicio, V. Dessirier, M.J. Lewin, and T. Lehy, Hepatocyte growth factor induces colonic cancer cell invasiveness via enhanced motility and protease overproduction. Evidence for PI3 kinase and PKC involvement. Carcinogenesis, 2001. 22(7): p. 1035-42.
- 36. Rorth, P., C. Nerlov, F. Blasi, and M. Johnsen, Transcription factor PEA3 participates in the induction of urokinase plasminogen activator

transcription in murine keratinocytes stimulated with epidermal growth factor or phorbol-ester. Nucleic Acids Res, 1990. 18(17): p. 5009-17.

- 37. Fowles, L.F., K.J. Stacey, D. Marks, J.A. Hamilton, and D.A. Hume, Regulation of urokinase plasminogen activator gene transcription in the RAW264 murine macrophage cell line by macrophage colony-stimulating factor (CSF-1) is dependent upon the level of cell-surface receptor. Biochem J, 2000. 347 Pt 1: p. 313-20.
- 38. Cavallaro, U., M. Tenan, V. Castelli, A. Perilli, N. Maggiano, E.G. Van Meir, R. Montesano, M.R. Soria, and M.S. Pepper, Response of bovine endothelial cells to FGF-2 and VEGF is dependent on their site of origin: Relevance to the regulation of angiogenesis. J Cell Biochem, 2001. 82(4): p. 619-33.
- 39. Kitange, G., S. Shibata, Y. Tokunaga, N. Yagi, A. Yasunaga, M. Kishikawa, and S. Naito, Ets-1 transcription factor-mediated urokinase-type plasminogen activator expression and invasion in glioma cells stimulated by serum and basic fibroblast growth factors. Lab Invest, 1999. 79(4): p. 407-16.
- 40. Zheng, J., V. Siren, and A. Vaheri, Keratinocyte growth factor enhances urokinase-type plasminogen activator activity in HPV16 DNA-immortalized human uterine exocervical epithelial cells. Eur J Cell Biol, 1996. 69(2): p. 128-34.
- 41. Kobayashi, H., M. Suzuki, Y. Tanaka, Y. Hirashima, and T. Terao, Suppression of urokinase expression and invasiveness by urinary trypsin inhibitor is mediated through inhibition of protein kinase C- and MEK/ERK/c-Jundependent signaling pathways. J Biol Chem, 2001. 276(3): p. 2015-22.
- 42. Ried, S., C. Jager, M. Jeffers, G.F. Vande Woude, H. Graeff, M. Schmitt, and E. Lengyel, Activation mechanisms of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator promoter by hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor. J Biol Chem, 1999. 274(23): p. 16377-86.
- 43. Mira, Y.L.R., S. Jaramillo, and Y. Jing, Synergistic transcriptional activation of the mouse urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) gene and of its enhancer activator protein 1 (AP1) site by cAMP and retinoic acid. Biochem J, 1998. 331(Pt 3): p. 909-16.

- 44. Miralles, F., M. Parra, C. Caelles, Y. Nagamine, J. Felez, and P. Munoz-Canoves, UV irradiation induces the murine urokinase-type plasminogen activator gene via the c-Jun N-terminal kinase signaling pathway: requirement of an AP1 enhancer element. Mol Cell Biol, 1998. 18(8): p. 4537-47.
- 45. Reifel-Miller, A.E., D.M. Conarty, K.M. Valasek, P.W. Iversen, D.J. Burns, and K.A. Birch, Protein kinase C isozymes differentially regulate promoters containing PEA-3/12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate response element motifs. J Biol Chem, 1996. 271(35): p. 21666-71.
- 46. Nomura, N., K. Niiya, M. Shinbo, T. Ozawa, Y. Hayakawa, K. Higashiyama, M. Fujimaki, and N. Sakuragawa, Inhibitory effect of a synthetic prostacyclin analogue, beraprost, on urokinase-type plasminogen activator expression in RC-K8 human lymphoma cells. Thromb Haemost, 1996. 75(6): p. 928-32.
- 47. Mira-y-Lopez, R., S. Jaramillo, and S. Waxman, Redundant regulation of urokinase plasminogen activator transcription by the two major isozymes of cAMP-dependent protein kinase. J Biol Chem, 1992. 267(32): p. 23063-8.
- 48. Allgayer, H., R. Babic, K.U. Gruetzner, A. Tarabichi, F.W. Schildberg, and M.M. Heiss, c-erbB-2 is of independent prognostic relevance in gastric cancer and is associated with the expression of tumor-associated protease systems. J Clin Oncol, 2000. 18(11): p. 2201-9.
- 49. Bell, S.M., D.C. Connolly, N.J. Maihle, and J.L. Degen, Differential modulation of plasminogen activator gene expression by oncogene-encoded protein tyrosine kinases. Mol Cell Biol, 1993. 13(9): p. 5888-97.
- 50. Adam, L., A. Mazumdar, T. Sharma, T.R. Jones, and R. Kumar, A threedimensional and temporo-spatial model to study invasiveness of cancer cells by heregulin and prostaglandin E2. Cancer Res, 2001. 61(1): p. 81-7.
- 51. Mazumdar, A., L. Adam, D. Boyd, and R. Kumar, Heregulin regulation of urokinase plasminogen activator and its receptor: human breast epithelial cell invasion. Cancer Res, 2001. 61(1): p. 400-5.
- 52. Pustilnik, T.B., V. Estrella, J.R. Wiener, M. Mao, A. Eder, M.A. Watt, R.C. Bast, Jr., and G.B. Mills, Lysophosphatidic acid induces urokinase secretion by ovarian cancer cells. Clin Cancer Res, 1999. 5(11): p. 3704-10.

- 53. Pei, X.H., Y. Nakanishi, K. Takayama, F. Bai, M. Kawasaki, and N. Hara, G-CSF increases secretion of urokinase-type plasminogen activator by human lung cancer cells. Clin Exp Metastasis, 1998. 16(6): p. 551-8.
- 54. Zhang, X., M.A. Shu, H.E. Ross, and T.G. Kennedy, Regulation of plasminogen activator in rat endometrial stromal cells: the role of prostaglandin E2. Biol Reprod, 1996. 54(5): p. 1046-51.
- 55. Huang, S., L. New, Z. Pan, J. Han, and G.R. Nemerow, Urokinase plasminogen activator/urokinase-specific surface receptor expression and matrix invasion by breast cancer cells requires constitutive p38alpha mitogen-activated protein kinase activity. J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(16): p. 12266-72.
- 56. Urtreger, A.J., J.A. Aguirre Ghiso, S.E. Werbajh, L.I. Puricelli, A.F. Muro, and E. Bal de Kier Joff, Involvement of fibronectin in the regulation of urokinase production and binding in murine mammary tumor cells. Int J Cancer, 1999. 82(5): p. 748-53.
- 57. Ossowski, L., J. Aguirre Ghiso, D. Liu, W. Yu, and K. Kovalski, The role of plasminogen activator receptor in cancer invasion and dormancy. Medicina (B Aires), 1999. 59(5): p. 547-52.
- 58. Hiroumi, H., H. Dosaka-Akita, K. Yoshida, M. Shindoh, T. Ohbuchi, K. Fujinaga, and M. Nishimura, Expression of E1AF/PEA3, an Ets-related transcription factor in human non-small-cell lung cancers: its relevance in cell motility and invasion. Int J Cancer, 2001. 93(6): p. 786-91.
- 59. Menoud, P.A., R. Matthies, J. Hofsteenge, and Y. Nagamine, Purification and cDNA cloning of a transcription factor which functionally cooperates within a cAMP regulatory unit in the porcine uPA gene. Nucleic Acids Res, 1993. 21(8): p. 1845-52.
- 60. Cirillo, G., L. Casalino, D. Vallone, A. Caracciolo, D. De Cesare, and P. Verde, Role of distinct mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways and cooperation between Ets-2, ATF-2, and Jun family members in human urokinase-type plasminogen activator gene induction by interleukin-1 and tetradecanoyl phorbol acetate. Mol Cell Biol, 1999. 19(9): p. 6240-52.

- 61. D'Orazio, D., D. Besser, R. Marksitzer, C. Kunz, D.A. Hume, B. Kiefer, and Y. Nagamine, Cooperation of two PEA3/AP1 sites in uPA gene induction by TPA and FGF- 2. Gene, 1997. 201(1-2): p. 179-87.
- 62. De Cesare, D., D. Vallone, A. Caracciolo, P. Sassone-Corsi, C. Nerlov, and P. Verde, Heterodimerization of c-Jun with ATF-2 and c-Fos is required for positive and negative regulation of the human urokinase enhancer. Oncogene, 1995. 11(2): p. 365-76.
- 63. Lee, J.S., B. Favre, B.A. Hemmings, B. Kiefer, and Y. Nagamine, Okadaic aciddependent induction of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator gene associated with stabilization and autoregulation of c- Jun. J Biol Chem, 1994. 269(4): p. 2887-94.
- 64. Lee, J.S., D. von der Ahe, B. Kiefer, and Y. Nagamine, Cytoskeletal reorganization and TPA differently modify AP-1 to induce the urokinasetype plasminogen activator gene in LLC-PK1 cells. Nucleic Acids Res, 1993. 21(15): p. 3365-72.
- 65. Miralles, F., I. Ibanez-Tallon, M. Parra, M. Crippa, F. Blasi, D. Besser, Y. Nagamine, and P. Munoz-Canoves, Transcriptional regulation of the murine urokinase-type plasminogen activator gene in skeletal myoblasts. Thromb Haemost, 1999. 81(5): p. 767-74.
- 66. Irigoyen, J.P. and Y. Nagamine, Cytoskeletal reorganization leads to induction of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator gene by activating FAK and Src and subsequently the Ras/Erk signaling pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1999. 262(3): p. 666-70.
- 67. Irigoyen, J.P., D. Besser, and Y. Nagamine, Cytoskeleton reorganization induces the urokinase-type plasminogen activator gene via the Ras/extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) signaling pathway. J Biol Chem, 1997. 272(3): p. 1904-9.
- 68. Besser, D., M. Urich, M. Sakaue, A. Messerschmitt, K. Ballmer-Hofer, and Y. Nagamine, Urokinase-type plasminogen activator gene regulation by polyomavirus middle-T antigen. Oncogene, 1995. 11(11): p. 2383-91.

- 69. De Cesare, D., M. Palazzolo, and F. Blasi, Functional characterization of COM, a DNA region required for cooperation between AP-1 sites in urokinase gene transcription. Oncogene, 1996. 13(12): p. 2551-62.
- 70. Chen, C., Y. Xie, M.A. Stevenson, P.E. Auron, and S.K. Calderwood, Heat shock factor 1 represses Ras-induced transcriptional activation of the c-fos gene. J Biol Chem, 1997. 272(43): p. 26803-6.
- 71. Schorpp-Kistner, M., Z.Q. Wang, P. Angel, and E.F. Wagner, JunB is essential for mammalian placentation. Embo J, 1999. 18(4): p. 934-48.
- 72. Gavrilov, D., O. Kenzior, M. Evans, R. Calaluce, and W.R. Folk, Expression of urokinase plasminogen activator and receptor in conjunction with the ets family and AP-1 complex transcription factors in high grade prostate cancers. Eur J Cancer, 2001. 37(8): p. 1033-40.
- 73. Jankowski, J.M. and G.H. Dixon, The GC box as a silencer. Biosci Rep, 1987.
 7(12): p. 955-63.
- 74. Jones, K.A. and R. Tjian, Sp1 binds to promoter sequences and activates herpes simplex virus 'immediate-early' gene transcription in vitro. Nature, 1985. 317(6033): p. 179-82.
- 75. Suzuki, Y., J. Shimada, K. Shudo, M. Matsumura, M.P. Crippa, and S. Kojima, Physical interaction between retinoic acid receptor and Sp1: mechanism for induction of urokinase by retinoic acid. Blood, 1999. 93(12): p. 4264-76.
- 76. Mira-y-Lopez, R., Retinoic acid priming potentiates the induction of urokinase-type plasminogen activator by cyclic adenosine monophosphate in mouse mammary carcinoma cells. J Cell Physiol, 1991. 147(1): p. 46-54.
- 77. Kojima, S., S. Hayashi, K. Shimokado, Y. Suzuki, J. Shimada, M.P. Crippa, and S.L. Friedman, Transcriptional activation of urokinase by the Kruppel-like factor Zf9/COPEB activates latent TGF-beta1 in vascular endothelial cells. Blood, 2000. 95(4): p. 1309-16.
- 78. Trojanowska, M., Ets factors and regulation of the extracellular matrix. Oncogene, 2000. 19(55): p. 6464-71.
- 79. Watabe, T., K. Yoshida, M. Shindoh, M. Kaya, K. Fujikawa, H. Sato, M. Seiki, S. Ishii, and K. Fujinaga, The Ets-1 and Ets-2 transcription factors activate the

promoters for invasion-associated urokinase and collagenase genes in response to epidermal growth factor. Int J Cancer, 1998. 77(1): p. 128-37.

- 80. Naito, S., K. Shimizu, M. Nakashima, T. Nakayama, T. Ito, M. Ito, S. Yamashita, and I. Sekine, Overexpression of Ets-1 transcription factor in angiosarcoma of the skin. Pathol Res Pract, 2000. 196(2): p. 103-9.
- 81. Vandenbunder, B., C. Queva, X. Desbiens, N. Wernert, and D. Stehelin, Expression of the transcription factor c-Ets1 correlates with the occurrence of invasive processes during normal and pathological development. Invasion Metastasis, 1994. 14(1-6): p. 198-209.
- 82. Nakada, M., J. Yamashita, Y. Okada, and H. Sato, Ets-1 positively regulates expression of urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) and invasiveness of astrocytic tumors. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol, 1999. 58(4): p. 329-34.
- 83. Patton, S.E., M.L. Martin, L.L. Nelsen, X. Fang, G.B. Mills, R.C. Bast, Jr., and M.C. Ostrowski, Activation of the ras-mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway and phosphorylation of ets-2 at position threonine 72 in human ovarian cancer cell lines. Cancer Res, 1998. 58(10): p. 2253-9.
- 84. Calmels, T.P., V. Mattot, N. Wernert, B. Vandenbunder, and D. Stehelin, Invasive tumors induce c-ets1 transcription factor expression in adjacent stroma. Biol Cell, 1995. 84(1-2): p. 53-61.
- 85. Fowles, L.F., M.L. Martin, L. Nelsen, K.J. Stacey, D. Redd, Y.M. Clark, Y. Nagamine, M. McMahon, D.A. Hume, and M.C. Ostrowski, Persistent activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases p42 and p44 and ets-2 phosphorylation in response to colony-stimulating factor 1/c- fms signaling. Mol Cell Biol, 1998. 18(9): p. 5148-56.
- 86. Trojanowska, M., E.C. LeRoy, B. Eckes, and T. Krieg, Pathogenesis of fibrosis: type 1 collagen and the skin. J Mol Med, 1998. 76(3-4): p. 266-74.
- 87. Basuyaux, J.P., E. Ferreira, D. Stehelin, and G. Buttice, The Ets transcription factors interact with each other and with the c- Fos/c-Jun complex via distinct protein domains in a DNA-dependent and - independent manner. J Biol Chem, 1997. 272(42): p. 26188-95.

- 88. Huet, X., J. Rech, A. Plet, A. Vie, and J.M. Blanchard, Cyclin A expression is under negative transcriptional control during the cell cycle. Mol Cell Biol, 1996. 16(7): p. 3789-98.
- 89. Koziczak, M., W. Krek, and Y. Nagamine, Pocket protein-independent repression of urokinase-type plasminogen activator and plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 gene expression by E2F1. Mol Cell Biol, 2000. 20(6): p. 2014-22.
- 90. Novak, U., L. Paradiso, and J.A. Hamilton, Regulation of the urokinase gene by the retinoblastoma protein. DNA Cell Biol, 1994. 13(11): p. 1063-9.
- 91. Robertson, K.D., S. Ait-Si-Ali, T. Yokochi, P.A. Wade, P.L. Jones, and A.P. Wolffe, DNMT1 forms a complex with Rb, E2F1 and HDAC1 and represses transcription from E2F-responsive promoters. Nat Genet, 2000. 25(3): p. 338-42.
- 92. Reuning, U., L. Guerrini, T. Nishiguchi, S. Page, H. Seibold, V. Magdolen, H. Graeff, and M. Schmitt, Rel transcription factors contribute to elevated urokinase expression in human ovarian carcinoma cells. Eur J Biochem, 1999. 259(1-2): p. 143-8.
- 93. Novak, U., B.G. Cocks, and J.A. Hamilton, A labile repressor acts through the NFkB-like binding sites of the human urokinase gene. Nucleic Acids Res, 1991. 19(12): p. 3389-93.
- 94. Wang, W., J.L. Abbruzzese, D.B. Evans, and P.J. Chiao, Overexpression of urokinase-type plasminogen activator in pancreatic adenocarcinoma is regulated by constitutively activated RelA. Oncogene, 1999. 18(32): p. 4554-63.
- 95. Hansen, S.K., C. Nerlov, U. Zabel, P. Verde, M. Johnsen, P.A. Baeuerle, and F. Blasi, A novel complex between the p65 subunit of NF-kappa B and c-Rel binds to a DNA element involved in the phorbol ester induction of the human urokinase gene. Embo J, 1992. 11(1): p. 205-13.
- 96. Schmitt, M., L. Goretzki, F. Janicke, J. Calvete, M. Eulitz, H. Kobayashi, N. Chucholowski, and H. Graeff, Biological and clinical relevance of the

urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) in breast cancer. Biomed Biochim Acta, 1991. 50(4-6): p. 731-41.

- 97. Quigley, J.P., M.B. Berkenpas, R.T. Aimes, and J.M. Chen, Serine protease and metallo protease cascade systems involved in pericellular proteolysis. Cell Differ Dev, 1990. 32(3): p. 263-75.
- 98. Estreicher, A., A. Wohlwend, D. Belin, W.D. Schleuning, and J.D. Vassalli, Characterization of the cellular binding site for the urokinase-type plasminogen activator. J Biol Chem, 1989. 264(2): p. 1180-9.
- 99. Blasi, F., uPA, uPAR, PAI-1: key intersection of proteolytic, adhesive and chemotactic highways? Immunol Today, 1997. 18(9): p. 415-7.
- 100. Cubellis, M.V., M.L. Nolli, G. Cassani, and F. Blasi, Binding of single-chain prourokinase to the urokinase receptor of human U937 cells. J Biol Chem, 1986. 261(34): p. 15819-22.
- 101. List, K., O.N. Jensen, T.H. Bugge, L.R. Lund, M. Ploug, K. Dano, and N. Behrendt, Plasminogen-independent initiation of the pro-urokinase activation cascade in vivo. Activation of pro-urokinase by glandular kallikrein (mGK-6) in plasminogen-deficient mice. Biochemistry, 2000. 39(3): p. 508-15.
- 102. Yoshida, E., S. Ohmura, M. Sugiki, M. Maruyama, and H. Mihara, Prostatespecific antigen activates single-chain urokinase-type plasminogen activator. Int J Cancer, 1995. 63(6): p. 863-5.
- Brunner, G., M.M. Simon, and M.D. Kramer, Activation of pro-urokinase by the human T cell-associated serine proteinase HuTSP-1. FEBS Lett, 1990. 260(1): p. 141-4.
- 104. Koivunen, E., M.L. Huhtala, and U.H. Stenman, Human ovarian tumorassociated trypsin. Its purification and characterization from mucinous cyst fluid and identification as an activator of pro-urokinase. J Biol Chem, 1989. 264(24): p. 14095-9.
- Ichinose, A., K. Fujikawa, and T. Suyama, The activation of pro-urokinase by plasma kallikrein and its inactivation by thrombin. J Biol Chem, 1986. 261(8): p. 3486-9.

- 106. Stoppelli, M.P., A. Corti, A. Soffientini, G. Cassani, F. Blasi, and R.K. Assoian, Differentiation-enhanced binding of the amino-terminal fragment of human urokinase plasminogen activator to a specific receptor on U937 monocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1985. 82(15): p. 4939-43.
- 107. Li, C., J.N. Liu, and V. Gurewich, Urokinase-type plasminogen activatorinduced monocyte adhesion requires a carboxyl-terminal lysine and cAMPdependent signal transduction. J Biol Chem, 1995. 270(51): p. 30282-5.
- Rabbani, S.A., A.P. Mazar, S.M. Bernier, M. Haq, I. Bolivar, J. Henkin, and
 D. Goltzman, Structural requirements for the growth factor activity of the amino- terminal domain of urokinase. J Biol Chem, 1992. 267(20): p. 14151-6.
- 109. Corti, A., E. Sarubbi, A. Soffientini, M.L. Nolli, A. Zanni, M. Galimberti, F. Parenti, and G. Cassani, Epitope mapping of the anti-urokinase monoclonal antibody 5B4 by isolated domains of urokinase. Thromb Haemost, 1989. 62(3): p. 934-9.
- 110. Blasi, F., J.D. Vassalli, and K. Dano, Urokinase-type plasminogen activator: proenzyme, receptor, and inhibitors. J Cell Biol, 1987. 104(4): p. 801-4.
- 111. Hearing, V.J., L.W. Law, A. Corti, E. Appella, and F. Blasi, Modulation of metastatic potential by cell surface urokinase of murine melanoma cells. Cancer Res, 1988. 48(5): p. 1270-8.
- 112. Mignatti, P. and D.B. Rifkin, Biology and biochemistry of proteinases in tumor invasion. Physiol Rev, 1993. 73(1): p. 161-95.
- 113. Plow, E.F., D.E. Freaney, J. Plescia, and L.A. Miles, The plasminogen system and cell surfaces: evidence for plasminogen and urokinase receptors on the same cell type. J Cell Biol, 1986. 103(6 Pt 1): p. 2411-20.
- 114. Higazi, A.A., K. Bdeir, E. Hiss, S. Arad, A. Kuo, I. Barghouti, and D.B. Cines, Lysis of plasma clots by urokinase-soluble urokinase receptor complexes. Blood, 1998. 92(6): p. 2075-83.
- 115. Matrisian, L.M., The matrix-degrading metalloproteinases. Bioessays, 1992. 14(7): p. 455-63.

- 116. Patterson, B.C. and Q.A. Sang, Angiostatin-converting enzyme activities of human matrilysin (MMP-7) and gelatinase B/type IV collagenase (MMP-9). J Biol Chem, 1997. 272(46): p. 28823-5.
- 117. Gately, S., P. Twardowski, M.S. Stack, D.L. Cundiff, D. Grella, F.J. Castellino, J. Enghild, H.C. Kwaan, F. Lee, R.A. Kramer, O. Volpert, N. Bouck, and G.A. Soff, The mechanism of cancer-mediated conversion of plasminogen to the angiogenesis inhibitor angiostatin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1997. 94(20): p. 10868-72.
- O'Mahony, C.A., A. Seidel, D. Albo, H. Chang, G.P. Tuszynski, and D.H. Berger, Angiostatin generation by human pancreatic cancer. J Surg Res, 1998. 77(1): p. 55-8.
- 119. O'Reilly, M.S., L. Holmgren, Y. Shing, C. Chen, R.A. Rosenthal, M. Moses, W.S. Lane, Y. Cao, E.H. Sage, and J. Folkman, Angiostatin: a novel angiogenesis inhibitor that mediates the suppression of metastases by a Lewis lung carcinoma. Cell, 1994. 79(2): p. 315-28.
- 120. Vassalli, J.D., D. Baccino, and D. Belin, A cellular binding site for the Mr 55,000 form of the human plasminogen activator, urokinase. J Cell Biol, 1985. 100(1): p. 86-92.
- 121. Roldan, A.L., M.V. Cubellis, M.T. Masucci, N. Behrendt, L.R. Lund, K. Dano, E. Appella, and F. Blasi, Cloning and expression of the receptor for human urokinase plasminogen activator, a central molecule in cell surface, plasmin dependent proteolysis. Embo J, 1990. 9(2): p. 467-74.
- 122. Soravia, E., A. Grebe, P. De Luca, K. Helin, T.T. Suh, J.L. Degen, and F. Blasi, A conserved TATA-less proximal promoter drives basal transcription from the urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor gene. Blood, 1995. 86(2): p. 624-35.
- 123. Zannetti, A., S. Del Vecchio, M.V. Carriero, R. Fonti, P. Franco, G. Botti, G. D'Aiuto, M.P. Stoppelli, and M. Salvatore, Coordinate up-regulation of Sp1 DNA-binding activity and urokinase receptor expression in breast carcinoma. Cancer Res, 2000. 60(6): p. 1546-51.

- 124. Andreasen, P.A., R. Egelund, and H.H. Petersen, The plasminogen activation system in tumor growth, invasion, and metastasis. Cell Mol Life Sci, 2000. 57(1): p. 25-40.
- 125. Washington, R.A., B. Becher, R. Balabanov, J. Antel, and P. Dore-Duffy, Expression of the activation marker urokinase plasminogen-activator receptor in cultured human central nervous system microglia. J Neurosci Res, 1996. 45(4): p. 392-9.
- 126. Ganne, F., M. Vasse, J.L. Beaudeux, J. Peynet, A. Francois, J. Paysant, B. Lenormand, J.P. Collet, J.P. Vannier, J. Soria, and C. Soria, Increased expression of u-PA and u-PAR on monocytes by LDL and Lp(a) lipoproteins--consequences for plasmin generation and monocyte adhesion. Thromb Haemost, 1999. 81(4): p. 594-600.
- 127. Lund, L.R., V. Ellis, E. Ronne, C. Pyke, and K. Dano, Transcriptional and post-transcriptional regulation of the receptor for urokinase-type plasminogen activator by cytokines and tumour promoters in the human lung carcinoma cell line A549. Biochem J, 1995. 310(Pt 1): p. 345-52.
- Shetty, S. and S. Idell, Urokinase induces expression of its own receptor in Beas2B lung epithelial cells. J Biol Chem, 2001. 276(27): p. 24549-56.
- 129. Behrendt, N., E. Ronne, M. Ploug, T. Petri, D. Lober, L.S. Nielsen, W.D. Schleuning, F. Blasi, E. Appella, and K. Dano, The human receptor for urokinase plasminogen activator. NH2-terminal amino acid sequence and glycosylation variants. J Biol Chem, 1990. 265(11): p. 6453-60.
- 130. Nielsen, L.S., G.M. Kellerman, N. Behrendt, R. Picone, K. Dano, and F. Blasi, A 55,000-60,000 Mr receptor protein for urokinase-type plasminogen activator. Identification in human tumor cell lines and partial purification. J Biol Chem, 1988. 263(5): p. 2358-63.
- 131. Ploug, M., E. Ronne, N. Behrendt, A.L. Jensen, F. Blasi, and K. Dano, Cellular receptor for urokinase plasminogen activator. Carboxyl- terminal processing and membrane anchoring by glycosyl- phosphatidylinositol. J Biol Chem, 1991. 266(3): p. 1926-33.

- 132. Resnati, M., M. Guttinger, S. Valcamonica, N. Sidenius, F. Blasi, and F. Fazioli, Proteolytic cleavage of the urokinase receptor substitutes for the agonist-induced chemotactic effect. Embo J, 1996. 15(7): p. 1572-82.
- Lau, H.K. and M. Kim, Soluble urokinase receptor from fibrosarcoma HT-1080 cells. Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis, 1994. 5(4): p. 473-8.
- 134. Wahlberg, K., G. Hoyer-Hansen, and B. Casslen, Soluble receptor for urokinase plasminogen activator in both full- length and a cleaved form is present in high concentration in cystic fluid from ovarian cancer. Cancer Res, 1998. 58(15): p. 3294-8.
- 135. Rabbani, S.A., N. Rajwans, A. Achbarou, K.K. Murthy, and D. Goltzman, Isolation and characterization of multiple isoforms of the rat urokinase receptor in osteoblasts. FEBS Lett, 1994. 338(1): p. 69-74.
- 136. Pyke, C., J. Eriksen, H. Solberg, B.S. Nielsen, P. Kristensen, L.R. Lund, and K. Dano, An alternatively spliced variant of mRNA for the human receptor for urokinase plasminogen activator. FEBS Lett, 1993. 326(1-3): p. 69-74.
- 137. Kristensen, P., J. Eriksen, F. Blasi, and K. Dano, Two alternatively spliced mouse urokinase receptor mRNAs with different histological localization in the gastrointestinal tract. J Cell Biol, 1991. 115(6): p. 1763-71.
- 138. Hoyer-Hansen, G., M. Ploug, N. Behrendt, E. Ronne, and K. Dano, Cellsurface acceleration of urokinase-catalyzed receptor cleavage. Eur J Biochem, 1997. 243(1-2): p. 21-6.
- Hoyer-Hansen, G., E. Ronne, H. Solberg, N. Behrendt, M. Ploug, L.R. Lund, V. Ellis, and K. Dano, Urokinase plasminogen activator cleaves its cell surface receptor releasing the ligand-binding domain. J Biol Chem, 1992. 267(25): p. 18224-9.
- 140. Rosel, M., C. Claas, S. Seiter, M. Herlevsen, and M. Zoller, Cloning and functional characterization of a new phosphatidyl-inositol anchored molecule of a metastasizing rat pancreatic tumor. Oncogene, 1998. 17(15): p. 1989-2002.
- 141. Thorsen, S., M. Philips, J. Selmer, I. Lecander, and B. Astedt, Kinetics of inhibition of tissue-type and urokinase-type plasminogen activator by

plasminogen-activator inhibitor type 1 and type 2. Eur J Biochem, 1988. 175(1): p. 33-9.

- 142. McGowen, R., H. Biliran, Jr., R. Sager, and S. Sheng, The surface of prostate carcinoma DU145 cells mediates the inhibition of urokinase-type plasminogen activator by maspin. Cancer Res, 2000. 60(17): p. 4771-8.
- 143. Webb, D.J., A.M. Weaver, T.L. Atkins-Brady, and S.L. Gonias, Proteinases are isoform-specific regulators of the binding of transforming growth factor beta to alpha 2-macroglobulin. Biochem J, 1996. 320(Pt 2): p. 551-5.
- 144. Ellis, V., T.C. Wun, N. Behrendt, E. Ronne, and K. Dano, Inhibition of receptor-bound urokinase by plasminogen-activator inhibitors. J Biol Chem, 1990. 265(17): p. 9904-8.
- 145. Higazi, A.A., A. Mazar, J. Wang, R. Reilly, J. Henkin, D. Kniss, and D. Cines, Single-chain urokinase-type plasminogen activator bound to its receptor is relatively resistant to plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1. Blood, 1996. 87(9): p. 3545-9.
- 146. Cubellis, M.V., T.C. Wun, and F. Blasi, Receptor-mediated internalization and degradation of urokinase is caused by its specific inhibitor PAI-1. Embo J, 1990. 9(4): p. 1079-85.
- 147. Conese, M., U. Cavallaro, N. Sidenius, D. Olson, M.R. Soria, and F. Blasi, PMA-induced down-regulation of the receptor for alpha 2-macroglobulin in human U937 cells. FEBS Lett, 1995. 358(1): p. 73-8.
- 148. Andreasen, P.A., L. Sottrup-Jensen, L. Kjoller, A. Nykjaer, S.K. Moestrup, C.M. Petersen, and J. Gliemann, Receptor-mediated endocytosis of plasminogen activators and activator/inhibitor complexes. FEBS Lett, 1994. 338(3): p. 239-45.
- 149. Nykjaer, A., M. Conese, E.I. Christensen, D. Olson, O. Cremona, J. Gliemann, and F. Blasi, Recycling of the urokinase receptor upon internalization of the uPA:serpin complexes. Embo J, 1997. 16(10): p. 2610-20.
- 150. Hussaini, I.M., M.D. Brown, A.M. Weaver, J. Carpenter, L.R. Karns, S.R. Vandenberg, and S.L. Gonias, Stable antisense RNA expression neutralizes the

activity of low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein and promotes urokinase accumulation in the medium of an astrocytic tumor cell line. Antisense Nucleic Acid Drug Dev, 1999. 9(2): p. 183-90.

- 151. Engelholm, L.H., B.S. Nielsen, K. Dano, and N. Behrendt, The urokinase receptor associated protein (uPARAP/endo180): a novel internalization receptor connected to the plasminogen activation system. Trends Cardiovasc Med, 2001. 11(1): p. 7-13.
- 152. Rougier, J.P., S. Guia, J. Hagege, G. Nguyen, and P.M. Ronco, PAI-1 secretion and matrix deposition in human peritoneal mesothelial cell cultures: transcriptional regulation by TGF-beta 1. Kidney Int, 1998. 54(1): p. 87-98.
- 153. Albo, D., D.H. Berger, J. Vogel, and G.P. Tuszynski, Thrombospondin-1 and transforming growth factor beta-1 upregulate plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 in pancreatic cancer. J Gastrointest Surg, 1999. 3(4): p. 411-7.
- 154. Fujimoto, J., M. Hori, S. Ichigo, and T. Tamaya, Sex steroids regulate the expression of plasminogen activator inhibitor- 1 (PAI-1) and its mRNA in uterine endometrial cancer cell line Ishikawa. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 1996. 59(1): p. 1-8.
- 155. Pinsky, D.J., H. Liao, C.A. Lawson, S.F. Yan, J. Chen, P. Carmeliet, D.J. Loskutoff, and D.M. Stern, Coordinated induction of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) and inhibition of plasminogen activator gene expression by hypoxia promotes pulmonary vascular fibrin deposition. J Clin Invest, 1998. 102(5): p. 919-28.
- 156. Lucas, A., E. Dai, L. Liu, H. Guan, P. Nash, G. McFadden, and L. Miller, Transplant vasculopathy: viral anti-inflammatory serpin regulation of atherogenesis. J Heart Lung Transplant, 2000. 19(11): p. 1029-38.
- 157. Turner, P.C., M.T. Baquero, S. Yuan, S.R. Thoennes, and R.W. Moyer, The cowpox virus serpin SPI-3 complexes with and inhibits urokinase- type and tissue-type plasminogen activators and plasmin. Virology, 2000. 272(2): p. 267-80.

- 158. Shetty, S. and S. Idell, Posttranscriptional regulation of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in human lung carcinoma cells in vitro. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol, 2000. 278(1): p. L148-56.
- 159. Mikolajczyk, S.D., L.S. Millar, A. Kumar, and M.S. Saedi, Prostatic human kallikrein 2 inactivates and complexes with plasminogen activator inhibitor1. Int J Cancer, 1999. 81(3): p. 438-42.
- 160. Zhou, A., X. Jiang, F. Dou, D. Zhu, and X. Xu, Renaturation, purification, and characterization of human plasminogen activator inhibitor type 2 (PAI-2) accumulated at high level in Escherichia coli. J Biochem (Tokyo), 1997. 121(5): p. 930-4.
- 161. Bianchi, E., E. Ferrero, F. Fazioli, F. Mangili, J. Wang, J.R. Bender, F. Blasi, and R. Pardi, Integrin-dependent induction of functional urokinase receptors in primary T lymphocytes. J Clin Invest, 1996. 98(5): p. 1133-41.
- 162. Poliakov, A., V. Tkachuk, T. Ovchinnikova, N. Potapenko, S. Bagryantsev, and V. Stepanova, Plasmin-dependent elimination of the growth-factor-like domain in urokinase causes its rapid cellular uptake and degradation. Biochem J, 2001. 355(Pt 3): p. 639-45.
- 163. Appella, E., E.A. Robinson, S.J. Ullrich, M.P. Stoppelli, A. Corti, G. Cassani, and F. Blasi, The receptor-binding sequence of urokinase. A biological function for the growth-factor module of proteases. J Biol Chem, 1987. 262(10): p. 4437-40.
- 164. Petersen, L.C., L.R. Lund, L.S. Nielsen, K. Dano, and L. Skriver, One-chain urokinase-type plasminogen activator from human sarcoma cells is a proenzyme with little or no intrinsic activity. J Biol Chem, 1988. 263(23): p. 11189-95.
- 165. Ploug, M., Identification of specific sites involved in ligand binding by photoaffinity labeling of the receptor for the urokinase-type plasminogen activator. Residues located at equivalent positions in uPAR domains I and III participate in the assembly of a composite ligand- binding site. Biochemistry, 1998. 37(47): p. 16494-505.

- Pollanen, J.J., The N-terminal domain of human urokinase receptor contains two distinct regions critical for ligand recognition. Blood, 1993.
 82(9): p. 2719-29.
- 167. Ploug, M., H. Rahbek-Nielsen, V. Ellis, P. Roepstorff, and K. Dano, Chemical modification of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator and its receptor using tetranitromethane. Evidence for the involvement of specific tyrosine residues in both molecules during receptor-ligand interaction. Biochemistry, 1995. 34(39): p. 12524-34.
- Myohanen, H.T., R.W. Stephens, K. Hedman, H. Tapiovaara, E. Ronne, G. Hoyer-Hansen, K. Dano, and A. Vaheri, Distribution and lateral mobility of the urokinase-receptor complex at the cell surface. J Histochem Cytochem, 1993. 41(9): p. 1291-301.
- 169. Mignatti, P. and D.B. Rifkin, Plasminogen activators and matrix metalloproteinases in angiogenesis. Enzyme Protein, 1996. 49(1-3): p. 117-37.
- Naldini, L., E. Vigna, A. Bardelli, A. Follenzi, F. Galimi, and P.M. Comoglio,
 Biological activation of pro-HGF (hepatocyte growth factor) by urokinase is
 controlled by a stoichiometric reaction. J Biol Chem, 1995. 270(2): p. 603-11.
- 171. Michi, Y., I. Morita, T. Amagasa, and S. Murota, Human oral squamous cell carcinoma cell lines promote angiogenesis via expression of vascular endothelial growth factor and upregulation of KDR/flk-1 expression in endothelial cells. Oral Oncol, 2000. 36(1): p. 81-8.
- 172. Flaumenhaft, R., M. Abe, P. Mignatti, and D.B. Rifkin, Basic fibroblast growth factor-induced activation of latent transforming growth factor beta in endothelial cells: regulation of plasminogen activator activity. J Cell Biol, 1992. 118(4): p. 901-9.
- 173. Trump, B.F., B.M. Heatfield, P.C. Phelps, H. Sanefuji, and A.K. Shamsuddin, Cell surface changes in preneoplastic and neoplastic epithelium. Scan Electron Microsc, 1980. 3: p. 43-60.
- 174. Dedhar, P.B.a.S., Cell adhesion and invasion in cancer metastasis, in The integrins: mediators of cell-extracellular matrix and intercellular communication,
 P. Brodt, Editor. 1996, Medical Intelligenece Unit. p. 35-60.
- 175. May, A.E., S.M. Kanse, L.R. Lund, R.H. Gisler, B.A. Imhof, and K.T. Preissner, Urokinase receptor (CD87) regulates leukocyte recruitment via beta 2 integrins in vivo. J Exp Med, 1998. 188(6): p. 1029-37.
- 176. Xue, W., I. Mizukami, R.F. Todd, 3rd, and H.R. Petty, Urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptors associate with beta1 and beta3 integrins of fibrosarcoma cells: dependence on extracellular matrix components. Cancer Res, 1997. 57(9): p. 1682-9.
- 177. Mohanam, S., C.L. Gladson, C.N. Rao, and J.S. Rao, Biological significance of the expression of urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptors (uPARs) in brain tumors. Front Biosci, 1999. 4: p. D178-87.
- 178. Wei, Y., M. Lukashev, D.I. Simon, S.C. Bodary, S. Rosenberg, M.V. Doyle, and H.A. Chapman, Regulation of integrin function by the urokinase receptor. Science, 1996. 273(5281): p. 1551-5.
- 179. Xue, W., A.L. Kindzelskii, R.F. Todd, 3rd, and H.R. Petty, Physical association of complement receptor type 3 and urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor in neutrophil membranes. J Immunol, 1994. 152(9): p. 4630-40.
- 180. Preissner, K.T. and D. Seiffert, Role of vitronectin and its receptors in haemostasis and vascular remodeling. Thromb Res, 1998. 89(1): p. 1-21.
- Felding-Habermann, B. and D.A. Cheresh, Vitronectin and its receptors. Curr Opin Cell Biol, 1993. 5(5): p. 864-8.
- 182. Kjoller, L. and A. Hall, Rac mediates cytoskeletal rearrangements and increased cell motility induced by urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor binding to vitronectin. J Cell Biol, 2001. 152(6): p. 1145-57.
- Lash, G.E., T.E. Fitzpatrick, and C.H. Graham, Effect of hypoxia on cellular adhesion to vitronectin and fibronectin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2001. 287(3): p. 622-9.
- 184. Chang, A.W., A. Kuo, E.S. Barnathan, and S.S. Okada, Urokinase receptordependent upregulation of smooth muscle cell adhesion to vitronectin by urokinase. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 1998. 18(12): p. 1855-60.

- 185. Reinartz, J., B. Schafer, R. Batrla, C.E. Klein, and M.D. Kramer, Plasmin abrogates alpha v beta 5-mediated adhesion of a human keratinocyte cell line (HaCaT) to vitronectin. Exp Cell Res, 1995. 220(2): p. 274-82.
- 186. Carriero, M.V., S. Del Vecchio, P. Franco, M.I. Potena, F. Chiaradonna, G. Botti, M.P. Stoppelli, and M. Salvatore, Vitronectin binding to urokinase receptor in human breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 1997. 3(8): p. 1299-308.
- 187. Franco, P., C. Iaccarino, F. Chiaradonna, A. Brandazza, C. Iavarone, M.R. Mastronicola, M.L. Nolli, and M.P. Stoppelli, Phosphorylation of human pro-urokinase on Ser138/303 impairs its receptor-dependent ability to promote myelomonocytic adherence and motility. J Cell Biol, 1997. 137(3): p. 779-91.
- 188. Sitrin, R.G., R.F. Todd, 3rd, E. Albrecht, and M.R. Gyetko, The urokinase receptor (CD87) facilitates CD11b/CD18-mediated adhesion of human monocytes. J Clin Invest, 1996. 97(8): p. 1942-51.
- 189. Ellis, V. and K. Dano, Plasminogen activation by receptor-bound urokinase. Semin Thromb Hemost, 1991. 17(3): p. 194-200.
- 190. Wiman, B., A. Almquist, O. Sigurdardottir, and T. Lindahl, Plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 (PAI) is bound to vitronectin in plasma. FEBS Lett, 1988. 242(1): p. 125-8.
- 191. Kjoller, L., S.M. Kanse, T. Kirkegaard, K.W. Rodenburg, E. Ronne, S.L. Goodman, K.T. Preissner, L. Ossowski, and P.A. Andreasen, Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 represses integrin- and vitronectin- mediated cell migration independently of its function as an inhibitor of plasminogen activation. Exp Cell Res, 1997. 232(2): p. 420-9.
- 192. Ciambrone, G.J. and P.J. McKeown-Longo, Plasminogen activator inhibitor type I stabilizes vitronectin-dependent adhesions in HT-1080 cells. J Cell Biol, 1990. 111(5 Pt 1): p. 2183-95.
- 193. Fischer, K., V. Lutz, O. Wilhelm, M. Schmitt, H. Graeff, P. Heiss, T. Nishiguchi, N. Harbeck, H. Kessler, T. Luther, V. Magdolen, and U. Reuning, Urokinase induces proliferation of human ovarian cancer cells: characterization of structural elements required for growth factor function. FEBS Lett, 1998. 438(1-2): p. 101-5.

- 194. Fazioli, F., M. Resnati, N. Sidenius, Y. Higashimoto, E. Appella, and F. Blasi,
 A urokinase-sensitive region of the human urokinase receptor is responsible
 for its chemotactic activity. Embo J, 1997. 16(24): p. 7279-86.
- 195. Shliom, O., M. Huang, B. Sachais, A. Kuo, J.W. Weisel, C. Nagaswami, T. Nassar, K. Bdeir, E. Hiss, S. Gawlak, S. Harris, A. Mazar, and A.A. Higazi, Novel interactions between urokinase and its receptor. J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(32): p. 24304-12.
- 196. Harder, T. and K. Simons, Caveolae, DIGs, and the dynamics of sphingolipid-cholesterol microdomains. Curr Opin Cell Biol, 1997. 9(4): p. 534-42.
- 197. Konakova, M., F. Hucho, and W.D. Schleuning, Downstream targets of urokinase-type plasminogen-activator-mediated signal transduction. Eur J Biochem, 1998. 253(2): p. 421-9.
- 198. Koshelnick, Y., M. Ehart, P. Hufnagl, P.C. Heinrich, and B.R. Binder, Urokinase receptor is associated with the components of the JAK1/STAT1 signaling pathway and leads to activation of this pathway upon receptor clustering in the human kidney epithelial tumor cell line TCL-598. J Biol Chem, 1997. 272(45): p. 28563-7.
- 199. Bohuslav, J., V. Horejsi, C. Hansmann, J. Stockl, U.H. Weidle, O. Majdic, I. Bartke, W. Knapp, and H. Stockinger, Urokinase plasminogen activator receptor, beta 2-integrins, and Src- kinases within a single receptor complex of human monocytes. J Exp Med, 1995. 181(4): p. 1381-90.
- 200. Kusch, A., S. Tkachuk, H. Haller, R. Dietz, D.C. Gulba, M. Lipp, and I. Dumler, Urokinase stimulates human vascular smooth muscle cell migration via a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-Tyk2 interaction. J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(50): p. 39466-73.
- 201. Dumler, I., A. Kopmann, K. Wagner, O.A. Mayboroda, U. Jerke, R. Dietz, H. Haller, and D.C. Gulba, Urokinase induces activation and formation of Stat4 and Stat1-Stat2 complexes in human vascular smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem, 1999. 274(34): p. 24059-65.

- 202. Nguyen, D.H., I.M. Hussaini, and S.L. Gonias, Binding of urokinase-type plasminogen activator to its receptor in MCF- 7 cells activates extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1 and 2 which is required for increased cellular motility. J Biol Chem, 1998. 273(14): p. 8502-7.
- 203. Tang, H., D.M. Kerins, Q. Hao, T. Inagami, and D.E. Vaughan, The urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor mediates tyrosine phosphorylation of focal adhesion proteins and activation of mitogenactivated protein kinase in cultured endothelial cells. J Biol Chem, 1998. 273(29): p. 18268-72.
- 204. Dumler, I., T. Petri, and W.D. Schleuning, Interaction of urokinase-type plasminogenactivator (u-PA) with its cellular receptor (u-PAR) induces phosphorylation on tyrosine of a 38 kDa protein. FEBS Lett, 1993. 322(1): p. 37-40.
- 205. Rabbani, S.A., J. Gladu, A.P. Mazar, J. Henkin, and D. Goltzman, Induction in human osteoblastic cells (SaOS2) of the early response genes fos, jun, and myc by the amino terminal fragment (ATF) of urokinase. J Cell Physiol, 1997. 172(2): p. 137-45.
- 206. Wong, W.S., D.I. Simon, P.M. Rosoff, N.K. Rao, and H.A. Chapman, Mechanisms of pertussis toxin-induced myelomonocytic cell adhesion: role of Mac-1(CD11b/CD18) and urokinase receptor (CD87). Immunology, 1996. 88(1): p. 90-7.
- 207. Busso, N., S.K. Masur, D. Lazega, S. Waxman, and L. Ossowski, Induction of cell migration by pro-urokinase binding to its receptor: possible mechanism for signal transduction in human epithelial cells. J Cell Biol, 1994. 126(1): p. 259-70.
- 208. Anichini, E., G. Fibbi, M. Pucci, R. Caldini, M. Chevanne, and M. Del Rosso, Production of second messengers following chemotactic and mitogenic urokinase-receptor interaction in human fibroblasts and mouse fibroblasts transfected with human urokinase receptor. Exp Cell Res, 1994. 213(2): p. 438-48.

- 209. Yebra, M., G.C. Parry, S. Stromblad, N. Mackman, S. Rosenberg, B.M. Mueller, and D.A. Cheresh, Requirement of receptor-bound urokinase-type plasminogen activator for integrin alphavbeta5-directed cell migration. J Biol Chem, 1996. 271(46): p. 29393-9.
- 210. Petzelbauer, E., J.P. Springhorn, A.M. Tucker, and J.A. Madri, Role of plasminogen activator inhibitor in the reciprocal regulation of bovine aortic endothelial and smooth muscle cell migration by TGF-beta 1. Am J Pathol, 1996. 149(3): p. 923-31.
- 211. Stefansson, S. and D.A. Lawrence, The serpin PAI-1 inhibits cell migration by blocking integrin alpha V beta 3 binding to vitronectin. Nature, 1996. 383(6599): p. 441-3.
- 212. Stahl, A. and B.M. Mueller, Melanoma cell migration on vitronectin: regulation by components of the plasminogen activation system. Int J Cancer, 1997. 71(1): p. 116-22.
- 213. Bretscher, M.S., Moving membrane up to the front of migrating cells. Cell, 1996. 85(4): p. 465-7.
- 214. Claesson-Welsh, L., M. Welsh, N. Ito, B. Anand-Apte, S. Soker, B. Zetter, M. O'Reilly, and J. Folkman, Angiostatin induces endothelial cell apoptosis and activation of focal adhesion kinase independently of the integrin-binding motif RGD. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1998. 95(10): p. 5579-83.
- Reuning, U., V. Magdolen, O. Wilhelm, K. Fischer, V. Lutz, H. Graeff, and M. Schmitt, Multifunctional potential of the plasminogen activation system in tumor invasion and metastasis (review). Int J Oncol, 1998. 13(5): p. 893-906.
- 216. Chavakis, T., S.M. Kanse, B. Yutzy, H.R. Lijnen, and K.T. Preissner, Vitronectin concentrates proteolytic activity on the cell surface and extracellular matrix by trapping soluble urokinase receptor-urokinase complexes. Blood, 1998. 91(7): p. 2305-12.
- 217. Yamamoto, M., R. Sawaya, S. Mohanam, V.H. Rao, J.M. Bruner, G.L. Nicolson, and J.S. Rao, Expression and localization of urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor in human gliomas. Cancer Res, 1994. 54(18): p. 5016-20.

- 218. Liu, G., M.A. Shuman, and R.L. Cohen, Co-expression of urokinase, urokinase receptor and PAI-1 is necessary for optimum invasiveness of cultured lung cancer cells. Int J Cancer, 1995. 60(4): p. 501-6.
- 219. Soff, G.A., J. Sanderowitz, S. Gately, E. Verrusio, I. Weiss, S. Brem, and H.C. Kwaan, Expression of plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 by human prostate carcinoma cells inhibits primary tumor growth, tumor-associated angiogenesis, and metastasis to lung and liver in an athymic mouse model. J Clin Invest, 1995. 96(6): p. 2593-600.
- 220. Plekhanova, O.S., M.A. Solomatina, S.P. Domogatskii, V.G. Naumov, V.A. Tkachuk, E.V. Parfenova, and E.I. Chazov, Urokinase stimulates whereas tissue plasminogen activator attenuates blood vessel stenosis. Ross Fiziol Zh Im I M Sechenova, 2001. 87(5): p. 584-93.
- 221. Stepanova, V., S. Mukhina, E. Kohler, T.J. Resink, P. Erne, and V.A. Tkachuk, Urokinase plasminogen activator induces human smooth muscle cell migration and proliferation via distinct receptor-dependent and proteolysis-dependent mechanisms. Mol Cell Biochem, 1999. 195(1-2): p. 199-206.
- 222. Bhat, G.J., J.J. Gunaje, and S. Idell, Urokinase-type plasminogen activator induces tyrosine phosphorylation of a 78-kDa protein in H-157 cells. Am J Physiol, 1999. 277(2 Pt 1): p. L301-9.
- 223. Hibino, T., Y. Matsuda, T. Takahashi, and P.F. Goetinck, Suppression of keratinocyte proliferation by plasminogen activator inhibitor-2. J Invest Dermatol, 1999. 112(1): p. 85-90.
- 224. Gyetko, M.R., G.H. Chen, R.A. McDonald, R. Goodman, G.B. Huffnagle, C.C. Wilkinson, J.A. Fuller, and G.B. Toews, Urokinase is required for the pulmonary inflammatory response to Cryptococcus neoformans. A murine transgenic model. J Clin Invest, 1996. 97(8): p. 1818-26.
- 225. Schmidt, M. and P. Grunsfelder, Urokinase-type plasminogen activator expression and proliferation stimulation in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma in vitro and in situ. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg, 2001. 127(6): p. 679-82.

- 226. Morita, Y., Y. Hayashi, T. Kanamaru, T. Itoh, S. Suzuki, M. Yamamoto, Y. Kuroda, and H. Itoh, Inhibitory role of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in invasion and proliferation of HLE hepatocellular carcinoma cells. Jpn J Cancer Res, 1999. 90(7): p. 747-52.
- 227. Kirchheimer, J.C., J. Wojta, G. Christ, G. Hienert, and B.R. Binder, Mitogenic effect of urokinase on malignant and unaffected adjacent human renal cells. Carcinogenesis, 1988. 9(11): p. 2121-3.
- 228. Gohring, U.J., A. Scharl, U. Thelen, A. Ahr, and B.R. Titius, Prognostic value of immunohistochemical determination of urokinase plasminogen activator in primary breast cancers. Pathologe, 1995. 16(6): p. 398-403.
- 229. Dumler, I., V. Stepanova, U. Jerke, O.A. Mayboroda, F. Vogel, P. Bouvet, V. Tkachuk, H. Haller, and D.C. Gulba, Urokinase-induced mitogenesis is mediated by casein kinase 2 and nucleolin. Curr Biol, 1999. 9(24): p. 1468-76.
- 230. George, S.J., J.L. Johnson, M.A. Smith, and C.L. Jackson, Plasmin-mediated fibroblast growth factor-2 mobilisation supports smooth muscle cell proliferation in human saphenous vein. J Vasc Res, 2001. 38(5): p. 492-501.
- 231. Rabbani, S.A., J. Desjardins, A.W. Bell, D. Banville, A. Mazar, J. Henkin, and D. Goltzman, An amino-terminal fragment of urokinase isolated from a prostate cancer cell line (PC-3) is mitogenic for osteoblast-like cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1990. 173(3): p. 1058-64.
- 232. Fishman, D.A., A. Kearns, S. Larsh, J.J. Enghild, and M.S. Stack, Autocrine regulation of growth stimulation in human epithelial ovarian carcinoma by serine-proteinase-catalysed release of the urinary-type- plasminogenactivator N-terminal fragment. Biochem J, 1999. 341(Pt 3): p. 765-9.
- 233. Zhu, F., S. Jia, G. Xing, L. Gao, L. Zhang, and F. He, cDNA transfection of amino-terminal fragment of urokinase efficiently inhibits cancer cell invasion and metastasis. DNA Cell Biol, 2001. 20(5): p. 297-305.
- 234. Wada, M., N.A. Wada, H. Shirono, K. Taniguchi, H. Tsuchie, and J. Koga, Amino-terminal fragment of urokinase-type plasminogen activator inhibits HIV-1 replication. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2001. 284(2): p. 346-51.

- 235. Lakka, S.S., A. Bhattacharya, S. Mohanam, D. Boyd, and J.S. Rao, Regulation of the uPA gene in various grades of human glioma cells. Int J Oncol, 2001. 18(1): p. 71-9.
- 236. Strand, K., J. Murray, S. Aziz, A. Ishida, S. Rahman, Y. Patel, C. Cardona, W.P. Hammond, G. Savidge, and E.S. Wijelath, Induction of the urokinase plasminogen activator system by oncostatin M promotes endothelial migration. J Cell Biochem, 2000. 79(2): p. 239-48.
- 237. Xing, R.H. and S.A. Rabbani, Regulation of urokinase production by androgens in human prostate cancer cells: effect on tumor growth and metastases in vivo. Endocrinology, 1999. 140(9): p. 4056-64.
- 238. Tecimer, C., D.L. Doering, L.J. Goldsmith, J.S. Meyer, G. Abdulhay, and J.L. Wittliff, Clinical relevance of urokinase-type plasminogen activator, its receptor, and its inhibitor type 1 in endometrial cancer. Gynecol Oncol, 2001. 80(1): p. 48-55.
- 239. Strojan, P., M. Budihna, L. Smid, I. Vrhovec, and J. Skrk, Urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) and plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 (PAI-1) in tissue and serum of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma patients. Eur J Cancer, 1998. 34(8): p. 1193-7.
- 240. Taniguchi, T., A.K. Kakkar, E.G. Tuddenham, R.C. Williamson, and N.R. Lemoine, Enhanced expression of urokinase receptor induced through the tissue factor-factor VIIa pathway in human pancreatic cancer. Cancer Res, 1998. 58(19): p. 4461-7.
- 241. Fujii, T., T. Obara, S. Tanno, H. Ura, and Y. Kohgo, Urokinase-type plasminogen activator and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 as a prognostic factor in human colorectal carcinomas. Hepatogastroenterology, 1999. 46(28): p. 2299-308.
- 242. Zheng, Q., Z.Y. Tang, Q. Xue, D.R. Shi, H.Y. Song, and H.B. Tang, Invasion and metastasis of hepatocellular carcinoma in relation to urokinase-type plasminogen activator, its receptor and inhibitor. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol, 2000. 126(11): p. 641-6.

ł

- 243. Ohta, S., K. Niiya, N. Sakuragawa, and H. Fuse, Induction of urokinase-type plasminogen activator by lipopolysaccharide in PC-3 human prostatic cancer cells. Thromb Res, 2000. 97(5): p. 343-7.
- 244. Webb, C.P., C.D. Hose, S. Koochekpour, M. Jeffers, M. Oskarsson, E. Sausville, A. Monks, and G.F. Vande Woude, The geldanamycins are potent inhibitors of the hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor-met-urokinase plasminogen activator-plasmin proteolytic network. Cancer Res, 2000. 60(2): p. 342-9.
- 245. Parra, M., F. Lluis, F. Miralles, C. Caelles, and P. Munoz-Canoves, The cJun N-terminal kinase (JNK) signaling pathway mediates induction of urokinasetype plasminogen activator (uPA) by the alkylating agent MNNG. Blood, 2000. 96(4): p. 1415-24.
- 246. Johnson, M.D., J.A. Torri, M.E. Lippman, and R.B. Dickson, Regulation of motility and protease expression in PKC-mediated induction of MCF-7 breast cancer cell invasiveness. Exp Cell Res, 1999. 247(1): p. 105-13.
- 247. Aguirre Ghiso, J.A., D.F. Alonso, E.F. Farias, D.E. Gomez, and E.B. de Kier Joffe, Deregulation of the signaling pathways controlling urokinase production. Its relationship with the invasive phenotype. Eur J Biochem, 1999. 263(2): p. 295-304.
- 248. Aguirre Ghiso, J.A., E.F. Farias, D.F. Alonso, and E. Bal de Kier Joffe, Secretion of urokinase and metalloproteinase-9 induced by staurosporine is dependent on a tyrosine kinase pathway in mammary tumor cells. Int J Cancer, 1998. 76(3): p. 362-7.
- 249. Shinbo, M., K. Niiya, M. al-Mokdad, Y. Hayakawa, K. Hiraga, M. Fujimaki, and N. Sakuragawa, Protein kinase activity-dependent inhibition of urokinase-type plasminogen activator gene transcription by cyclic AMP in human pre-B lymphoma cell line RC-K8. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1995. 1268(3): p. 293-9.
- 250. Marksitzer, R., A. Stief, P.A. Menoud, and Y. Nagamine, Role of LFB3 in cell-specific cAMP induction of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator gene. J Biol Chem, 1995. 270(37): p. 21833-8.

- Helenius, M.A., O.R. Saramaki, M.J. Linja, T.L. Tammela, and T. Visakorpi,
 Amplification of urokinase gene in prostate cancer. Cancer Res, 2001. 61(14):
 p. 5340-4.
- 252. Zhu, F.X., S.D. Jia, L.L. Gao, and F.C. He, cDNA cloning and sequencing of human urokinase receptor. Sheng Wu Gong Cheng Xue Bao, 2000. 16(4): p. 461-3.
- 253. Nieto-Rodriguez, A., R. Hernandez-Pando, D. Kershenobich, and L. Rodriguez-Fragoso, Expression of urokinase-type plasminogen activator in an experimental model of hepatocarcinoma. Toxicology, 2001. 161(1-2): p. 13-23.
- 254. Dvorak, H.F., L.F. Brown, M. Detmar, and A.M. Dvorak, Vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor, microvascular hyperpermeability, and angiogenesis. Am J Pathol, 1995. 146(5): p. 1029-39.
- 255. Nagy, J.A., L.F. Brown, D.R. Senger, N. Lanir, L. Van de Water, A.M. Dvorak, and H.F. Dvorak, Pathogenesis of tumor stroma generation: a critical role for leaky blood vessels and fibrin deposition. Biochim Biophys Acta, 1989. 948(3): p. 305-26.
- 256. Shapiro, R.L., J.G. Duquette, D.F. Roses, I. Nunes, M.N. Harris, H. Kamino, E.L. Wilson, and D.B. Rifkin, Induction of primary cutaneous melanocytic neoplasms in urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA)-deficient and wild-type mice: cellular blue nevi invade but do not progress to malignant melanoma in uPA-deficient animals. Cancer Res, 1996. 56(15): p. 3597-604.
- 257. Benraad, T.J., J. Geurts-Moespot, J. Grondahl-Hansen, M. Schmitt, J.J. Heuvel, J.H. de Witte, J.A. Foekens, R.E. Leake, N. Brunner, and C.G. Sweep, Immunoassays (ELISA) of urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA): report of an EORTC/BIOMED-1 workshop. Eur J Cancer, 1996. 32A(8): p. 1371-81.
- 258. Duffy, M.J., T.M. Maguire, E.W. McDermott, and N. O'Higgins, Urokinase plasminogen activator: a prognostic marker in multiple types of cancer. J Surg Oncol, 1999. 71(2): p. 130-5.
- 259. Schmitt, M., N. Harbeck, C. Thomssen, O. Wilhelm, V. Magdolen, U. Reuning, K. Ulm, H. Hofler, F. Janicke, and H. Graeff, Clinical impact of the

plasminogen activation system in tumor invasion and metastasis: prognostic relevance and target for therapy. Thromb Haemost, 1997. 78(1): p. 285-96.

Į.

- 260. Pedersen, A.N., I.J. Christensen, R.W. Stephens, P. Briand, H.T. Mouridsen, K. Dano, and N. Brunner, The complex between urokinase and its type-1 inhibitor in primary breast cancer: relation to survival. Cancer Res, 2000. 60(24): p. 6927-34.
- 261. Malmstrom, P., P.O. Bendahl, P. Boiesen, N. Brunner, I. Idvall, and M. Ferno, S-phase fraction and urokinase plasminogen activator are better markers for distant recurrences than Nottingham Prognostic Index and histologic grade in a prospective study of premenopausal lymph node-negative breast cancer. J Clin Oncol, 2001. 19(7): p. 2010-9.
- 262. Romain, S., P.O. Bendahl, O. Guirou, P. Malmstrom, P.M. Martin, and M. Ferno, DNA-synthesizing enzymes in breast cancer (thymidine kinase, thymidylate synthase and thymidylate kinase): association with flow cytometric S-phase fraction and relative prognostic importance in node-negative premenopausal patients. Int J Cancer, 2001. 95(1): p. 56-61.
- 263. Fernebro, E., R.R. Madsen, M. Ferno, N. Brunner, P. Bendahl, I.J. Christensen, A. Johnson, and M. Nilbert, Prognostic importance of the soluble plasminogen activator receptor, suPAR, in plasma from rectal cancer patients. Eur J Cancer, 2001. 37(4): p. 486-91.
- 264. Konno, H., J. Abe, T. Kaneko, M. Baba, A. Shoji, K. Sunayama, K. Kamiya, T. Tanaka, S. Suzuki, S. Nakamura, and T. Urano, Urokinase receptor and vascular endothelial growth factor are synergistically associated with the liver metastasis of colorectal cancer. Jpn J Cancer Res, 2001. 92(5): p. 516-23.
- 265. Hagedorn, H.G., B.E. Bachmeier, and A.G. Nerlich, Synthesis and degradation of basement membranes and extracellular matrix and their regulation by TGF-beta in invasive carcinomas (Review). Int J Oncol, 2001. 18(4): p. 669-81.
- 266. Rabbani, S.A. and A.P. Mazar, The role of the plasminogen activation system in angiogenesis and metastasis. Surg Oncol Clin N Am, 2001. 10(2): p. 393-415, x.

- 267. Folkman, J., Tumor angiogenesis. Adv Cancer Res, 1974. 19(0): p. 331-58.
- 268. Walker, R.A., The complexities of breast cancer desmoplasia. Breast Cancer Res, 2001. 3(3): p. 143-5.
- 269. Dvorak, H.F., G.R. Dickersin, A.M. Dvorak, E.J. Manseau, and K. Pyne, Human breast carcinoma: fibrin deposits and desmoplasia. Inflammatory cell type and distribution. Microvasculature and infarction. J Natl Cancer Inst, 1981. 67(2): p. 335-45.
- 270. Smith, S.K., Angiogenesis, vascular endothelial growth factor and the endometrium. Hum Reprod Update, 1998. 4(5): p. 509-19.
- 271. Hildenbrand, R., C. Jansen, G. Wolf, B. Bohme, S. Berger, G. von Minckwitz,
 A. Horlin, M. Kaufmann, and H.J. Stutte, Transforming growth factor-beta stimulates urokinase expression in tumor-associated macrophages of the breast. Lab Invest, 1998. 78(1): p. 59-71.
- 272. Mishima, K., A.P. Mazar, A. Gown, M. Skelly, X.D. Ji, X.D. Wang, T.R. Jones, W.K. Cavenee, and H.J. Huang, A peptide derived from the non-receptor-binding region of urokinase plasminogen activator inhibits glioblastoma growth and angiogenesis in vivo in combination with cisplatin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2000. 97(15): p. 8484-9.
- 273. Haj-Yehia, A., T. Nassar, B.S. Sachais, A. Kuo, K. Bdeir, A.B. Al-Mehdi, A. Mazar, D.B. Cines, and A.A. Higazi, Urokinase-derived peptides regulate vascular smooth muscle contraction in vitro and in vivo. Faseb J, 2000. 14(10): p. 1411-22.
- 274. Hildenbrand, R., I. Dilger, A. Horlin, and H.J. Stutte, Urokinase plasminogen activator induces angiogenesis and tumor vessel invasion in breast cancer. Pathol Res Pract, 1995. 191(5): p. 403-9.
- 275. Tkachuk, V., V. Stepanova, P.J. Little, and A. Bobik, Regulation and role of urokinase plasminogen activator in vascular remodelling. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol, 1996. 23(9): p. 759-65.
- 276. Hildenbrand, R., I. Dilger, A. Horlin, and H.J. Stutte, Urokinase and macrophages in tumour angiogenesis. Br J Cancer, 1995. 72(4): p. 818-23.

- 277. Fox, S.B., M. Taylor, J. Grondahl-Hansen, S. Kakolyris, K.C. Gatter, and A.L. Harris, Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 as a measure of vascular remodelling in breast cancer. J Pathol, 2001. 195(2): p. 236-43.
- 278. Hildenbrand, R., W. Glienke, V. Magdolen, H. Graeff, H.J. Stutte, and M. Schmitt, Urokinase receptor localization in breast cancer and benign lesions assessed by in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry. Histochem Cell Biol, 1998. 110(1): p. 27-32.
- 279. Xu, Y., J. Hagege, J.D. Doublet, P. Callard, J.D. Sraer, E. Ronne, and E. Rondeau, Endothelial and macrophage upregulation of urokinase receptor expression in human renal cell carcinoma. Hum Pathol, 1997. 28(2): p. 206-13.
- 280. Gualandris, A., T. Lopez Conejo, D. Giunciuglio, A. Albini, E. Sabini, M. Rusnati, P. Dell'Era, and M. Presta, Urokinase-type plasminogen activator overexpression enhances the invasive capacity of endothelial cells. Microvasc Res, 1997. 53(3): p. 254-60.
- 281. Kanse, S.M., O. Benzakour, C. Kanthou, C. Kost, H.R. Lijnen, and K.T. Preissner, Induction of vascular SMC proliferation by urokinase indicates a novel mechanism of action in vasoproliferative disorders. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 1997. 17(11): p. 2848-54.
- 282. Vasir, B., P. Reitz, G. Xu, A. Sharma, S. Bonner-Weir, and G.C. Weir, Effects of diabetes and hypoxia on gene markers of angiogenesis (HGF, cMET, uPA and uPAR, TGF-alpha, TGF-beta, bFGF and Vimentin) in cultured and transplanted rat islets. Diabetologia, 2000. 43(6): p. 763-72.
- 283. Min, H.Y., L.V. Doyle, C.R. Vitt, C.L. Zandonella, J.R. Stratton-Thomas, M.A. Shuman, and S. Rosenberg, Urokinase receptor antagonists inhibit angiogenesis and primary tumor growth in syngeneic mice. Cancer Res, 1996. 56(10): p. 2428-33.
- 284. Schnaper, H.W., E.S. Barnathan, A. Mazar, S. Maheshwari, S. Ellis, S.L. Cortez, W.H. Baricos, and H.K. Kleinman, Plasminogen activators augment endothelial cell organization in vitro by two distinct pathways. J Cell Physiol, 1995. 165(1): p. 107-18.

- 285. Bajou, K., A. Noel, R.D. Gerard, V. Masson, N. Brunner, C. Holst-Hansen, M. Skobe, N.E. Fusenig, P. Carmeliet, D. Collen, and J.M. Foidart, Absence of host plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 prevents cancer invasion and vascularization. Nat Med, 1998. 4(8): p. 923-8.
- 286. Bajou, K., V. Masson, R.D. Gerard, P.M. Schmitt, V. Albert, M. Praus, L.R. Lund, T.L. Frandsen, N. Brunner, K. Dano, N.E. Fusenig, U. Weidle, G. Carmeliet, D. Loskutoff, D. Collen, P. Carmeliet, J.M. Foidart, and A. Noel, The plasminogen activator inhibitor PAI-1 controls in vivo tumor vascularization by interaction with proteases, not vitronectin. Implications for antiangiogenic strategies. J Cell Biol, 2001. 152(4): p. 777-84.
- 287. Isogai, C., W.E. Laug, H. Shimada, P.J. Declerck, M.F. Stins, D.L. Durden, A. Erdreich-Epstein, and Y.A. DeClerck, Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 promotes angiogenesis by stimulating endothelial cell migration toward fibronectin. Cancer Res, 2001. 61(14): p. 5587-94.
- 288. Bugge, T.H., K.W. Kombrinck, Q. Xiao, K. Holmback, C.C. Daugherty, D.P. Witte, and J.L. Degen, Growth and dissemination of Lewis lung carcinoma in plasminogen- deficient mice. Blood, 1997. 90(11): p. 4522-31.
- 289. Wickstrom, S.A., T. Veikkola, M. Rehn, T. Pihlajaniemi, K. Alitalo, and J. Keski-Oja, Endostatin-induced modulation of plasminogen activation with concomitant loss of focal adhesions and actin stress fibers in cultured human endothelial cells. Cancer Res, 2001. 61(17): p. 6511-6.
- 290. Simonitsch, I. and G. Krupitza, Autocrine self-elimination of cultured ovarian cancer cells by tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha). Br J Cancer, 1998. 78(7): p. 862-70.
- 291. Shimizu, M., A. Hara, M. Okuno, H. Matsuno, K. Okada, S. Ueshima, O. Matsuo, M. Niwa, K. Akita, Y. Yamada, N. Yoshimi, T. Uematsu, S. Kojima, S.L. Friedman, H. Moriwaki, and H. Mori, Mechanism of retarded liver regeneration in plasminogen activator- deficient mice: impaired activation of hepatocyte growth factor after Fas-mediated massive hepatic apoptosis. Hepatology, 2001. 33(3): p. 569-76.

- 292. Kroon, M.E., P. Koolwijk, B. van der Vecht, and V.W. van Hinsbergh, Urokinase receptor expression on human microvascular endothelial cells is increased by hypoxia: implications for capillary-like tube formation in a fibrin matrix. Blood, 2000. 96(8): p. 2775-83.
- 293. Stadler, P., H.J. Feldmann, C. Creighton, H.F. Zeilhoffer, V. Zimmermann, M. Schmitt, and M. Molls, Clinical evidence for correlation of insufficient tissue oxygen supply (hypoxia) and tumor-associated proteolysis in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck. Int J Biol Markers, 2000. 15(3): p. 235-6.
- 294. Graham, C.H., J. Forsdike, C.J. Fitzgerald, and S. Macdonald-Goodfellow, Hypoxia-mediated stimulation of carcinoma cell invasiveness via upregulation of urokinase receptor expression. Int J Cancer, 1999. 80(4): p. 617-23.
- 295. Faller, D.V., Endothelial cell responses to hypoxic stress. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol, 1999. 26(1): p. 74-84.
- 296. Crowther, M., N.J. Brown, E.T. Bishop, and C.E. Lewis, Microenvironmental influence on macrophage regulation of angiogenesis in wounds and malignant tumors. J Leukoc Biol, 2001. 70(4): p. 478-90.
- 297. Rha, S.Y., W.I. Yang, S.J. Gong, J.J. Kim, N.C. Yoo, J.K. Roh, J.S. Min, K.S. Lee, B.S. Kim, and H.C. Chung, Correlation of tissue and blood plasminogen activation system in breast cancer. Cancer Lett, 2000. 150(2): p. 137-45.
- 298. Solomayer, E.F., I.J. Diel, D. Wallwiener, S. Bode, G. Meyberg, M. Sillem, C. Gollan, M.D. Kramer, U. Krainick, and G. Bastert, Prognostic relevance of urokinase plasminogen activator detection in micrometastatic cells in the bone marrow of patients with primary breast cancer. Br J Cancer, 1997. 76(6): p. 812-8.
- 299. Xing, R.H. and S.A. Rabbani, Overexpression of urokinase receptor in breast cancer cells results in increased tumor invasion, growth and metastasis. Int J Cancer, 1996. 67(3): p. 423-9.
- 300. Kruger, A., R. Soeltl, V. Lutz, O.G. Wilhelm, V. Magdolen, E.E. Rojo, P.A. Hantzopoulos, H. Graeff, B. Gansbacher, and M. Schmitt, Reduction of breast carcinoma tumor growth and lung colonization by overexpression of the

soluble urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor (CD87). Cancer Gene Ther, 2000. 7(2): p. 292-9.

- 301. Dong-Le Bourhis, X., V. Lambrecht, and B. Boilly, **Transforming growth** factor beta 1 and sodium butyrate differentially modulate urokinase plasminogen activator and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in human breast normal and cancer cells. Br J Cancer, 1998. 77(3): p. 396-403.
- 302. Farina, A.R., A. Coppa, A. Tiberio, A. Tacconelli, A. Turco, G. Colletta, A. Gulino, and A.R. Mackay, Transforming growth factor-beta1 enhances the invasiveness of human MDA- MB-231 breast cancer cells by up-regulating urokinase activity. Int J Cancer, 1998. 75(5): p. 721-30.
- 303. Festuccia, C., A. Angelucci, G.L. Gravina, I. Villanova, A. Teti, A. Albini, M. Bologna, and A. Abini, Osteoblast-derived TGF-beta1 modulates matrix degrading protease expression and activity in prostate cancer cells. Int J Cancer, 2000. 85(3): p. 407-15.
- 304. Park, S.S., L. Li, T.S. Korn, M.M. Mitra, and J.Y. Niederkorn, Effect of transforming growth factor-beta on plasminogen activator production of cultured human uveal melanoma cells. Curr Eye Res, 1996. 15(7): p. 755-63.
- 305. Fawthrop, F.W., B.O. Oyajobi, R.A. Bunning, and R.G. Russell, The effect of transforming growth factor beta on the plasminogen activator activity of normal human osteoblast-like cells and a human osteosarcoma cell line MG-63. J Bone Miner Res, 1992. 7(12): p. 1363-71.
- 306. Levenson, A.S., K.M. Svoboda, H.C. Kwaan, and V.C. Jordan, Agonist activity of antiestrogen-receptor complexes to regulate urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) and plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 (PAI-1) endogenous gene expression in breast cancer cells. Cancer Lett, 1998. 125(1-2): p. 215-20.
- 307. Mira-y-Lopez R, O.M., DePalo AJ, Ossowski L., Estradiol modulation of plasminogen activator production in organ cultures of human breast carcinomas: correlation with clinical outcome of anti-estrogen therapy. Int J Cancer, 1991. 47(6): p. 827-32.

- 308. Pentyala, S.N., T.C. Whyard, W.C. Waltzer, A.G. Meek, and Y. Hod, Androgen induction of urokinase gene expression in LNCaP cells is dependent on their interaction with the extracellular matrix. Cancer Lett, 1998. 130(1-2): p. 121-6.
- 309. Levenson, A.S., H.C. Kwaan, K.M. Svoboda, I.M. Weiss, S. Sakurai, and V.C. Jordan, Oestradiol regulation of the components of the plasminogenplasmin system in MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells stably expressing the oestrogen receptor. Br J Cancer, 1998. 78(1): p. 88-95.
- 310. Foekens, J., P. Berns, M. Look, and J. Klijn, Prognostic factors in nodenegative breast cancer, in Molecular and Clinical Endocrinology, J. Pasqualini and B. Katzenellenbogen, Editors. 1996, Marcel Dekker Inc: New York. p. 217-253.
- Carolin, K.A. and H.A. Pass, Prevention of breast cancer. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 2000. 33(3): p. 221-38.
- 312. Osborne, C.K., E. Coronado, D.C. Allred, V. Wiebe, and M. DeGregorio, Acquired tamoxifen resistance: correlation with reduced breast tumor levels of tamoxifen and isomerization of trans-4-hydroxytamoxifen. J Natl Cancer Inst, 1991. 83(20): p. 1477-82.
- 313. Mahfoudi, A., E. Roulet, S. Dauvois, M.G. Parker, and W. Wahli, Specific mutations in the estrogen receptor change the properties of antiestrogens to full agonists. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1995. 92(10): p. 4206-10.
- 314. Roodi, N., L.R. Bailey, W.Y. Kao, C.S. Verrier, C.J. Yee, W.D. Dupont, and F.F. Parl, Estrogen receptor gene analysis in estrogen receptor-positive and receptor-negative primary breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst, 1995. 87(6): p. 446-51.
- 315. El-Tanani, M.K. and C.D. Green, Two separate mechanisms for ligandindependent activation of the estrogen receptor. Mol Endocrinol, 1997. 11(7): p. 928-37.
- 316. Kato, S., H. Endoh, Y. Masuhiro, T. Kitamoto, S. Uchiyama, H. Sasaki, S. Masushige, Y. Gotoh, E. Nishida, H. Kawashima, and et al., Activation of the

estrogen receptor through phosphorylation by mitogen- activated protein kinase. Science, 1995. 270(5241): p. 1491-4.

- 317. Katzenellenbogen, B.S., M.M. Montano, P. Le Goff, D.J. Schodin, W.L. Kraus, B. Bhardwaj, and N. Fujimoto, Antiestrogens: mechanisms and actions in target cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 1995. 53(1-6): p. 387-93.
- 318. Smith, C.L., O.M. Conneely, and B.W. O'Malley, Modulation of the ligandindependent activation of the human estrogen receptor by hormone and antihormone. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1993. 90(13): p. 6120-4.
- 319. Jackson, T.A., J.K. Richer, D.L. Bain, G.S. Takimoto, L. Tung, and K.B. Horwitz, The partial agonist activity of antagonist-occupied steroid receptors is controlled by a novel hinge domain-binding coactivator L7/SPA and the corepressors N-CoR or SMRT. Mol Endocrinol, 1997. 11(6): p. 693-705.
- 320. Schmalfeldt, B., D. Prechtel, K. Harting, K. Spathe, S. Rutke, E. Konik, R. Fridman, U. Berger, M. Schmitt, W. Kuhn, and E. Lengyel, Increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP)-2, MMP-9, and the urokinase-type plasminogen activator is associated with progression from benign to advanced ovarian cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 2001. 7(8): p. 2396-404.
- 321. Birkedal-Hansen, H., W.G. Moore, M.K. Bodden, L.J. Windsor, B. Birkedal-Hansen, A. DeCarlo, and J.A. Engler, Matrix metalloproteinases: a review. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med, 1993. 4(2): p. 197-250.
- 322. Legrand, C., M. Polette, J.M. Tournier, S. de Bentzmann, E. Huet, M. Monteau, and P. Birembaut, uPA/plasmin system-mediated MMP-9 activation is implicated in bronchial epithelial cell migration. Exp Cell Res, 2001. 264(2): p. 326-36.
- 323. Kazes, I., F. Delarue, J. Hagege, L. Bouzhir-Sima, E. Rondeau, J.D. Sraer, and G. Nguyen, Soluble latent membrane-type 1 matrix metalloprotease secreted by human mesangial cells is activated by urokinase. Kidney Int, 1998. 54(6): p. 1976-84.
- 324. Mazzieri, R., L. Masiero, L. Zanetta, S. Monea, M. Onisto, S. Garbisa, and P. Mignatti, Control of type IV collagenase activity by components of the

urokinase- plasmin system: a regulatory mechanism with cell-bound reactants. Embo J, 1997. 16(9): p. 2319-32.

- 325. Harbeck, N., U. Alt, U. Berger, R. Kates, A. Kruger, C. Thomssen, F. Janicke, H. Graeff, and M. Schmitt, Long-term follow-up confirms prognostic impact of PAI-1 and cathepsin D and L in primary breast cancer. Int J Biol Markers, 2000. 15(1): p. 79-83.
- 326. Premzl, A., V. Puizdar, V. Zavasnik-Bergant, N. Kopitar-Jerala, T.T. Lah, N. Katunuma, B.F. Sloane, V. Turk, and J. Kos, Invasion of ras-transformed breast epithelial cells depends on the proteolytic activity of cysteine and aspartic proteinases. Biol Chem, 2001. 382(5): p. 853-7.
- 327. Olszewska, D., T. Drewa, R. Makarewicz, J. Drewa, A. Wozniak, and R. Maciak, Significance of cathepsin B and D in physiologic and pathologic processes. Pol Merkuriusz Lek, 2001. 10(55): p. 65-70.
- 328. Chapman, H.A., Jr., J.S. Munger, and G.P. Shi, The role of thiol proteases in tissue injury and remodeling. Am J Respir Crit Care Med, 1994. 150(6 Pt 2): p. S155-9.
- 329. Maguire, T.M., S.G. Shering, C.M. Duggan, E.W. McDermott, N.J. O'Higgins, and M.J. Duffy, High levels of cathepsin B predict poor outcome in patients with breast cancer. Int J Biol Markers, 1998. 13(3): p. 139-44.
- 330. Yano, M., K. Hirai, Z. Naito, M. Yokoyama, T. Ishiwata, Y. Shiraki, M. Inokuchi, and G. Asano, Expression of cathepsin B and cystatin C in human breast cancer. Surg Today, 2001. 31(5): p. 385-9.
- 331. Sloane, B.F., K. Moin, E. Krepela, and J. Rozhin, Cathepsin B and its endogenous inhibitors: the role in tumor malignancy. Cancer Metastasis Rev, 1990. 9(4): p. 333-52.
- 332. Mai, J., D.M. Waisman, and B.F. Sloane, Cell surface complex of cathepsin B/annexin II tetramer in malignant progression. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2000. 1477(1-2): p. 215-30.
- 333. Rochefort, H., D. Chalbos, S. Cunat, A. Lucas, N. Platet, and M. Garcia, Estrogen regulated proteases and antiproteases in ovarian and breast cancer cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol, 2001. 76(1-5): p. 119-24.

- 334. Cavailles, V., P. Augereau, and H. Rochefort, Cathepsin D gene is controlled by a mixed promoter, and estrogens stimulate only TATAdependent transcription in breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1993. 90(1): p. 203-7.
- 335. Morikawa, W., K. Yamamoto, S. Ishikawa, S. Takemoto, M. Ono, J. Fukushi, S. Naito, C. Nozaki, S. Iwanaga, and M. Kuwano, Angiostatin generation by cathepsin D secreted by human prostate carcinoma cells. J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(49): p. 38912-20.
- 336. Herszenyi, L., M. Plebani, P. Carraro, M. De Paoli, G. Roveroni, R. Cardin, Z. Tulassay, R. Naccarato, and F. Farinati, The role of cysteine and serine proteases in colorectal carcinoma. Cancer, 1999. 86(7): p. 1135-42.
- 337. Garbett, E.A., M.W. Reed, and N.J. Brown, Proteolysis in human breast and colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer, 1999. 81(2): p. 287-93.
- 338. Jahkola, T., T. Toivonen, K. von Smitten, I. Virtanen, V.M. Wasenius, and C. Blomqvist, Cathepsin-D, urokinase plasminogen activator and type-1 plasminogen activator inhibitor in early breast cancer: an immunohistochemical study of prognostic value and relations to tenascin-C and other factors. Br J Cancer, 1999. 80(1-2): p. 167-74.
- 339. Osmak, M., D. Niksic., A. Brozovic., A. Ristov., I. Vrhovec., and J. Skrk, Drug resistant tumor cells have increased levels of tumor markers for invasion and metastasis. Anticancer Research, 1999. 19(4B): p. 3193-7.
- 340. Jankun, J., R.W. Keck, E. Skrzypczak-Jankun, and R. Swiercz, Inhibitors of urokinase reduce size of prostate cancer xenografts in severe combined immunodeficient mice. Cancer Res, 1997. 57(4): p. 559-63.
- 341. Ray, P., R. Bhatti, J. Gadarowski, N. Bell, and S. Nasruddin, Inhibitory effect of amiloride on the urokinase plasminogen activators in prostatic cancer. Tumour Biol, 1998. 19(1): p. 60-4.
- 342. Evans, D.M., K. Sloan-Stakleff, M. Arvan, and D.P. Guyton, Time and dose dependency of the suppression of pulmonary metastases of rat mammary cancer by amiloride. Clin Exp Metastasis, 1998. 16(4): p. 353-7.

- 343. Evans, D.M. and K. Sloan-Stakleff, Suppression of the invasive capacity of human breast cancer cells by inhibition of urokinase plasminogen activator via amiloride and B428. Am Surg, 2000. 66(5): p. 460-4.
- 344. Rabbani, S.A., P. Harakidas, D.J. Davidson, J. Henkin, and A.P. Mazar, Prevention of prostate-cancer metastasis in vivo by a novel synthetic inhibitor of urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA). Int J Cancer, 1995. 63(6): p. 840-5.
- 345. Ke, S.H., G.S. Coombs, K. Tachias, D.R. Corey, and E.L. Madison, Optimal subsite occupancy and design of a selective inhibitor of urokinase. J Biol Chem, 1997. 272(33): p. 20456-62.
- Tressler, R.J., P.A. Pitot, J.R. Stratton, L.D. Forrest, S. Zhuo, R.J. Drummond,
 S. Fong, M.V. Doyle, L.V. Doyle, H.Y. Min, and S. Rosenberg, Urokinase receptor antagonists: discovery and application to in vivo models of tumor growth. Apmis, 1999. 107(1): p. 168-73.
- 347. Burgle, M., M. Koppitz, C. Riemer, H. Kessler, B. Konig, U.H. Weidle, J. Kellermann, F. Lottspeich, H. Graeff, M. Schmitt, L. Goretzki, U. Reuning, O. Wilhelm, and V. Magdolen, Inhibition of the interaction of urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) with its receptor (uPAR) by synthetic peptides. Biol Chem, 1997. 378(3-4): p. 231-7.
- 348. Jackson, T.P., S.T. Cooper, and F.C. Church, Assessment of the interaction between urokinase and reactive site mutants of protein C inhibitor. J Protein Chem, 1997. 16(8): p. 819-28.
- 349. Weiner, L.M. and G.P. Adams, New approaches to antibody therapy. Oncogene, 2000. 19(53): p. 6144-51.
- 350. Festuccia, C., A. Teti, P. Bianco, F. Guerra, C. Vicentini, R. Tennina, I. Villanova, G. Sciortino, and M. Bologna, Human prostatic tumor cells in culture produce growth and differentiation factors active on osteoblasts: a new biological and clinical parameter for prostatic carcinoma. Oncol Res, 1997. 9(8): p. 419-31.
- 351. Achbarou, A., S. Kaiser, G. Tremblay, L.G. Ste-Marie, P. Brodt, D. Goltzman, and S.A. Rabbani, Urokinase overproduction results in increased

skeletal metastasis by prostate cancer cells in vivo. Cancer Res, 1994. 54(9): p. 2372-7.

- 352. Kroon, M.E., P. Koolwijk, H. van Goor, U.H. Weidle, A. Collen, G. van der Pluijm, and V.W. van Hinsbergh, Role and localization of urokinase receptor in the formation of new microvascular structures in fibrin matrices. Am J Pathol, 1999. 154(6): p. 1731-42.
- 353. Tsuchiya, H., S. Katsuo, E. Matsuda, C. Sunayama, K. Tomita, Y. Ueda, and B.R. Binder, The antibody to plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 suppresses pulmonary metastases of human fibrosarcoma in athymic mice. Gen Diagn Pathol, 1995. 141(1): p. 41-8.
- 354. Ignar, D.M., J.L. Andrews, S.M. Witherspoon, J.D. Leray, W.C. Clay, K. Kilpatrick, J. Onori, T. Kost, and D.L. Emerson, Inhibition of establishment of primary and micrometastatic tumors by a urokinase plasminogen activator receptor antagonist. Clin Exp Metastasis, 1998. 16(1): p. 9-20.
- 355. Kost, T.A., D.M. Ignar, W.C. Clay, J. Andrews, J.D. Leray, L. Overton, C.R. Hoffman, K.E. Kilpatrick, B. Ellis, and D.L. Emerson, Production of a urokinase plasminogen activator-IgG fusion protein (uPA- IgG) in the baculovirus expression system. Gene, 1997. 190(1): p. 139-44.
- 356. Lakka, S.S., R. Rajagopal, M.K. Rajan, P.M. Mohan, Y. Adachi, D.H. Dinh, W.C. Olivero, M. Gujrati, F. Ali-Osman, J.A. Roth, W.K. Yung, A.P. Kyritsis, and J.S. Rao, Adenovirus-mediated antisense urokinase-type plasminogen activator receptor gene transfer reduces tumor cell invasion and metastasis in non-small cell lung cancer cell lines. Clin Cancer Res, 2001. 7(4): p. 1087-93.
- 357. Fibbi, G., R. Caldini, M. Chevanne, M. Pucci, N. Schiavone, L. Morbidelli, A. Parenti, H.J. Granger, M. Del Rosso, and M. Ziche, Urokinase-dependent angiogenesis in vitro and diacylglycerol production are blocked by antisense oligonucleotides against the urokinase receptor. Lab Invest, 1998. 78(9): p. 1109-19.
- 358. Li, H., H. Lu, F. Griscelli, P. Opolon, L.Q. Sun, T. Ragot, Y. Legrand, D. Belin, J. Soria, C. Soria, M. Perricaudet, and P. Yeh, Adenovirus-mediated

delivery of a uPA/uPAR antagonist suppresses angiogenesis-dependent tumor growth and dissemination in mice. Gene Ther, 1998. 5(8): p. 1105-13.

- 359. Reuning, U., O. Wilhelm, T. Nishiguchi, L. Guerrini, F. Blasi, H. Graeff, and M. Schmitt, Inhibition of NF-kappa B-Rel A expression by antisense oligodeoxynucleotides suppresses synthesis of urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) but not its inhibitor PAI-1. Nucleic Acids Res, 1995. 23(19): p. 3887-93.
- 360. Wang, Y., X. Liang, S. Wu, G.A. Murrell, and W.F. Doe, Inhibition of colon cancer metastasis by a 3'- end antisense urokinase receptor mRNA in a nude mouse model. Int J Cancer, 2001. 92(2): p. 257-62.
- 361. Kobayashi, H., Mechanism of tumor cell-induced extracellular matrix degradation-- inhibition of cell-surface proteolytic activity might have a therapeutic effect on tumor cell invasion and metastasis. Nippon Sanka Fujinka Gakkai Zasshi, 1996. 48(8): p. 623-32.
- 362. Liu, S., T.H. Bugge, and S.H. Leppla, Targeting of tumor cells by cell surface urokinase plasminogen activator-dependent anthrax toxin. J Biol Chem, 2001. 276(21): p. 17976-84.
- 363. Zhang, H., T. Morisaki, H. Matsunaga, N. Sato, A. Uchiyama, K. Hashizume, F. Nagumo, J. Tadano, and M. Katano, Protein-bound polysaccharide PSK inhibits tumor invasiveness by down- regulation of TGF-beta1 and MMPs. Clin Exp Metastasis, 2000. 18(4): p. 343-52.
- 364. Nakachi, K., K. Suemasu, K. Suga, T. Takeo, K. Imai, and Y. Higashi, Influence of drinking green tea on breast cancer malignancy among Japanese patients. Jpn J Cancer Res, 1998. 89(3): p. 254-61.
- 365. Emenaker, N.J. and M.D. Basson, Short chain fatty acids inhibit human (SW1116) colon cancer cell invasion by reducing urokinase plasminogen activator activity and stimulating TIMP-1 and TIMP-2 activities, rather than via MMP modulation. J Surg Res, 1998. 76(1): p. 41-6.
- 366. du Toit, P.J., C.H. van Aswegen, and D.J. du Plessis, The effect of essential fatty acids on growth and urokinase-type plasminogen activator production

in human prostate DU-145 cells. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids, 1996. 55(3): p. 173-7.

- 367. Sperl, S., U. Jacob, N. Arroyo de Prada, J. Sturzebecher, O.G. Wilhelm, W. Bode, V. Magdolen, R. Huber, and L. Moroder, (4-aminomethyl)phenylguanidine derivatives as nonpeptidic highly selective inhibitors of human urokinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2000. 97(10): p. 5113-8.
- 368. Weaver, V.M. and M.J. Bissell, Functional culture models to study mechanisms governing apoptosis in normal and malignant mammary epithelial cells. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 1999. 4(2): p. 193-201.
- 369. Kobayashi, H., J. Gotoh, and T. Terao, Urinary trypsin inhibitor efficiently inhibits urokinase production in tumor necrosis factor-stimulated cells. Eur J Cell Biol, 1996. 71(4): p. 380-6.
- 370. Niedbala, M.J. and M. Stein-Picarella, Role of protein kinase C in tumor necrosis factor induction of endothelial cell urokinase-type plasminogen activator. Blood, 1993. 81(10): p. 2608-17.
- 371. Prechtl, A., N. Harbeck, C. Thomssen, C. Meisner, M. Braun, M. Untch, M. Wieland, B. Lisboa, T. Cufer, H. Graeff, K. Selbmann, M. Schmitt, and F. Janicke, Tumor-biological factors uPA and PAI-1 as stratification criteria of a multicenter adjuvant chemotherapy trial in node-negative breast cancer. Int J Biol Markers, 2000. 15(1): p. 73-8.
- 372. Goldhirsch, A., A.S. Coates, M. Colleoni, M. Castiglione-Gertsch, and R.D. Gelber, Adjuvant chemoendocrine therapy in postmenopausal breast cancer: cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and fluorouracil dose and schedule may make a difference. International Breast Cancer Study Group. J Clin Oncol, 1998. 16(4): p. 1358-62.
- 373. Foekens, J.A., M.P. Look, H.A. Peters, W.L. van Putten, H. Portengen, and J.G. Klijn, Urokinase-type plasminogen activator and its inhibitor PAI-1: predictors of poor response to tamoxifen therapy in recurrent breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst, 1995. 87(10): p. 751-6.

- 374. Muehlenweg, B., I. Assfalg-Machleidt, S.G. Parrado, M. Burgle, S. Creutzburg, M. Schmitt, E.A. Auerswald, W. Machleidt, and V. Magdolen, A novel type of bifunctional inhibitor directed against proteolytic activity and receptor/ligand interaction. Cystatin with a urokinase receptor binding site. J Biol Chem, 2000. 275(43): p. 33562-6.
- 375. Khamsi, F., D.T. Armstrong, and X. Zhang, Expression of urokinase-type plasminogen activator in human preimplantation embryos. Mol Hum Reprod, 1996. 2(4): p. 273-6.
- 376. Zhang, X., G.M. Kidder, C. Zhang, F. Khamsi, and D.T. Armstrong, Expression of plasminogen activator genes and enzymatic activities in rat preimplantation embryos. J Reprod Fertil, 1994. 101(1): p. 235-40.
- 377. Carmeliet, P., L. Schoonjans, L. Kieckens, B. Ream, J. Degen, R. Bronson, R. De Vos, J.J. van den Oord, D. Collen, and R.C. Mulligan, Physiological consequences of loss of plasminogen activator gene function in mice. Nature, 1994. 368(6470): p. 419-24.
- 378. Bugge, T.H., M.J. Flick, C.C. Daugherty, and J.L. Degen, Plasminogen deficiency causes severe thrombosis but is compatible with development and reproduction. Genes Dev, 1995. 9(7): p. 794-807.
- 379. Bugge, T.H., T.T. Suh, M.J. Flick, C.C. Daugherty, J. Romer, H. Solberg, V. Ellis, K. Dano, and J.L. Degen, The receptor for urokinase-type plasminogen activator is not essential for mouse development or fertility. J Biol Chem, 1995. 270(28): p. 16886-94.
- 380. Carmeliet, P., J.M. Stassen, L. Schoonjans, B. Ream, J.J. van den Oord, M. De Mol, R.C. Mulligan, and D. Collen, Plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 genedeficient mice. II. Effects on hemostasis, thrombosis, and thrombolysis. J Clin Invest, 1993. 92(6): p. 2756-60.
- 381. Zheng, X., T.L. Saunders, S.A. Camper, L.C. Samuelson, and D. Ginsburg, Vitronectin is not essential for normal mammalian development and fertility. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1995. 92(26): p. 12426-30.
- 382. Shapiro, R.L., J.G. Duquette, I. Nunes, D.F. Roses, M.N. Harris, E.L. Wilson, and D.B. Rifkin, Urokinase-type plasminogen activator-deficient mice are

predisposed to staphylococcal botryomycosis, pleuritis, and effacement of lymphoid follicles. Am J Pathol, 1997. 150(1): p. 359-69.

- 383. Ploplis, V.A., E.L. French, P. Carmeliet, D. Collen, and E.F. Plow, Plasminogen deficiency differentially affects recruitment of inflammatory cell populations in mice. Blood, 1998. 91(6): p. 2005-9.
- 384. Bugge, T.H., M.J. Flick, M.J. Danton, C.C. Daugherty, J. Romer, K. Dano, P. Carmeliet, D. Collen, and J.L. Degen, Urokinase-type plasminogen activator is effective in fibrin clearance in the absence of its receptor or tissue-type plasminogen activator. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996. 93(12): p. 5899-904.
- 385. Bugge, T.H., K.W. Kombrinck, M.J. Flick, C.C. Daugherty, M.J. Danton, and J.L. Degen, Loss of fibrinogen rescues mice from the pleiotropic effects of plasminogen deficiency. Cell, 1996. 87(4): p. 709-19.
- 386. Zhou, H.M., A. Nichols, A. Wohlwend, I. Bolon, and J.D. Vassalli, Extracellular proteolysis alters tooth development in transgenic mice expressing urokinase-type plasminogen activator in the enamel organ. Development, 1999. 126(5): p. 903-12.
- 387. Meiri, N., T. Masos, K. Rosenblum, R. Miskin, and Y. Dudai, Overexpression of urokinase-type plasminogen activator in transgenic mice is correlated with impaired learning. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1994. 91(8): p. 3196-200.
- 388. Miralles, F., D. Ron, M. Baiget, J. Felez, and P. Munoz-Canoves, Differential regulation of urokinase-type plasminogen activator expression by basic fibroblast growth factor and serum in myogenesis. Requirement of a common mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. J Biol Chem, 1998. 273(4): p. 2052-8.
- 389. Plekhanova, O.S., N.I. Kalinina, E.A. Volynskaia, and E.V. Parfenova, Expression of urokinase and its receptor correlate with proliferation of smooth muscle cell in injured arteries. Ross Fiziol Zh Im I M Sechenova, 2000. 86(1): p. 18-27.

- 390. Gupta, B., N. Singh, K.K. Saxena, and V.K. Srivastava, Topical amiloride solution accelerates healing of mechanical skin ulcers in albino rats. Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol, 2000. 22(9): p. 671-7.
- 391. Herouy, Y., J. Aizpurua, C. Stetter, S. Dichmann, M. Idzko, C. Hofmann, G. Gitsch, W. Vanscheidt, E. Schopf, and J. Norgauer, The role of the urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) and its receptor (CD87) in lipodermatosclerosis. J Cutan Pathol, 2001. 28(6): p. 291-7.
- 392. Falkenberg, M., L. Holmdahl, J. Tjarnstrom, and B. Risberg, Abnormal levels of urokinase plasminogen activator protein and tissue plasminogen activator activity in human aortic aneurysms. Eur J Surg, 2001. 167(1): p. 10-4.
- 393. Fibbi, G., E. Barletta, G. Dini, A. Del Rosso, M. Pucci, M. Cerletti, and M. Del Rosso, Cell invasion is affected by differential expression of the urokinase plasminogen activator/urokinase plasminogen activator receptor system in muscle satellite cells from normal and dystrophic patients. Lab Invest, 2001. 81(1): p. 27-39.
- 394. Levi, M., L. Moons, A. Bouche, S.D. Shapiro, D. Collen, and P. Carmeliet, Deficiency of urokinase-type plasminogen activator-mediated plasmin generation impairs vascular remodeling during hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension in mice. Circulation, 2001. 103(15): p. 2014-20.
- 395. Xiao, Y., H. Li, C. Bunn, and P.M. Bartold, The expression of plasminogen activator system in a rat model of periodontal wound healing. J Periodontol, 2001. 72(7): p. 849-57.
- 396. Bezerra, J.A., A.R. Currier, H. Melin-Aldana, G. Sabla, T.H. Bugge, K.W. Kombrinck, and J.L. Degen, Plasminogen activators direct reorganization of the liver lobule after acute injury. Am J Pathol, 2001. 158(3): p. 921-9.
- 397. Hosomi, N., J. Lucero, J.H. Heo, J.A. Koziol, B.R. Copeland, and G.J. del Zoppo, Rapid differential endogenous plasminogen activator expression after acute middle cerebral artery occlusion. Stroke, 2001. 32(6): p. 1341-8.

- 398. Siconolfi, L.B. and N.W. Seeds, Mice lacking tPA, uPA, or plasminogen genes showed delayed functional recovery after sciatic nerve crush. J Neurosci, 2001. 21(12): p. 4348-55.
- 399. Schafer, C., J. Zundler, and J.C. Bode, Thrombolytic therapy in patients with portal vein thrombosis: case report and review of the literature. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2000. 12(10): p. 1141-5.
- 400. Lamfers, M.L., J.H. Lardenoye, M.R. de Vries, M.C. Aalders, M.A. Engelse, J.M. Grimbergen, V.W. van Hinsbergh, and P.H. Quax, In vivo suppression of restenosis in balloon-injured rat carotid artery by adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of the cell surface-directed plasmin inhibitor ATF.BPTL Gene Ther, 2001. 8(7): p. 534-41.
- 401. Shuaib, A., Y. Yang, and Q. Li, Evaluating the efficacy of citicoline in embolic ischemic stroke in rats: neuroprotective effects when used alone or in combination with urokinase. Exp Neurol, 2000. 161(2): p. 733-9.
- 402. Noyer-Weidner, M. and T.A. Trautner, Methylation of DNA in prokaryotes. Exs, 1993. 64: p. 39-108.
- 403. Hotchkiss, R., The quantitative separation of purines, pyrimidines and necleosides by paper chromatography. Journal of biological chemistry, 1948.
 168: p. 315-332.
- 404. Chaillet, J.R., T.F. Vogt, D.R. Beier, and P. Leder, Parental-specific methylation of an imprinted transgene is established during gametogenesis and progressively changes during embryogenesis. Cell, 1991. 66(1): p. 77-83.
- 405. Tremblay, K.D., J.R. Saam, R.S. Ingram, S.M. Tilghman, and M.S. Bartolomei, A paternal-specific methylation imprint marks the alleles of the mouse H19 gene. Nat Genet, 1995. 9(4): p. 407-13.
- 406. Silva, A.J. and R. White, Inheritance of allelic blueprints for methylation patterns. Cell, 1988. 54(2): p. 145-52.
- 407. Xiong, Z. and P.W. Laird, COBRA: a sensitive and quantitative DNA methylation assay. Nucleic Acids Res, 1997. 25(12): p. 2532-4.

- 408. Herman, J.G., J.R. Graff, S. Myohanen, B.D. Nelkin, and S.B. Baylin, Methylation-specific PCR: a novel PCR assay for methylation status of CpG islands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996. 93(18): p. 9821-6.
- Bestor, T.H. and G.L. Verdine, DNA methyltransferases. Curr Opin Cell Biol, 1994. 6(3): p. 380-9.
- 410. Bhattacharya, S.K., S. Ramchandani, N. Cervoni, and M. Szyf, A mammalian protein with specific demethylase activity for mCpG DNA. Nature, 1999. 397(6720): p. 579-83.
- 411. Hsieh, C.L., Evidence that protein binding specifies sites of DNA demethylation. Mol Cell Biol, 1999. 19(1): p. 46-56.
- 412. Van Zee, K.J., J.E. Calvano, and M. Bisogna, Hypomethylation and increased gene expression of p16INK4a in primary and metastatic breast carcinoma as compared to normal breast tissue. Oncogene, 1998. 16(21): p. 2723-7.
- 413. Jost, J.P., Nuclear extracts of chicken embryos promote an active demethylation of DNA by excision repair of 5-methyldeoxycytidine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1993. 90(10): p. 4684-8.
- 414. Lapeyre, J.N. and F.F. Becker, 5-Methylcytosine content of nuclear DNA during chemical hepatocarcinogenesis and in carcinomas which result. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1979. 87(3): p. 698-705.
- 415. Costello, J.F., M.C. Fruhwald, D.J. Smiraglia, L.J. Rush, G.P. Robertson, X. Gao, F.A. Wright, J.D. Feramisco, P. Peltomaki, J.C. Lang, D.E. Schuller, L. Yu, C.D. Bloomfield, M.A. Caligiuri, A. Yates, R. Nishikawa, H. Su Huang, N.J. Petrelli, X. Zhang, M.S. O'Dorisio, W.A. Held, W.K. Cavenee, and C. Plass, Aberrant CpG-island methylation has non-random and tumour-type-specific patterns. Nat Genet, 2000. 24(2): p. 132-8.
- 416. Baylin, S.B., E.R. Fearon, B. Vogelstein, A. de Bustros, S.J. Sharkis, P.J. Burke, S.P. Staal, and B.D. Nelkin, Hypermethylation of the 5' region of the calcitonin gene is a property of human lymphoid and acute myeloid malignancies. Blood, 1987. 70(2): p. 412-7.

- 417. Baylin, S.B., J.W. Hoppener, A. de Bustros, P.H. Steenbergh, C.J. Lips, and B.D. Nelkin, DNA methylation patterns of the calcitonin gene in human lung cancers and lymphomas. Cancer Res, 1986. 46(6): p. 2917-22.
- 418. Mills, K.I., B.A. Guinn, V.A. Walsh, and A.K. Burnett, Increasing methylation of the calcitonin gene during disease progression in sequential samples from CML patients. Leuk Res, 1996. 20(9): p. 771-5.
- 419. Herfarth, K.K., T.P. Brent, R.P. Danam, J.S. Remack, I.J. Kodner, S.A. Wells, Jr., and P.J. Goodfellow, A specific CpG methylation pattern of the MGMT promoter region associated with reduced MGMT expression in primary colorectal cancers. Mol Carcinog, 1999. 24(2): p. 90-8.
- 420. Herman, J.G., A. Umar, K. Polyak, J.R. Graff, N. Ahuja, J.P. Issa, S. Markowitz, J.K. Willson, S.R. Hamilton, K.W. Kinzler, M.F. Kane, R.D. Kolodner, B. Vogelstein, T.A. Kunkel, and S.B. Baylin, Incidence and functional consequences of hMLH1 promoter hypermethylation in colorectal carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1998. 95(12): p. 6870-5.
- 421. Herman, J.G., A. Merlo, L. Mao, R.G. Lapidus, J.P. Issa, N.E. Davidson, D. Sidransky, and S.B. Baylin, Inactivation of the CDKN2/p16/MTS1 gene is frequently associated with aberrant DNA methylation in all common human cancers. Cancer Res, 1995. 55(20): p. 4525-30.
- 422. Yoshiura, K., Y. Kanai, A. Ochiai, Y. Shimoyama, T. Sugimura, and S. Hirohashi, Silencing of the E-cadherin invasion-suppressor gene by CpG methylation in human carcinomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1995. 92(16): p. 7416-9.
- 423. Qu, G., L. Dubeau, A. Narayan, M.C. Yu, and M. Ehrlich, Satellite DNA hypomethylation vs. overall genomic hypomethylation in ovarian epithelial tumors of different malignant potential. Mutat Res, 1999. 423(1-2): p. 91-101.
- 424. Gama-Sosa, M.A., V.A. Slagel, R.W. Trewyn, R. Oxenhandler, K.C. Kuo, C.W. Gehrke, and M. Ehrlich, The 5-methylcytosine content of DNA from human tumors. Nucleic Acids Res, 1983. 11(19): p. 6883-94.

- 425. Watt, P.M., R. Kumar, and U.R. Kees, Promoter demethylation accompanies reactivation of the HOX11 proto- oncogene in leukemia. Genes Chromosomes Cancer, 2000. 29(4): p. 371-7.
- 426. Altschmied, J., L. Ditzel, and M. Schartl, Hypomethylation of the Xmrk oncogene promoter in melanoma cells of Xiphophorus. Biol Chem, 1997. 378(12): p. 1457-66.
- 427. Wilson, V.L. and P.A. Jones, DNA methylation decreases in aging but not in immortal cells. Science, 1983. 220(4601): p. 1055-7.
- 428. Szyf, M., J. Theberge, and V. Bozovic, Ras induces a general DNA demethylation activity in mouse embryonal P19 cells. J Biol Chem, 1995. 270(21): p. 12690-6.
- 429. MacLeod, A.R., J. Rouleau, and M. Szyf, Regulation of DNA methylation by the Ras signaling pathway. J Biol Chem, 1995. 270(19): p. 11327-37.
- 430. Okano, M., S. Xie, and E. Li, Cloning and characterization of a family of novel mammalian DNA (cytosine-5) methyltransferases. Nat Genet, 1998. 19(3): p. 219-20.
- 431. Yoder, J.A. and T.H. Bestor, A candidate mammalian DNA methyltransferase related to pmt1p of fission yeast. Hum Mol Genet, 1998.
 7(2): p. 279-84.
- 432. Bestor, T.H., Cloning of a mammalian DNA methyltransferase. Gene, 1988. 74(1): p. 9-12.
- 433. Bouchard, J. and R.L. Momparler, Incorporation of 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine-5'-triphosphate into DNA. Interactions with mammalian DNA polymerase alpha and DNA methylase. Mol Pharmacol, 1983. 24(1): p. 109-14.
- 434. Yoder, J.A., R.W. Yen, P.M. Vertino, T.H. Bestor, and S.B. Baylin, New 5' regions of the murine and human genes for DNA (cytosine-5)-methyltransferase. J Biol Chem, 1996. 271(49): p. 31092-7.
- 435. Aniello, F., A. Locascio, and L. Gucci, et al., GenBank. Z50183. 1996.
- 436. Tajima, S., H. Tsuda, N. Wakabayashi, A. Asano, S. Mizuno, and K. Nishimori, Isolation and expression of a chicken DNA methyltransferase cDNA. J Biochem (Tokyo), 1995. 117(5): p. 1050-7.

- 437. Yen, R.W., P.M. Vertino, B.D. Nelkin, J.J. Yu, W. el-Deiry, A. Cumaraswamy, G.G. Lennon, B.J. Trask, P. Celano, and S.B. Baylin, Isolation and characterization of the cDNA encoding human DNA methyltransferase. Nucleic Acids Res, 1992. 20(9): p. 2287-91.
- 438. Ramchandani, S., S.K. Bhattacharya, N. Cervoni, and M. Szyf, DNA methylation is a reversible biological signal. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1999. 96(11): p. 6107-12.
- 439. Cedar, H. and G.L. Verdine, Gene expression. The amazing demethylase. Nature, 1999. 397(6720): p. 568-9.
- 440. Bestor, T., A. Laudano, R. Mattaliano, and V. Ingram, Cloning and sequencing of a cDNA encoding DNA methyltransferase of mouse cells. The carboxyl-terminal domain of the mammalian enzymes is related to bacterial restriction methyltransferases. J Mol Biol, 1988. 203(4): p. 971-83.
- Vertino, P.M., R.W. Yen, J. Gao, and S.B. Baylin, De novo methylation of CpG island sequences in human fibroblasts overexpressing DNA (cytosine-5-)-methyltransferase. Mol Cell Biol, 1996. 16(8): p. 4555-65.
- 442. Li, E., T.H. Bestor, and R. Jaenisch, Targeted mutation of the DNA methyltransferase gene results in embryonic lethality. Cell, 1992. 69(6): p. 915-26.
- 443. Wu, J., J.P. Issa, J. Herman, D.E. Bassett, Jr., B.D. Nelkin, and S.B. Baylin, Expression of an exogenous eukaryotic DNA methyltransferase gene induces transformation of NIH 3T3 cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1993. 90(19): p. 8891-5.
- 444. Bakin, A.V. and T. Curran, Role of DNA 5-methylcytosine transferase in cell transformation by fos. Science, 1999. 283(5400): p. 387-90.
- 445. MacLeod, A.R. and M. Szyf, Expression of antisense to DNA methyltransferase mRNA induces DNA demethylation and inhibits tumorigenesis. J Biol Chem, 1995. 270(14): p. 8037-43.
- 446. Lee, P.J., L.L. Washer, D.J. Law, C.R. Boland, I.L. Horon, and A.P. Feinberg, Limited up-regulation of DNA methyltransferase in human colon cancer

reflecting increased cell proliferation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996. 93(19): p. 10366-70.

- 447. Tulchinsky, E.M., G.P. Georgiev, and E.M. Lukanidin, Novel AP-1 binding site created by DNA-methylation. Oncogene, 1996. 12(8): p. 1737-45.
- 448. Chuang, L.S., H.I. Ian, T.W. Koh, H.H. Ng, G. Xu, and B.F. Li, Human DNA-(cytosine-5) methyltransferase-PCNA complex as a target for p21WAF1. Science, 1997. 277(5334): p. 1996-2000.
- 449. Robertson, K.D., DNA methylation, methyltransferases, and cancer. Oncogene, 2001. 20(24): p. 3139-55.
- 450. Ura, K., H. Kurumizaka, S. Dimitrov, G. Almouzni, and A.P. Wolffe, Histone acetylation: influence on transcription, nucleosome mobility and positioning, and linker histone-dependent transcriptional repression. Embo J, 1997. 16(8): p. 2096-107.
- 451. Ammerpohl, O., A. Schmitz, L. Steinm ller, and R. Renkawitz, Repression of the mouse M-lysozyme gene involves both hindrance of enhancer factor binding to the methylated enhancer and histone deacetylation. Nucleic Acids Res, 1998. 26(23): p. 5256-60.
- 452. Eden, S., T. Hashimshony, I. Keshet, H. Cedar, and A.W. Thorne, DNA methylation models histone acetylation. Nature, 1998. 394(6696): p. 842.
- 453. Fuks, F., W.A. Burgers, A. Brehm, L. Hughes-Davies, and T. Kouzarides,
 DNA methyltransferase Dnmt1 associates with histone deacetylase activity.
 Nat Genet, 2000. 24(1): p. 88-91.
- 454. Rountree, M.R., K.E. Bachman, and S.B. Baylin, DNMT1 binds HDAC2 and a new co-repressor, DMAP1, to form a complex at replication foci. Nat Genet, 2000. 25(3): p. 269-77.
- 455. Wade, P.A., A. Gegonne, P.L. Jones, E. Ballestar, F. Aubry, and A.P. Wolffe, Mi-2 complex couples DNA methylation to chromatin remodelling and histone deacetylation. Nat Genet, 1999. 23(1): p. 62-6.
- 456. Ng, H.H., Y. Zhang, B. Hendrich, C.A. Johnson, B.M. Turner, H. Erdjument-Bromage, P. Tempst, D. Reinberg, and A. Bird, MBD2 is a transcriptional

repressor belonging to the MeCP1 histone deacetylase complex. Nat Genet, 1999. 23(1): p. 58-61.

- Hendrich, B. and A. Bird, Identification and characterization of a family of mammalian methyl-CpG binding proteins. Mol Cell Biol, 1998. 18(11): p. 6538-47.
- 458. Nan, X., P. Tate, E. Li, and A. Bird, DNA methylation specifies chromosomal localization of MeCP2. Mol Cell Biol, 1996. 16(1): p. 414-21.
- 459. Pollard, K.J. and C.L. Peterson, Chromatin remodeling: a marriage between two families? Bioessays, 1998. 20(9): p. 771-80.
- 460. Jones, P.L., G.J. Veenstra, P.A. Wade, D. Vermaak, S.U. Kass, N. Landsberger, J. Strouboulis, and A.P. Wolffe, Methylated DNA and MeCP2 recruit histone deacetylase to repress transcription. Nat Genet, 1998. 19(2): p. 187-91.
- 461. Nan, X., H.H. Ng, C.A. Johnson, C.D. Laherty, B.M. Turner, R.N. Eisenman, and A. Bird, Transcriptional repression by the methyl-CpG-binding protein MeCP2 involves a histone deacetylase complex. Nature, 1998. 393(6683): p. 386-9.
- 462. Barbin, A., C. Montpellier, N. Kokalj-Vokac, A. Gibaud, A. Niveleau, B. Malfoy, B. Dutrillaux, and C.A. Bourgeois, New sites of methylcytosine-rich DNA detected on metaphase chromosomes. Hum Genet, 1994. 94(6): p. 684-92.
- 463. Bird, A.P. and A.P. Wolffe, Methylation-induced repression--belts, braces, and chromatin. Cell, 1999. 99(5): p. 451-4.
- 464. Cameron, E.E., K.E. Bachman, S. Myohanen, J.G. Herman, and S.B. Baylin, Synergy of demethylation and histone deacetylase inhibition in the reexpression of genes silenced in cancer. Nat Genet, 1999. 21(1): p. 103-7.
- 465. Lei, H., S.P. Oh, M. Okano, R. Juttermann, K.A. Goss, R. Jaenisch, and E. Li, De novo DNA cytosine methyltransferase activities in mouse embryonic stem cells. Development, 1996. 122(10): p. 3195-205.
- 466. Tucker, K.L., C. Beard, J. Dausmann, L. Jackson-Grusby, P.W. Laird, H. Lei,E. Li, and R. Jaenisch, Germ-line passage is required for establishment of

methylation and expression patterns of imprinted but not of nonimprinted genes. Genes Dev, 1996. 10(8): p. 1008-20.

- 467. Aapola, U., K. Kawasaki, H.S. Scott, J. Ollila, M. Vihinen, M. Heino, A. Shintani, S. Minoshima, K. Krohn, S.E. Antonarakis, N. Shimizu, J. Kudoh, and P. Peterson, Isolation and initial characterization of a novel zinc finger gene, DNMT3L, on 21q22.3, related to the cytosine-5-methyltransferase 3 gene family. Genomics, 2000. 65(3): p. 293-8.
- 468. Hough, R.F. and B.L. Bass, Analysis of Xenopus dsRNA adenosine deaminase cDNAs reveals similarities to DNA methyltransferases. Rna, 1997. 3(4): p. 356-70.
- 469. Okano, M., S. Xie, and E. Li, Dnmt2 is not required for de novo and maintenance methylation of viral DNA in embryonic stem cells. Nucleic Acids Res, 1998. 26(11): p. 2536-40.
- 470. Okano, M., D.W. Bell, D.A. Haber, and E. Li, DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. Cell, 1999. 99(3): p. 247-57.
- 471. Razin, A. and R. Shemer, **DNA methylation in early development**. Hum Mol Genet, 1995. 4(Spec No): p. 1751-5.
- 472. Razin, A. and H. Cedar, DNA methylation and embryogenesis. Exs, 1993.
 64: p. 343-57.
- 473. Monk, M., Changes in DNA methylation during mouse embryonic development in relation to X-chromosome activity and imprinting. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 1990. 326(1235): p. 299-312.
- 474. Szyf, M., The role of DNA methyltransferase 1 in growth control. Front Biosci, 2001. 6: p. D599-609.
- 475. Rhee, I., K.W. Jair, R.W. Yen, C. Lengauer, J.G. Herman, K.W. Kinzler, B. Vogelstein, S.B. Baylin, and K.E. Schuebel, CpG methylation is maintained in human cancer cells lacking DNMT1. Nature, 2000. 404(6781): p. 1003-7.
- 476. Sado, T., M.H. Fenner, S.S. Tan, P. Tam, T. Shioda, and E. Li, X inactivation in the mouse embryo deficient for Dnmt1: distinct effect of hypomethylation on imprinted and random X inactivation. Dev Biol, 2000. 225(2): p. 294-303.

- 477. Jaenisch, R., A. Schnieke, and K. Harbers, Treatment of mice with 5azacytidine efficiently activates silent retroviral genomes in different tissues. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1985. 82(5): p. 1451-5.
- 478. Paroush, Z., I. Keshet, J. Yisraeli, and H. Cedar, Dynamics of demethylation and activation of the alpha-actin gene in myoblasts. Cell, 1990. 63(6): p. 1229-37.
- 479. Yang, X., L. Yan, and N.E. Davidson, DNA methylation in breast cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer, 2001. 8(2): p. 115-27.
- 480. Virmani, A.K., A. Rathi, U.G. Sathyanarayana, A. Padar, C.X. Huang, H.T. Cunnigham, A.J. Farinas, S. Milchgrub, D.M. Euhus, M. Gilcrease, J. Herman, J.D. Minna, and A.F. Gazdar, Aberrant methylation of the adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) gene promoter 1A in breast and lung carcinomas. Clin Cancer Res, 2001. 7(7): p. 1998-2004.
- 481. Yang, X., A.T. Ferguson, S.J. Nass, D.L. Phillips, K.A. Butash, S.M. Wang, J.G. Herman, and N.E. Davidson, Transcriptional activation of estrogen receptor alpha in human breast cancer cells by histone deacetylase inhibition. Cancer Res, 2000. 60(24): p. 6890-4.
- 482. Schorge, J.O., M.G. Muto, W.R. Welch, C.A. Bandera, S.C. Rubin, D.A. Bell, R.S. Berkowitz, and S.C. Mok, Molecular evidence for multifocal papillary serous carcinoma of the peritoneum in patients with germline BRCA1 mutations. J Natl Cancer Inst, 1998. 90(11): p. 841-5.
- 483. Schmutte, C. and P.A. Jones, Involvement of DNA methylation in human carcinogenesis. Biol Chem, 1998. 379(4-5): p. 377-88.
- 484. Lapidus, R.G., S.J. Nass, K.A. Butash, F.F. Parl, S.A. Weitzman, J.G. Graff, J.G. Herman, and N.E. Davidson, Mapping of ER gene CpG island methylation-specific polymerase chain reaction. Cancer Res, 1998. 58(12): p. 2515-9.
- 485. Nass, S.J., A.T. Ferguson, D. El-Ashry, W.G. Nelson, and N.E. Davidson, Expression of DNA methyl-transferase (DMT) and the cell cycle in human breast cancer cells. Oncogene, 1999. 18(52): p. 7453-61.
- 486. Lu, A., A. Gupta, C. Li, T.E. Ahlborn, Y. Ma, E.Y. Shi, and J. Liu, Molecular mechanisms for aberrant expression of the human breast cancer specific gene 1 in breast cancer cells: control of transcription by DNA methylation and intronic sequences. Oncogene, 2001. 20(37): p. 5173-85.
- 487. Narayan, A., W. Ji, X.Y. Zhang, A. Marrogi, J.R. Graff, S.B. Baylin, and M. Ehrlich, Hypomethylation of pericentromeric DNA in breast adenocarcinomas. Int J Cancer, 1998. 77(6): p. 833-8.
- 488. Herman, J.G., F. Latif, Y. Weng, M.I. Lerman, B. Zbar, S. Liu, D. Samid, D.S. Duan, J.R. Gnarra, W.M. Linehan, and et al., Silencing of the VHL tumorsuppressor gene by DNA methylation in renal carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1994. 91(21): p. 9700-4.
- 489. Nakajima, H., Y.B. Kim, H. Terano, M. Yoshida, and S. Horinouchi, FR901228, a potent antitumor antibiotic, is a novel histone deacetylase inhibitor. Exp Cell Res, 1998. 241(1): p. 126-33.
- 490. Ferguson, A.T., P.M. Vertino, J.R. Spitzner, S.B. Baylin, M.T. Muller, and N.E. Davidson, Role of estrogen receptor gene demethylation and DNA methyltransferase.DNA adduct formation in 5-aza-2'deoxycytidine-induced cytotoxicity in human breast cancer cells. J Biol Chem, 1997. 272(51): p. 32260-6.
- 491. Silverman, L.R., J.F. Holland, R.S. Weinberg, B.P. Alter, R.B. Davis, R.R. Ellison, E.P. Demakos, C.J. Cornell, Jr., R.W. Carey, C. Schiffer, and et al., Effects of treatment with 5-azacytidine on the in vivo and in vitro hematopoiesis in patients with myelodysplastic syndromes. Leukemia, 1993. 7 Suppl 1: p. 21-9.
- 492. Zagonel, V., G. Lo Re, G. Marotta, R. Babare, G. Sardeo, V. Gattei, V. De Angelis, S. Monfardini, and A. Pinto, 5-Aza-2'-deoxycytidine (Decitabine) induces trilineage response in unfavourable myelodysplastic syndromes. Leukemia, 1993. 7 Suppl 1: p. 30-5.
- 493. Warrell, R.P., Jr., L.Z. He, V. Richon, E. Calleja, and P.P. Pandolfi, Therapeutic targeting of transcription in acute promyelocytic leukemia by

use of an inhibitor of histone deacetylase. J Natl Cancer Inst, 1998. 90(21): p. 1621-5.

- 494. Mueller, B.M., Different roles for plasminogen activators and metalloproteinases in melanoma metastasis. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 1996. 213((Pt 1)): p. 65-80.
- 495. Guo, Y., A.A. Higazi, A. Arakelian, B.S. Sachais, D. Cines, R.H. Goldfarb, T.R. Jones, H. Kwaan, A.P. Mazar, and S.A. Rabbani, A peptide derived from the nonreceptor binding region of urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) inhibits tumor progression and angiogenesis and induces tumor cell death in vivo. Faseb J, 2000. 14(10): p. 1400-10.
- 496. Momparler, R.L. and V. Bovenzi, DNA methylation and cancer. J Cell Physiol, 2000. 183(2): p. 145-54.
- 497. Cannon, R.E., J.W. Spalding, K.M. Virgil, R.S. Faircloth, M.C. Humble, G.D. Lacks, and R.W. Tennant, Induction of transgene expression in Tg.AC(v-Haras) transgenic mice concomitant with DNA hypomethylation. Mol Carcinog, 1998. 21(4): p. 244-50.
- 498. Simile, M.M., R. Pascale, M.R. De Miglio, A. Nufris, L. Daino, M.A. Seddaiu, L. Gaspa, and F. Feo, Correlation between S-adenosyl-L-methionine content and production of c- myc, c-Ha-ras, and c-Ki-ras mRNA transcripts in the early stages of rat liver carcinogenesis. Cancer Lett, 1994. 79(1): p. 9-16.
- 499. Rosenthal, N., Identification of regulatory elements of cloned genes with functional assays. Methods Enzymol, 1987. 152: p. 704-20.
- 500. Liu, D.F. and S.A. Rabbani, Induction of urinary plasminogen activator by retinoic acid results in increased invasiveness of human prostate cancer cells PC-3. Prostate, 1995. 27(5): p. 269-76.
- 501. Dobosy, J.R. and E.U. Selker, Emerging connections between DNA methylation and histone acetylation. Cell Mol Life Sci, 2001. 58(5-6): p. 721-7.
- 502. Fujita, N., N. Shimotake, I. Ohki, T. Chiba, H. Saya, M. Shirakawa, and M. Nakao, Mechanism of transcriptional regulation by methyl-CpG binding protein MBD1. Mol Cell Biol, 2000. 20(14): p. 5107-18.

- 503. Lubbert, M., DNA methylation inhibitors in the treatment of leukemias, myelodysplastic syndromes and hemoglobinopathies: clinical results and possible mechanisms of action. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol, 2000. 249: p. 135-64.
- 504. Juttermann, R., E. Li, and R. Jaenisch, Toxicity of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine to mammalian cells is mediated primarily by covalent trapping of DNA methyltransferase rather than DNA demethylation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1994. 91(25): p. 11797-801.
- 505. Mazar, A.P., J. Henkin, and R.H. Goldfarb, The urokinase plasminogen activator system in cancer: implications for tumor angiogenesis and metastasis. Angiogenesis, 1999. 3: p. 15-32.
- 506. Knoop, A., P.A. Andreasen, J.A. Andersen, S. Hansen, A.V. Laenkholm, A.C. Simonsen, J. Andersen, J. Overgaard, and C. Rose, Prognostic significance of urokinase-type plasminogen activator and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in primary breast cancer. Br J Cancer, 1998. 77(6): p. 932-40.
- 507. Mandriota, S.J. and M.S. Pepper, Vascular endothelial growth factorinduced in vitro angiogenesis and plasminogen activator expression are dependent on endogenous basic fibroblast growth factor. J Cell Sci, 1997. 110(Pt 18): p. 2293-302.
- 508. Pyke, C., N. Graem, E. Ralfkiaer, E. Ronne, G. Hoyer-Hansen, N. Brunner, and K. Dano, Receptor for urokinase is present in tumor-associated macrophages in ductal breast carcinoma. Cancer Res, 1993. 53(8): p. 1911-5.
- 509. Quattrone, A., G. Fibbi, E. Anichini, M. Pucci, A. Zamperini, S. Capaccioli, and M. Del Rosso, Reversion of the invasive phenotype of transformed human fibroblasts by anti-messenger oligonucleotide inhibition of urokinase receptor gene expression. Cancer Res, 1995. 55(1): p. 90-5.
- 510. Estreicher, A., J. Muhlhauser, J.L. Carpentier, L. Orci, and J.D. Vassalli, The receptor for urokinase type plasminogen activator polarizes expression of the protease to the leading edge of migrating monocytes and promotes degradation of enzyme inhibitor complexes. J Cell Biol, 1990. 111(2): p. 783-92.

- 511. Dumler, I., A. Weis, O.A. Mayboroda, C. Maasch, U. Jerke, H. Haller, and D.C. Gulba, The Jak/Stat pathway and urokinase receptor signaling in human aortic vascular smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem, 1998. 273(1): p. 315-21.
- 512. Stephens, R.W., J. Pollanen, H. Tapiovaara, K.C. Leung, P.S. Sim, E.M. Salonen, E. Ronne, N. Behrendt, K. Dano, and A. Vaheri, Activation of pro-urokinase and plasminogen on human sarcoma cells: a proteolytic system with surface-bound reactants. J Cell Biol, 1989. 108(5): p. 1987-95.
- 513. Park, J.E., G.A. Keller, and N. Ferrara, The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) isoforms: differential deposition into the subepithelial extracellular matrix and bioactivity of extracellular matrix-bound VEGF. Mol Biol Cell, 1993. 4(12): p. 1317-26.
- 514. Odekon, L.E., F. Blasi, and D.B. Rifkin, Requirement for receptor-bound urokinase in plasmin-dependent cellular conversion of latent TGF-beta to TGF-beta. J Cell Physiol, 1994. 158(3): p. 398-407.
- 515. Myszka, D.G., Kinetic analysis of macromolecular interactions using surface plasmon resonance biosensors. Curr Opin Biotechnol, 1997. 8(1): p. 50-7.
- 516. Choi, H.J., M.S. Hyun, G.J. Jung, S.S. Kim, and S.H. Hong, Tumor angiogenesis as a prognostic predictor in colorectal carcinoma with special reference to mode of metastasis and recurrence. Oncology, 1998. 55(6): p. 575-81.
- 517. Franco, P., O. Massa, M. Garcia-Rocha, F. Chiaradonna, C. Iaccarino, I. Correas, E. Mendez, J. Avila, F. Blasi, and M.P. Stoppelli, Protein kinase C-dependent in vivo phosphorylation of prourokinase leads to the formation of a receptor competitive antagonist. J Biol Chem, 1998. 273(42): p. 27734-40.
- 518. Bergers, G., K. Javaherian, K.M. Lo, J. Folkman, and D. Hanahan, Effects of angiogenesis inhibitors on multistage carcinogenesis in mice. Science, 1999. 284(5415): p. 808-12.

- 519. Blancher, C. and A.L. Harris, The molecular basis of the hypoxia response pathway: tumour hypoxia as a therapy target. Cancer Metastasis Rev, 1998. 17(2): p. 187-94.
- 520. Tozer, G.M., V.E. Prise, J. Wilson, R.J. Locke, B. Vojnovic, M.R. Stratford, M.F. Dennis, and D.J. Chaplin, Combretastatin A-4 phosphate as a tumor vascular-targeting agent: early effects in tumors and normal tissues. Cancer Res, 1999. 59(7): p. 1626-34.
- 521. Cameron, D.A., J.C. Keen, J.M. Dixon, C. Bellamy, A. Hanby, T.J. Anderson, and W.R. Miller, Effective tamoxifen therapy of breast cancer involves both antiproliferative and pro-apoptotic changes. Eur J Cancer, 2000. 36(7): p. 845-51.
- 522. Harbeck, N., U. Alt, U. Berger, A. Kruger, C. Thomssen, F. Janicke, H. Hofler, R.E. Kates, and M. Schmitt, Prognostic impact of proteolytic factors (urokinase-type plasminogen activator, plasminogen activator inhibitor 1, and cathepsins B, D, and L) in primary breast cancer reflects effects of adjuvant systemic therapy. Clin Cancer Res, 2001. 7(9): p. 2757-64.
- 523. Higazi, A.A., R.H. Upson, R.L. Cohen, J. Manuppello, J. Bognacki, J. Henkin, K.R. McCrae, M.Z. Kounnas, D.K. Strickland, K.T. Preissner, J. Lawler, and D.B. Cines, Interaction of single-chain urokinase with its receptor induces the appearance and disappearance of binding epitopes within the resultant complex for other cell surface proteins. Blood, 1996. 88(2): p. 542-51.
- 524. Wun, T.C., L. Ossowski, and E. Reich, A proenzyme form of human urokinase. J Biol Chem, 1982. 257(12): p. 7262-8.
- 525. Stephens, R.W., A.M. Bokman, H.T. Myohanen, T. Reisberg, H. Tapiovaara, N. Pedersen, J. Grondahl-Hansen, M. Llinas, and A. Vaheri, Heparin binding to the urokinase kringle domain. Biochemistry, 1992. 31(33): p. 7572-9.
- 526. Koopman, J.L., J. Slomp, A.C. de Bart, P.H. Quax, and J.H. Verheijen, Mitogenic effects of urokinase on melanoma cells are independent of high affinity binding to the urokinase receptor. J Biol Chem, 1998. 273(50): p. 33267-72.

- 527. Russo, J. and I.H. Russo, The etiopathogenesis of breast cancer prevention. Cancer Lett, 1995. 90(1): p. 81-9.
- 528. Lippman, M., G. Bolan, M. Monaco, L. Pinkus, and L. Engel, Model systems for the study of estrogen action in tissue culture. J Steroid Biochem, 1976. 7(11-12): p. 1045-51.
- 529. Bottini, A., A. Berruti, A. Bersiga, A. Brunelli, M.P. Brizzi, B. Di Marco, F. Cirillo, M. Tampellini, G. Bolsi, S. Aguggini, E. Betri, L. Filippini, A. Bertoli, P. Alquati, and L. Dogliotti, Cytotoxic and antiproliferative activity of the CMF regimen administered in association with tamoxifen as primary chemotherapy in breast cancer patients. Int J Oncol, 1998. 13(2): p. 385-90.
- 530. Stephens, R.W., N. Brunner, F. Janicke, and M. Schmitt, The urokinase plasminogen activator system as a target for prognostic studies in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 1998. 52(1-3): p. 99-111.
- 531. Ahmed, S.A., R.M. Gogal, Jr., and J.E. Walsh, A new rapid and simple nonradioactive assay to monitor and determine the proliferation of lymphocytes: an alternative to [³H]thymidine incorporation assay. J Immunol Methods, 1994. 170(2): p. 211-24.
- 532. Nunes, I., S. Kojima, and D.B. Rifkin, Effects of endogenously activated transforming growth factor-beta on growth and differentiation of retinoic acid-treated HL-60 cells. Cancer Res, 1996. 56(3): p. 495-9.
- 533. Xie, B., N.N. Tam, S.W. Tsao, and Y.C. Wong, Co-expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and its receptors (flk-1 and flt-1) in hormone-induced mammary cancer in the Noble rat. Br J Cancer, 1999. 81(8): p. 1335-43.
- 534. Derynck, R., R.J. Akhurst, and A. Balmain, TGF-beta signaling in tumor suppression and cancer progression. Nat Genet, 2001. 29(2): p. 117-29.
- 535. Weeks, B.H., W. He, K.L. Olson, and X.J. Wang, Inducible Expression of Transforming Growth Factor beta1 in Papillomas Causes Rapid Metastasis. Cancer Res, 2001. 61(20): p. 7435-43.

- 536. Swiercz, R., R.W. Keck, E. Skrzypczak-Jankun, S.H. Selman, and J. Jankun, Recombinant PAI-1 inhibits angiogenesis and reduces size of LNCaP prostate cancer xenografts in SCID mice. Oncol Rep, 2001. 8(3): p. 463-70.
- 537. Stefansson, S., E. Petitclerc, M.K. Wong, G.A. McMahon, P.C. Brooks, and D.A. Lawrence, Inhibition of angiogenesis in vivo by plasminogen activator inhibitor-1. J Biol Chem, 2001. 276(11): p. 8135-41.
- 538. Price, D.J., T. Miralem, S. Jiang, R. Steinberg, and H. Avraham, Role of vascular endothelial growth factor in the stimulation of cellular invasion and signaling of breast cancer cells. Cell Growth Differ, 2001. 12(3): p. 129-35.
- 539. Soker, S., M. Kaefer, M. Johnson, M. Klagsbrun, A. Atala, and M.R. Freeman, Vascular endothelial growth factor-mediated autocrine stimulation of prostate tumor cells coincides with progression to a malignant phenotype. Am J Pathol, 2001. 159(2): p. 651-9.
- 540. Baker, E.A., F.G. Bergin, and D.J. Leaper, Plasminogen activator system, vascular endothelial growth factor, and colorectal cancer progression. Mol Pathol, 2000. 53(6): p. 307-12.
- 541. Fu, L., Y. Mei, and H. Li, Effect of PAI-1 antisense RNA on vascular endothelial growth factor expression in aorta smooth muscle cells cultured in vitro. Zhonghua Yi Xue Yi Chuan Xue Za Zhi, 2001. 18(2): p. 110-3.
- 542. Anonymous, Systemic treatment of early breast cancer by hormonal, cytotoxic, or immune therapy. 133 randomised trials involving 31,000 recurrences and 24,000 deaths among 75,000 women. Early Breast Cancer Trialists' Collaborative Group. Lancet, 1992. 339(8784): p. 1-15.
- 543. Ehrlich, M., M.A. Gama-Sosa, L.H. Huang, R.M. Midgett, K.C. Kuo, R.A. McCune, and C. Gehrke, Amount and distribution of 5-methylcytosine in human DNA from different types of tissues of cells. Nucleic Acids Res, 1982. 10(8): p. 2709-21.
- 544. Gorzowski, J.J., C.A. Eckerley, R.G. Halgren, A.B. Mangurten, and B. Phillips, Methylation-associated transcriptional silencing of the major histocompatibility complex-linked hsp70 genes in mouse cell lines. J Biol Chem, 1995. 270(45): p. 26940-9.

- 545. Ferguson, A.T., R.G. Lapidus, and N.E. Davidson, Demethylation of the progesterone receptor CpG island is not required for progesterone receptor gene expression. Oncogene, 1998. 17(5): p. 577-83.
- 546. Thomassin, H., M. Flavin, M.L. Espinas, and T. Grange, Glucocorticoidinduced DNA demethylation and gene memory during development. Embo J, 2001. 20(8): p. 1974-83.
- 547. Smith, J.L., A.E. Schaffner, J.K. Hofmeister, M. Hartman, G. Wei, D. Forsthoefel, D.A. Hume, and M.C. Ostrowski, ets-2 is a target for an akt (Protein kinase B)/jun N-terminal kinase signaling pathway in macrophages of motheaten-viable mutant mice. Mol Cell Biol, 2000. 20(21): p. 8026-34.
- 548. Mackay, K. and D. Mochly-Rosen, Localization, anchoring, and functions of protein kinase C isozymes in the heart. J Mol Cell Cardiol, 2001. 33(7): p. 1301-7.
- 549. Johnson, J.A., M.O. Gray, C.H. Chen, and D. Mochly-Rosen, A protein kinase C translocation inhibitor as an isozyme-selective antagonist of cardiac function. J Biol Chem, 1996. 271(40): p. 24962-6.
- 550. Csukai, M., C.H. Chen, M.A. De Matteis, and D. Mochly-Rosen, The coatomer protein beta'-COP, a selective binding protein (RACK) for protein kinase Cepsilon. J Biol Chem, 1997. 272(46): p. 29200-6.
- 551. Altus, M.S., D. Pearson, A. Horiuchi, and Y. Nagamine, Inhibition of protein synthesis in LLC-PK1 cells increases calcitonin- induced plasminogen-activator gene transcription and mRNA stability. Biochem J, 1987. 242(2): p. 387-92.
- 552. Nagy, E. and I. Berczi, Immunomodulation by tamoxifen and pergolide. Immunopharmacology, 1986. 12(2): p. 145-53.
- 553. Gagliardi, A. and D.C. Collins, Inhibition of angiogenesis by antiestrogens. Cancer Res, 1993. 53(3): p. 533-5.
- 554. Paavonen, T. and L.C. Andersson, The oestrogen antagonists, tamoxifen and FC-1157a, display oestrogen like effects on human lymphocyte functions in vitro. Clin Exp Immunol, 1985. 61(2): p. 467-74.

555. Myung, K., A. Datta, and R.D. Kolodner, Suppression of spontaneous chromosomal rearrangements by S phase checkpoint functions in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Cell, 2001. 104(3): p. 397-408.
